Robert F. LaPrade Elizabeth A. Arendt Alan Getgood Scott C. Faucett *Editors*

The Menisci

A Comprehensive Review of their Anatomy, Biomechanical Function and Surgical Treatment





The Menisci

Robert F. LaPrade • Elizabeth A. Arendt Alan Getgood • Scott C. Faucett Editors

The Menisci

A Comprehensive Review of their Anatomy, Biomechanical Function and Surgical Treatment





Editors Robert F. LaPrade Steadman Philippon Research Institute Vail Colorado USA

Elizabeth A. Arendt University of Minnesota Department of Orthopaedic Surgery Minneapolis Minnesota USA Alan Getgood University of Western Ontario Fowler Kennedy Sport Medicine Clinic London Ontario Canada

Scott C. Faucett The Orthopaedic Center, P.A. Washington District of Columbia USA

ISBN 978-3-662-53791-6 ISBN 978-3-662-53792-3 (eBook) DOI 10.1007/978-3-662-53792-3

Library of Congress Control Number: 2017932554

© ISAKOS 2017

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, express or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made.

Printed on acid-free paper

This Springer imprint is published by Springer Nature The registered company is Springer-Verlag GmbH Germany The registered company address is: Heidelberger Platz 3, 14197 Berlin, Germany

Preface

We extend our appreciation to ISAKOS for providing sponsorship and to Springer for the editorial leadership for this book on the menisci. This textbook was a collaborative project between the Sports Medicine and Knee Committee members and their research staff. The authors of this textbook certainly have a passion in trying to promote preservation of the menisci. As surgeons, it appears that the one factor that we can effect to prevent osteoarthritis more than any other is to perform a meniscus repair when it is possible. Thus, this textbook aims to review the different types of meniscus tears, those types of meniscus tears that are repairable, and the benefits that can be seen from repairing them.

We anticipate that this work will prove beneficial to surgeons worldwide. In the future, we believe that further biologic augmentation of meniscus repairs should stretch the indications for meniscal repairs even further compared to the types of tears that we repair commonly. We certainly hope that this textbook proves to be beneficial both for the arthroscopist in training and for those at advanced levels of sports medicine practice.

Vail, CO, USA Minneapolis, MN, USA London, ON, Canada Washington, DC, USA Robert F. LaPrade, MD, PhD Elizabeth A. Arendt, MD Alan Getgood, MD Scott Faucett, MD, MS

Contents

1	Meniscus Anatomy Urszula Zdanowicz and Robert Śmigielski	1
2	The Biomechanical Function of the Menisci Scott Caterine, Maddison Hourigan, and Alan Getgood	9
3	Classification of Meniscal Tears Sergio Rocha Piedade	21
4	Meniscectomy: Updates on Techniques and Outcomes Gianluca Camillieri	31
5	Meniscal Root Tears: A Missed Epidemic?How Should They Be Treated?Alexandra Phocas, Jorge Chahla, and Robert F. LaPrade	49
6	Meniscal Ramp Lesions: Diagnosis and Treatment Strategies Rebecca Young, Brian M. Devitt, and Timothy Whitehead	63
7	Peripheral Meniscal Tears: How to Diagnose and Repair Jorge Chahla, Bradley M. Kruckeberg, Gilbert Moatshe, and Robert F. LaPrade	77
8	Radial Meniscal Tears: Updates on Repair Techniquesand OutcomesTaylor J. Ridley, Elizabeth A. Arendt, and Jeffrey A. Macalena	93
9	All-Inside Meniscal Repair: Updates on Technique Sergio Rocha Piedade, Rodrigo Pereira da Silva Nunes, Camila Cohen Kaleka, and Tulio Pereira Cardoso	103
10	Step-By-Step Surgical Approachesfor Inside-Out Meniscus RepairRyan D. Scully and Scott C. Faucett	109
11	The Role of Alignment in Meniscal Tears and the Roleof OsteotomyAad Dhollander and Alan Getgood	117

12	Outside-in Meniscal Repair: Technique and Outcomes Jorge Chahla, James Gannon, Gilbert Moatshe, and Robert F. LaPrade	129
13	Biological Augmentation of Meniscal Repairs	137
14	Meniscal Repair Outcomes: Isolated Versus Combined with Other Procedures Mark R. Hutchinson, Mitchell Meghpara, Danil Rybalko, and Garrett Schwarzman	147
15	Treatment of Meniscus Degeneration and Meniscus Cysts Hakan Boya, Hasan Tatari, and Halit Pinar	155
16	Discoid Menisci and Their Treatment.	165
17	Meniscal Allograft Transplantation: Updates and Outcomes. Sverre Løken, Gilbert Moatshe, Håvard Moksnes, and Lars Engebretsen	175
Err	atum	E 1
Ind	ex	195

Meniscus Anatomy

Urszula Zdanowicz and Robert Śmigielski

1

1

1

2

3

3

3

3

6 7

Contents

1.1	Introduction
1.2	Medial Meniscus
1.2.1	Zone 1: Anterior Root
1.2.2	Zone 2: Anteromedial Zone
1.2.3	Zone 3: At the Level of Medial
	Collateral Ligament
1.2.4	Zone 4: Posterior Horn
1.2.5	Zone 5: Posterior Root
1.3	Lateral Meniscus
1.3 1.3.1	Lateral Meniscus
1.3 1.3.1 1.3.2	Lateral Meniscus Anterior Root Anterior Horn
1.3 1.3.1 1.3.2 1.3.3	Lateral Meniscus Anterior Root Anterior Horn Area at the Level of Hiatus Popliteus
1.3 1.3.1 1.3.2 1.3.3 1.3.4	Lateral Meniscus Anterior Root Anterior Horn Area at the Level of Hiatus Popliteus Meniscofemoral Ligaments
1.3 1.3.1 1.3.2 1.3.3 1.3.4 1.3.5	Lateral Meniscus Anterior Root Anterior Horn Area at the Level of Hiatus Popliteus Meniscofemoral Ligaments Posterior Root

U. Zdanowicz Carolina Medical Center, Pory 78, 02-757 Warsaw, Poland e-mail: u.zdanowicz@icloud.com

R. Śmigielski (⊠) Orthopaedic and Sport Traumatology Department, Carolina Medical Center, Pory 78, 02-757 Warsaw, Poland e-mail: r.smigielski@gmail.com

1.1 Introduction

Originally described by Bland Sutton in 1897 [14] as "functionless remnants of intraarticular leg muscles," menisci are currently recognized as one of the most important structures determining the future of the knee joint [1, 5]. Therefore, awareness of meniscal anatomy and attempts to save the menisci is a key in preventing early knee osteoarthritis.

1.2 Medial Meniscus

The medial meniscus has a semilunar shape of fibrocartilage localized between the medial femoral and medial tibial condyle [8]. The medial meniscus covers up to 60 % of the articular surface of medial tibial condyle [4] and helps with the loading distribution in medial compartment.

In 2015, Śmigielski et al. [17] proposed a new, anatomical division of medial meniscus into five, uneven anatomical zones (Fig. 1.1). Within each zone, there is similar anatomy and identical ligaments attaching the meniscus to surrounding structures. Therefore, not only anatomy but also technique of suturing may need to differ between zones.

1.2.1 Zone 1: Anterior Root

The anterior root of the medial meniscus inserts along the anterior intercondylar crest of the anterior Fig. 1.1 Cadaveric specimen of left knee joint. Femur removed. Division into five anatomical zones of medial meniscus is shown. PT patellar tendon, ACL anterior cruciate ligament, PCL posterior cruciate ligament, MTC medial tibial condyle, LTC lateral tibial condyle, MCL medial collateral ligament, aMFL anterior meniscofemoral ligament, SMt semimembranosus tendon



Fig. 1.2 Arthroscopic view of anteromedial compartment of the left knee joint. *MM* medial meniscus, *MFC* medial femoral condyle, *taACL* tibial attachment of anterior cruciate ligament. The absence of solid fixation of anterior root of medial meniscus is marked with *red arrow*



slope of the tibia [11]. In the anatomical study of 48 cadaveric knees, Berlet et al. [2] reported on four types of bony attachment of the anterior root of the medial meniscus:

Type I (59 % of all cases) is located in the flat intercondylar region of the tibial plateau.

Type II (24 %) occurs on the downward slope from the medial articular plateau to the intercondylar region.

Type III (15%) occurs on the anterior slope of the tibial plateau.

Type IV (3 %) demonstrates no solid fixation. In his anatomical study of 12 nonpaired human cadaveric knees, LaPrade et al. reported that the area of the anterior root attachment of medial meniscus was about 110.4mm² [12].

According to Rainio, in 1 % of cases, there might be an atypical insertion of the anterior root of the medial meniscus, which the most frequent is the absence or hypermobility of the anterior root attachment of the medial meniscus [16] (Fig. 1.2).

1.2.2 Zone 2: Anteromedial Zone

Zone 2 may be further divided by the meniscal attachment of the transverse ligament into two subzones: 2a and 2b. Zone 2a starts at anterior

Fig. 1.3 Cadaveric specimen of the left knee joint. Cross section of medial meniscus at the level of zone 3. Meniscofemoral and meniscotibial (coronary ligament) is marked with yellow arrows. Medial collateral ligament is marked with red arrows. MM medial meniscus, MTC medial tibial condyle. Notice at this level, outer part of medial meniscus fully attaches to deep part of medial collateral ligament (also called thickening of joint capsule)



root of medial meniscus and ends by the attachment of the transverse ligament, where zone 2b begins to end at the anterior border of medial collateral ligament. The meniscus in this zone attaches to the tibia by the meniscotibial ligament, also called the coronary ligament. The superior edge of the medial meniscus within zone 2a shows no attachment to the surrounding tissues. In zone 2b, the most superior periphery of the medial meniscus is attached to the synovial tissue [17].

1.2.3 Zone 3: At the Level of the Medial Collateral Ligament

This is the only zone where the entire outer part of the medial meniscus fully attaches to the joint capsule. The deep part of the medial collateral ligament, also considered as a thickening of the medial joint capsule, has distinct meniscofemoral and meniscotibial components [13] (Fig. 1.3).

1.2.4 Zone 4: Posterior Horn

Zone 4 of the medial meniscus attachment extends from the superficial medial collateral ligament to the meniscal posterior root attachment. It is a very important zone, because it is the most frequently injured and sutured area. Within this zone, the medial meniscus has only its attachment to the tibia, via the meniscotibial (coronary) ligament, which attaches to the tibia about 7–10 mm below its articular surface. The meniscal superior edge and outer part do not attach to anything (Figs. 1.4 and 1.9a). Behind the outer part of the medial meniscus in this zone, there is a large posterior femoral recess [6]. Closing this recess by nonabsorbable sutures fixing the medial meniscus to joint capsule clearly might impair meniscal biomechanics and therefore might be responsible for failure of the meniscal repair.

1.2.5 Zone 5: Posterior Root

The posterior root attachment of the medial meniscus is localized posterior from the medial tibial eminence apex, lateral from the articular cartilage inflection point of the medial tibial plateau, and anteromedial from the tibial attachment of posterior cruciate ligament [10, 17] (Fig. 1.5).

1.3 Lateral Meniscus

1.3.1 Anterior Root

The anterior root of the lateral meniscus inserts to the tibia deeply beneath the tibial attachment of Fig. 1.4 Cadaveric specimen of the left knee joint. Medial meniscus (MM) in the zone 4. MTC medial tibial condyle. Meniscotibial (coronary) ligament is marked with yellow arrows. Notice superior edge and outer part have no attachments to surrounding tissues (marked with red arrows). This type of meniscal ligaments with this zone should be taken into the consideration while planning meniscus suturing and/or reconstruction



Fig. 1.5 Cadaveric specimen of the left knee joint. Area of meniscal posterior root is visualized. *MM* medial meniscus, *LM* lateral meniscus. *1* posterior root of lateral meniscus. *2* anterior meniscofemoral ligament (Humphrey ligament). *3* posterior cruciate ligament. *4* posterior meniscofemoral ligament (Wrisberg ligament). *5* posterior root of medial meniscus



the anterior cruciate ligament (ACL) [12] (Fig. 1.6a, b). The tibial attachment of ACL forms "C"-shaped insertion, in the middle of which there is a center of anterior root attachment of lateral meniscus. This insertion site is also called a "duck foot" or a tent over this meniscal insertion.

1.3.2 Anterior Horn

The anterior horn of the lateral meniscus is a very mobile part. It moves back and forth with knee flexion and extension (Fig. 1.7). One must carefully suture the meniscus in that area not to interrupt that movement.

1.3.3 Area at the Level of Hiatus Popliteus

At the level of the popliteal hiatus, the lateral meniscus forms an attachment to the fibula, via the capsular ligament: meniscofibular ligament. This ligament passes anteriorly to the popliteus tendon and, with rotatory movement

1 Meniscus Anatomy



Fig. 1.6 (a) Cadaveric specimen of the left knee joint. *MM* medial meniscus, *LM* lateral meniscus, *PT* patellar tendon. I – Transverse ligament. 2 – Tibial attachment of anterior cruciate ligament. 3 – Anterior root of lateral meniscus. 4 – Posterior root of lateral meniscus. 5 – Posterior root of medial meniscus. 6 – Posterior cruciate ligament. 7 – Anterior meniscofemoral ligament. 8 – Popliteus tendon. 9 – Meniscofibular ligament. 10 – Msedial collateral ligament. Hiatus popliteus – marked with the *yellow arrow*. (b) Cadaveric specimen of the right knee joint. View from lateral side. *MM* medial meniscus, *LM* lateral meniscus, *ACL* anterior cruciate ligament. Notice the way ACL surrounds and cover like a tent (also called a "duck foot") anterior root of lateral meniscus

Fig. 1.7 Cadaveric specimen of the left knee joint. ACL anterior cruciate ligament, LM lateral meniscus, LFC lateral femoral condyle, LTC lateral tibial condyle. Notice the way anterior root of lateral meniscus inserts beneath tibial ACL attachment (marked with red arrow). Yellow arrows mark loose meniscotibial ligament. White arrow marks the distance the anterior part of lateral meniscus moves with the knee in flexion





Fig. 1.8 Cadaveric specimen of the right knee joint, posterior view. *LM* lateral meniscus, *PT* popliteus tendon. *I* – Tibial articular surface of the proximal tibiofibular joint. *2* – Superior part of joint capsule of the proximal tibiofibular joint. *3* – Meniscofibular ligament

of the fibula, is believed to position the lateral meniscus [3] (Fig. 1.8). A failure to diagnose and reconstruct this underestimated ligament might play a role in poor long-term results in cases of meniscal suturing in this area. Additionally, the lateral meniscus is stabilized in this area by popliteomeniscal fascicles, connecting the lateral meniscus to the popliteal tendon sheet and joint capsule [18].

1.3.4 Meniscofemoral Ligaments

There are two ligaments connecting the posterior horn of the lateral meniscus to the femur: anterior meniscofemoral ligament (Humphrey ligament) and posterior meniscofemoral ligament (Wrisberg ligament) (Figs. 1.5 and 1.9a, b). Those ligaments contribute in reduction of contact pressure of lateral meniscus and also play an important role in the pathomechanics of the discoid lateral meniscus [9, 15, 19].

1.3.5 Posterior Root

The posterior root attachment of the lateral meniscus is a flat structure with a mean insertion site size between 28.5 and 115.0 mm². Its insertion was found to be posteromedial from the lateral tibial eminence apex, medial to the lateral articular cartilage edge, anterior from the posterior cruciate ligament tibial attachment, and anterolateral from the medial meniscus posterior root attachment [7, 10] (Fig. 1.5). You et al. [20] evaluated 105 knees in a 3.0 Tesla MRI and found three different types of posterior root attachment of lateral meniscus: in 76 % of cases, two insertion sites with the majority of fibers attaching to the intertubercular area with the anterior extension into the medial tubercle and the minor component attaching to the posterior slope of the lateral tibial tubercle. In the remaining 24 %, the posterior root of the lateral meniscus presents with isolated insertion site to either the intertubercular area or the posterior slope of the lateral tubercle, respectively.



Fig. 1.9 (a) Cadaveric specimen of the right knee joint, posterior view. MFC medial femoral condyle, LFC lateral femoral condyle, PCL posterior cruciate ligament, MM medial meniscus (notice that medial meniscus in this area does not attach to anything). LM lateral meniscus, F fibula. I posterior meniscofemoral ligament (Wrisberg liga-

Acknowledgments The authors gratefully acknowledge Maciej Śmiarowski (maciej.smiarowski@gmail.com) for taking photographs and Center for Medical Education (www.cemed.pl) for its help.

Bibliography

- Arnoczky SP, Warren RF. Microvasculature of the human meniscus. Am J Sports Med. 1982; 10(2):90–5.
- Berlet GC, Fowler PJ. The anterior horn of the medical meniscus. An anatomic study of its insertion. Am J Sports Med. 1998;26(4):540–3.
- Bozkurt M, Elhan A, Tekdemir I, Tönük E. An anatomical study of the meniscofibular ligament. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc Off J ESSKA. 2004;12(5):429–33.
- Clark CR, Ogden JA. Development of the menisci of the human knee joint. Morphological changes and their potential role in childhood meniscal injury. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1983;65(4): 538–47.

ment). 2 femoral attachment of anterior cruciate ligament. (b) Close look into the posterior aspect of the right knee joint. *I* posterior meniscofemoral ligament (Wrisberg ligament). 2 posterior cruciate ligament. *3* anterior meniscofemoral ligament. *4* lateral femoral condyle

- 5. Fairbank TJ. Knee joint changes after meniscectomy. J Bone Joint Surg Br. 1948;30B(4):664–70.
- Fenn S, Datir A, Saifuddin A. Synovial recesses of the knee: MR imaging review of anatomical and pathological features. Skeletal Radiol. 2009;38(4):317–28.
- Feucht MJ, Salzmann GM, Bode G, Pestka JM, Kühle J, Südkamp NP, Niemeyer P. Posterior root tears of the lateral meniscus. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 2015;23(1):119–25. doi:10.1007/s00167-014-2904-x. Review.
- Fox AJ, Wanivenhaus F, Burge AJ, Warren RF, Rodeo SA. The human meniscus: a review of anatomy, function, injury, and advances in treatment. New York: Clinical anatomy; 2014.
- Gupte CM, Bull AMJ, Atkinson HD, Thomas RD, Strachan RK, Amis AA. Arthroscopic appearances of the meniscofemoral ligaments: introducing the "meniscal tug test". Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc Off J ESSKA. 2006;14(12):1259–65.
- Johannsen AM, Civitarese DM, Padalecki JR, Goldsmith MT, Wijdicks CA, LaPrade RF. Qualitative and quantitative anatomic analysis of the posterior root attachments of the medial and lateral menisci. Am J Sports Med. 2012;40(10):2342–7.

- Koenig JH, Ranawat AS, Umans HR, DiFelice GS. Meniscal root tears: diagnosis and treatment. Arthroscopy J Arthrosc Related Surg. 2009;25(9):1025–32.
- LaPrade CM, Ellman MB, Rasmussen MT, James EW, Wijdicks CA, Engebretsen L, LaPrade RF. Anatomy of the anterior root attachments of the medial and lateral menisci: a quantitative analysis. Am J Sports Med. 2014;42(10):2386–92.
- LaPrade RF. The anatomy of the medial part of the knee. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2007;89(9):2000.
- 14. Sutton JB. The Nature of Certain Ligaments. J Anat Physiol. 1884;18(Pt 3):i2–238.
- Masouros SD, McDermott ID, Amis AA, Bull AM. Biomechanics of the meniscus-meniscal ligament construct of the knee. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc Off J ESSKA. 2008;16(12): 1121–32.

- Rainio P, Sarimo J, Rantanen J, Alanen J, Orava S. Observation of anomalous insertion of the medial meniscus on the anterior cruciate ligament. Arthroscopy. 2002;18(2):1–6.
- Śmigielski R, Becker R, Zdanowicz U, Ciszek B. Medial meniscus anatomy-from basic science to treatment. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc Off J ESSKA. 2015;23(1):8–14.
- Van Thiel GS, Verma N, Yanke A, Basu S, Farr J, Cole B. Meniscal allograft size can be predicted by height, weight, and gender. Arthroscopy Off Publ Arthroscopy Assoc North Am Int Arthroscopy Assoc. 2009;25(7):722–7.
- Wan ACT, Felle PK. The meniscofemoral ligaments. Clin Anat. 1995;8(5):323–6.
- You MW, Park JS, Park SY, Jin W, Ryu KN. Posterior root of lateral meniscus: the detailed anatomic description on 3 T MRI. Acta Radiol. 2014;55(3):359–65.

The Biomechanical Function of the Menisci

2

Scott Caterine, Maddison Hourigan, and Alan Getgood

9

Contents

2.1	Introduction	9
2.2	Microscopic Composition of Menisci and How It Relates to Function	9
2.3	Biomechanical Properties of Menisci	10
2.3.1	Viscoelasticity	10
2.3.2	Response to Compression	11
2.3.3	Response to Tension	12
2.3.4	Response to Shear	12
2.4	Functional Properties of Menisci	12
2.4.1	Size, Shape, and Load Transmission	12
2.4.2	Joint Stability	13
2.4.3	Lubrication and Nutrition	13
2.4.4	Proprioception	14
2.4.5	Shock Absorption	14
2.4.6	Functional Movements of Menisci	14
2.5	Pathology Resulting in a Dysfunctional	
	Meniscus	14
2.6	Meniscus-Associated Ligaments	15
2.6.1	Anterior Intermeniscal Ligament	
	(Transverse Geniculate Ligament)	15
2.6.2	Coronary Ligaments	15
2.6.3	Meniscotibial Ligaments	15
2.6.4	Deep Medial Collateral	
	Ligament (dMCL)	16

A. Getgood, MPhil, MD, FRCS(Tr&Orth) (🖂)

3M Centre, Western University, 1151 Richmond St, London, ON N6A 3K7, Canada

e-mail: scottcaterine@gmail.com;

2.6.5	Anterior and Posterior Meniscofemoral		
	Ligaments (aMFL/pMFL)	16	
2.6.6	Meniscofibular Ligaments	16	
Conclusion		16	
References			

2.1 Introduction

The biomechanical nature of the menisci has been extensively studied and is well understood. Their unique anatomy and structural composition allow them to perform an array of tasks critical to normal knee function. This chapter will focus on the biomechanical properties of the menisci, and how it relates to their overall function. This will include a general understanding of their composition, compressive and tensile properties, followed by their general functions of load distribution, joint stability, lubrication and nutrition, and proprioception.

2.2 **Microscopic Composition** of Menisci and How It **Relates to Function**

The menisci are predominantly composed of water (about 65–75 %) and collagen (20–25 %), with the other 5 % made up of non-collagenous substances including proteoglycans, matrix glycoproteins, and elastin [1-5]. The collagenous network has a

S. Caterine, MSc • M. Hourigan, MSc

Fowler Kennedy Sport Medicine Clinic,

maddisonhourigan@gmail.com; alan.getgood@uwo.ca





Fig. 2.1 Images taken from Bullough et al. (a) [12], Petersen and Tillman (b) [13]. (a) The different fibre directions of the menisci, showing randomly oriented fibres of the superficial layer, vertical fibres of the lamellar layer, and the radial and circumferential fibres of the deep layer. (b) The three distinct layers of the menisci. The

superficial layer having disorganized fibres, the lamellar layer having peripherally oriented radial fibres with an internal interconnecting meshwork, and the deep layer having large circumferential oriented bundles intermingling with radial tie fibres

complex orientation, which greatly influences function due to the anisotropic property of the tissue. Fibres run in a variety of directions, which can be random, superficial to deep, extending radially, or circumferentially [5-11] (Fig. 2.1).

In contact with the femoral and tibial articular surfaces is the superficial layer of the menisci. This layer is composed of randomly oriented collagen mixed with a lubricating layer of proteoglycans, allowing for a low frictional surface [13, 14]. Beneath the superficial network is the lamellar layer. In this layer, the external area of the anterior and posterior menisci have collagen fibres extending radially, with the internal fibres intersecting at various angles, creating a mesh [13]. There are also vertical fibres in the lamellar layer projecting into the central 'main' layer of the meniscus which lies deep and is thought to secure the two together allowing for force transmission between the two layers [15]. In addition to these vertical fibres, there are radially oriented 'tie' fibres found in the central layer, which may also integrate with the lamellar layer through perpendicular branches. These tie fibres are found in the inner portion of the central layer and act to tie/hold circularly oriented circumferential collagen fibres, which are found peripherally in

the central main layer [12, 16]. These tie fibres have been found to increase in population from anterior to posterior regions of the menisci, resulting in increased stiffness [16]. Circumferential fibres are larger bundles of mostly type I collagen, with the majority located in the internal and external circumference of the menisci because the middle portion experiences more uniform compressive stress and minimal radial stress [15, 17]. The radial tie fibres function to resist splitting of the circumferential fibres and may contribute to the compressive properties of the menisci [15, 17]. The circumferential fibres undergo great tensile or 'hoop' stresses when axially loaded [12, 15, 18-20].

2.3 Biomechanical Properties of Menisci

The function of menisci is largely attributed to their unique biomechanical properties.

2.3.1 Viscoelasticity

Human menisci are considered a viscoelastic material meaning that throughout an applied

load, they exhibit both viscous and elastic properties. This transition occurs in a time-dependent nature, beginning in the elastic phase and shifting to the viscous phase during loading. The elastic quality, or the 'solid' phase of menisci, is due to its collagenous-proteoglycan structure, where the viscous or 'fluid' phase is due to its permeability and water content [7, 15, 21]. When a compressive load is applied to the menisci, the solid phase occurs initially exhibiting an elastic response. At the same time, fluid is extruded slowly, which accommodates the compressive load without excess deformation beginning the viscous phase [22, 23]. To help determine the contributions of these two phases during an applied load, biphasic theory was developed to describe the mechanical behaviour of viscoelastic tissues [24, 25]. An important characteristic of this theory is a tissue's permeability, which explains how fluid moves through both the interconnected pores in the solid matrix of menisci and the synovial space [6, 7,21, 24]. Under compression, meniscal permeability determines the rate at which fluid is extruded. Meniscal permeability is much lower compared to articular cartilage, giving menisci the ability to maintain their shape during axial loads [7, 22, 25]. Menisci maintain their load-bearing capacity during gait by resisting fluid loss [5, 8, 26], which inhibits compression and maintains their shape. If the menisci did not maintain their shape, they would be essentially non-functional [22]. This is important to understand because these viscoelastic properties play a large role in the compressive resisting forces menisci possess.

2.3.2 Response to Compression

When a constant load is applied to the knee joint, there is an initial compression on the menisci which is resisted by the elastic characteristics of the collagen bundles and matrix [22]. Following this initial load, there is a diminished rate of compression as the fluid phase begins to take over. As fluid is extruded from the menisci, the compressive load is resisted which is referred to as 'creep' [15, 22]. When the menisci are compressed and held, the required load to maintain the compression is decreased. The menisci tissue relaxes, and the load needed to maintain the given held compression decreases. This is referred to as 'stress relaxation'. Creep and stress relaxation are two related characteristics of viscoelastic behaviour [22]. These two properties help to understand how menisci function during compressive loads. As stated previously, it is the permeability of menisci, along with these two properties, that allows them to maintain their shape during compression. This is supported as the compressive modulus for menisci is much greater at a physiological strain compared to equilibrium [10], showing that under axial loading, more force is needed to compress and ultimately affect the shape of the menisci.

When a compressive load is applied to the menisci, an axial load causes 'hoop stresses' to the circumferential fibres of the menisci extending to their attachments on the tibia and femur [12, 15, 19, 20]. As the femur compresses down, the menisci extrude peripherally due to their wedge shape causing a radially oriented tangential force [27]. This peripheral extrusion is prevented by the anterior and posterior meniscal attachments. As a compression force is applied, circumferential tension develops resulting in hoop stresses [19, 20, 28]. The menisci rely on conversion of the axial loads to tensile strains via these circumferential fibres, which travel along to both the anterior and posterior root insertions [29]. These hoop stresses allow distribution of stress over a large area of the articular cartilage, an important load-distribution function of menisci [30–32]. Hoop stresses can vary along the meniscus, and may also change in response to injury [33], such as a radial tear that disrupts the circumferential fibres resulting in a dysfunctional meniscus. It has been reported that the posterior region of the medial meniscus has a higher aggregate modulus than the rest of the menisci [26]. This may be because this region undergoes the highest compressive stress [34] and is the most commonly injured site [35, 36].

2.3.3 Response to Tension

Tension refers to the behaviour of a tissue as a stretching force is applied to it, resulting in elongation. When menisci undergo tensile forces, initially little is needed to elongate the menisci because collagen fibres are relaxed [37]. After the initial phase, there is a linear relationship between elongation and the load applied, followed by a dip in elongation as fibres begin to fail and tear [38]. The maximum load the menisci can maintain is referred to as the ultimate tensile load. The tensile properties can change depending on the location of the menisci.

In the superficial layer, there are no differences in tensile strengths. This is different than the central layer because the circumferential and tie fibres respond differently to tensile strains, with circumferential fibres having a greater tensile modulus than tie fibres [2, 7, 12, 21]. When comparing the different regions of the menisci, there is debate on whether significant tensile strength differences occur between the anterior, middle, and posterior portions. For the medial meniscus, it has been reported that the highest tensile modulus lies in the anterior region [21, 39], as well as the posterior region [7, 40]. For the lateral meniscus, there have been reports of the posterior portion having the highest tensile modulus [21] and others showing no significant difference at all [39]. A summary of the different tensile modulus of human menisci is shown in Table 2.1 [41].

In general, menisci have around a 150 MPa tensile modulus, where the ACL will be anywhere from 200 to 300 MPa and polyethylene will be around 1000 MPa [22].

2.3.4 Response to Shear

Shear stiffness is a measure of a material's resistance to changing shape. Menisci have a low shear stiffness relative to cartilage, with articular cartilage being over 100 times more shear resistant [18]. This low shear stiffness may allow the menisci to maintain optimal congruency between the tibia and femur through a full range of motion, ensuring even load distribution [15]. Additionally, tie fibres segregate circumferential fibres contributing to the low shear modulus of the menisci [7, 42, 43]. Shear modulus has also been found to be the lowest in the posterior portion of the medial meniscus [39].

2.4 Functional Properties of Menisci

2.4.1 Size, Shape, and Load Transmission

The size and shape of the menisci play a large role in their function. The medial meniscus covers anywhere from 50 to 54 % of the tibial articular cartilage surface and the lateral meniscus anywhere from 59 to 71 % [19, 44–47].

When unloaded, the contact areas across the knee are primarily on the menisci [47]. When the knee is loaded during gait, peak contact stresses on the medial plateau occur at the cartilage-cartilage interface, while stair climbing causes peak contact to move to the posterior portion of the plateau. During gait, peak contact stress on the lateral tibial plateau occurs under

		Width × thickness of	Tensile modulus (MPa)			
Type of specimen	Study	specimens (mm)	Anterior	Central	Posterior	Mean
Circumferential	Fithian [21]	0.4×1.0	159	161	159	160
	Tissakht [2]	$1.75 - 3 \times 1.5 - 2.0$	91	77	81	83
	Lechner [40]	0.5×1.0	141	116	108	122
		1.5×1.0	105	94	61	86
		3.0×1.0	72	43	67	61
	Mean values		114	98	95	102
Radial	Tissakht [2]	$1.75-3. \times 0.8-2.0$	8	11	13	11

 Table 2.1
 A summary of the different tensile moduli found in the human meniscus [41]

the meniscus, whereas in the late phases of stair climbing peak, contact areas are on the cartilage-cartilage interface [48]. Additionally, there is a general transfer of contact from the anterior aspect of the meniscus to the posterior meniscus during flexion [34, 47]. The lateral meniscus is also displaced more than the medial during loading, with load transmission shifting away from the centre of the femoral condyles, resulting in a tensile stress towards the tibial plateau [49]. In the extended knee under load, the medial meniscus takes on anywhere from 40 to 60 % of the load, and the lateral meniscus takes on anywhere from 65 to 70 % [19, 46, 50]. Finite element models show that the menisci transfer 62 % of the total axial load under 134 N anterior tibial load and 1150 N compressive load (40 % being medial meniscus). In addition, during a 134 N posterior tibial load and a 1150 N compressive load, the menisci transfer 75 % of the total axial load (60 % by medial meniscus) [51].

By covering a large surface area, the menisci function in load transmission and distribution, by increasing the congruency of the tibiofemoral compartments. This is important because contact stresses begin to increase as surface contact areas decrease [47, 52, 53] and it is the function of the menisci to decrease these contact stresses by maximizing contact area. This is particularly important in the lateral compartment, where the convex surface of the femoral condyle articulates with the relatively flat or convex surface of the tibial plateau. The large surface area of the lateral meniscus creates a more congruent articulation, thereby distributing the load more evenly across the compartment. If the menisci are not functioning properly, contact areas will decrease and contact stresses will increase, which can lead to increased stresses on the articular cartilage. This concept is highlighted following meniscectomy, which reduces contact areas and increases contact stresses. Meniscectomy can cause an increase in contact area anywhere from 40 to 75 % and resulting contact stresses to rise anywhere from 200 to 300 % [20, 33, 47, 52, 54–57]. This is important because a linear relationship exists between the amount of meniscus removed and peak contact stresses [34], supporting the idea to conserve as much meniscus as possible and performing a meniscus repair over a meniscectomy.

2.4.2 Joint Stability

The size and shape of the menisci allow for congruency between the femur and the tibia [32, 58–63] with the intact menisci limiting excess motion in all directions [64] and helping to stabilize the knee joint. The medial meniscus is an important secondary restraint to anterior tibial translation [22, 65, 66], with the lateral meniscus having an important secondary role in restraining combined axial and rotary loads [67]. This is understandable because the medial meniscus is less mobile at moving anterior to posterior. This is because the middle portions are attached to capsule [68, 69], and the posterior portions are firmly attached to the tibial plateau [69]. The medial meniscus is also thought to have a 'wedge' effect created by compression on the posterior horn during loading, preventing anterior displacement, especially in ACL-deficient knees [32]. Due to the mobility of the lateral meniscus, it is thought that it plays a lesser role in anterior stability compared to the medial meniscus [32, 70, 71], but more recent studies have highlighted its importance in controlling anterolateral rotatory laxity [67].

The joint stabilizing capabilities of the menisci are mostly apparent in ACL-deficient knees. Following medial meniscectomy in the ACLdeficient knee, there is an increase in anterior tibial translation and a decrease in coupled internal tibial rotation when an anterior tibial load is applied [58]. Additionally, there is a significant increase in anterior displacement in an ACLdeficient knee plus medial meniscectomy versus ACL deficiency alone [32].

2.4.3 Lubrication and Nutrition

The menisci are reported to play a role in lubrication of the knee joint [72], and there is an increase in the coefficient of friction following The menisci are also thought to play a nutritional role in the knee joint. They contain a porous network connecting the meniscal vasculature with the synovial space. It is believed during compression that fluid is able to pass from the menisci into the synovial space, both allowing the delivery of nutrients and reducing frictional forces on the articular cartilage [64, 74, 75].

2.4.4 Proprioception

The proprioceptive role of the menisci is well established, with multiple reports having found a variety of different mechanoreceptors within the tissue [30, 76–81]. Pacinian corpuscles have been located which mediate joint motion sensation (slow adapting), in addition to Ruffini endings and Golgi tendons which are believed to mediate sensation of joint position [82]. Mechanoreceptors are mostly found in the middle and outer third of the menisci and indicate the menisci may have an important sensory feedback role in the knee [42, 78, 83–85].

2.4.5 Shock Absorption

It is generally believed that the menisci act as prominent shock absorbers of the knee joint [28, 29, 56]. However, these reports have been recently criticized [86]. Some believe the shock-absorbing ability of the knee is actually attributed to the eccentric contractions of muscles which surround the knee joint [87] and not the menisci. More recently, it has been shown that the stiffness and energy dissipating ability of the menisci are much lower than that of articular cartilage and that if the menisci do play a role in shock absorption, it is a minor role [88].

2.4.6 Functional Movements of Menisci

Movement of the meniscus during flexion ensures maximum congruency over the articulating surfaces while avoiding injury [89]. It is this congruency that allows many of the actions of menisci to be so effective, such as load transmission, stability, and lubrication. This congruency is maintained because of the way the menisci move throughout a normal range of motion. The lateral meniscus can move up to two times as much as the medial meniscus [42], and the anterior horns move more than the posterior horns. This is critical because the femoral condyles' articulating shape with the menisci changes during flexion and extension, causing the anterior and posterior horns to move apart during full extension and together during flexion [7]. As the femoral condyles rotate over the tibia into extension, they push the meniscal roots anterior and posterior, respectively. The anterior horns allow movement to accommodate this, while the posterior horns are more secured, restricting excess movement [89]. This allows the menisci to maximize contact areas with the articular surfaces, reducing contact stresses [7]. Movements of the medial menisci during flexion and extension under load are anywhere from 2 to 5 mm anterior to posterior and the lateral meniscus anywhere from 9 to 11 mm [59, 71, 89–91]. Additionally, during internal rotation, the lateral meniscus moves posteriorly, and the medial meniscus moves anteriorly [92].

2.5 Pathology Resulting in a Dysfunctional Meniscus

Issues arise in the functionality of the menisci as a result of damage, specifically radial and longitudinal tears. As mentioned earlier, the menisci are composed mainly of radial tie fibres and circumferential collagen bundles. Meniscal tears can lead to instability, pain, and catching or locking of the knee [4]. Due to the direction of longitudinal tears, the biomechanics may not be disrupted as the circumferential fibres remain intact [93]. However, these types of lesions can alter the normal strains the menisci are exposed to during loading [33]. In extension, a longitudinal tear will increase anterior meniscus strain; however, during flexion, the lesion will cause an increased curvature of the meniscus posteriorly, likely altering strain as well. Horizontal tears, which divide the meniscus into superior and inferior segments tend to be more degenerate in nature and can result in pain and parameniscal cyst formation. A radial tear will result in disruption of the circumferential fibres which will alter strain throughout the tissue-reducing contact area and increasing stresses [94]. A 50 % tear will leave most circumferential fibres intact allowing the meniscus to maintain a significant contribution to normal knee mechanics, whereas a 100 % radial tear would usually cause the meniscus to extrude from the joint space [33] and be rendered functionless [79, 95]. This disrupts the hoop stresses associated with weight bearing, and as a result, when possible, repair should be attempted [96]. Additionally, pathology of the meniscal roots also have deleterious effects on the knee joint, because they are important in controlling rotation and maintaining hoop stresses [97–99]. Following a posterior root tear of the medial meniscus, there is an increase in peak contact pressures of the medial compartment compared to intact roots of up to 25 % [100, 101]. Disruption of the medial posterior root has also been shown to increase tibial external rotation and lateral translation [100] and is associated with osteonecrosis of the knee [102, 103]. Root avulsion and radial tears of the lateral meniscus posterior horn also result in decreases contact areas at all flexion angles, increasing cartilage contact stresses [104, 105].

These types of injuries are important, because as stated before, any loss or damage to the meniscus results in increase contact stresses, which will ultimately place larger stresses on the articular cartilage resulting in eventual osteoarthritis.

2.6 Meniscus-Associated Ligaments

In the previous chapter, the anatomy of the ligaments associated with menisci is described. Here we will briefly discuss known functions of these ligaments.

2.6.1 Anterior Intermeniscal Ligament (Transverse Geniculate Ligament)

The role of this ligament is still unclear, and it is postulated that it may contribute to helping transmit hoop stresses between the two menisci, therefore contributing to a decrease in contact pressure across the joint during compression [106]. However, it has been shown that sectioning of this ligament will increase peak pressures in the medial compartment at certain flexion angles [107], and it was also found to have no effect during full extension [106].

2.6.2 Coronary Ligaments

These ligaments connect the outer circumference of the menisci to the proximal tibia, anchoring the tissue to the tibial plateau thereby reducing translation and increasing stability.

2.6.3 Meniscotibial Ligaments

These are a continuation of the circumferential collagen fibres of menisci and attach to the subchondral bone deep to the tibial plateau to anchor the menisci to the tibial surface. The loss of function of these ligaments has been linked to significant medial meniscal extrusion [70], and the integrity of these ligaments is crucial to meniscal function [100]. Damage to the posterior root of either the medial or lateral meniscus has shown to significantly increase tibiofemoral contact pressures, decreasing contact areas and decreasing the functionality of menisci [100, 104, 105, 108]. Failure rates for these ligaments have tried to be determined, though large variations in ranges have been reported. The mean load to failure for the medial posterior root is 596 N, and the mean load to failure for the lateral posterior root is 579 N [109, 110].

2.6.4 Deep Medial Collateral Ligament (dMCL)

The deep medial collateral ligament has been shown to provide secondary varus-valgus restraint to the knee joint, while providing some restraint to tibial external rotation past 30 degrees flexion [111]. Additionally, when in tibial external rotation, the dMCL provides a restraint to anterior translation.

2.6.5 Anterior and Posterior Meniscofemoral Ligaments (aMFL/pMFL)

Also referred to as the ligaments of Humphrey (anterior) and Wrisberg (posterior), studies have shown that they act as stabilizers to the posterior horn of the lateral meniscus at different times throughout the range of motion [112]. They also reduce anterior-posterior laxity of the knee by moving the posterior horn of the lateral meniscus anteriorly and medially during flexion [113], though the magnitude of this effect is uncertain. The MFLs also play a substantial role in resisting posterior tibial drawer in both the intact and PCL-deficient knee [114] between 15 and 90 degrees flexion, although they have no defined role in preventing rotational laxity in the PCL-deficient knee [114].

2.6.6 Meniscofibular Ligaments

Attaching the meniscus to the head of the fibula, this ligament becomes tense while the knee is extended and externally rotated [115].

Conclusion

The menisci have a crucial role in the normal knee function. Their unique composition and tissue properties allow them to serve a variety of important tasks. Their mobility allows them to create a congruent surface between the different shapes of the femur and tibia, allowing for load distribution and joint stability. They also provide lubrication, nutrition, and proprioception. Overall, the menisci of the knee are versatile structures that play a crucial role in knee mechanics. Meniscal tears and resection can result in the loss of a functional meniscus with subsequent significant detrimental changes occurring within the knee, highlighting the importance of meniscal preservation, which will be discussed in later chapters.

References

- 1. Wirth CJ. The meniscus—structure, morphology and function. Knee. 1994;1(3):171–2.
- Tissakht M, Ahmed AM. Tensile stress-strain characteristics of the human meniscal material. J Biomech. 1995;28(4):411–22.
- Djurasovic M, Aldridge JW, Grumbles R, Rosenwasser MP, Howell D, Ratcliffe A. Knee joint immobilization decreases aggrecan gene expression in the meniscus. Am J Sports Med. 1998;26(3):460–6.
- Fox AJ, Wanivenhaus F, Burge AJ, Warren RF, Rodeo SA. The human meniscus: a review of anatomy, function, injury, and advances in treatment. Clin Anat. 2015;28(2):269–87.
- Sweigart MA, Zhu CF, Burt DM, DeHoll PD, Agrawal CM, Clanton TO, et al. Intraspecies and interspecies comparison of the compressive properties of the medial meniscus. Ann Biomed Eng. 2004;32(11):1569–79.
- Schmidt TA, Gastelum NS, Nguyen QT, Schumacher BL, Sah RL. Boundary lubrication of articular cartilage: role of synovial fluid constituents. Arthritis Rheum. 2007;56(3):882–91.
- Proctor CS, Schmidt MB, Whipple RR, Kelly MA, Mow VC. Material properties of the normal medial bovine meniscus. J Orthop Res. 1989;7(6):771–82.
- Joshi MD, Suh JK, Marui T, Woo SL. Interspecies variation of compressive biomechanical properties of the meniscus. J Biomed Mater Res. 1995;29(7):823–8.

- Gabrion A, Aimedieu P, Laya Z, Havet E, Mertl P, Grebe R, et al. Relationship between ultrastructure and biomechanical properties of the knee meniscus. Surg Radiol Anat. 2005;27(6):507–10.
- Chia HN, Hull ML. Compressive moduli of the human medial meniscus in the axial and radial directions at equilibrium and at a physiological strain rate. J Orthop Res. 2008;26(7):951–6.
- Bursac P, Arnoczky S, York A. Dynamic compressive behavior of human meniscus correlates with its extra-cellular matrix composition. Biorheology. 2009;46(3):227–37.
- Bullough PG, Munuera L, Murphy J, Weinstein AM. The strength of the menisci of the knee as it relates to their fine structure. J Bone Joint Surg Br. 1970;52(3):564–7.
- Petersen W, Tillmann B. Collagenous fibril texture of the human knee joint menisci. Anat Embryol (Berl). 1998;197(4):317–24.
- Schumacher BL, Schmidt TA, Voegtline MS, Chen AC, Sah RL. Proteoglycan 4 (PRG4) synthesis and immunolocalization in bovine meniscus. J Orthop Res. 2005;23(3):562–8.
- 15. Andrews S. Meniscus structure and function: University of Calgary; 2013.
- Skaggs DL, Warden WH, Mow VC. Radial tie fibers influence the tensile properties of the bovine medial meniscus. J Orthop Res. 1994;12(2):176–85.
- Petersen W, Tillmann B. Funktionelle anatomie der menisken des kniegelenks kollagenfasertextur und biomechanik. Arthroskopie. 1998;11(3):133–5.
- Zhu W, Chern KY, Mow VC. Anisotropic viscoelastic shear properties of bovine meniscus. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 1994;306:34–45.
- Shrive NG, O'Connor JJ, Goodfellow JW. Loadbearing in the knee joint. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 1978;131:279–87.
- Fairbank TJ. Knee joint changes after meniscectomy. J Bone Joint Surg Br. 1948;30B(4):664–70.
- Fithian DC, Kelly MA, Mow VC. Material properties and structure-function relationships in the menisci. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 1990;252:19–31.
- McDermott ID, Masouros SD, Amis AA. Biomechanics of the menisci of the knee. Curr Orthop. 2008;22(3):193–201.
- Spilker RL, Donzelli PS, Mow VC. A transversely isotropic biphasic finite element model of the meniscus. J Biomech. 1992;25(9):1027–45.
- Mow VC, Kuei S, Lai WM, Armstrong CG. Biphasic creep and stress relaxation of articular cartilage in compression: theory and experiments. J Biomech Eng. 1980;102(1):73–84.
- Favenesi J, Shaffer J, Mow V. Biphasic mechanical properties of knee meniscus. Trans Orthop Res Soc. 1983;8:57.
- Hacker S, Woo S, Wayne J, Kwan M. Compressive properties of the human meniscus. Trans Annu Meet Orthop Res Soc. 1992;627

- Kummer B. 38. Anatomie und Biomechanik des Kniegelenksmeniscus. Langenbecks Arch Chir. 1987;372(1):241–6.
- Krause WR, Pope MH, Johnson RJ, Wilder DG. Mechanical changes in the knee after meniscectomy. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1976;58(5):599–604.
- Voloshin AS, Wosk J. Shock absorption of meniscectomized and painful knees: a comparative in vivo study. J Biomed Eng. 1983;5(2):157–61.
- Assimakopoulos AP, Katonis PG, Agapitos MV, Exarchou EI. The innervation of the human meniscus. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 1992;275:232–6.
- Levy IM, Torzilli PA, Gould JD, Warren RF. The effect of lateral meniscectomy on motion of the knee. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1989;71(3):401–6.
- Levy IM, Torzilli PA, Warren RF. The effect of medial meniscectomy on anterior-posterior motion of the knee. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1982;64(6):883–8.
- 33. Jones RS, Keene GC, Learmonth DJ, Bickerstaff D, Nawana NS, Costi JJ, et al. Direct measurement of hoop strains in the intact and torn human medial meniscus. Clin Biomech (Bristol, Avon). 1996;11(5):295–300.
- Burke D. In vitro measurement of static pressure distribution in synovial joints. Part I: tibial surface of the knee. J Biomech Eng. 1983;105:216–25.
- Noble J. Lesions of the menisci. Autopsy incidence in adults less than fifty-five years old. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1977;59(4):480–3.
- Mow V, Ratcliffe A, Chern K, Kelly M. Structure and function relationships of the menisci of the knee. New York: Raven Press, Ltd.; 1992. p. 37–57.
- Viidik A. Functional properties of collagenous tissues. Int Rev Connect Tissue Res. 1973;6(267):127–215.
- Butler DL, Grood ES, Noyes FR, Zernicke RF. Biomechanics of ligaments and tendons. Exerc Sport Sci Rev. 1978;6:125–81.
- Sweigart M, Athanasiou KA. Biomechanical characteristics of the normal medial and lateral porcine knee menisci. Proc Inst Mech Eng H J Eng Med. 2005;219(1):53–62.
- Lechner K, Hull ML, Howell SM. Is the circumferential tensile modulus within a human medial meniscus affected by the test sample location and cross-sectional area? J Orthop Res. 2000;18(6):945–51.
- Halewood C, Masouros S, Amis AA. Structure and Function of the Menisci. In Meniscal Allograft Transplantation - A Comprehensive Review, DJO Publications. 2015.
- Aagaard H, Verdonk R. Function of the normal meniscus and consequences of meniscal resection. Scand J Med Sci Sports. 1999;9(3):134–40.
- Nguyen AM, Levenston ME. Comparison of osmotic swelling influences on meniscal fibrocartilage and articular cartilage tissue mechanics in compression and shear. J Orthop Res. 2012;30(1):95–102.

- 44. Bloecker K, Englund M, Wirth W, Hudelmaier M, Burgkart R, Frobell RB, et al. Revision 1 size and position of the healthy meniscus, and its correlation with sex, height, weight, and bone area- a crosssectional study. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2011;12:248.
- 45. Clark CR, Ogden JA. Development of the menisci of the human knee joint. Morphological changes and their potential role in childhood meniscal injury. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1983;65(4):538–47.
- 46. Seedhom BB, Dowson D, Wright V. Proceedings: functions of the menisci. A preliminary study. Ann Rheum Dis. 1974;33(1):111.
- Walker PS, Erkman MJ. The role of the menisci in force transmission across the knee. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 1975;109:184–92.
- 48. Gilbert S, Chen T, Hutchinson ID, Choi D, Voigt C, Warren RF, et al. Dynamic contact mechanics on the tibial plateau of the human knee during activities of daily living. J Biomech. 2014;47(9):2006–12.
- Sweigart MA, Athanasiou KA. Toward tissue engineering of the knee meniscus. Tissue Eng. 2001;7(2):111–29.
- Dudhia J, McAlinden A, Muir P, Bayliss M. The meniscus—structure, composition, and pathology. In: Hazleman B, Riley G, Speed C, editors. Soft tissue rheumatology part 1 the science of soft tissue disorders. Oxford University Press; 2004. pp. 80–96.
- Pena E, Calvo B, Martinez MA, Doblare M. A threedimensional finite element analysis of the combined behavior of ligaments and menisci in the healthy human knee joint. J Biomech. 2006;39(9):1686–701.
- Kettelkamp DB, Jacobs AW. Tibiofemoral contact area-determination and implications. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1972;54(2):349–56.
- Maquet P, Van De Berg A, Simonet J. The weightbearing surfaces of the femoro-tibial joint. Acta Orthop Belg. 1975;42:139–43.
- 54. Baratz ME, Fu FH, Mengato R. Meniscal tears: the effect of meniscectomy and of repair on intraarticular contact areas and stress in the human knee. A preliminary report. Am J Sports Med. 1986;14(4):270–5.
- Henning CE, Lynch MA, Clark JR. Vascularity for healing of meniscus repairs. Arthroscopy. 1987;3(1):13–8.
- 56. Kurosawa H, Fukubayashi T, Nakajima H. Loadbearing mode of the knee joint: physical behavior of the knee joint with or without menisci. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 1980;149:283–90.
- Fukubayashi T, Kurosawa H. The contact area and pressure distribution pattern of the knee. A study of normal and osteoarthritic knee joints. Acta Orthop Scand. 1980;51(6):871–9.
- Allen CR, Wong EK, Livesay GA, Sakane M, Fu FH, Woo SL. Importance of the medial meniscus in the anterior cruciate ligament-deficient knee. J Orthop Res. 2000;18(1):109–15.

- Brantigan OC, Voshell AF. The mechanics of the ligaments and menisci of the knee joint. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1941;23(1):44–66.
- 60. Fukubayashi T, Torzilli PA, Sherman MF, Warren RF. An in vitro biomechanical evaluation of anterior-posterior motion of the knee. Tibial displacement, rotation, and torque. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1982;64(2):258–64.
- Markolf KL, Mensch JS, Amstutz HC. Stiffness and laxity of the knee–the contributions of the supporting structures. A quantitative in vitro study. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1976;58(5):583–94.
- Oretorp N, Gillquist J, Liljedahl SO. Long term results of surgery for non-acute anteromedial rotatory instability of the knee. Acta Orthop Scand. 1979;50(3):329–36.
- 63. Shoemaker SC, Markolf KL. The role of the meniscus in the anterior-posterior stability of the loaded anterior cruciate-deficient knee. Effects of partial versus total excision. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1986;68(1):71–9.
- 64. Arnoczky SP, Warren RF, Spivak JM. Meniscal repair using an exogenous fibrin clot. An experimental study in dogs. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1988;70(8):1209–17.
- Bargar WL, Moreland JR, Markolf KL, Shoemaker SC, Amstutz HC, Grant TT. In vivo stability testing of post-meniscectomy knees. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 1980;150:247–52.
- 66. Arno S, Hadley S, Campbell KA, Bell CP, Hall M, Beltran LS, et al. The effect of arthroscopic partial medial meniscectomy on tibiofemoral stability. Am J Sports Med. 2013;41(1):73–9.
- Musahl V, Citak M, O'Loughlin PF, Choi D, Bedi A, Pearle AD. The effect of medial versus lateral meniscectomy on the stability of the anterior cruciate ligament-deficient knee. Am J Sports Med. 2010;38(8):1591–7.
- Caterine S, Litchfield R, Johnson M, Chronik B, Getgood A. A cadaveric study of the anterolateral ligament: re-introducing the lateral capsular ligament. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 2015;23(11):3186–95.
- Helfet A. Anatomy and mechanics of movement of the knee joint. In: Disorders of the knee. Philadelphia: JB Lippincott; 1974. p. 1–17.
- Lerer D, Umans H, Hu M, Jones M. The role of meniscal root pathology and radial meniscal tear in medial meniscal extrusion. Skeletal Radiol. 2004;33(10):569–74.
- Thompson WO, Thaete FL, Fu FH, Dye SF. Tibial meniscal dynamics using three-dimensional reconstruction of magnetic resonance images. Am J Sports Med. 1991;19(3):210–5; discussion 5–6.
- Renström P, Johnson R. Anatomy and biomechanics of the menisci. Clin Sports Med. 1990;9(3): 523–38.
- 73. Macconaill MA. The function of intra-articular fibrocartilages, with special reference to the knee

and inferior radio-ulnar joints. J Anat. 1932;66(Pt 2):210-27.

- 74. Arnoczky S, Adams M, DeHaven K, Eyre D, Mow V, Kelly M, et al. Meniscus. In: Injury and repair of the musculoskeletal soft tissues, vol. 483537. Park Ridge: American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons; 1988.
- MacConaill M. The movements of bones and joints 3. The synovial fluid and its assistants. J Bone Joint Surg Br. 1950;32(2):244–52.
- Akgun U, Kocaoglu B, Orhan EK, Baslo MB, Karahan M. Possible reflex pathway between medial meniscus and semimembranosus muscle: an experimental study in rabbits. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 2008;16(9):809–14.
- Jerosch J, Prymka M, Castro WH. Proprioception of knee joints with a lesion of the medial meniscus. Acta Orthop Belg. 1996;62(1):41–5.
- Karahan M, Kocaoglu B, Cabukoglu C, Akgun U, Nuran R. Effect of partial medial meniscectomy on the proprioceptive function of the knee. Arch Orthop Trauma Surg. 2010;130(3):427–31.
- Messner K, Gao J. The menisci of the knee joint. Anatomical and functional characteristics, and a rationale for clinical treatment. J Anat. 1998;193(Pt 2):161–78.
- Saygi B, Yildirim Y, Berker N, Ofluoglu D, Karadag-Saygi E, Karahan M. Evaluation of the neurosensory function of the medial meniscus in humans. Arthroscopy. 2005;21(12):1468–72.
- Wilson AS, Legg PG, McNeur JC. Studies on the innervation of the medial meniscus in the human knee joint. Anat Rec. 1969;165(4):485–91.
- Reider B, Arcand MA, Diehl LH, Mroczek K, Abulencia A, Stroud CC, et al. Proprioception of the knee before and after anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction. Arthroscopy. 2003;19(1):2–12.
- Gray JC. Neural and vascular anatomy of the menisci of the human knee. J Orthop Sports Phys Ther. 1999;29(1):23–30.
- Kennedy JC, Alexander IJ, Hayes KC. Nerve supply of the human knee and its functional importance. Am J Sports Med. 1982;10(6):329–35.
- Skinner HB, Barrack RL, Cook SD. Age-related decline in proprioception. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 1984;184:208–11.
- Andrews S, Shrive N, Ronsky J. The shocking truth about meniscus. J Biomech. 2011;44(16):2737–40.
- Alexander RM. Energy-saving mechanisms in walking and running. J Exp Biol. 1991;160:55–69.
- Gaugler M, Wirz D, Ronken S, Hafner M, Göpfert B, Friederich NF, et al. Fibrous cartilage of human menisci is less shock-absorbing and energydissipating than hyaline cartilage. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 2015;23(4):1141–6.
- Vedi V, Williams A, Tennant SJ, Spouse E, Hunt DM, Gedroyc WM. Meniscal movement. An in-vivo study using dynamic MRI. J Bone Joint Surg Br. 1999;81(1):37–41.

- DePalma A. Diseases of the knee. Philadelphia/ London/Montreal: JB Lippincott Company; 1954.
- Shapeero LG, Dye SF, Lipton MJ, Gould RG, Galvin EG, Genant HK. Functional dynamics of the knee joint by ultrafast, cine-CT. Invest Radiol. 1988;23(2):118–23.
- Bylski-Austrow DI, Ciarelli MJ, Kayner DC, Matthews LS, Goldstein SA. Displacements of the menisci under joint load: an in vitro study in human knees. J Biomech. 1994;27(4):421425–3431.
- Mordecai SC, Al-Hadithy N, Ware HE, Gupte CM. Treatment of meniscal tears: an evidence based approach. World J Orthop. 2014;5(3):233.
- 94. Ode GE, Van Thiel GS, McArthur SA, Dishkin-Paset J, Leurgans SE, Shewman EF, et al. Effects of serial sectioning and repair of radial tears in the lateral meniscus. Am J Sports Med. 2012;40(8):1863–70.
- 95. Seedhom B, Hargreaves D. Transmission of the load in the knee joint with special reference to the role of the menisci part II: experimental results, discussion and conclusions. Eng Med. 1979;8(4):220–8.
- Harper KW, Helms CA, Lambert III HS, Higgins LD. Radial meniscal tears: significance, incidence, and MR appearance. Am J Roentgenol. 2005;185(6):1429–34.
- Griffith CJ, LaPrade RF, Fritts HM, Morgan PM. Posterior root avulsion fracture of the medial meniscus in an adolescent female patient with surgical reattachment. Am J Sports Med. 2008;36(4):789–92.
- Kim J-H, Chung J-H, Lee D-H, Lee Y-S, Kim J-R, Ryu K-J. Arthroscopic suture anchor repair versus pullout suture repair in posterior root tear of the medial meniscus: a prospective comparison study. Arthroscopy. 2011;27(12):1644–53.
- 99. Bhatia S, LaPrade CM, Ellman MB, LaPrade RF. Meniscal root tears significance, diagnosis, and treatment. Am J Sports Med. 2014. doi:10.1177/0363546514524162
- 100. Allaire R, Muriuki M, Gilbertson L, Harner CD. Biomechanical consequences of a tear of the posterior root of the medial meniscus. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2008;90(9):1922–31.
- 101. Marzo JM, Gurske-DePerio J. Effects of medial meniscus posterior horn avulsion and repair on tibiofemoral contact area and peak contact pressure with clinical implications. Am J Sports Med. 2009;37(1):124–9.
- 102. Robertson D, Armfield D, Towers J, Irrgang J, Maloney W, Harner C. Meniscal root injury and spontaneous osteonecrosis of the knee. J Bone Joint Surg Br. 2009;91(2):190–5.
- 103. Sung JH, Ha JK, Lee DW, Seo WY, Kim JG. Meniscal extrusion and spontaneous osteonecrosis with root tear of medial meniscus: comparison with horizontal tear. Arthroscopy. 2013;29(4):726–32.
- LaPrade CM, Jansson KS, Dornan G, Smith SD, Wijdicks CA, LaPrade RF. Altered tibiofemoral con-

tact mechanics due to lateral meniscus posterior horn root avulsions and radial tears can be restored with in situ pull-out suture repairs. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2014;96(6):471–9.

- 105. Schillhammer CK, Werner FW, Scuderi MG, Cannizzaro JP. Repair of lateral meniscus posterior horn detachment lesions a biomechanical evaluation. Am J Sports Med. 2012;40(11):2604–9.
- 106. Poh SY, Yew KS, Wong PL, Koh SB, Chia SL, Fook-Chong S, et al. Role of the anterior intermeniscal ligament in tibiofemoral contact mechanics during axial joint loading. Knee. 2012;19(2):135–9.
- Nelson EW, LaPrade RF. The anterior intermeniscal ligament of the knee an anatomic study. Am J Sports Med. 2000;28(1):74–6.
- 108. Padalecki JR, Jansson KS, Smith SD, Dornan GJ, Pierce CM, Wijdicks CA, et al. Biomechanical consequences of a complete radial tear adjacent to the medial meniscus posterior root attachment site in situ pull-out repair restores derangement of joint mechanics. Am J Sports Med. 2014;42(3):699–707.
- 109. Ellman MB, LaPrade CM, Smith SD, Rasmussen MT, Engebretsen L, Wijdicks CA, et al. Structural properties of the meniscal roots. Am J Sports Med. 2014;42(8):1881–7.

- 110. Kopf S, Colvin AC, Muriuki M, Zhang X, Harner CD. Meniscal root suturing techniques: implications for root fixation. Am J Sports Med. 2011;39(10):2141–6.
- 111. Robinson JR, Bull AM, Thomas RR, Amis AA. The role of the medial collateral ligament and posteromedial capsule in controlling knee laxity. Am J Sports Med. 2006;34(11):1815–23.
- 112. Grood ES, Hefzy MS, Lindenfield TN. Factors affecting the region of most isometric femoral attachments Part I: the posterior cruciate ligament. Am J Sports Med. 1989;17(2):197–207.
- 113. Gupte CM, Bull AM, Amis AA. A review of the function and biomechanics of the meniscofemoral ligaments. Arthroscopy. 2003;19(2):161–71.
- 114. Gupte CM, Bull AM, Thomas RD, Amis AA. The meniscofemoral ligaments: secondary restraints to the posterior drawer. Analysis of anteroposterior and rotary laxity in the intact and posterior-cruciatedeficient knee. J Bone Joint Surg Br. 2003;85(5):765–73.
- 115. Natsis K, Paraskevas G, Anastasopoulos N, Papamitsou T, Sioga A. Meniscofibular ligament: morphology and functional significance of a relatively unknown anatomical structure. Anat Res Int. 2012;2012:214784.

Classification of Meniscal Tears

Sergio Rocha Piedade

Contents

3.1	Introduction	21
3.2	Classification of the Meniscal Tears	21
3.2.1	Trillat's Classification	22
3.2.2	MRI Classification of Meniscal Tears	22
3.2.3	ISAKOS Classification	22
3.2.4	Classification of Discoid Meniscus	25
3.2.5	Classification of Degenerative	
	Meniscal Tears	25
3.2.6	Meniscal Root Tears	26
3.2.7	Classification of Medial Meniscal	
	Capsular Tears	27
Refer	ences	28

S.R. Piedade

3.1 Introduction

The meniscus is described as a C-shaped fibrocartilage structure which is highly specialized to absorb energy when submitted to recurrent loading cycles and experiences both radial and circumferential stresses in different joint-loading planes [10]. Moreover, the menisci exhibit an independent healing ability, ordinarily restricted to their anatomical vascularity [2].

These anatomical and biomechanical particularities are linked to a vast spectrum of presentation and different patterns of meniscal injuries. Therefore, this should be considered for the treatment approach [4, 13, 15]. With this background, classifying meniscal injuries allows us to recognize, group, and delineate a proper treatment based upon outcomes reporting the characteristic for each of the meniscal tear injuries.

For example, the classification of meniscal injuries and the suggestion of maintaining the peripheral meniscus capsular rim, proposed by Trillat and Dejour [18] in 1968, were fundamental in establishing the concept of meniscal preservation surgery.

3.2 Classification of the Meniscal Tears

Several classifications of meniscal injuries have been proposed over time. Each system of classification approaches a particular aspect of the

Department of Orthopedics and Traumatology, Exercise and Sports Medicine, School of Medical Sciences, State University of Campinas, UNICAMP, Campinas, Brazil

e-mail: piedade@unicamp.br; piedade@fcm.unicamp

meniscal structure according to its morphology, proximity to the blood supply, anatomical site, and injury pattern [9, 16, 19, 20].

Traumatic meniscal lesions are characterized arthroscopically as a tear produced by a specific, well-known trauma on normal meniscal tissue.

On the other hand, the degenerative meniscal lesions are, often, related to a decompensation after a minor trauma or even no traumatic event, and the meniscus substance exhibits macroscopic and microscopic alterations named myxoid degeneration [3, 6].

Different patterns of meniscal tears have been named in the literature, according to each specific pattern and configuration for the meniscal tear observed (Fig. 3.1). Therefore, meniscal tears can be classified as radial tears, flap or parrot-beak tears, bucket-handle tears, horizontal cleavage tears, longitudinal tears, and complex and degenerative tears (multiplanar) [6, 8].

3.2.1 Trillat's Classification

Trillat's classification [19] approaches the evolution of the different stages of the traumatic meniscal tear. In stage I, the injury may progress with a posterior flap. In stage II (longitudinal meniscal tear), three subtypes are described according to the location of the disruption of the meniscal longitudinal flap tear: anterior (IIa), middle (IIm), and posterior (IIp). Stage III represents the inner edge of the meniscus dislocated into the intercondylar notch (bucket-handle tear). Although this classification can be applicable in cases of lateral meniscal injury, this classification was described for medial meniscal tears (Fig. 3.2).

3.2.2 MRI Classification of Meniscal Tears

Currently, magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) is a valuable tool to evaluate for meniscal tears, particularly for traumatic tears. Meniscal tears are classified according to signal intensity T2W for three grades [17]. Grade I is defined as a small focus of increased signal; grade II demonstrates a linear area with no extension to the articular surface, while grade III represents articular surface involvement and a complete meniscal tear (Fig. 3.3).

3.2.3 ISAKOS Classification

The ISAKOS classification of meniscal tears [1] offers an interobserver reliability with satisfactory results for classifying depth, location, tear pattern, length, tissue quality, and the percentage of the meniscus excised.

3.2.3.1 Tear Depth

A complete tear extends completely through the inferior and superior surface of the meniscus, while a partial tear involves either the inferior or superior surface of the meniscus.

3.2.3.2 Tear Location: Rim Width

The meniscus tear location is graded according to how far the tear extends into the meniscus tissue. The rim width tear is classified into three zones, according to the extension of rim width tear: zone 1 (less than 3 mm), zone 2 (3–5 mm), and zone 3 (more than 5 mm) (Fig. 3.4). A radial meniscus tear should be graded based upon the rim width distance of the tear.



Fig. 3.1 Different patterns of the meniscal tears



Fig. 3.2 Trillat's classification of traumatic meniscal injury



Fig. 3.3 MRI classification of meniscal tears



RIM WIDTH (circumferential location): Zone 1 Zone 2 Zone 3

Fig. 3.4 Diagram of rim width location of the meniscal tear (ISAKOS classification)

3.2.3.3 Local Tear: Radial Location

For radial meniscal tears, two factors are considered. Firstly, the radial tear location is graded according to zones in which they are topographically located, posterior, midbody, or anterior (Fig. 3.5a), and then, they are graded as posterior-anterior classification as shown in the diagram below (Fig. 3.5b).

3.2.3.4 Patterns of Meniscal Tears

The diagram presented in Fig. 3.6 offers the references to register the different patterns of a meniscal tear. Each meniscal tear presents particularities inherent to the mechanism of trauma and the quality of the meniscus tissue (degenerative versus normal tissue).

Longitudinal Vertical Tear

This type of meniscal tear results from trauma and is particularly observed in young patients, most commonly with an anterior cruciate ligament tear. The tear pattern is vertically oriented to the edge of the meniscus and is usually a reparable lesion. When the inner fragment of the longitudinal tear is dislocated into the intercondylar notch, this lesion is named a bucket-handle tear.

Horizontal Meniscus Tear

In this type of meniscal tear, the superior and inferior meniscus surfaces are separated apart by the tear. The tear begins at the inner edge of the meniscus and continues toward the capsule. Typically, they are degenerative tears and mainly, but not always, affect older people.

Radial Meniscus Tear

This type of meniscal tear is often secondary to a traumatic event, often located at the junction of the middle and posterior thirds of the lateral meniscus. This lesion is vertically oriented toward the meniscus periphery, being either partial or complete (transecting the meniscus). Usually, this type of tear is unstable and historically was considered to be non-reparable lesion because they are located in the avascular zone of the inner edge of the meniscus. However, the chapter on radial meniscal repairs will provide new information on radial meniscal repairs.

Flap or Parrot-Beak Tears

These tears could be produced by a radial tear or a transection of the bucket-handle tear with a circumferential extension building a flap of meniscal tissue, being vertical or horizontal.

Complex Tears, Degenerative Flap

This type of meniscus tear is usually associated with two or more tear patterns occurring in different planes.



Fig. 3.5 Diagram of radial location of meniscal tear: posterior-midbody-anterior location (**a**) and posterior-anterior location (**b**) (ISAKOS classification)



Fig. 3.6 Different patterns of meniscal tears (ISAKOS classification)

3.2.4 Classification of Discoid Meniscus

The meniscus discoid is a congenital anomaly that usually affects the lateral meniscus. It was classified by Watanabe [20] in three morphological forms according to the meniscus attachments and its dimensions related to the tibial plateau. Thus, in types I and II, the meniscus is larger than normal meniscus and has normal attachments, covering partially and completely the tibial plateau, respectively. In type III, the meniscus has no capsular attachment and is anchored posteriorly by the ligament of Wrisberg. Lately, a forth type of discoid meniscus called ring-shaped meniscus with normal attachments was described by Monllau et al. [12] (Fig. 3.7).

3.2.5 Classification of Degenerative Meniscal Tears

The clinical scenario of these injuries is often correlated to a decompensation after a minor traumatic or even no traumatic event. The meniscus substance exhibits macroscopic and microscopic alterations called myxoid degeneration. Dorfmann et al. (2010) [6] arthroscopically classified degenerative meniscal tears into five types (Fig. 3.8):

Type I – There is no interruption in the meniscal substance. Macroscopically, it appears flat and yellow and the inner edge is ragged.

Type II – It is characterized by the presence of calcium deposits, i.e., chondrocalcinosis.

Type III – It is a horizontal cleavage tear.

Type IV – In this type, the pattern of the meniscal tear is a radial tear (IVa) or flap (IVb).

Type V - It is defined as a complex injury, often associated with osteoarthritis.

3.2.6 Meniscal Root Tears

Recently, the interest of the meniscus root tear has been enhanced. Some authors have emphasized the importance of recognizing these meniscal tears that occur in the vascular zone of the meniscus tissue and their implications on their outcomes and particularly on accelerating the progression of osteoarthritis [7, 13].

Meniscal root tears have been historically underdiagnosed [11]. Usually, they are described as radial root meniscus tears, while a traumatic meniscus root tear is rare. Traumatic posterior lateral meniscal tear have often been found with ACL tears.

Christopher LaPrade et al. (2015) [9] presented a classification of meniscal root tears based on the tear morphology (Fig. 3.9). The authors classified meniscal root tears in five types, where:

Type 1 is defined as a stable and partial meniscal root tear.

Type 2 is a complete meniscal radial root tear within 9 mm of meniscal root attachment, which was further classified into three subtypes according to the meniscal tear root displacement in 2A (0 < 3 mm), 2B (3 to <6 mm), and 2C (6–9 mm).

Type 3 is an association of complete meniscal root tear and a bucket-handle tear.



Fig. 3.8 Classification of degenerative meniscal tears (Dorfmann et al. 2010)

Type 4 is a complex and oblique meniscal within 9 mm of the center of the meniscal root attachment.

Type 5 is a bony avulsion of meniscal tear root attachment.

3.2.7 Classification of Medial Meniscal Capsular Tears

Meniscosynovial or meniscocapsular tears, also named ramp or hidden lesions, have received increased attention over the past few years. Although these lesions are usually associated with an anterior cruciate tear, it remains an underrecognized lesion to the great majority of orthopedic surgeons [5]. This happens because this meniscocapsular tear is, topographically, located in the "blind spot" of the knee, being difficult to visualize by standard arthroscopic approaches [14]. These observations reinforce the importance of performing a systematic arthroscopic evaluation to diagnose these hidden lesions.

Sonnery-Cottet et al. (2014) [16] proposed a classification of ramp lesions of the medial meniscus. The classification is based according to the tear pattern (partial or complete) and its association to a meniscotibial ligament tear (Fig. 3.10). The authors defined five different types of ramp lesion: Type 1 - a very peripheral meniscocapsular tear



Fig. 3.9 Classification of meniscal root tears



Fig. 3.10 Classification of meniscal meniscus capsular tears (ramp lesions)

Type 2 – defined as a stable tear characterized by a partial superior meniscal tear with no meniscotibial ligament disruption

Type 3 – partial inferior or hidden lesion, which is strongly suspected when an increased mobility of the posterior horn of the meniscus is present

Type 4 - a complete tear associated with high mobility of the meniscus (at probing)

Type 5 – a double longitudinal tear

So, according to this classification, when the meniscal tear demonstrates a higher mobility upon probing, in types 3, 4, and 5, it reinforces the presence of a meniscotibial ligament disruption.

In summary, there are many different classifications of meniscal tears. Breaking down the types of meniscal tears allows for their classification and allows for the comparison of nonoperative and operative outcomes. It is recommended that outcome studies on meniscal tears utilize one of these meniscal tear classification systems.

References

 Andersen AF, Irrgang JJ, Dunn W, Beaufils P, Cohen M, Cole BJ, Coolican M, Ferretti M, Glenn Jr RE, Johnson R, Neyret P, Ochi M, Panarella L, Siebold R, Spindler KP, Ait Si Selmi T, Verdonk P, Verdonk R, Yasuda K, Kowalchuk DA. Interobserver reliability of the international Society of Arthroscopy, Knee surgery and Orthopedic Sports Medicine (ISAKOS). Classification of meniscal tears. Am J Sports Med. 2011;39(5):926–32.

- Arnoczky SP, Warren RF. The microvasculature of the meniscus and its response to injury. An experimental study in the dog. Am J Sports Med. 1983;11(3): 131–41.
- Bierdet RM. Intrasubstance meniscal tears. Clinical aspects and the role of MRI. Arch Orthop Trauma Surg. 1993;112(3):142–7.
- Binfield PM, Maffulli N, JB K. Patterns of meniscal tears associated with anterior cruciate ligament lesions in athletes. Injury. 1993;24:557–61.
- Chahla J, Dean CS, Moasthe G, Mitchell JJ, Cram TR, Yacuzzi C, LaPrade RF. Meniscal ramp lesions: anatomy, incidence, diagnosis and treatment. Orthop J Sports Med. 2016;4(7):1–7.
- Dorfmann H, Juan LH, Bonavarlet JP, Boyer T. Arthroscopy of degenerative lesions of the internal meniscus. Classification and treatment. Rev Rhum Mal Oteo-Articul. 1987;54(4):303–10.
- Freutel M, Scholz NB, Seitz AM, Ignatus A, Durselen L. Mechanical properties and morphological analysis of the transitional zone between meniscal body and ligamentous meniscal attachments. J Biomech. 2015;48(8):1350–5.
- Klimkiewicz JJ, Shaffer B. Meniscal surgery 2002 update: indications and techniques for resection, repair, regeneration. Arthroscopy. 2002;18:14–25.
- LaPrade CM, James EW, Cram TR, Feagin JA, Engebretsen L, LaPrade RF. Meniscal tears: a classification system based on tear morphology. Am J Sports Med. 2015;43(2):363–9.

- McDermott ID, Masouros SD, Amis AA. Biomechanics of the menisci of the knee. Curr Orthop. 2008;22:193–201.
- Moatshe G, Chahla J, Slette E, Engebretsen L, LaPrade RF. Posterior root tears. Acta Orthopaedica. 2016;87(5):452–8.
- Monllau JC, Léon A, Cugat R, Ballester J. Ringshaped lateral meniscus. Arthroscopy. 1988;14(5): 502–4.
- Papalia R, Vasta S, Franceschi F, D'Adamio S, Maffulli N, Denaro V. Meniscal root tears: from basic science to ultimate surgery. British Med Bull. 2013;106:91–115.
- Peltier A, Lording TD, Lustig S, Servien E, Maubisson L, Neyret P. Posteromedial meniscal tears may be missed during anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction. Arthroscopy. 2015;31(4):691–8.
- Pereira H, Frias AM, Oliveira JM, Espregueira-Mendes J, Reis RL. Tissue engineering and regenerative strategies in meniscus lesions. Arthroscopy. 2011;27(12):1706–19.
- Sonnery-Cottet B, Conteduca J, Thaunat M, Gunepin FX, Seil R. Hidden lesions of the posterior horn of the medial meniscus: a systematic exploration of the concealed portion of the knee. Am J Sports Med. 2014 Apr;42(4):921–6.
- Stoller DW, Martin C, Crues 3rd JV, Kaplan L, Mink JH. Meniscal tears: pathologic correlation with MR imaging. Radiology. 1987;163(3):731–5.
- Trillat A, Dejour H. Considérations sur la chirurgie des ménisques du genou. Lyon Chir. 168 64(3):440–53.
- Trillat A. Traumatic lesions of the internal meniscus of the knee. Anatomical classification and clinical diagnosis. Rev Chir Othop Reparatrice Appar Mot. 1962;48:551–60.
- 20. Watanabe M. Arthroscopy: the present state. Orthop Clin North Am. 1979;10(3):505–22.
Meniscectomy: Updates on Techniques and Outcomes

4

Gianluca Camillieri

Contents

4.1	Introduction	31		
4.2	Updates on Meniscectomy Techniques	32		
4.2.1	Portals	32		
4.2.2	Techniques to Improve Meniscectomy			
	Execution	34		
4.2.3	Video Device	35		
4.3	Updates on Meniscectomy Outcomes	36		
4.3.1	Inflammation Markers and Meniscectomy	38		
4.3.2	Age, Gender, BMI, Functional Request and			
	Meniscectomy	39		
4.3.3	Knee Adaption and Meniscectomy	39		
4.3.4	Return to Play and Meniscectomy	40		
4.3.5	Complications and Meniscectomy	40		
4.3.6	Evidence-Based Medicine (EBM) and			
	Meniscectomy	41		
Conclusion				
References				

G. Camillieri, MD MESVA Department, University of L'Aquila, L'Aquila, Italy e-mail: drcamillieri@me.com

4.1 Introduction

"Everything in excess is opposed to nature" (cfr. Hippocrates). If we turn back our mind to the history of meniscus surgery [12], we cannot argue with medicine's father, especially if we consider the enormous amount of open complete meniscectomies executed before arthroscopic surgery. In the early 1990s, I was helping a colleague of mine to write down his degree thesis titled "Long-Term Outcomes of Open Meniscectomies in Young Athletes" with a follow-up from 12 to 30 years. It was a retrospective study and we assessed kilograms of X-rays with Fairbank [17] classification. We found moderate to severe signs of osteoarthritis (OA) in 85 % of patients. In case of associated anterior cruciate ligament (ACL) reconstruction, the outcomes were even worse. Many of them progressed to osteotomy or total knee replacement. We knew the promising advantages of arthroscopy, but we couldn't imagine how much it was going to change the joint surgery.

Arthroscopic surgery was accepted with scepticism at the beginning, but its unstoppable evolution due to digital era and material sciences changed our mind about the treatment of meniscal lesions definitively. We moved from an open surgical technique with total/subtotal meniscal removal or rare cases of meniscal open suturing to partial and selective meniscectomies or more accurate suturing techniques. Advent of modern arthroscopic surgery marked a new era with the aim to be less invasive and more conservative [35].

If we browse the literature about updates on techniques of meniscectomy, we will find a prevalence of surgical anatomy articles until the first years of the new millennium [23]. Few papers introduced new technical suggestions on meniscectomy through the last decade. The reason for this lack of new proposals should lie on the increasing global interest on meniscal suturing techniques, the tendency to avoid as much as possible extensive meniscectomies and the acquired knowledge through the long history of meniscectomy. Arthroscopy is a mandatory discipline for residents around the world; many international and national societies are devoted to its teaching and courses. Thus, most arthroscopists don't encounter difficulty to remove a meniscus partially or subtotally. Standard and accessory accesses, tourniquet, controlled inflow by automatic pump, high-definition visualisation, miniaturised instrumentation, advanced straight to curved to flexible motorised blades and radiofrequency cutters made medial and lateral meniscectomy quite easy, decreasing the learning curve for trainees. On the contrary, randomised controlled trials (RCTs) and systematic reviews on long-term outcomes of meniscectomies came out strongly during the last 10 years. In this manner new acquisitions around correlations between meniscectomy and osteoarthritis (OA), meniscectomy/meniscal suture and OA and conservative treatment versus meniscectomy drifted and shifted our behaviour to a more conservative approach to some meniscal tears. Still we need more RCT and systematic reviews to get a definitive answer about the role of meniscectomy, but the right road seems to be taken up.

4.2 Updates on Meniscectomy Techniques

Most arthroscopic meniscectomy techniques routinely used currently were developed during the last 20 years of the last century. Step by step with new technologies, arthroscopists minimised morbidity and reduced big operations into the space of two or three arthroscopic portals. It is not always that technology applied to meniscectomy represented an advantage: high costly holmium-Yag laser entered strongly into collective imagination without positive results so far [46, 58].

Different variables contributed to the advancement of meniscectomy techniques. Some of them walk arm in arm with technological development, so we can expect new releases into the near future.

Meniscectomy technique appears as something well established: if we look for papers on technical note or update about meniscectomy, we find few articles. On the contrary, we can browse many articles about meniscal suturing/repair and meniscal transplantation. The trend based on recent acquisitions drives researchers and companies to discover tools for meniscal repair and transplantation. Meniscectomy tools do not attract the "market" as in the past.

4.2.1 Tourniquet, Inflow Pump and Arthroscopic Portals

Clear visualisation of the anatomical structures during arthroscopy is mandatory. Beyond the definition in terms of pixels of the arthroscopic devices, water flow and pressure, haemostasis, correct positioning of the arthroscopic camera and instruments make a meniscectomy precise, effective and relatively fast procedures. Haemostasis by tourniquet associated with antithrombotic prophylaxis facilitates the meniscal procedure. However, in case of very short hospitalisation, some surgeon prefers to avoid pneumoischaemia. In this case, modern inflow pumps include a feedback servomechanism to maintain a constant flow and pressure. Most of these devices don't need a third inflow/ outflow portal. Anyway, in literature there isn't evidence about avoiding the use of a tourniquet for arthroscopic procedures like meniscectomy [25, 53, 60].

Anterolateral (AL) and anteromedial (AM) accesses represent the gold standard of arthroscopic portals to perform a correct meniscectomy.

Recently, Cooper [11] suggested a singleportal approach by the use of an integrated system of instruments that was designed specifically for this purpose: it is a high-definition 2.9 mm arthroscope in a 4.6 mm-specific cannula (Fig. 4.1). A side Parallel Portal (Stryker Endoscopy) of varying lengths is assembled to the arthroscope cannula, around which it slides, rotates and locks in the desired position. A medial infrapatellar horizontal 8 mm portal is established at a level midway between the distal pole of the patella and the tibial plateau. Through the special cannula, working instruments are passed to complete the procedure. The author treated meniscus tears, loose bodies and synovial and chondral lesions by this technique on more than 600 patients with few complications.

Lateral meniscectomy is a slightly more complex procedure than medial meniscectomy, especially when surgeons have to deal with lesions involving the anterior horn of the lateral meniscus. Suk In Na et al. [55] introduced a new arthroscopic partial meniscectomy technique, using three portals (Fig. 4.2a), and a small skin hook retractor, to remove unstable inferior leaves within a horizontal meniscal tear that involved the anterior portion of the lateral meniscus. The extreme far anteromedial portal is created as another working portal 3 cm medial to the margin of the patella tendon. This portal is located 1 cm above the medial joint line and nearly anterior to the medial edge of the medial femoral condyle. This portal is used for removal of the unstable inferior leaf in the anterior horn of the lateral meniscus, while a small skin hook retractor is inserted through the standard anterolateral portal and pulls out the dominant superior leaf (Fig.

4.2b). Retrograde baskets (left and right) may be successfully used to remove the superior leaf of the anterior horn but not for biting the inferior leaf only. Ill Ho Park et al. [22] introduced the "joystick" technique to accomplish the same goal of Suk In Na. They used the same three portals: standard AL, standard AM and extreme far anteromedial portal. Under arthroscopic visualisation, an 18-gauge spinal needle was inserted into the superior leaf of the lateral meniscus anterior horn (Fig. 4.3 a, b). For a better visualisation of the lesion, the superior leaf of the anterior horn is mobilised upward by the joystick technique moving the spinal needle. To elevate the needle tip with the superior leaf, the needle should be carefully handled downward. In addition, the needle can be moved in the medial and lateral direction to provide more tension and clear visualisation of the medial and lateral sides of the lesion (Fig. 4.3c). Attention should be paid to avoid iatrogenic damage of the cartilage by the tip of the needle.

Lehman and Meyers [29] introduced the needle-assisted aid for arthroscopic meniscectomy with the aim to facilitate meniscal removal in case of central third bucket-handle and big flap lesions. At surgeon convenience, a number 2 monofilament can be introduced through a spinal needle or meniscus mender, to traction the meniscal fragment without any grasper or alligator clip. This technique allows less hardware inside the joint and more space to move and avoids an accessory portal.

Kim et al. [26] suggested the inframeniscal portal for horizontal tears of the meniscus. The authors reported successful procedures for both menisci. The inferior leaf of horizontal lesions is the target using this technique. Care should be



Fig. 4.1 Photograph of a side parallel single portal combined arthroscopic camera and shaver for an arthroscopic meniscectomy



Fig. 4.2 Illustration of a 3 portal arthroscopic technique for partial meniscectomies (a). The small skin hook retractor is used to assist with the retrograde basket punches to perform the removal of the difficult to reach meniscal flap (b)

taken at this moment to avoid the collateral ligaments, especially the medial one, because the lateral collateral ligament is narrower and palpable and can be avoided easily, while the medial collateral ligament (MCL) is wider and not palpable. It is not uncommon to cause a partial MCL injury while creating an inframeniscal portal. Particular care is taken to avoid perimeniscal vascular and nervous structures. In my opinion, modern instrumentation including arthroscopic scissors, graspers and basket forceps with a huge variety of angulation (to the mouth and neck) and size, up to flexible shaver blades and radiofrequency electrodes, simplifies any meniscectomy without the necessity to resort to "not usual" portals and procedures. Nakase et al. [39] suggested to not remove the whole bucket-handle as usual but to reduce its size to the remnant of the posterior horn. In this fashion a clean debridement of the posterior horn is obtained without risk to the meniscal root.

4.2.2 Techniques to Improve Meniscectomy Execution

For assessing the intra-articular structures, visualisation is of paramount importance. Sometimes in spite of perfect muscle relaxation by anaesthesia, perfect portals and clear intra-articular views, opening and visualising the medial femorotibial compartment become difficult due to a tight knee. Javidan et al. [24] developed an arthroscopic technique to release the deep medial collateral ligament. From the AL portal, a 3.0 mm banana blade is inserted under camera view from the AM portal. Then the blade is directed under the body of medial meniscus to release the deep medial collateral ligament from posterior to anterior (Fig. 4.4). Once achieved the deep MCL release, a sudden opening of the medial compartment, under a gentle valgus force, improves visualisation of the posterior horn of the medial meniscus and simplifies the instrument access to those structures. They performed a deep MCL release in more than 35 patients (aged 13-60 years). Treatment did not require a postoperative period of bracing or immobilisation. No cases of chronic MCL valgus laxity were recorded. Only one patient was reoperated for complications not correlated to the described procedure.

Recently, Claret et al. [10] evaluated the effect of percutaneous release of the medial collateral ligament, in arthroscopic medial meniscectomy, on functional outcome. The authors used the pie-crusting technique for releasing the posterior part of the MCL. A mild valgus force



Fig. 4.3 Illustration of the joystick technique for partial meniscectomy. An 18 gauge spinal needle is used to lift up the superior leaf of a meniscal tear (**a** and **b**) to allow

for exposure to access the inferior leaf of the meniscal tear for a partial meniscectomy

was applied while viewing by the arthroscope the controlled progressive gain in medial compartment space. A retrospective clinical study of 140 patients undergoing arthroscopic meniscectomy with or without MCL pie crusting was conducted. Tegner, Lysholm tests and VAS were used to assess pain and functional results. The group of patients treated by meniscectomy plus pie crusting showed better functional outcome and faster pain relief. Furthermore, no complications or residual MCL instability was recognised in this group.

4.2.3 Video Device

"Why look through a hole when you can open the door". This sentence has been widely used in the past by sceptics referring themselves to the first steps of a new surgical technique to indirectly observe, magnify and operate joints: arthroscopy. From the pioneers as Takagi, Bircher, Nordentoft and Watanabe to present days, arthroscopy has grown up and served a main role within orthopaedic surgery, improving our knowledge regarding the anatomy, functional anatomy and surgical techniques.

Optical and digital technology played a main role to support and improve the visualisation and magnification of the anatomical structures observed and eventually treated by arthroscopy. We started watching directly on the back of the optic, through analogue cameras and video to the modern high-definition systems. With a power of magnification up to 30 times, we are able to better discriminate anatomy and move with higher precision inside joints. The limits of arthroscopy include the closed field of action (inner joint), poor visualisation of ligaments and tendons lying on the outer aspect of the joint capsule and visualisation of flat images, decreasing the perception of the deepness of the different layers.



Fig. 4.4 Illustration of an arthroscopic technique to release the meniscotibial portion of the deep medial collateral ligament with a spinal needle to allow for improved access the posterior horn of the medial meniscus (*right knee*)

Technology is moving fast: we are already able to record and view anatomy and surgical procedures with 3D stereoscopic technology. This is based on the human system of vision: two eyes, two optic devices. If we use two cameras or a camera with two lenses, we can reproduce the stereoscopic view recording a left and right image and putting it on a dedicated monitor with a particular refresh rate (Fig. 4.5). These devices represent a substantial step forward into the field of teaching/learning anatomy, surgical approaches and procedures. The commercialisation of the 3D monitor for desktop and laptop computers will provide us the opportunity to build e-learning platforms based on this technology. Finally, the first 3DHD system for arthroscopy is now available on the market. In the span of a few years, we could appreciate the validity of stereoscopic view for arthroscopic surgery and meniscectomy.

4.3 Updates on Meniscectomy Outcomes

Meniscal tears are the most common pathology of the knee with a mean annual incidence of 66 per 100,000 [52]. Historically, it was believed that the menisci served no functional purpose, and they were often excised with [32, 33] an open total meniscectomy. McMurray [33] described that insufficient removal of the meniscus was the cause of failure of meniscectomy. In 1948 Fairbank reported the clinical outcomes of 107 patients after total meniscectomies and found that the majority had progressive flattening of the condyle, narrowing of the joint space and ridge formation. This study significantly changed our approach to dealing with meniscal tears.

Pengas et al. [43] evaluated 53 adolescents who had a total meniscectomy at a mean followup of 40 years (33–50). Patients showed a significant difference between the operated and nonoperated knee in terms of range of movement and osteoarthritis of the tibiofemoral joint, resulting in greater than fourfold relative risk of osteoarthritis at 40 years postoperatively. Seven patients (13.2 %) had already undergone total knee replacement at the time of follow-up.

Other recent studies have shown that function of the knee was directly related to the amount of residual meniscal tissue [20]. Increased knowledge of the long-term consequences and altered biomechanics in the knee post-meniscectomy has



Fig. 4.5 Illustration of the principle of 3 dimensional stereoscopic technology during an arthroscopic surgery

placed greater emphasis on meniscal preserving techniques. Intervention for a meniscus tear is not required in all patients [63], as asymptomatic meniscal tears are common [6, 7]. Pujol and Beaufils [45] made an evidence-based review about healing results of meniscal tears left in situ during ACL reconstruction. Pain or mechanical symptoms related to the medial tibiofemoral joint were reported in 0-66 % of cases. Subsequent medial meniscectomy or repair was performed in 0-33 % of cases. Pain or mechanical symptoms related to the lateral tibiofemoral joint were reported in 0-18 % cases. Subsequent lateral meniscectomy or repair was performed in 0-22 % cases. A complete healing occurred in 50-61 % cases for the medial meniscus and in 55-74 % cases for the lateral meniscus. The conservative approach was more effective for lateral menisci. The rate of bad results for the medial meniscus remained high in case of conservative treatment.

Yim et al. [65] followed 102 patients up to a final follow-up at 2 years. Fifty patients underwent arthroscopic meniscectomy (degenerative horizontal tear of medial meniscus), while 52 patients underwent nonoperative treatment with strengthening exercises. Functional outcomes were compared using a visual analogue scale (VAS) for pain, Lysholm knee score, Tegner activity scale and patient subjective knee pain and satisfaction. Radiological evaluations were performed using the Kellgren-Lawrence classification. The authors did not find a significant difference between arthroscopic meniscectomy and nonoperative management with strengthening exercises in terms of relief in knee pain, improved knee function or increased satisfaction in patients after 2 years of follow-up. Worse clinical outcomes in the conservative group were recorded at the initial follow-up. Things change when we have to deal with unstable meniscal tears as reported by El Ghazaly et al. [14].

Sihvonen et al. [51] designed an RCT to evaluate partial meniscectomy versus sham surgery in 146 patients with a degenerative meniscal tear. The outcomes were examined by Lysholm and Western Ontario Meniscal Evaluation Tool (WOMET) scores and in knee pain after exercise at 12 months after the procedure. In this trial involving patients without knee OA but with symptoms of a degenerative medial meniscus tear, the outcomes after arthroscopic partial meniscectomy were no better than those after a sham surgical procedure.

Surgical intervention is ideally reserved for those patients with persistent pain and mechanical symptoms who fail conservative management, for which no other source of pain can be identified [56]. Furthermore, functional requests by patients must be considered; most of middleaged sportive/recreational patients badly accept long sessions of rehabilitation [14] and/or intraarticular injection therapy [21].

Once a decision to proceed with surgery is reached, the treatment options are currently partial meniscectomy or meniscal repair. The decision of which to perform is primarily based on the probability of meniscal healing, though other considerations may also be important. Weiss and Don Johnson in [64] published an update on meniscus debridement and resection. The authors focused their attention on the importance of right indications for meniscectomy and how this aspect changed over time in relationship to the release of RCTs and SRs on long-term results regarding treatment of meniscal lesions. Many factors influence the decision-making by surgeons. Factors related to meniscal tears are location, morphology, size and aetiology. Nevertheless, factors linked to patients, like age, BMI, functional level, associate lesions (ligaments, cartilage), comorbidities and rehabilitation, play a prominent role.

4.3.1 Inflammation Markers and Meniscectomy

Traumatic and degenerative meniscal tears have different anatomic features and different proposed etiologies, yet both are associated with the development or progression of osteoarthritis. In case of meniscal tears linked or not with established OA, synovitis is associated with pain and progression. Furthermore, as a result of meniscectomy, different markers of cellular damage and inflammation can be observed and assessed.

Scanzello et al. [49] evaluated the relationship between synovitis and symptoms in isolated meniscal disease. Thirty-three patients without evidence of OA who underwent arthroscopic meniscectomy for meniscal tears had pain and function assessed preoperatively. Inflammation in synovial biopsy specimens was scored, and associations between inflammation and clinical outcomes were determined. Microarray analysis of synovial tissue was performed, and gene expression patterns in patients with and those without inflammation were compared. Synovial inflammation was present in 43 % of the patients and was associated with worse preoperative pain and function scores. A specific chemokine signature was recorded in synovia with increased inflammation. Thus, the progression of meniscal tear-chemokines-synovitis happens in one of two patients with meniscal injury.

Recently, Ogura et al. [42] have deepened the study of Scanzello analysing four different sides of synovial biopsy in 19 patients undergoing arthroscopy for meniscal tear: injured meniscal site, noninjured meniscal site (NIM), synovium "nearest" the lesion (NS), synovium from the opposite knee compartment, "farthest" synovium (FS), tumour necrosis factor (TNF)- α and interleukin (IL)-6 levels were higher in the injured meniscal site compared to noninjured group, whereas IL-6 levels were also higher in the NS group compared to FS. The cytokine levels were sufficiently high to increase the risk of OA.

The associations between pro-inflammatory cytokines, in synovial fluid, and progression of OA in meniscectomised patients were explored by Larsson et al. [28]. The authors studied concentrations of interleukin (IL)-6 and IL-8 and tumour necrosis factor (TNF)- α by multiplex immunoassay. Lab results were compared with clinical assessment: radiographic features of tibiofemoral and patellofemoral OA according to the Osteoarthritis Research Society International (OARSI) atlas, Knee Injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score (KOOS) and logistic regression

(adjusted for age, gender, body mass index and time between examinations) for assessment of associations. A sample of 132 patients was examined at 18 years of (average) follow-up and after an additional of 4–10 years. The authors concluded that after meniscectomy, higher or over time increasing synovial fluid levels of IL-6 and TNF- α were associated with an increased risk for progression of radiographic OA.

4.3.2 Age, Gender, BMI, Functional Request and Meniscectomy

Meniscectomy often means a critical point for the destiny of the knee and patients' quality of life. Arguably, before any knee operation, most of us don't consider gender, age, BMI and functional desires as risk factors for joint degeneration and OA [9]. Nevertheless, it is very difficult to stratify population for these risk factors.

Age is a critical point. Younger patient involved in partial or total meniscectomy is more prone to develop OA [18, 43, 1, 63]. Recent studies have questioned the efficacy of meniscectomy in older patients with and without evidence of osteoarthritis; however, there is limited information about age and other risk factors for adverse events and readmission after the procedure. Basques et al. [5] wondered if age and medical comorbidities were risk factors for postoperative adverse events and readmission after meniscectomy. Age ≥ 65 years and medical comorbidities were evaluated as risk factors for any adverse event (AAE), severe adverse events (SAEs) and readmission after meniscectomy using univariate and multivariate analyses. A number of 17,774 patients were identified and extrapolated from the American College of Surgeons National Surgical Quality Improvement Program database. The authors concluded that meniscectomy was a safe procedure in older patients. Age over 65 years did not increase the odds of any of the adverse events studied. However, regardless of age, patients with an increased comorbidity burden and those with a history of smoking are at increased risk of adverse events and/or readmission after the procedure.

Ericsson et al. [16] examined self-efficacy of knee function, physical activity and healthrelated quality of life (HRQoL) in two groups of patients (99 post-meniscectomy and 95 controls) and the impact of gender on outcomes. Females scored lower than males regarding knee function and SF-36 but no difference in terms of physical activity. Hence, they concluded that meniscectomy in middle-aged individuals may lead to a lower self-efficacy of knee function, sedentary lifestyle and poorer HRQoL.

Obesity is a widespread comorbidity affecting orthopaedic patients. In a retrospective cohort study on 1090 patients who underwent a partial meniscectomy [15], BMI over 26 worsens shortterm outcome in terms of IKDC, Oxford scoring system and Lysholm score. On the contrary, Bailey et al. [3], after stratifying 270 patients according to BMI, observed that arthroscopic meniscectomy is beneficial regardless of patient BMI, duration of symptoms, history of injury or the presence of early osteoarthritis.

4.3.3 Knee Adaption and Meniscectomy

The knee joint is a homeostatic system with an intrinsic equilibrium. Removing meniscus partially or totally has implications on the kinematic, load distribution and biomechanical and anatomic axes. The joint and limb react to restore homeostasis, but changes happen in a transitory or definitive manner. If we remove 30 % of the meniscus, contact pressure (von Mises stress) increases to about 350 % [50].

Baratz et al. [4] reported that stress increased proportionally to the amount of removed meniscus. Recently, a 3D gait analysis study compared prospectively changes in knee joint load from before and 12 months after arthroscopic partial meniscectomy [59]. A relative increase of medial compartment loading was observed in the leg undergoing arthroscopic partial meniscectomy compared with the contralateral leg from before to 12 months after surgery.

In a similar manner, Ford et al. [18] studied gait analysis and load on force platforms in 18 young patients. Nine patients who underwent lateral partial meniscectomy for radial tear were evaluated 3 months after surgery; the other nine healthy subjects, as control group, matched the patient group in terms of sex, age, height, weight and sport. The patient group landed with a decreased internal knee extensor moment compared to the uninvolved side and controls. The involved limb quadriceps isokinetic torque was not decreased compared to the contralateral or control. Decreased knee extensor moments were significantly associated with reduced measures of function (IKDC scores, r = 0.69; P < 0.05). Athletes who return to sport at approximately 3 months following a partial lateral meniscectomy may employ compensation strategies during landing as evidenced by reduced quadriceps recruitment and functional outcome scores. Clinicians should adopt strategies to improve quadriceps function during landing on the involved leg and decrease residual limb asymmetries.

Adoption mechanisms cannot be separated from proprioception. Partial meniscectomy leads to a proprioceptive knee deficit that may be recovered with correct rehabilitation and functional training. Malliou et al. [30] tested 26 male patients, who had an arthroscopic partial meniscectomy (age 20–40), using a computerised balance board and functional test (triple jump), at 1 and 2 years of follow-up. Despite postoperative rehabilitation and return to preoperative level of activity, patients had reduced proprioception and knee muscular ability in the operated leg compared to the nonoperated leg at 1 and 2 years after surgery.

4.3.4 Return to Play and Meniscectomy

Meniscectomy has the benefit of a faster return to activities and sport. Rehabilitation following meniscectomy typically involves advancing activities as the patient tolerates them. Most are able to return to running, jumping and sport-specific training at approximately 6 weeks when knee pain

and effusions have subsided and quadriceps/hamstring strength has returned to normal [8]. Kim et al. [26] reported a significant difference in time to return to play based on age (< 30, 54 days; > 30, 89 days) and level of competition (elite, 54 days; competition, 53 days; recreational, 88 days). A more recent article by Nawabi et al. [40], looking at soccer players undergoing lateral versus medial meniscectomy, identified a shorter time to return to play (5 weeks vs 7 weeks) and a 6.31 higher probability of returning to play in patients undergoing medial meniscectomy as compared with lateral at all-time points after surgery. Lateral meniscectomy had a higher incidence of adverse events in the early recovery period, including pain/swelling and the need for further arthroscopy. Finally, Aune et al. [2] evaluated 77 National Football League players, of whom 4 players had a midseason lateral meniscectomy and were able to return to play at either 19 or 29 days. It was also noted that speed position players, such as running backs, receivers, linebackers and defensive backs, were four times less likely to return to play.

4.3.5 Complications and Meniscectomy

Due to the nature of the procedure, meniscal debridement is subject to the known complications of knee arthroscopy. These typically occur in about 1 % of patients [31] but have been reported to be as high as 4.7 % [48]. The majority of arthroscopic complications are minor and transient, but neurovascular injury, infection and thrombophlebitis are possible [52]. These are also applicable to arthroscopic meniscectomy, because there are more specific risks of damage to intra-articular structures such as the healthy meniscus and cartilage, during debridement. Complications can be minimised with detailed knowledge of anatomy, proper portal placement, careful insertion and use of arthroscopic instruments.

Osteonecrosis after arthroscopic meniscectomy using radiofrequency is not difficult to imagine [13], especially if not used properly. However, a recent study by Turker et al. [61] stated that adding radiofrequency chondroplasty to meniscectomy did not increase the number of patients with osteonecrosis.

Sonnery-Cottet et al. [54] described ten cases of rapid chondrolysis after a partial lateral meniscectomy in elite athletes. Chondrolysis occurs primarily due to the excessive loading of the articular cartilage in the lateral compartment of the knee, and long-term outcome must be monitored due to the high rate of radiographic osteoarthritis of the lateral compartment.

4.3.6 Evidence-Based Medicine (EBM) and Meniscectomy

With an ever-increasing plethora of studies being published in the health sciences, it is challenging if not impossible for busy clinicians and researchers alike to keep up with the literature. Reviews summarising the outcomes of various intervention trials are therefore an extremely efficient method for obtaining the "bottom line" about what works and what doesn't. The practice of evidence-based medicine means integrating individual clinical expertise with the best available external clinical evidence from systematic research. The scientific framework of evidencebased medicine is (1) systematic reviews based on clinical trials and (2) validated outcome measurements and (3) evidence is then used to guide clinical practice. Systematic reviews, as the name implies, typically involve a detailed and comprehensive plan and search strategy derived a priori, with the goal of reducing bias by identifying, appraising and synthesising all relevant studies on a particular topic. Often, systematic reviews include a meta-analysis component which involves using statistical techniques to synthesise the data from several studies into a single quantitative estimate or summary effect size.

Fortunately, EBM plays an eminent role in the field of orthopaedics and arthroscopic surgery. During the last 2 years, few systematic reviews were released about the keyword "meniscectomy". In my opinion this is the best method not to overlook outcomes about meniscal treatment. Nevertheless, inside the SRs you can better evaluate the value of RCTs and cohort studies.

One of the first evidence-based analysis dates back to 2005 by the Health Quality Ontario [19]. The scientists focused on arthroscopic lavage and debridement. In particular, the purpose was to determine the effectiveness and adverse effects of arthroscopic lavage and debridement, with or without lavage, in the treatment of symptoms of OA of the knee, and to conduct an economic analysis if evidence for effectiveness can be established. After accomplishing all the processes, the authors concluded that arthroscopic debridement of the knee, at the moment, has been found to be effective for medial compartmental OA only. All other indications should be reviewed with a target to reducing arthroscopic debridement as an effective therapy. Arthroscopic lavage of the knee is not indicated for any stage of OA. There is very poor quality evidence on the effectiveness of debridement with partial meniscectomy in the case of meniscal tears in OA of the knee.

In 2014, the same institute published an evidenced-based update on this topic. After 9 years, eight RCTs were identified. Again, the evidence did not show the superiority of arthroscopic debridement with or without meniscectomy in patients with osteoarthritis of the knee or with meniscal injury from degenerative causes.

In 2009 Howell and Handoll [21] evaluated the effects of common surgical interventions in the treatment of meniscal injuries of the knee. The four comparisons evaluated were (a) surgery versus conservative treatment, (b) partial versus total meniscectomy, (c) excision versus repair of meniscal tears and (d) surgical access, in particular arthroscopic versus open. After selection, only three trials, for a total of 260 patients, were included into the study. The lack of randomised trials meant that no conclusions could be extrapolated on the issue of surgical versus non-surgical treatment of meniscal injuries nor meniscal tear repair versus excision. In randomised trials so far reported (2009), there is no evidence of a difference in radiological or long-term clinical outcomes between arthroscopic and open meniscal surgery or between total and partial meniscectomy. Partial meniscectomy seems preferable to the total removal of the meniscus in terms of recovery and overall functional outcome in the short term.

Following the study of Howell and Handoll, Salata et al. [47] managed a systematic review of clinical outcomes after meniscectomy. From PubMed and Ovid only, the authors selected 4 RCTs, 2 prospective cohorts and 23 retrospective cohorts that fit the criteria for level I, II and III level of evidence. For the level III evidence studies, follow-up of 5 years or more was required. Preoperative and intraoperative predictors of poor clinical or radiographic outcomes included total meniscectomy or removal of the peripheral meniscal rim, lateral meniscectomy, degenerative meniscal tears, presence of chondral damage, presence of hand osteoarthritis suggestive of genetic predisposition and increased body mass index. Variables that were not predictive of outcome or were inconclusive or had mixed results included meniscal tear pattern, age, mechanical alignment, sex of patient, activity level and meniscal tears associated with ACL reconstruction. While an intact meniscus or meniscal repair was generally favourable in the ACLreconstructed knees, meniscal repair of degenerative meniscal tissue was not favourable. The limit of this study was a low level of evidence for most of the study included versus two level I studies.

In 2011 Petty and colleagues tried to answer the assumption if partial meniscectomy resulted in osteoarthritis. Authors searched for terms such as "meniscus AND arthritis AND knee" and "meniscectomy AND arthritis AND knee" on PubMed with a minimum follow-up of 8 years. Five studies met the inclusion criteria. Radiographic signs of osteoarthritis were significant at 8 to 16 years of follow-up after knee arthroscopic partial meniscectomy, but clinical symptoms of knee arthritis were not significant. Few studies responding, absence of clinical control groups and heterogeneity of reported outcome measures were the limits of this SR.

Lamplot and Brophy [27] investigated the role of arthroscopic partial meniscectomy in knees with degenerative changes. The systematic review, based on six studies selected (five RCTs and one prospective cohort), reported that patients with symptomatic meniscal tears and degenerative changes in the knee can benefit from arthroscopic meniscectomy, particularly if the osteoarthritis is mild. A trial of conservative management may be effective and should be considered, especially in patients with moderate osteoarthritis.

Van de Graaf et al. [62] performed a level I systematic review and meta-analysis of RCTs about arthroscopic partial meniscectomy or conservative treatment for nonobstructive meniscal tears. The study included six RCTs with a total of 773 patients. The authors found small, although significant, favourable results of APM up to 6 months for physical function and pain. However, no differences at longer follow-up came out.

In 2016, the effectiveness of exercise therapy for meniscal lesions in adults was investigated in a systematic review and meta-analysis [57]. Nine databases were searched up to July 2015. Randomised and controlled clinical trials in adults with traumatic or degenerative meniscal lesions were considered for inclusion. Interventions had to consist of exercise therapy in non-surgical patients or after meniscectomy and had to be compared with meniscectomy and no exercise therapy or to a different type of exercise therapy. Exercise therapy and meniscectomy yielded comparable results on pain and function. Exercise therapy compared to no exercise therapy after meniscectomy showed conflicting evidence at short term but was more effective on function at long term. Unfortunately, the strength of the evidence was low to very low.

A systematic review comparing reoperation rates and clinical outcomes of meniscal repair versus partial meniscectomy was published in 2011 [44]. The level of evidence for these studies was low, with only 3 level I studies compared with 79 level IV studies. In the short-term followup period (0–4 years), isolated partial meniscectomies had a reoperation rate of 1.4 % (2 of 143), whereas meniscal repairs were reoperated on in 16.5 % of cases (47 of 284). Over the long-term follow-up period (10 years), partial meniscectomies required a reoperation in only 3.9 % of cases (52 of 1319), whereas meniscal repair had a reoperation rate of 20.7 % (30 of 145). Whereas meniscal repairs have a higher reoperation rate than partial meniscectomies, they likely result in better long-term outcomes.

Nepple et al. [41] studied meniscal repair outcomes at greater than 5 years of follow-up. They analysed different devices and techniques of meniscal repair. The study resulted in very similar rates of meniscal failure (22.3–24.3 %) for all techniques investigated.

In 2015, a meta-analysis was accomplished to review published articles that compared meniscal repair (open suture and arthroscopic inside-out procedures) with meniscectomy (arthroscopic partial or total meniscectomy) for short- or longterm outcomes and to determine which procedure leads to a better outcome. Seven studies were included. Meniscal repairs showed better longterm patient-reported outcomes and better activity levels than meniscectomy; besides, the former meniscal repairs had a lower failure rate. Recently, Moulton et al. [36] completed a study with a systematic review on surgical techniques and outcomes of repairing meniscal radial tears. The database included the Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews, the Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials, PubMed (1980-2014), Medline (1980-2014) and Embase. A total of six studies (55 patients) were included in the study. Radial repair techniques differed among studies; however, postoperative subjective outcomes revealed patient improvement with repairing radial tears. With the increasing concern of long-term osteoarthritis after meniscectomy, meniscal preservation with repair of radial tears resulted in improved short-term clinical outcomes; however, long-term outcomes remain unknown.

Mutsaerts et al. [37] provided a closer look at the evidence of surgical interventions for meniscal tears. In a level I meta-analysis, they compared the outcomes of different surgical procedures for meniscal tears including total and partial meniscectomy, meniscectomy and meniscal repair, meniscectomy and meniscal transplantation, open and arthroscopic meniscectomy and various different repair techniques. Nine studies (RCTs) were included for a total of 904 subjects; 330 patients underwent a meniscal repair, 402 meniscectomy and 160 collagen meniscal implant. Due to the fact that the only surgical treatments that were compared in homogeneous fashion across more than one study were the arrow and inside-out technique, which showed no difference for retear or complication rate, the authors acknowledged the lack of level I evidence to guide the surgical management of meniscal tears. This is a clear invitation to perform more RCTs and cohort studies. If we want to produce valid and exhaustive systematic reviews and/or meta-analysis, a higher number of standardised level I-II evidence studies are needed. This necessity was advocated by Monk et al. [34] in their recent systematic review. The purpose was to compare the effectiveness of arthroscopic surgery for meniscal injuries in all populations. Research was conducted for randomised controlled trials (RCTs) and systematic reviews that compared treatment options for meniscal injury, on 11 databases. Nine RCTs and eight systematic reviews met the selection criteria in which no restrictions were placed on patient demograph-No difference ics. was found between arthroscopic meniscal debridement compared with nonoperative management as a first-line treatment strategy for patients with knee pain and a degenerative meniscal tear. Some evidence was found to indicate that patients with resistant mechanical symptoms who initially fail nonoperative management may benefit from meniscal debridement. No studies compared meniscal repair with meniscectomy or nonoperative management. Initial evidence suggested that meniscal transplant might be favourable in

certain patient groups. Based on these results, further evidence is required to determine which patient groups have good outcomes from each intervention. Given the current widespread use of arthroscopic meniscal surgeries, more research is urgently needed to support evidencebased practice in meniscal surgery in order to reduce the numbers of ineffective interventions and support potentially beneficial surgery.

Conclusion

Based on the review of the literature and the experience accumulated through the years, the assumption "meniscal tear – meniscectomy" needs to be scaled down. Selecting the correct treatment can be challenging and involves multiple factors. Knowledge and understanding of the anatomical structure, vascularity and biomechanics of the meniscus and the pattern of tear is important. Dedicated instrumentation and actions to obtain better visualisation of the intraarticular space are mandatory to avoid inadequate meniscal removal/reparation or iatrogenic damages. Evidence shows that nonoperative treatment can be sometimes successful, especially in the short term and in the presence of osteoarthritis. Partial meniscectomy can preserve some of the function of the meniscus and is beneficial for tears within the avascular whitewhite zone. In active patients with mechanical impingement, functional pain and a requirement for a faster recovery, a good accurate partial meniscectomy is still a good choice. Recently, some researchers have suggested to inject mesenchymal stem cells with some evidence of meniscus regeneration and improvement in postoperative knee pain [62]. Meniscal repair has grown in popularity and boasts excellent long-term results. This should be considered for all repairable tears provided the patient can comply with the postoperative rehabilitation. All principles exposed in this chapter to follow a correct approach in case of meniscal tear may be summarised in Mordecai's [35] flow chart (Fig. 4.6).

At this moment, EBM provides strong suggestions but no definitive conclusions. Researchers require more RCT studies and



Fig. 4.6 Flow chart of Mordecai et al. [35] demonstrating the recommended treatment protocols for meniscal tears

established evaluation scores. For this reason, new methods such as a novel RCT within-acohort study design [51] and a new knee function assessment [38] have been recently developed for patients with meniscal injury.

Meniscectomy will diminish when regeneration/repair/transplantation reaches the highest level, but now is not the time.

References

- Ahn JH, Kim KI, Wang JH, Jeon JW, Cho YC, Lee SH. Long-term results of arthroscopic reshaping for symptomatic discoid lateral meniscus in children. Arthroscopy. 2015;31(5):867–73. doi:10.1016/j. arthro.2014.12.012.
- Aune KT, Andrews JR, Dugas JR, Cain Jr EL. Return to play after partial lateral meniscectomy in national football league athletes. Am J Sports Med. 2014;42(8):1865–72. doi:10.1177/0363546514535069.
- Bailey O, Gronkowski K, Leach WJ. Effect of body mass index and osteoarthritis on outcomes following arthroscopic meniscectomy: a prospective nationwide study. Knee. 2015;22(2):95–9. doi:10.1016/j. knee.2014.12.008.
- Baratz ME, Fu FH, Mengato R. Meniscal tears: the effect of meniscectomy and of repair on intraarticular contact areas and stress in the human knee. A preliminary report. Am J Sports Med. 1986;14(4):270–5.
- Basques BA, Gardner EC, Varthi AG, Fu MC, Bohl DD, Golinvaux NS, Grauer JN. Risk factors for short-term adverse events and readmission after arthroscopic meniscectomy: does age matter? Am J Sports Med. 2015;43(1):169–75. doi:10.1177/0363546514551923.
- Bhattacharyya T, Gale D, Dewire P, et al. The clinical importance of meniscal tears demonstrated by magnetic resonance imaging in osteoarthritis of the knee. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2003;85-A(1):4–9.
- Boden SD, Davis DO, Dina TS, et al. A prospective and blinded investigation of magnetic resonance imaging of the knee Abnormal findings in asymptomatic subjects. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 1992;282:177–85.
- Brelin AM, Rue JP. Return to play following meniscus surgery. Clin Sports Med. 2016;35(4):669–78. doi:10.1016/j.csm.2016.05.010.
- Brophy RH, Gefen AM, Matava MJ, Wright RW, Smith MV. Understanding of meniscus injury and expectations of meniscus surgery in patients presenting for orthopaedic care. Arthroscopy. 2015;31(12):2295– 300. e5 doi:10.1016/j.arthro.2015.05.003.
- Claret G, Montañana J, Rios J, Ruiz-Ibán MÁ, Popescu D, Núñez M, Lozano L, Combalia A, Sastre

S. The effect of percutaneous release of the medial collateral ligament in arthroscopic medial meniscectomy on functional outcome. Knee. 2016;23(2):251–5. doi:10.1016/j.knee.2015.07.013.

- 11. Cooper DE. Single portal knee arthroscopy: 2015 technique update. Arthrosc Tech. 2016;5(1):e17–22.
- Di Matteo B et al. A history of meniscal surgery: from ancient times to the twenty-first century. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 2016;24:1510–8.
- Encalada I, Richmond JC. Osteonecrosis after arthroscopic meniscectomy using radiofrequency. Arthroscopy. 2004;20(6):632–6.
- 14. El Ghazaly SA, Rahman AA, Yusry AH, Fathalla MM. Arthroscopic partial meniscectomy is superior to physical rehabilitation in the management of symptomatic unstable meniscal tears. Int Orthop. 2015;39(4):769–75. doi:10.1007/ s00264-014-2539-z.
- Erdil M, Bilsel K, Sungur M, Dikmen G, Tuncer N, Polat G, Elmadag NM, Tuncay I, Asik M. Does obesity negatively affect the functional results of arthroscopic partial meniscectomy? A retrospective cohort study. Arthroscopy. 2013;9(2):232–7. doi:10.1016/j.arthro.2012.08.017.
- 16. Ericsson YB, Ringsberg K, Dahlberg LE. Selfefficacy, physical activity and health-related quality of life in middle-aged meniscectomy patients and controls. Scand J Med Sci Sports. 2011;21(6):e150–8. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0838.2010.01201.x.
- Fairbank TJ. Knee joint changes after meniscectomy. J Bone Joint Surg Br. 1948;30B:664–70. PMID: 18894618
- Ford KR, Minning SJ, Myer GD, Mangine RE, Colosimo AJ, Hewett TE. Landing adaptations following isolated lateral meniscectomy in athletes. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 2011;19(10):1716– 21. doi:10.1007/s00167-011-1490-4.
- Ontario HQ. Arthroscopic lavage and debridement for osteoarthritis of the knee: an evidence-based analysis. Ont Health Technol Assess Ser. 2005;5(12):1–37.
- Hede A, Jensen DB, Blyme P, Sonne-Holm S. Epidemiology of meniscal lesions in the knee. 1,215 open operations in Copenhagen 1982-84. Acta Orthop Scand. 1990;61:435–7.
- Howell JR, Handoll HH. WITHDRAWN: Surgical treatment for meniscal injuries of the knee in adults. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2009; 21(1):CD001353. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD001353.pub2.
- 22. Park IH, Kim SJ, Choi DH, Lee SC, Park HY, Jung KA. Meniscectomy of horizontal tears of the lateral meniscus anterior horn using the joystick technique. Knee. 2014;21:315–7.
- Jackson RW. A history of arthroscopy. Arthroscopy. 2010;26:91–103.
- 24. Javidan P, Ahmed M, Kaar SG. Arthroscopic release of the deep medial collateral ligament to assist in exposure of the medial tibiofemoral compartment. Arthrosc Tech. 2014;3(6):e699–701.

- 25. Júnior LH, Soares LF, Gonçalves MB, Gomes TP, Oliveira JR, Coelho MG, Santos RL, Andrade MA, Silva Gde L, Novais EN. Tourniquet versus no tourniquet use in knee videoarthroscopy: a multicentric, prospective, double-blind, randomized clinical trial. Rev Bras Ortop. 2015;45(5):415–7. doi:10.1016/ S2255-4971(15)30429-8.
- 26. Kim SG, Nagao M, Kamata K, Maeda K, Nozawa M. Return to sport after arthroscopic meniscectomy on stable knees. BMC Sports Sci Med Rehabil. 2013;5:23. doi:10.1186/2052-1847-5-23.
- Lamplot JD, Brophy RH. The role for arthroscopic partial meniscectomy in knees with degenerative changes: a systematic review. Bone Joint J. 2016;98-B(7):934–8. doi:10.1302/0301-620X.98B7.37410.
- Larsson S, Englund M, Struglics A, Lohmander LS. Interleukin-6 and tumor necrosis factor alpha in synovial fluid are associated with progression of radiographic knee osteoarthritis in subjects with previous meniscectomy. Osteoarthritis Cartilage. 2015;23(11):1906–14. doi:10.1016/j. joca.2015.05.035.
- Lehman CR, Meyers JF. Needle-assisted arthroscopic meniscal debridement. Arthroscopy. 2002;18(8):948–9.
- Malliou P, Gioftsidou A, Pafis G, Rokka S, Kofotolis N, Mavromoustakos S, Godolias G. Proprioception and functional deficits of partial meniscectomized knees. Eur J Phys Rehabil Med. 2012;48(2):231–6.
- 31. Martin CT, Pugely AJ, Gao Y, Wolf BR. Risk factors for thirty-day morbidity and mortality following knee arthroscopy: a review of 12,271 patients from the national surgical quality improvement program database. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2013;95(14) e98:1–10.
- McDermott ID, Amis AA. The consequences of meniscectomy. J Bone Joint Surg Br. 2006;88:1549–56. PMID: 17159163 doi:10.1302/0301-620X.88B12.18140.
- 33. McMurray TP. The semilunar cartilages. Br J Surg. 1942;29:407–14. doi:10.1002/bjs.18002911612.
- 34. Monk P, Garfjeld Roberts P, Palmer AJ, Bayliss L, Mafi R, Beard D, Hopewell S, Price A. The urgent need for evidence in arthroscopic meniscal surgery: a systematic review of the evidence for operative management of meniscal tears. Am J Sports Med.2016. pii: 0363546516650180.
- Mordecai SC, Al-Hadithy N, Ware HE, Gupte CM. Treatment of meniscal tears: an evidence based approach. World J Orthop. 2014;5(3):233–41. doi:10.5312/wjo.v5.i3.233.
- 36. Moulton SG, Bhatia S, Civitarese DM, Frank RM, Dean CS, LaPrade RF. Surgical techniques and outcomes of repairing meniscal radial tears: a systematic review. Arthroscopy. 2016;32(9):1919–25. doi:10.1016/j.arthro.2016.03.029.
- Mutsaerts EL, van Eck CF, van de Graaf VA, Doornberg JN, van den Bekerom MP. Surgical interventions

for meniscal tears: a closer look at the evidence. Arch Orthop Trauma Surg. 2016;136(3):361–70. doi:10.1007/s00402-015-2351-2.

- 38. Naimark MB, Kegel G, O'Donnell T, Lavigne S, Heveran C, Crawford DC. Knee function assessment in patients with meniscus injury: a preliminary study of reproducibility, response to treatment, and correlation with patient-reported questionnaire outcomes. Orthop J Sports Med. 2014;2(9):2325967114550987. doi:10.1177/2325967114550987.
- Nakase J, Kitaoka K, Tsuchiya H. Arthroscopic resection of a bucket handle tear of the meniscus: a technical note. J Orthop Surg (Hong Kong). 2010;18(3):378–81.
- 40. Nawabi DH, Cro S, Hamid IP, Williams A. Return to play after lateral meniscectomy compared with medial meniscectomy in elite professional soccer players. Am J Sports Med. 2014;42(9):2193–8. doi:10.1177/0363546514540271.
- Nepple JJ, Dunn WR, Wright RW. Meniscal repair outcomes at greater than five years: a systematic literature review and meta-analysis. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2012;94(24):2222–7. doi:10.2106/JBJS.K.01584.
- 42. Ogura T, Suzuki M, Sakuma Y, Yamauchi K, Orita S, Miyagi M, Ishikawa T, Kamoda H, Oikawa Y, Kanisawa I, Takahashi K, Sakai H, Nagamine T, Fukuda H, Takahashi K, Ohtori S, Tsuchiya A. Differences in levels of inflammatory mediators in meniscal and synovial tissue of patients with meniscal lesions. J Exp Orthop. 2016;3(1):7. doi:10.1186/s40634-016-0041-9.
- Pengas IP, Assiotis A, Nash W, Hatcher J, Banks J, McNicholas MJ. Total meniscectomy in adolescents: a 40-year follow-up. J Bone Joint Surg Br. 2012;94(12):1649–54. doi:10.1302/0301-620X.94B12.30562.
- 44. Paxton ES, Stock MV, Brophy RH. Meniscal repair versus partial meniscectomy: a systematic review comparing reoperation rates and clinical outcomes. Arthroscopy. 2011;27(9):1275–88. doi:10.1016/j. arthro.2011.03.088.
- 45. Pujol N, Beaufils P. Healing results of meniscal tears left in situ during anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction: a review of clinical studies. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 2009;17(4):396–401. doi:10.1007/s00167-008-0711-y.
- Rozbruch SR, Wickiewicz TL, DiCarlo EF, Potter HG. Osteonecrosis of the knee following arthroscopic laser meniscectomy. Arthroscopy. 1996;12(2):245–50.
- Salata MJ, Gibbs AE, Sekiya JK. A systematic review of clinical outcomes in patients undergoing meniscectomy. Am J Sports Med. 2010;38(9):1907–16. doi:10.1177/0363546510370196.
- Salzler MJ, Lin A, Miller CD, Herold S, Irrgang JJ, Harner CD. Complications after arthroscopic knee surgery. Am J Sports Med. 2014;42(2):292–6.
- Scanzello CR, McKeon B, Swaim BH, DiCarlo E, Asomugha EU, Kanda V, Nair A, Lee DM, Richmond

JC, Katz JN, Crow MK, Goldring SR. Synovial inflammation in patients undergoing arthroscopic meniscectomy: molecular characterization and relationship to symptoms. Arthritis Rheum. 2011;63(2):391–400. doi:10.1002/art.30137.

- 50. Seedhom BB. Transmission of the load in the knee joint with special reference to the role of the menisci — Part I : anatomy, analysis and apparatus, B.B. Engng In Med. 1979;8(4):207–19.
- 51. Sihvonen R, Paavola M, Malmivaara A, Järvinen TL. Finnish Degenerative Meniscal Lesion Study (FIDELITY): a protocol for a randomised, placebo surgery controlled trial on the efficacy of arthroscopic partial meniscectomy for patients with degenerative meniscus injury with a novel 'RCT within-a-cohort' study design. BMJ Open. 2013;3(3) pii: e002510 doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2012-002510.
- Small NC. Complications in arthroscopic meniscal surgery. Clin Sports Med. 1990;9(3):609–17.
- 53. Smith TO, Hing CB. A meta-analysis of tourniquet assisted arthroscopic knee surgery. Knee. 2009;16(5):317–21. doi:10.1016/j.knee.2009.01.004. Epub 2009 Feb 23.
- 54. Sonnery-Cottet B, Archbold P, Thaunat M, Carnesecchi O, Tostes M, Chambat P. Rapid chondrolysis of the knee after partial lateral meniscectomy in professional athletes. Knee. 2014;21(2):504–8. doi:10.1016/j.knee.2014.01.001.
- 55. Suk In N, Min Su W, Jong Min L, Myung Ku K. A new surgical technique of arthroscopic partial meniscectomy for unstable inferior leaf of the anterior horn in a horizontal tear of lateral meniscus. Knee Surg Relat Res. 2013;25(3):147–9.
- 56. Suter LG, Fraenkel L, Losina E, Katz JN, Gomoll AH, Paltiel AD. Medical decision making in patients with knee pain, meniscal tear, and osteoarthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 2009;61(11):1531–8. doi:10.1002/ art.24893.
- 57. Swart NM, van Oudenaarde K, Reijnierse M, Nelissen RG, Verhaar JA, Bierma-Zeinstra SM, Luijsterburg PA Effectiveness of exercise therapy for meniscal lesions in adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Sci Med Sport.2016 pii: S1440-2440(16)30030-5. doi:10.1016/j.jsams.2016.04.003.

- Tabib W, Beaufils P, Blin JL, Trémoulet J, Hardy P. Arthroscopic meniscectomy with Ho-Yag laser versus mechanical meniscectomy. Mid-term results of a randomized prospective study of 80 meniscectomies. Rev Chir Orthop Reparatrice Appar Mot. 1999;85(7):713–21.
- 59. Thorlund JB, Holsgaard-Larsen A, Creaby MW, Jørgensen GM, Nissen N, Englund M, Lohmander LS. Changes in knee joint load indices from before to 12 months after arthroscopic partial meniscectomy: a prospective cohort study. Osteoarthritis Cartilage. 2016;24(7):1153–9. doi:10.1016/j.joca.2016.01.987.
- Tsarouhas A, Iosifidis M, Kotzamitelos D, Spyropoulos G, Tsatalas T, Giakas G. Three-dimensional kinematic and kinetic analysis of knee rotational stability after single- and double-bundle anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction. Arthroscopy. 2010;26(7):885– 93. PMID: 20620787.
- Türker M, Çetik Ö, Çırpar M, Durusoy S, Cömert B. Postarthroscopy osteonecrosis of the knee. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 2015;23(1):246–50. doi:10.1007/s00167-013-2450-y.
- 62. van de Graaf VA, Wolterbeek N, Mutsaerts EL, Scholtes VA, Saris DB, de Gast A, Poolman RW. Arthroscopic partial meniscectomy or conservative treatment for nonobstructive meniscal tears: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Arthroscopy. 2016;32(9):1855–65. e4 doi:10.1016/j.arthro.2016.05.036.
- 63. Vangsness Jr CT, Farr 2nd J, Boyd J, Dellaero DT, Mills CR, LeRoux-Williams M. Adult human mesenchymal stem cells delivered via intra-articular injection to the knee following partial medial meniscectomy: a randomized, double-blind, controlled study. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2014;96(2):90–8. doi:10.2106/JBJS.M.00058.
- Weiss WM, Johnson D. Update on meniscus debridement and resection. J Knee Surg. 2014;27(6):413–22.
- 65. Yim JH, Seon JK, Song EK, Choi JI, Kim MC, Lee KB, Seo HY. A comparative study of meniscectomy and nonoperative treatment for degenerative horizontal tears of the medial meniscus. Am J Sports Med. 2013;41(7):1565–70. doi:10.1177/0363546513488518.

Meniscal Root Tears: A Missed Epidemic? How Should They Be Treated?

5

Alexandra Phocas, Jorge Chahla, and Robert F. LaPrade

Contents

5.1	Introduction	49			
5.2	Anatomy	50			
5.3	Meniscal Root Biomechanics	50			
5.4	Natural History of Root Tears	51			
5.5 5.5.1 5.5.2	Diagnosis Physical Examination Imaging	51 51 53			
5.6	Classification Systems	54			
5.7 5.7.1	Treatment Transtibial Pullout Repair for Posterior Meniscus Root Tears	54 55			
5.8	Postoperative Rehabilitation	57			
5.9	Outcomes	57			
References					

A. Phocas • J. Chahla Steadman Philippon Research Institute, Vail, CO, USA e-mail: jachahla@msn.com

R.F. LaPrade (⊠) The Steadman Clinic, 181 West Meadow Drive, Suite 400, Vail, CO 81657, USA e-mail: drlaprade@sprivail.org

5.1 Introduction

Meniscal root tears constitute one of the most relevant pathologies of the knee because of its biomechanical immediate consequences and the long-term effects derived from its loss of functionality. These tears can be either an avulsion of the insertion of the meniscus attachment or radial tears which are within 1 cm of the meniscus insertion [2]. The uncompromised menisci absorb 40-70% of the contact force that is generated between the femur and the tibia, which allows for the menisci to convert the axial loads into circumferential hoop stresses [5]. When meniscal root tears occur, they result in the failure of the meniscus to distribute and absorb these forces, and this leads to degenerative changes in the knee [2]. These changes include accelerated cartilage degeneration, which are comparable to changes seen following a total meniscectomy [2]. Additionally, both partial and total meniscal root tears have been observed to cause extrusion of the meniscus. Extrusion of more than 3 mm has been reported to be associated with osteophyte formation and increased articular cartilage degeneration [43]. Up to a fifth of medial meniscus tears can occur in the posterior root attachments [25]. Anterior cruciate ligament (ACL) tears are oftentimes associated with posterior lateral meniscus root tears with one study reporting these root tears in 8 % of cases involving ACL tears [13]. Posterior medial meniscal root tears are oftentimes degenerative, but they can also

occur with multiple ligament knee injuries in acute settings [13, 16, 42]. Patients with medial meniscal tear were more likely to have concomitant chondral defects, while on the other hand, 81 % of lateral meniscal root tears occurred concomitantly with ACL tears [42]. In addition to tears that occur with ACL injuries, malposition of the ACL tibial tunnel and reaming for tibial shaft fractures during ACL reconstruction can damage the anterior root attachments of the menisci [14, 34, 36, 53]. It has been widely reported that failing to preserve the meniscal tissue accelerates degeneration of the knee cartilage surfaces [22]. The goal of meniscal root surgery is to restore the joint to its previous function without causing adverse side effects like cartilage degradation and an inability to convert force loads that are often seen when the injury is ignored or a meniscectomy is performed [43]. The most common surgical approaches to treat meniscal root tears are meniscectomy, partial meniscectomy, transosseous root repair, and suture anchor repair techniques [43]. This chapter will provide a comprehensive review on meniscal root tears, diagnosis, indications, and treatment options currently available.

5.2 Anatomy

The medial tibial eminence (MTE) apex is the most reproducible osseous landmark for the medial meniscal posterior root attachment. The distance between the MTE and the center of the root attachment is located approximately 10 mm posterior and 1 mm lateral. The most proximal posterior cruciate ligament (PCL) tibial attachment and the medial tibial plateau articular cartilage inflection point are two other consistent landmarks to identify the root attachment and are located 8 mm and 4 mm lateral from the posterior root attachment, respectively. Therefore, during arthroscopic root repair surgery, the primary objective would be to locate the apex of the medial tibial eminence and follow it posteriorly and laterally along the bony surface to find the

anatomic root attachment site. The lateral meniscus posterior root attachment can also be identified using the apex of the lateral tibial eminence (LTE) which is the most consistent landmark. The center of the lateral meniscal posterior root is consistently found to be 4 mm medial and 1.5 mm posterior to the LTE. According to Johannsen et al. [26], the posterior root of the lateral meniscus attachment is located 4 mm medial to the lateral tibial plateau articular cartilage edge and 13 mm to the most proximal edge of the posterior cruciate ligament (PCL) tibial attachment. The footprint of the central main attachment fibers of the posterior roots of the menisci is 39 mm² for the lateral meniscus and 30 mm² for the medial meniscus [26].

5.3 Meniscal Root Biomechanics

The anteromedial (AM) root attachment is the strongest root attachment in the meniscus with an ultimate failure strength of 655 N, and the posterolateral (PL) root is the weakest with an ultimate failure strength of 509 N [15]. The increased mobility of the anterior roots compared to the posterior roots may account for the anterior root's higher failure strength [3].

Lateral complete root tears prevent the circumferential fibers from withstanding the hoop stresses which cause the contact area to decrease and the mean and peak contact pressures to increase, which emulates a complete meniscectomy [35]. The overall failure to reproduce the native attachments in a functional anatomic location will result in the continuation of the previously mentioned issues with contact area and contact pressure [32]. Repair of posterolateral meniscal root avulsions resulted in reduced contact areas that were significantly less than the contact areas of intact roots when combined across all angles [47] even though the repair of posteromedial meniscal root avulsions can restore the contact area to intact levels at all angles [2]. A recent biomechanical study concluded that lateral

Fig. 5.1 Axial view of the tibial plateau showing the menisci and their attachments along with the ACL and PCL footprints. LARA lateral anterior root attachment, LPRA lateral posterior root attachment, MARA medial anterior root attachment, MPRA medial posterior root attachment, LME lateral medial eminence, SWF shiny white fibers, AIL anterior intermeniscal ligament, ACL anterior cruciate ligament, PCL posterior cruciate ligament



meniscus posterior root avulsion produces significant alterations in the contact areas and pressures from full extension to 90° of flexion. Meniscectomy causes greater disorders than the avulsion left in situ. Transosseous repair with a single suture restores these alterations to conditions close to intact at 0° and 30° but not at 60° and 90° [49].

5.4 Natural History of Root Tears

There has been a recent push to understand the effects of meniscal root tears including both contact pressure distributions, similarities to meniscectomized states, and overall long-term outcomes. Harner et al. [23] reported that in tears of the posterior medial meniscus, peak contact pressures were on average 25 % higher than in the intact state. Additionally, when the peak contact pressures were compared to those following a medial meniscectomy, there was no significant difference between the two [23]. Another recent study by Chung et al. [9, 10] reported on the long-term results of patients who had a posterior meniscal root tear in their medial meniscus, and either underwent a refixation or a partial meniscectomy. The results of this study showed that those who underwent a refixation of the posterior root in the medial meniscus slowed the progression of arthritic changes compared to those who had a meniscectomy, although the refixation did not prevent the arthritic changes completely [9, 10]. Along with the overall difference in arthritic changes, 35 % of the patients who had undergone a meniscectomy underwent conversion to total knee arthroplasty (TKA) in contrast, whereas none of the patients who had undergone a repair underwent conversion to TKA [9, 10].

Choi et al. [7] reported that meniscal root tears were positively correlated with the grade of osteoarthritis (p=0.017), BMI (p=0.025), mechanical axis deviation (p=0.043), and varus deformity (p=0.027). Out of all the knees that underwent TKA, 78.17 % of patients under 60 years had meniscal root tear [7] (Fig. 5.2).

5.5 Diagnosis

5.5.1 Physical Examination

In order to effectively assess a potential meniscal root tear, both a physical exam and imaging methods should be performed since root tears are



Fig. 5.2 Image demonstrating a (**a**) coronal (T2) and sagittal view (T1) of the left knee showing the (**b**) progression of cartilage degradation over approximately six months in

an undiagnosed posterior meniscal root after six months of follow-up

not always evident when a partial examination is done [13]. Additionally, when performing a physical exam, it is important to identify if the patient has varus alignment or a high BMI since these are some of the risk factors for medial meniscal root tears [25]. Meniscal root tears are often not associated with traumatic events, with one study reporting that 70 % of patients with meniscal root injuries could recall a minor traumatic event such as squatting, and the rest couldn't recall any specific event leading up to the injury [4]. The most common presenting symptoms in meniscal root tears are posterior knee pain and joint line tenderness which are nonspecific symptoms [20]. Another common but not always present symptom is a popping sound which is heard while doing light activities like going upstairs or squatting [37]. Seil et al. [51] described a test that has proven useful in diagnosing a medial meniscal root avulsion. It involves applying varus stress to the knee while it is relaxed and in full extension and palpating the anteromedial joint line [51]. When there is a medial meniscal root avulsion, the meniscal extrusion is reproduced and disappears when the knee is moved back to its normal alignment [51].

5.5.2 Imaging

Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) is noninvasive and should be a part of the diagnostic workout of meniscal root tears due to the challenges associated with a clinical diagnosis [4, 18]. Prior studies suggested that MRI is 93 % sensitive, is 100 % specific, and has a positive predictive value of 100 % [8, 12, 24]; however, other authors reported that meniscal root tears could only be identified in approximately 73 % [46]. Of note, an accurate diagnosis of a meniscal root tear through an MRI is very reliant on the skill of the radiology and the quality of the images [4].

The posterior medial meniscus is most easily visualized as a band of fibrocartilage, which anchors the posterior horn to the tibial plateau in two consecutive coronal MRI images [4]. Lateral meniscal root tears are most easily visualized on coronal and sagittal sequences that show both the apex and posterior slope of the lateral tibial eminence [4, 12]. T2-weighted sequences are considered the best option for visualizing tears due to their maximum specificity and sensitivity values [39]; additionally, many believe that axial images produce the highest specificity and sensitivity [8]. When a posterior meniscal root tear is suspected, three locations should be assessed on MRI: (1) between the intercondylar tubercles, (2) at the level of the lateral tubercle, and (3) on the lateral edge of the tibial eminence adjacent to the lateral tubercle. Additionally, both coronal and sagittal planes should be evaluated to improve sensitivity [13].

Since visualizing a meniscal root tear is difficult due to the root's small size, the presence of meniscal extrusion has a high correlation with meniscal root tears [6, 41], although not all knees with meniscal extrusion have meniscal root tears [4]. Medial meniscal extrusions of more than 3 mm are strongly associated with severe meniscal degeneration and meniscal root tears [11, 40]. Another common and important sign associated with meniscal root tears is a ghost sign [4]. A ghost sign is defined to be the absence of an identifiable meniscus in the sagittal plane or an increased signal replacing the normally dark meniscal tissue signal [40, 48]. In addition to ghost signs, vertical linear defects on coronal imaging and radial linear defects at the bony insertion of the meniscal roots are also signs of meniscal root tears [29] (Fig. 5.3).



Fig. 5.3 Magnetic resonance imaging of the right knee demonstrating (**a**) meniscal extrusion (>3 mm) and an edema of the medial femoral condyle on a coronal cut. (**b**)

Sagittal view showing the absence of the posterior horn of the meniscus ("ghost sign") and (c) sagittal view of a medial meniscus posterior root tear

5.6 Classification Systems

Our group developed an arthroscopically based classification system for both posterior root tears based on tear morphology. Root tears were divided in partial stable root tear (type 1), complete radial tear within 9 mm from the root attachment (type 2), bucket-handle tear with complete root detachment (type 3), complex oblique or longitudinal tear with complete root detachment (type 4), and bony avulsion of the root attachment (type 5) (Fig. 5.1) [33]. Of these types, type 2 was the more frequently encountered which can be subclassified in type 2A, defined as complete radial meniscal tears 0 to < 3 mm from the center of the root attachment; type 2B, defined as complete radial meniscal tears 3 to < 6 mm from the center of the root attachment; and type 2C, defined as complete radial meniscal tears 6-9 mm from the root attachment.

Forkel et al. [21] described a lateral posterior root tear classification (three subcategories). Type 1 is the avulsion of the root at the attachment on the tibial plateau with an intact meniscofemoral ligament. Type 2 is a radial tear of the posterior horn with an intact meniscofemoral ligament. Type 3 is a complete injury of the posterior horn of the lateral meniscus with rupture of the meniscofemoral ligament (Fig. 5.4).

5.7 Treatment

Although recently recognized as an important pathology, several treatment options have been described in the literature including nonoperative treatment, partial or subtotal meniscectomies, and root repair. Nonoperative treatment is advocated in the elderly population or those with advanced degenerative changes in the same compartment. Symptomatic treatment with rest, ice, nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug, and/or an unloader brace can help alleviate the symptoms in some cases. In this subset of patients (advanced



Fig. 5.4 Images of the five different types of meniscal root tears based on morphology: partial stable root tear (type 1), compete radial tear within 9mm of the bony root attachment (type 2), bucket-handle tear with complete

root detachment (type 3), complex oblique or longitudinal tear with complete root detachment (type 4), and bony avulsion fracture of the root attachment (type 5). Types 2A, 2B, and 2C are marked on the image for type 2

degenerative changes), if mechanical symptoms are present such as locking, a partial or subtotal meniscectomy can improve the overall knee function.

Indications for meniscal repair are acute, traumatic root tears in patients with nearly normal or normal cartilage surface (Outerbridge less than grade 2) or chronic symptomatic root tears in young or middle-aged patients without significant preexisting osteoarthritis [4]. These injuries can develop subtly over time.

5.7.1 Transtibial Pullout Repair for Posterior Meniscus Root Tears

The transtibial pullout technique allows for anatomic reduction and fixation of the meniscal root. Padalecki et al. [47]) reported that a pullout repair of radial tears restored the joint contact pressure and area similar to the intact state. Drilling tibial tunnels may enhance healing due to the presence of growth factors and potentially bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells. The fixation construct has been reported to have significantly weaker fixation to the tibia compared to the native root [17, 31]. Feucht et al. [17] reported a 2.2 mm displacement of the meniscal root repair with transtibial pullout under cyclic loading in a pig model caused by the long length of the meniscus suture repair construct (bungee effect). Several authors have validated this technique the root transosseous repair [1, 30, 45, 45]50]. Starke et al. [52] reported that nonanatomic positioning of the posterior meniscal horn attachment had a significant effect on the resultant tension. Placing the horn attachment 3 mm medially decreased the tension at the horn attachment by 49–73 %, depending on knee flexion angle and femorotibial load. Conversely, fixation of the root in a lateral position resulted in a relative increase in the tension by 28–68 %. Lower levels of meniscal hoop tension caused increased cartilage stress.

The senior author's current preferred technique for fixation of a posterior horn meniscal root tear involves transosseous suture repair tied over a button on the anteromedial tibia. For this technique, standard anterolateral and anteromedial portals are created adjacent to the patellar tendon. It is important to be as close as possible to the patellar tendon to improve visualization for the posterior roots (Fig. 5.5).

A diagnostic arthroscopy is performed to assess for any associated lesions. The damaged meniscal root should be probed to assess for severity and tear pattern [33]. An accessory arthroscopic portal (anteromedial or anterolateral) can be made to help access the posterior root. The bony bed of the planned root repair anatomic location should then be carefully decorticated using a curved curette (Fig. 5.6).

A grasper can be used to position the torn meniscal root and determine the ideal location to perform the repair. If the root can be positioned at the desired location, peripheral release of the posterior horn should be carried out to allow the root for additional excursion (Fig. 5.7).

Once the desired position of the root has been confirmed, an incision is made for the transtibial tunnels just medial to the tibial

Fig. 5.5 Arthroscopic view of a meniscal root tear as viewed from the anteromedial portal, showing both the detached root and the anatomic root attachment. LFC *lateral femoral condyle*



Scope





Fig. 5.7 Arthroscopic view through the anteromedial portal of the lateral posterior root. The torn meniscal root is being repositioned with a grasper so it can be secured in the anatomic position

tubercle (medial root). For a posterior lateral meniscal root repair, the incision will be made on the anterolateral tibia, just distal to the medial aspect of Gerdy's tubercle. In order to best restore the footprint of the repair, two transtibial tunnels are created at the location of the root attachment. A custom root aiming device with a cannulated sleeve is used to position a drill pin. A tibial tunnel guide is then used to ream the first tunnel (along the posterior aspect of the posterior root attachment site) (Fig. 5.8).

The second tunnel is placed approximately 5 mm anterior to the first tunnel using an offset guide. The tunnels are visualized arthroscopically to verify correct tunnel placement, and the drill pins are removed leaving the two cannulas in place for passing the sutures. An accessory anteromedial or anterolateral portal can be created if necessary depending on the root to be repaired (if not done previously) to allow an arthroscopic grasper to firmly hold the torn meniscal root and facilitate passing the sutures. A suture-passing device is utilized to pass a simple suture through the far posterior

portion of the detached meniscal root, approximately 5 mm medial to its lateral edge for the medial meniscus, or 5 mm lateral to its medial edge for the lateral meniscus, passing from the tibial to the femoral side. Sutures are then pulled out through the anteromedial portal (through a cannula) as the device is removed. Prior to passing the second suture through the meniscus, the first suture is shuttled down through the more posteriorly placed tibial tunnel in order to avoid intra-articular suture tangling with the aid of a looped passing wire placed up the posteriorly placed tunnel cannula. The steps are repeated with the second suture positioned through the midportion of the meniscal root, anterior to the first suture placed into the meniscus. The second suture is then pulled down through the anterior positioned tibial cannula (Fig. 5.9).

The sutures are tied down over a cortical fixation device on the anteromedial tibia for the medial meniscal root repair, or the anterolateral tibia for the lateral meniscal root repair, while the posterior root of the respective meniscus is visualized and probed arthroscopically (Fig. 5.10).

Fig. 5.8 Arthroscopic view through the anteromedial portal of the lateral posterior root (on the left). The guide pins are being positioned using an offset guide (as seen on the right) in order to ensure the positioning is as precise as possible



Fig. 5.9 Arthroscopic view through the anteromedial portal of the lateral posterior root. The meniscal root is being sutured into place in its anatomic location using a suture-passing device

Fig. 5.10 Arthroscopic view through the

the left). The repaired

in its anatomic location.

On the right is the

knee with both the anteromedial and anterolateral portals



5.8 **Postoperative Rehabilitation**

Patients should be non-weight-bearing for at least 6 weeks. Physical therapy should start as soon as possible after surgery, which should include early passive range of motion exercises in a safe zone of 0-90 degrees of flexion for the initial 2 weeks. After 2 weeks, patients can work on further increases in knee flexion as tolerated. Progressive advancement to full weight-bearing begins at 8 weeks. Deep leg presses and squats greater than 70 degrees of knee flexion should be avoided for at least four months after surgery (Fig. 5.11).

5.9 Outcomes

The optimal treatment of meniscal root tears is still debated due to the conflicting clinical and radiologic results that are being reported. Chung et al. [9, 10] reported in a recent meta-analysis on medial meniscal root tear repair that although there were significant improvements in postoperative clinical scores, the progression of arthrosis was not prevented and meniscal extrusion was not reduced. Feucht et al. [18] reported in a systematic review that there were improved outcomes when arthroscopic transtibial pullout repair was



	Name:						DO	B:							
	Dr: Robert F. LaPrade, /	M.D.	, Ph	.D.	_		Da	te:	_						
	Do exercise for that week	We	ek												
ROM	Initial Exercises	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	12	16	20	24
RESTICTIONS	Elexion/Extension - Wall Slides														-
	Flexion/Ext - sented													-	-
	Patella/Tendon mobilization								-	-	-	-	-		-
-90 x 2 weeks	Quad series	-		-					-	-	-	-	-	-	-
en Full PROM	Hamstring sets	-	-	-	-	-	-		-			-	<u> </u>	-	-
	Sit and reach for hamstrings (no	+	<u> </u>	-	_			-	-	-	-			-	-
ACE SETTINGS	hypertext)					•	•	•	•	•					
	Ankle pumps	•	•	٠	٠	٠	•	•	•	•					
10 × A whe	Crutch weaning							٠	٠	•					
/0 X 0 4K3	Toe and heel raises	1							•	٠	•	-			1
	Balance series	+								•	•	•	•	•	
Weight	Cardiovascular Exercises	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	12	16	20	2
aring status	Bike with both legs – no resistance							•	•	•	•	٠			_
•	Bike with both leas - resistance	+	\vdash									•	•	•	•
	Aquaicaging	+										•	•	•	
	Treadmill - walking 7% incline	+	\vdash			-	\vdash		\vdash	-	-	•	•	•	
/B x 6 weeks	Swimming with fins - light flutter kick	+	-				-		-	-			•	•	•
	Elliptical trainer	+	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	-				-
	Powing	+	<u> </u>			-	<u> </u>	-	-	-	<u> </u>	-	-		
	Stair stanger	+		-		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		
ME LINES	Weight Berging Strength		2	2				-		0	10	10	76	20	-
	Weight bearing strength		2	3	4	3	•	'		4	10	12	10	20	2
k 1(1-7POD)	Double knee bends	+	<u> </u>	-		-	-	-	-	<u> </u>	-	-		-	-
2(8-14POD)	Double leg bridges	+	<u> </u>						-	<u> </u>		-	-	-	_
4(22-28POD)	Reverse lunge – static holds	+	<u> </u>	_		_	-		<u> </u>	<u> </u>	-	-	-	-	-
	beginning cord exercises	+	<u> </u>				<u> </u>		-	<u> </u>		-	-	-	_
oid squats	balance squats	+	<u> </u>				-		-	<u> </u>		-	-		
x 4 months	Single leg deadlift	-										-			-
	Leg press to max. 70° knee flexion	-										•	•	•	-
	Sports Test exercises	_													
	Agility Exercises	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	12	16	20	24
	Running progression														•
	Initial – single plane														
	Advance - multi directional					<u> </u>						_			
	Functional sports test														•
	High Level Activities	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	12	16	20	30
	Golf progression														•
	Outdoor biking, hiking, snowshoeing														•
	Skiing, basketball, tennis, football, soccer														•
	0	Copyr	ight 2	2012	Dr. F	Cober	rt F. I	.aPra	ide/H	lowar	rd He	ad Sp	orts	Medi	cin



used for posterior medial meniscal root tears. The systematic review reported that 84 % of the patients showed no progression of osteoarthritis on the Kellgren-Lawrence grading scale, and Lysholm scores improved from a mean of 52 preoperatively to a mean of 86 postoperatively [18]. Additionally, in 82 % of the patients, MRI did not show progression of cartilage degeneration, and in 56 % of patients, MRI showed a reduction of medial meniscus extrusion [18]. Overall the healing status was complete in 62 % of patients, partial in 34 %, and failed in only 3 % based on MRI and second-look arthroscopy [9, 10, 18]. A retrospective study by Ozkoc et al. [46] looked at patients with a medial meniscus posterior root tear (MMPRT) who were treated with a partial meniscectomy and had a mean follow-up of 4.7 years. This study found that the Lysholm scores of the patients had improved significantly although degenerative changes as defined by the Kellgren-Lawrence radiologic grade had increased postoperatively [46]. Another study done by Chung et al. [9, 10] compared the radiologic and clinical outcomes between a partial meniscectomy cohort and a medial meniscus root repair cohort at a 5-year minimum follow-up. The repair group reported significantly higher Lysholm and International Knee Documentation Committee (IKDC) scores although both groups showed a progression of Kellgren-Lawrence grade and medial joint space narrowing with the repair cohort showing less progression in comparison to the partial meniscectomy cohort [9, 10]. Finally, the repair cohort had a 0 % rate of conversion to total knee replacement, whereas the partial meniscectomy cohort had a 35 % rate [9, 10].

The median age of patients in meniscal root repair studies is around 50 years, meaning that the outcomes on meniscal root repairs are based on poorly designed studies with potentially skewed data [8, 27–29, 38, 44]. Although the majority of studies have reported subjective improvement of symptoms, the prevention of progression of arthrosis has not been adequately documented [9, 10, 16, 18, 19, 20, 46]. Additionally, the poor reduction of meniscal extrusion or the failure to do so and low reported healing rates coupled with the age of the patients may help explain the poor radiographic results [9, 10, 18, 19]. Meniscal root tears are technically challenging procedures, with an anatomic repair being crucial to the success and outcome of the surgery. This type of procedure may be better left to more experienced surgeons with enough volume. Overall there is still a great deal of need for better designed studies to explore some of the unanswered questions regarding meniscal root repairs.

References

- Ahn JH, Wang JH, Yoo JC, Noh HK, Park JH. A pull out suture for transection of the posterior horn of the medial meniscus: using a posterior trans-septal portal. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 2007;15(12):1510–3.
- Allaire R, Muriuki M, Gilbertson L, Harner CD. Biomechanical consequences of a tear of the posterior root of the medial meniscus. Similar to total meniscectomy. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2008;90(9):1922–31.
- Benjamin M, Evans EJ, Rao RD, Findlay JA, Pemberton DJ. Quantitative differences in the histology of the attachment zones of the meniscal horns in the knee joint of man. J Anat. 1991;177:127–34.
- Bhatia S, LaPrade CM, Ellman MB, LaPrade RF. Meniscal root tears: significance, diagnosis, and treatment. Am J Sports Med. 2014;42(12):3016–30.
- Bonasia DE, Pellegrino P, D'Amelio A, Cottino U, Rossi R. Meniscal root tear repair: why, when and how? Orthop Rev (Pavia). 2015;7(2):5792.
- Choi CJ, Choi YJ, Lee JJ, Choi CH. Magnetic resonance imaging evidence of meniscal extrusion in medial meniscus posterior root tear. Arthroscopy. 2010;26(12):1602–6.
- Choi ES, Park SJ. Clinical evaluation of the root tear of the posterior horn of the medial meniscus in total knee arthroplasty for osteoarthritis. Knee Surg Relat Res. 2015;27(2):90–4.
- Choi SH, Bae S, Ji SK, Chang MJ. The MRI findings of meniscal root tear of the medial meniscus: emphasis on coronal, sagittal and axial images. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 2012;20(10):2098–103.
- Chung KS, Ha JK, Ra HJ, Kim JG. A meta-analysis of clinical and radiographic outcomes of posterior horn medial meniscus root repairs. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol: Arthrosc; 2015.
- Chung KS, Ha JK, Yeom CH, Ra HJ, Jang HS, Choi SH, Kim JG. Comparison of clinical and radiologic results between partial meniscectomy and refixation of medial meniscus posterior root tears: a minimum 5-year follow-up. Arthroscopy. 2015;31(10):1941–50.

- Costa CR, Morrison WB, Carrino JA. Medial meniscus extrusion on knee MRI: is extent associated with severity of degeneration or type of tear? AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2004;183(1):17–23.
- De Smet AA, Blankenbaker DG, Kijowski R, Graf BK, Shinki K. MR diagnosis of posterior root tears of the lateral meniscus using arthroscopy as the reference standard. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2009;192(2):480–6.
- De Smet AA, Mukherjee R. Clinical, MRI, and arthroscopic findings associated with failure to diagnose a lateral meniscal tear on knee MRI. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2008;190(1):22–6.
- Ellman MB, James EW, LaPrade CM, LaPrade RF. Anterior meniscus root avulsion following intramedullary nailing for a tibial shaft fracture. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 2015;23(4):1188–91.
- Ellman MB, LaPrade CM, Smith SD, Rasmussen MT, Engebretsen L, Wijdicks CA, LaPrade RF. Structural properties of the meniscal roots. Am J Sports Med. 2014;42(8):1881–7.
- Feucht MJ, Bigdon S, Mehl J, Bode G, Muller-Lantzsch C, Sudkamp NP, Niemeyer P. Risk factors for posterior lateral meniscus root tears in anterior cruciate ligament injuries. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 2015;23(1):140–5.
- 17. Feucht MJ, Grande E, Brunhuber J, Rosenstiel N, Burgkart R, Imhoff AB, Braun S. Biomechanical comparison between suture anchor and transtibial pull-out repair for posterior medial meniscus root tears. Am J Sports Med. 2014;42(1):187–93.
- Feucht MJ, Kuhle J, Bode G, Mehl J, Schmal H, Sudkamp NP, Niemeyer P. Arthroscopic transtibial pullout repair for posterior medial meniscus root tears: a systematic review of clinical, radiographic, and second-look arthroscopic results. Arthroscopy. 2015;31(9):1808–16.
- Feucht MJ, Minzlaff P, Saier T, Lenich A, Imhoff AB, Hinterwimmer S. Avulsion of the anterior medial meniscus root: case report and surgical technique. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 2015;23(1):146–51.
- Feucht MJ, Salzmann GM, Bode G, Pestka JM, Kuhle J, Sudkamp NP, Niemeyer P. Posterior root tears of the lateral meniscus. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 2015;23(1):119–25.
- 21. Forkel P, Foehr P, Meyer JC, Herbst E, Petersen W, Brucker PU, Burgkart R, Imhoff AB. Biomechanical and viscoelastic properties of different posterior meniscal root fixation techniques. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 2016 Jul 11. [Epub ahead of print]. PMID: 27401006.
- 22. Han SB, Shetty GM, Lee DH, Chae DJ, Seo SS, Wang KH, Yoo SH, Nha KW. Unfavorable results of partial meniscectomy for complete posterior medial meniscus root tear with early osteoarthritis: a 5- to 8-year follow-up study. Arthroscopy. 2010;26(10):1326–32.
- Harner CD, Mauro CS, Lesniak BP, Romanowski JR. Biomechanical consequences of a tear of the posterior root of the medial meniscus. Surgical technique. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2009;91(Suppl 2):257–70.

- Harper KW, Helms CA, Lambert 3rd HS, Higgins LD. Radial meniscal tears: significance, incidence, and MR appearance. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2005;185(6):1429–34.
- Hwang BY, Kim SJ, Lee SW, Lee HE, Lee CK, Hunter DJ, Jung KA. Risk factors for medial meniscus posterior root tear. Am J Sports Med. 2012;40(7):1606–10.
- 26. Johannsen AM, Civitarese DM, Padalecki JR, Goldsmith MT, Wijdicks CA, LaPrade RF. Qualitative and quantitative anatomic analysis of the posterior root attachments of the medial and lateral menisci. Am J Sports Med. 2012;40(10):2342–7.
- Jung YH, Choi NH, Oh JS, Victoroff BN. All-inside repair for a root tear of the medial meniscus using a suture anchor. Am J Sports Med. 2012;40(6):1406–11.
- Kim JH, Chung JH, Lee DH, Lee YS, Kim JR, Ryu KJ. Arthroscopic suture anchor repair versus pullout suture repair in posterior root tear of the medial meniscus: a prospective comparison study. Arthroscopy. 2011;27(12):1644–53.
- Kim SB, Ha JK, Lee SW, Kim DW, Shim JC, Kim JG, Lee MY. Medial meniscus root tear refixation: comparison of clinical, radiologic, and arthroscopic findings with medial meniscectomy. Arthroscopy. 2011;27(3):346–54.
- 30. Kim YM, Rhee KJ, Lee JK, Hwang DS, Yang JY, Kim SJ. Arthroscopic pullout repair of a complete radial tear of the tibial attachment site of the medial meniscus posterior horn. Arthroscopy. 2006;22(7):795. e791-794
- Kopf S, Colvin AC, Muriuki M, Zhang X, Harner CD. Meniscal root suturing techniques: implications for root fixation. Am J Sports Med. 2011;39(10):2141–6.
- 32. LaPrade CM, Foad A, Smith SD, Turnbull TL, Dornan GJ, Engebretsen L, Wijdicks CA, LaPrade RF. Biomechanical consequences of a nonanatomic posterior medial meniscal root repair. Am J Sports Med. 2015;43(4):912–20.
- 33. LaPrade CM, James EW, Cram TR, Feagin JA, Engebretsen L, LaPrade RF. Meniscal root tears: a classification system based on tear morphology. Am J Sports Med. 2015;43(2):363–9.
- 34. Laprade CM, James EW, Engebretsen L, Laprade RF. Anterior medial meniscal root avulsions due to malposition of the tibial tunnel during anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction: two case reports. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 2014;22(5):1119–23.
- 35. LaPrade CM, Jansson KS, Dornan G, Smith SD, Wijdicks CA, LaPrade RF. Altered tibiofemoral contact mechanics due to lateral meniscus posterior horn root avulsions and radial tears can be restored with in situ pull-out suture repairs. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2014;96(6):471–9.
- 36. LaPrade CM, Jisa KA, Cram TR, LaPrade RF. Posterior lateral meniscal root tear due to a malpositioned double-bundle anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction tibial tunnel. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 2015;23(12):3670–3.

- Lee DW, Ha JK, Kim JG. Medial meniscus posterior root tear: a comprehensive review. Knee Surg Relat Res. 2014;26(3):125–34.
- Lee JH, Lim YJ, Kim KB, Kim KH, Song JH. Arthroscopic pullout suture repair of posterior root tear of the medial meniscus: radiographic and clinical results with a 2-year follow-up. Arthroscopy. 2009;25(9):951–8.
- Lee SY, Jee WH, Kim JM. Radial tear of the medial meniscal root: reliability and accuracy of MRI for diagnosis. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2008;191(1):81–5.
- Lerer DB, Umans HR, Hu MX, Jones MH. The role of meniscal root pathology and radial meniscal tear in medial meniscal extrusion. Skeletal Radiol. 2004;33(10):569–74.
- Magee T. MR findings of meniscal extrusion correlated with arthroscopy. J Magn Reson Imaging. 2008;28(2):466–70.
- Matheny LM, Ockuly AC, Steadman JR, LaPrade RF. Posterior meniscus root tears: associated pathologies to assist as diagnostic tools. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 2015;23(10):3127–31.
- Moatshe G, Chahla J, Slette E, Engebretsen L, Laprade RF. Posterior meniscal root injuries. Acta Orthop. 2016:1–7.
- 44. Moon HK, Koh YG, Kim YC, Park YS, Jo SB, Kwon SK. Prognostic factors of arthroscopic pull-out repair for a posterior root tear of the medial meniscus. Am J Sports Med. 2012;40(5):1138–43.
- Nicholas SJ, Golant A, Schachter AK, Lee SJ. A new surgical technique for arthroscopic repair of the meniscus root tear. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 2009;17(12):1433–6.
- 46. Ozkoc G, Circi E, Gonc U, Irgit K, Pourbagher A, Tandogan RN. Radial tears in the root of the poste-

rior horn of the medial meniscus. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 2008;16(9):849–54.

- 47. Padalecki JR, Jansson KS, Smith SD, Dornan GJ, Pierce CM, Wijdicks CA, Laprade RF. Biomechanical consequences of a complete radial tear adjacent to the medial meniscus posterior root attachment site: in situ pull-out repair restores derangement of joint mechanics. Am J Sports Med. 2014;42(3):699–707.
- Papalia R, Vasta S, Franceschi F, D'Adamio S, Maffulli N, Denaro V. Meniscal root tears: from basic science to ultimate surgery. Br Med Bull. 2013;106:91–115.
- 49. Perez-Blanca A, Espejo-Baena A, Amat Trujillo D, Prado Novoa M, Espejo-Reina A, Quintero Lopez C, Ezquerro Juanco F. Comparative biomechanical study on contact alterations after lateral meniscus posterior root avulsion, transosseous reinsertion, and total meniscectomy. Arthroscopy. 2016;32(4):624–33.
- Raustol OA, Poelstra KA, Chhabra A, Diduch DR. The meniscal ossicle revisited: etiology and an arthroscopic technique for treatment. Arthroscopy. 2006;22(6):687. e681-683
- Seil R, Duck K, Pape D. A clinical sign to detect root avulsions of the posterior horn of the medial meniscus. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 2011;19(12):2072–5.
- 52. Starke C, Kopf S, Grobel KH, Becker R. The effect of a nonanatomic repair of the meniscal horn attachment on meniscal tension: a biomechanical study. Arthroscopy. 2010;26(3):358–65.
- 53. Watson JN, Wilson KJ, LaPrade CM, Kennedy NI, Campbell KJ, Hutchinson MR, Wijdicks CA, LaPrade RF. Iatrogenic injury of the anterior meniscal root attachments following anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction tunnel reaming. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 2015;23(8):2360–6.

Meniscal Ramp Lesions: Diagnosis and Treatment Strategies



Rebecca Young, Brian M. Devitt, and Timothy Whitehead

Contents

6.1	Introduction	63
6.2	What Is a Ramp Lesion?	63
6.3	How Do Ramp Lesions Occur?	64
6.4	How Common Are Ramp Lesions?	65
6.5	Why Are Ramp Lesions Important?	65
6.6	How Do You Diagnose a Ramp Lesion?	66
6.7	How Can I See a Ramp Lesion Arthroscopically?	67
6.8	If I See a Ramp Lesion, How Should I Treat It?	69
6.9	How Do I Rehabilitate Ramp Lesion Repairs?	70
6.10	What Do I Tell My Patients About the Outcome of Ramp	
	Lesion Repairs?	71
Refer	ences	73

R. Young, MD

Epworth Sports & Exercise Medicine Group, Richmond, VIC 3121, Australia

B.M. Devitt, MD FRCS T. Whitehead, MD FRACS (⊠) OrthoSport Victoria, Richmond, VIC 3121, Australia e-mail: tswhitehead@osv.com.au

6.1 Introduction

Meniscal lesions occur in association with ACL tears over 60 % of the time [1–5]. In the setting of an acute ACL tear, lateral meniscal tears occur with slightly greater frequency than medial meniscus tears, with a mean distribution of 56–44 %, respectively. However, in the setting of chronic ACL deficiency, medial meniscus tears are much more common [6]. More than 75 % of tears of the medial meniscus in ACL-deficient knees occur in the periphery of the posterior horn [2, 6, 7].

"It saw you but you didn't see it. Jack Hughston, Orthopaedic Surgeon"

One of the main issues with lesion at the posterior aspect of the meniscus is that they are difficult to visualise from standard anterior portals and are, therefore, frequently missed. The term *hidden lesion* has quite aptly been used to describe these meniscal tears. In addition, the term *ramp lesion* has emerged in the orthopaedic vernacular as another descriptive term [3]. The purpose of this chapter is to explain what exactly a ramp lesion is, how can it be diagnosed and how best to treat it.

6.2 What Is a Ramp Lesion?

The area on the posterior aspect of the meniscal rim adjoining the meniscocapsular junction is called the meniscal ramp (Fig. 6.1). A ramp



Fig. 6.1 (a) Arthroscopic view of the posteromedial aspect of a right knee through the intercondylar notch with a 70° arthroscope; the *black arrow* marks the ramp lesion, the *red arrow* the posterior capsule, and the *yellow* the posterior horn of the medial meniscus.(b) Arthroscopic view of the same patient with a 30° arthroscopic from the

posteromedial portal, demonstrating the same ramp lesion with meniscocapsular separation (*white arrow*) (These photographs are courtesy of Professor Joon Wang, Samsung Medical Centre, Sungkyunkwan University Medical School, Seoul, Korea)

lesion, so described by Strobel in 1998 [8], is a longitudinal tear in the ramp area and is typically associated with ACL deficiency. Subsequent authors have extended the definition to a tear less than 2.5 cm in length involving the meniscosynovial or meniscocapsular attachments of the posterior horn of the medial meniscus (red-red zone) [9, 10]. Disruption of the meniscotibial ligaments of the posterior horn of the medial meniscus is most often recognised as a separate entity [2, 11].

6.3 How Do Ramp Lesions Occur?

The pathogenesis of ramp lesions can be explained by an understanding of the anatomy of the medial meniscus. The medial meniscus is a crescentic fibrocartilage covering approximately 50 % of the medial tibial plateau. It measures roughly 11 mm posteriorly and becomes narrower anteriorly towards the anterior meniscal root [10, 12]. Anatomically, it can be divided into three zones, the anterior horn, the body and the posterior horn (Fig. 6.2).

The medial meniscus is anchored to the medial tibial plateau by the anterior and posterior roots [13]. The body of the meniscus attaches to the adjacent joint capsule and to the tibia by the meniscotibial ligaments. The meniscus is thick peripherally where it attaches to the joint capsule and tapers to a thin, freely mobile edge centrally [14]. This triangular or wedge cross section deepens the tibial articular fossa; enhances load bearing, force distribution and joint stability functions; and influences the stress and strain on the meniscus during activities [15].

The wedge shape of the anterior horn resists posterior translation of the tibia, and similarly, the posterior horn resists anterior tibial translation. As such, the posterior horn plays a fundamental role as a secondary stabiliser of the knee [9, 16, 17]. In the setting of an ACL-deficient knee, it must assume a more primary role in controlling anterior translation [18]. This results in increased loading of the posterior horn of the medial meniscus, increasing forces here by up to 100 %, which is reflected in the high numbers of peripheral medial meniscus posterior horns associated with chronic ACL tears [19].



Fig. 6.2 Sagittal fat-saturated T2-weighted sequence showing medial meniscocapsular separation with thin fluid interposed between the posterior horn of the medial meniscus and capsule (*arrow*) [28]

Ramp lesions can occur acutely at the time of ACL ruptures or develop in the chronically ACL-deficient knee. Acute ramp lesion tears occur as a result of the high forces, which are transmitted through the posteromedial capsule during valgus strain and internal rotation of the tibial and axial loading of the knee [2].

Hughston's [20] proposed mechanism for medial meniscus tears in the ACL-deficient knee is that the loss of ACL function results in increased tibial translation, allowing the meniscus to become wedged between the femur and the tibia. At the same time, the semimembranosus muscle contracts along the posterior capsule, focusing a large amount of stress at the peripheral meniscus. If the contraction is intense enough, the medial meniscus will either tear peripherally or tear at the meniscocapsular junction: the ramp area. This may happen at the time of injury or during subsequent instability episodes [9, 21].

Song et al. have recently proposed that an increased medial meniscal slope is an independent risk factor of a concomitant ramp lesion in noncontact ACL injuries [19]. One of the issues with this theory is that the very presence of a tear may have an impact on the tibial slope. Also, the difference in mean medial meniscal slope between those patients with a ramp lesion and those without in noncontact ACL injuries was only 1.5° . Therefore, the clinical utility of this reading is of questionable value.

6.4 How Common Are Ramp Lesions?

Ramp lesions occur most commonly in association with ACL ruptures. Whether acute or chronic, the incidence ranges from 9 to 17 % [9, 22]. Other reported risk factors include male sex, younger age and time from ACL injury to surgery [9]. Liu et al. [9] found the prevalence of ramp lesions in the presence of ACL injury in males to be 18.6 %, while the prevalence in female patients was 12.0 %. A significantly higher prevalence of ramp tears was detected in patients younger than 30 years of age, compared to those aged over 30. They also found a significantly higher prevalence of ramp tears in patients with chronic ACL tear (18.8%) compared to patients with an acute (less than 6 weeks old) ACL tear (12.7 %). The time from injury to ACL reconstruction was reported to be associated with an increased incidence. This assertion was corroborated by Papastergiou et al., who reported that the earliest point of a significantly higher incidence of meniscal tears in an ACL-deficient knee occurred 3 months following injury [23]. Therefore, the authors recommended that ACL reconstruction should ideally be performed within 3 months of injury to mitigate against this risk. However, the prevalence of ramp lesions continues to increase significantly until 24 months post ACL tear where it plateaus [9]. Furthermore, it is likely that the incidence of ramp lesions will increase as a greater awareness of this pathology develops.

6.5 Why Are Ramp Lesions Important?

The posterior horn of the medial meniscus plays a fundamental role in knee stability, particularly in limiting anterior tibial translation. Although the biomechanical consequences of ramp lesions are unknown, longitudinal tears in the posterior horn of the medial meniscus increase anteroposterior tibial translation in the ACL-deficient knee [16]. The potential consequences of ramp lesions are threefold:

1. Failure of the ACL graft:

Papageorgiou et al. [24] demonstrated the biomechanical interdependence between the medial meniscus and the ACL graft. When a medial meniscectomy is performed with an ACL reconstruction, the in situ forces in the ACL graft increase between 33 and 50 % [24] because of the loss of the secondary stabilising forces. Injury to the ACL increases forces in the meniscus by up to 100 % [11, 24]. Failure to recognise or treat a ramp lesion may lead to an increased risk of ACL graft failure.

2. Increased risk of requiring further surgery to address meniscal injury:

If the diagnosis of ramp lesion is not made at the time of ACL reconstruction, secondary meniscal injury may occur in the form of extension of the tear. Extension of the lesion towards the middle third could easily destabilise the entire posterior meniscus or result in a bucket handle tear. This could potentiate in further surgery for meniscal repair, meniscal resection, or meniscectomy.

3. Increased risk of developing osteoarthritis:

If neglected or misdiagnosed, ramp lesions can lead to instability or injury of the body of the medial meniscus which is a significant precursor to osteoarthritis and general debilitation of the knee. The literature reports that the risk of osteoarthritis in patients with an ACL and without a meniscal tear is between 0 and 13 %, but the risk increases to 21–48 % with meniscal tears. Thus, meniscal injuries that accompany ACL tears are important in the long-term prognosis, especially for OA after ACL reconstruction [4, 13, 25].

6.6 How Do You Diagnose a Ramp Lesion?

"The eyes only see what the mind is prepared to comprehend. Henri Bergson, French Philosopher" (a) History

Most commonly ramp lesions occur in the ACL-deficient knee. The clinician must therefore have a high index of suspicion for the pathology in the setting of ACL tear. Diagnosis is difficult acutely. The prevalence of ramp lesions increases in patients with a chronically deficient ACL, so one must be highly suspicious for their presence in this setting. In particular, one must enquire about the presence of medial joint line pain, which may point to a 'hidden lesion'.

(b) Clinical Evaluation

There are no specific clinical tests for ramp lesions. However, there are numerous clinical tests to examine for the presence of a meniscal lesion. A combination of various meniscal tests is recommended, because no single test is conclusive. Negative meniscal tests do not completely exclude a meniscal lesion. The accuracy rate of the tests ranges from 60 to 95 %, depending on the clinical experience of the examiner [12]. Physical examination in the setting of a tear of the posterior horn of the medial meniscus typically reveals posteromedial joint line tenderness and reproduction of posteromedial pain on maximal flexion of the knee [26].

Provocative manoeuvres may cause impingement of the meniscus between the femoral and tibial surfaces. The McMurray test is performed on the medial meniscus by flexing the knee, creating a varus stress by internally rotating the tibia and bringing the knee into full extension while palpating the joint line [26]. Other tests include the Steinmann I sign (tenderness shifting from anterior to posterior with increasing flexion) and the Fouche sign (reversed McMurray sign with internal rotation of the tibia) [12].

(c) Radiological evaluation

Ramp lesions are difficult to diagnose radiologically. MRI, widely used in the evaluation of meniscal injuries, has a low sensitivity for identifying ramp tears. Meniscal lesions are more difficult to detect on MRI in the presence of ACL rupture, and MRI is less specific for medial meniscal tears than for lateral tears [27]. MRI is unreliable in diagnosing ramp tears, presumably because the knee is in near full extension at the time of study, reducing the meniscocapsular separation [9, 22]. It can also be difficult to distinguish meniscocapsular separation from far peripheral vertical longitudinal tears of the posterior horn of the medial meniscus. Hash reported that the most specific sign of a ramp lesion on MRI was the visualisation of a thin fluid signal completely interposed between the posterior horn of the medial meniscus and the posteromedial capsule (Fig. 6.2 – appearance of a ramp lesion on MRI) [28].

It is generally considered that arthroscopic evaluation is necessary to completely rule out or accurately diagnose a ramp lesion [9, 10, 21, 22, 28].

(d) Arthroscopic Evaluation

Ramp lesions are frequently undiagnosed during ACL reconstructive surgery.

Given their high prevalence, they should be routinely looked for [2]. They may go unseen because of poor visualisation from standard anteromedial and anterolateral portals. Obstruction by the medial femoral condyle can make it difficult to visualise the posterior third of the medial meniscus [2]. Various methods have been described to improve visualisation of the posteromedial corner of the knee; however, there are many knees, the so-called tight knees, in which the posteromedial corner is impossible to evaluate via anterior portals only [2].

Sonnery-Cottet et al. [2] demonstrated that 40 % of ramp lesions are not identified without inspection of the posterior compartment via intercondylar view and posteromedial portal access. This is of particular importance, because many of these missed tears are repairable [2, 29].

Given the high prevalence of ramp lesions, some authors have suggested that a posteromedial portal should be used in all cases to enhance the visualisation of the posteromedial aspect of the medial meniscus [2]. Although this approach would certainly enhance diagnosis of the lesion, if it exists, there is still insufficient data to support an improved clinical outcome with repair of these lesions. Therefore, this suggestion remains somewhat controversial.

6.7 How Can I See a Ramp Lesion Arthroscopically?

A number of different arthroscopic techniques have been proposed to visualise ramp lesions properly. Key to any of these is accessing the posteromedial compartment for inspection.

Firstly, a thorough assessment of the knee should be made using standard anterolateral and anteromedial portals and a classic 30° arthroscope [9, 21, 30]. ACL rupture should be confirmed, followed by routine assessment of the posterior horn of the medial meniscus with the knee in extension and a valgus force applied. The meniscus should be inspected and probed to determine the presence of a tear and the stability of the meniscus [9, 29]. The ramp area should then be inspected and can be done so by two main approaches:

(a) Intercondylar approach

Strobel [12] proposed the ramp area of the medial meniscus be inspected by passing the arthroscope through the intercondylar notch and under the posterior cruciate ligament (PCL) into the posteromedial recess. The knee should be flexed to 90° and a valgus stress applied. A 2.7 mm diameter 70° arthroscope may be used to obtain a wider view of the posteromedial compartment [30]; however, this may not be required [2]. The use of a blunt trocar may facilitate passing the camera [2]. Once the cannula has been passed into the compartment, the blunt trocar is exchanged for the 30° or 70° scope. The optical lens is rotated to allow good visualisation of the posteromedial compartment and especially the meniscocapsular junction. Internal rotation applied to the tibia can help visualisation because this causes the posterior tibial plateau to sublux leading to posterior translation of the middle third of the medial meniscus [31] (Fig. 6.3).

Vision may be obscured by synovitis in the posteromedial recess or by osteophytes. If a ramp lesion is strongly suspected but cannot be





confirmed or excluded by viewing via an anterolateral portal, inspection can be aided by needling. A needle is inserted into the posteromedial recess percutaneously to help evaluate the ramp area [9, 12]. With the knee in 90° of flexion and the use of transillumination, a needle is inserted from the posteromedial aspect of the knee, proximal to the medial femoral condyle. The needle is passed into the posterior part of the meniscal attachment or the posteriorly will open up the tear and more clearly define its location and extent [12]. Once the presence of a ramp lesion has been confirmed, it should be repaired [9, 10, 12].

(b) Posteromedial approach

Some authors advocate the use of a posteromedial portal [9, 12, 29]. Strobel advocates the use of a low posteromedial portal, placed at the level of the joint space, which provides relatively tangential access to the posterior horn and ramp area of the medial meniscus. This is the portal placement of choice for all-inside repairs [12]. A posteromedial portal is established under direct visualisation using a localising 18-gauge needle. Once the localising needle is in optimal position, a superficial incision is made through the skin only to decrease the risk of injury to the saphenous nerve and vein, and the portal is completed with the use of a straight artery forceps to penetrate the joint capsule and expand the portal. The established posteromedial portal can be used for both visualisation and as a working portal. The probe is first introduced through the posteromedial portal to manipulate the posterior horn of the meniscus. The arthroscope can then be inserted to view the posterior horn, with probing through the anterior portals [29]. It is also possible to create two posteromedial portals, one superiorly and one inferiorly, with an adequate skin bridge, to visualise and work exclusively posteromedially.

Sonnery-Cottet et al. [2] propose a four-step systematic arthroscopic exploration to ensure ramp lesions are not missed: (1) standard arthroscopic exploration via anterolateral portal and probing of the meniscal tissue, (2) exploration of the posteromedial compartment by introducing the arthroscope through the anterolateral portal and advancing it deeply into the notch and under the PCL, (3) creating a posteromedial portal and probing the posterior horn of the medial meniscus and (4) medial meniscal repair. In their study they found 42 % of ramp lesions at step 3. In true *hidden lesions*, the tears were not revealed until the area was evaluated with an arthroscopic
probe, and superficial soft tissue was minimally debrided with a motorised shaver [2].

6.8 If I See a Ramp Lesion, How Should I Treat It?

No clear consensus exists on the appropriate management of ramp lesions [10]. Despite being in the red-red zone, an area with a rich vascular supply, questions have been raised on whether ramp lesions can heal without repair. Ahn et al. [32] showed that during knee flexion and extension, the hypermobility of the detached meniscocapsular structure disturbs the ramp area, preventing spontaneous healing. The rates of poor healing for medial meniscus remains high when nonoperative treatment is used, even though nonoperative treatment is reportedly more effective for lateral meniscus tears [33–35].

Studies have consistently demonstrated the improved healing capacity of the meniscus when associated with a concomitant ACL reconstruction, and conversely, multiple authors have demonstrated an increased failure rate of meniscal repairs in ACL-deficient knees [36].

When surgical repair is the treatment of choice, the anatomic location of a meniscal ramp lesion creates a surgical challenge. The posteromedial portal places the saphenous neurovascular bundle at risk [37]. Techniques that allow for direct visualisation of the posterior capsule to avoid iatrogenic injury to the saphenous nerve are recommended. While outside-in repairs can be useful for repairs of the anterior and middle thirds of the meniscus, this technique should be undertaken with caution in the setting of repair of the posterior horn of the medial meniscus [37, 38].

All-inside techniques and inside-out techniques have been shown to have success in treating ramp lesions [31]. The meniscus should be prepared for repair. The lesion is debrided with a meniscal rasp, and the edges of the tear trimmed with a shaver [31].

The major advantages of the inside-out meniscal repair technique are its versatility, ease of use, relatively short learning curve and reliability. Excellent healing rates have been widely reported in the literature [36, 39].

(a) Inside-out technique

For an inside-out repair, a posteromedial approach is required. With the knee in flexion, an oblique vertical incision is made at the posteromedial border of the tibia just below the joint line [2]. The sartorius fascia is incised as proximal as possible while preserving the pes anserine tendons. An anatomic triangle is formed by the posteromedial joint capsule anteriorly, the medial gastrocnemius posteriorly and the direct arm of the semimembranosus inferiorly [40]. A retractor is placed in this interval to protect the posterior neurovascular structures during the repair procedure [40]. Zone-specific cannulas are used to place sutures into the medial meniscus from the anterolateral portal. Single or double lumen cannulas can be used depending on the surgeon's preference [39]. Ten-inch flexible needles with preloaded non-absorbable or absorbable sutures are typically used. While applying a valgus force to the joint, the cannula is directed towards the tear. The tip of the needle is passed just beyond the end of the cannula to visualise its precise entry into the meniscus. The tear should be anatomically reduced, and the needle is passed through the meniscus. The second needle is then passed adjacent to the first in a horizontal, vertical or oblique mattress. The assistant retrieves the needles through the posteromedial incision, and the needles are cut from the sutures and clamped with a hemostat. The process is repeated every 3–5 mm. The sutures are tied with the knee at 90°, being careful not to overtighten the posteromedial structures [10, 39-41]. Inside-out repair offers a success rate of 60-80 % for isolated meniscal repairs and 85-90 % when performed at the time of ACL reconstruction [39].

(b) All-inside technique

All-inside meniscal repairs are performed entirely through arthroscopic portals. This technique avoids the need for accessory incisions and decreases the risk of neurovascular injury. Various meniscal repair devices are available. They may be rigid or self-adjusting suture-based implants [38].

- (i) Suture hook: Morgan [42] described an allinside suturing technique, which although technically demanding allows for placement of vertically oriented sutures [43]. The tear is repaired using a curved suture hook angled approximately 90° at the tip (angled to the right for the left knee, to the left for the right knee). The arthroscope is placed from the anterolateral portal into the posteromedial compartment through the intercondylar notch. A posteromedial portal is made and the tear is debrided to enhance healing [44]. The suture hook is passed through the meniscal peripheral rim tissue (meniscocapsular tissue first) from superior to inferior and then through the mobile central meniscal fragment from inferior to superior. This allows the sagging posterior tissues to be lifted to the level of the meniscal posterior horn [12]. It is postulated that this lifting manoeuvre is essential and cannot be replicated with the standard anterior-to-posterior all-inside technique [12, 29, 32]. A probe can be used to keep the central meniscal fragment in place [45]. The suture hook is advanced and rotated until the tip of the hook appears on the upper meniscal surface. The suture is advanced and retrieved with an arthroscopic grasper [12]. The suture is tied with an arthroscopic knot pusher. Sutures are placed every 5 mm along the length of the tear [2].
- (ii) Meniscal suture anchor: Proprietary meniscal suture devices can also be used for ramp lesion repair the following description uses a FasT-Fix device (Smith & Nephew, Andover, MA, USA). With the arthroscope in the anterolateral portal, the device is advanced to the ramp lesion through the anteromedial portal. Using the intercondylar approach to gain direct vision of the posteromedial compartment, the first implant is inserted under the meniscus and obliquely into the joint capsule. The second implant is inserted into the peripheral edge of the meniscus. The pre-tied self-sliding knot is tensioned to achieve secure fixation. The

curve of the FasT-Fix may be increased to allow for easier access below the meniscus and to avoid damage to the chondral surface of the femoral condyle. The knee may be flexed or extended while applying a valgus force to bring the capsular synovium as far as possible to the attachment. The anchors are inserted every 3–5 mm along the tear [30]. This technique does not use an accessory posteromedial portal, and one can postulate this may result in decreased accuracy of blind passage (Fig. 6.4).

Rates of structural healing and complications are comparable for inside-out and all-inside repair techniques. Complications are associated with both techniques. More nerve symptoms are associated with the inside-out repair, and more implant-related complications are associated with the all-inside technique [31, 32, 36].

All-inside repair using meniscal suture anchors has increased in popularity because of its easy application. Biomechanically, the horizontal sutures of these devices have inferior strength compared with vertical mattress sutures. Also, meniscal fixators cannot provide sufficient fixation strength at the repair site in the case of ramp lesions [44].

6.9 How Do I Rehabilitate Ramp Lesion Repairs?

Post-operative rehabilitation programmes following meniscus repairs are highly variable, and currently there is no general consensus [2, 9, 10,30, 38]. There are a number of variables to consider including the range of motion and weightbearing status. Most surgeons agree that early knee motion is beneficial. Prolonged immobilisation can lead to stiffness, atrophy and decreased collagen content and impaired healing of the meniscus repair site [38]. However, maximal knee flexion is associated with considerable anterior tibial translation and can increase the stresses within the posterior horn of the meniscus, especially with weight bearing. Weight bearing can help reduce and stabilise longitudinal meniscus tears. Therefore, weight bearing in full extension



Fig. 6.4 (**a**–**d**) Arthroscopic view of posteromedial compartment of the left knee viewed through the intercondylar notch with a 70° arthroscope; (**a**) *red arrow* demonstrates the ramp lesion tear; (**b**) *yellow arrow* shows a curved suture hook used for an all-inside repair technique; (**c**) *white arrow* demonstrates a suture in situ with an

theoretically poses less risk to ramp lesion repairs and may aid healing [38].

At present there is no clinical evidence that there is any need to slow or modify the ACL rehabilitation protocol when there is an associated meniscal repair.

Rehabilitation after a ramp lesion repair should follow usual protocols for ACL reconstruction when performed in combination or a meniscal repair when done in isolation [5].

arthroscopic knot; (d) the completed repair with approximation of the posteromedial capsule to the meniscus (These photographs are courtesy of Professor Joon Wang, Samsung Medical Centre, Sungkyunkwan University Medical School, Seoul, Korea)

6.10 What Do I Tell My Patients About the Outcome of Ramp Lesion Repairs?

It is still unknown at present what the natural history of a ramp lesion is and whether it will heal spontaneously once the knee has been stabilised by an ACL reconstruction or whether suture repair is mandatory to prevent it from extending to a larger tear [9]. There are no reported outcomes studies for nonsurgical management of ramp tears. There are only a small number of outcome studies for the diagnosis and management of ramp lesions in the literature [10]. Repair of the peripheral meniscus in conjunction with ACL reconstruction has been reported to produce favourable meniscal healing; therefore, the ramp area has high healing capacity. A systematic review by Grant et al. [36] in 2012 looked at inside-out versus allinside meniscal repair in isolated, peripheral longitudinal unstable meniscal tears. They found no clear benefit of one technique over the other with regard to structural healing or perioperative complications.

The integrity of the ACL is a critical factor that affects the overall success of a meniscal repair. Studies have consistently demonstrated the improved healing capacity of the meniscus when associated with a concomitant ACL reconstruction [36, 38]. It is hypothesised this is related to the biological augmentation of the repair from factors in the bone marrow released within the joint [46]. Conversely, multiple authors have demonstrated an increased failure rate of meniscal repairs in ACL-deficient knees [47].

Take-Home Message

Ramp lesions are longitudinal tears at the meniscocapsular junction of the posterior horn of the medial meniscus. They are commonly associated with the ACLdeficient knee, both in the acute and chronic setting, with their incidence increasing in time from injury. Ramp lesions are difficult to diagnose preoperatively, and one must have a high index of suspicion in the setting of a chronic ACL tear. The key to diagnosing ramp lesions is to thoroughly evaluate the medial meniscus during arthroscopy, particularly the posteromedial aspect. This can be achieved through intercondylar access or via a posteromedial portal. Ramp lesions may be hidden under a superficial layer of tissue, and so probing with a needle or debridement with a shaver may reveal the tear. Once diagnosed, meniscal ramp lesions should be repaired to reinstate the biomechanical stabilising force of the medial meniscus. Options for repair include all-inside or inside-out techniques. Rehabilitation should follow standard protocols for isolated meniscal repair or ACL reconstruction.

Key Points	
Incidence	The presence of a ramp lesion must be considered in the setting of acute ACL rupture, and the index of suspicion should be high in a chronically ACL-deficient knee (>3 months) The prevalence of ramp lesions is significantly increased with time from injury The interval between ACL injury and surgery is an important predictor of secondary meniscal injury
Significance	Ramp lesions appear to play a significant role in knee stability given the posterior horn of the medial meniscus is a secondary restraint to anterior tibial translation and external rotation Diagnosis is important because missed lesions contribute to meniscal instability and subsequent failure of the meniscus Failure to recognise or treat a ramp lesion may lead to an increased risk of ACL graft failure

Diagnosis	Ramp lesions are difficult to diagnose preoperatively as there may be no specific findings on examination, and the sensitivity of MRI is low The posterior compartment of the knee must be inspected arthroscopically to accurately diagnose ramp lesions The posterior compartment of the knee may be examined by intercondylar access or additional posteromedial portal	
Management	Despite being in the vascular red-red zone, it is thought that ramp lesions may have low potential to heal spontaneously given the ramp area is likely to be disturbed during flexion and extension of the knee Therefore, repair of the meniscus should be performed Options for repair include inside-out and all-inside techniques Rates of structural healing and complications are comparable for inside- out and all-inside repair techniques. Complications are associated with both techniques. More nerve symptoms are associated with the inside-out repair, and more implant-related complications are associated with the all-inside technique	
Rehabilitation	Rehabilitation should follow standard guidelines for isolated meniscal repair or ACL reconstruction when performed in combination	

References

- Ahlden M, Samuelsson K, Sernert N, Forssblad M, Karlsson J, Kartus J. The Swedish National Anterior Cruciate Ligament Register: a report on baseline variables and outcomes of surgery for almost 18,000 patients. Am J Sports Med. 2012;40(10):2230–5.
- Sonnery-Cottet B, Conteduca J, Thaunat M, Gunepin FX, Seil R. Hidden lesions of the posterior horn of the medial meniscus: a systematic arthroscopic exploration of the concealed portion of the knee. Am J Sports Med. 2014;42(4):921–6.
- Keene GC, Bickerstaff D, Rae PJ, Paterson RS. The natural history of meniscal tears in anterior cruciate ligament insufficiency. Am J Sports Med. 1993;21(5):672–9.
- Borchers JR, Kaeding CC, Pedroza AD, Huston LJ, Spindler KP, Wright RW, et al. Intra-articular findings in primary and revision anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction surgery: a comparison of the MOON and MARS study groups. Am J Sports Med. 2011;39(9):1889–93.
- Bisson LJ, Kluczynski MA, Hagstrom LS, Marzo JM. A prospective study of the association between bone contusion and intra-articular injuries associated with acute anterior cruciate ligament tear. Am J Sports Med. 2013;41(8):1801–7.
- Smith 3rd JP, Barrett GR. Medial and lateral meniscal tear patterns in anterior cruciate ligament-deficient knees. A prospective analysis of 575 tears. Am J Sports Med. 2001;29(4):415–9.
- Noyes FR, Chen RC, Barber-Westin SD, Potter HG. Greater than 10-year results of red-white longitudinal meniscal repairs in patients 20 years of age or younger. Am J Sports Med. 2011;39(5):1008–17.
- Strobel MJ. Menisci. In: Fett HM, editor. Manual of arthroscopic surgery. New York: Springer; 1998. p. 171–8.
- Liu X, Feng H, Zhang H, Hong L, Wang XS, Zhang J. Arthroscopic prevalence of ramp lesion in 868 patients with anterior cruciate ligament injury. Am J Sports Med. 2011;39(4):832–7.
- Chahla J, Dean CS, Moatshe G, Mitchell JJ, Cram TR, Yacuzzi C, et al. Meniscal ramp lesions: anatomy, incidence, diagnosis, and treatment. Orthop J Sports Med. 2016;4(7):2325967116657815.
- Peltier A, Lording T, Maubisson L, Ballis R, Neyret P, Lustig S. The role of the meniscotibial ligament in posteromedial rotational knee stability. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 2015;23(10):2967–73.
- Strobel MJ. Manual of arthroscopic surgery. Berlin Heidelberg: Springer; 2002. p. 171–8.
- 13. Johannsen AM, Civitarese DM, Padalecki JR, Goldsmith MT, Wijdicks CA, LaPrade RF. Qualitative and quantitative anatomic analysis of the posterior root attachments of the medial and lateral menisci. Am J Sports Med. 2012;40(10):2342–7.

- Rath E, Richmond JC. The menisci: basic science and advances in treatment. Br J Sports Med. 2000;34(4):252–7.
- Englund M. Meniscal tear a feature of osteoarthritis. Acta Orthop Scand Suppl. 2004;75(312):1–45. backcover
- 16. Ahn JH, Bae TS, Kang KS, Kang SY, Lee SH. Longitudinal tear of the medial meniscus posterior horn in the anterior cruciate ligament-deficient knee significantly influences anterior stability. Am J Sports Med. 2011;39(10):2187–93.
- Allen CR, Wong EK, Livesay GA, Sakane M, Fu FH, Woo SL. Importance of the medial meniscus in the anterior cruciate ligament-deficient knee. J Orthop Res. 2000;18(1):109–15.
- Thompson WO, Fu FH. The meniscus in the cruciatedeficient knee. Clin Sports Med. 1993;12(4):771–96.
- Song GY, Liu X, Zhang H, Wang QQ, Zhang J, Li Y, et al. Increased medial meniscal slope is associated with greater risk of ramp lesion in noncontact anterior cruciate ligament injury. Am J Sports Med. 2016;44(8):2039–46.
- Hughston J. Functional anatomy. injury and repair: knee ligaments. St Louis: Mosby-Year Book; 1993. p. 50–66.
- Stephen JM, Halewood C, Kittl C, Bollen SR, Williams A, Amis AA. Posteromedial meniscocapsular lesions increase tibiofemoral joint laxity with anterior cruciate ligament deficiency, and their repair reduces laxity. Am J Sports Med. 2016;44(2):400–8.
- Bollen SR. Posteromedial meniscocapsular injury associated with rupture of the anterior cruciate ligament: a previously unrecognised association. J Bone Joint Surg Br. 2010;92(2):222–3.
- Papastergiou SG, Koukoulias NE, Mikalef P, Ziogas E, Voulgaropoulos H. Meniscal tears in the ACLdeficient knee: correlation between meniscal tears and the timing of ACL reconstruction. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 2007;15(12):1438–44.
- Papageorgiou CD, Gil JE, Kanamori A, Fenwick JA, Woo SL, Fu FH. The biomechanical interdependence between the anterior cruciate ligament replacement graft and the medial meniscus. Am J Sports Med. 2001;29(2):226–31.
- Oiestad BE, Engebretsen L, Storheim K, Risberg MA. Knee osteoarthritis after anterior cruciate ligament injury: a systematic review. Am J Sports Med. 2009;37(7):1434–43.
- Maak TG, Fabricant PD, Wickiewicz TL. Indications for meniscus repair. Clin Sports Med. 2012;31(1):1–14.
- 27. De Smet AA, Graf BK. Meniscal tears missed on MR imaging: relationship to meniscal tear patterns and anterior cruciate ligament tears. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 1994;162(4):905–11.

- Hash TW, 2nd. Magnetic resonance imaging of the knee. Sports Health 2013;5(1):78-107.
- Peltier A, Lording TD, Lustig S, Servien E, Maubisson L, Neyret P. Posteromedial meniscal tears may be missed during anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction. Arthroscopy. 2015;31(4):691–8.
- Li WP, Chen Z, Song B, Yang R, Tan W. The fast-fix repair technique for ramp lesion of the medial meniscus. Knee Surg Relat Res. 2015;27(1):56–60.
- 31. Thaunat M, Jan N, Fayard JM, Kajetanek C, Murphy CG, Pupim B, et al. Repair of meniscal ramp lesions through a posteromedial portal during anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction: outcome study with a minimum 2-year follow-up. Arthroscopy. 2016;37(4):776–85.
- Ahn JH, Wang JH, Yoo JC. Arthroscopic all-inside suture repair of medial meniscus lesion in anterior cruciate ligament – deficient knees: results of second-look arthroscopies in 39 cases. Arthroscopy. 2004;20(9):936–45.
- 33. Pujol N, Beaufils P. Healing results of meniscal tears left in situ during anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction: a review of clinical studies. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 2009;17(4):396–401.
- 34. Yagishita K, Muneta T, Ogiuchi T, Sekiya I, Shinomiya K. Healing potential of meniscal tears without repair in knees with anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction. Am J Sports Med. 2004;32(8):1953–61.
- 35. Ahn JH, Lee YS, Yoo JC, Chang MJ, Koh KH, Kim MH. Clinical and second-look arthroscopic evaluation of repaired medial meniscus in anterior cruciate ligament-reconstructed knees. Am J Sports Med. 2010;38(3):472–7.
- 36. Grant JA, Wilde J, Miller BS, Bedi A. Comparison of inside-out and all-inside techniques for the repair of isolated meniscal tears: a systematic review. Am J Sports Med. 2012;40(2):459–68.
- Rodeo SA. Arthroscopic meniscal repair with use of the outside-in technique. Instr Course Lect. 2000;49:195–206.
- Bava ED, Barber FA. Meniscal repair with the newest fixators: which are best? Clin Sports Med. 2012;31(1):49–63.
- Nelson CG, Bonner KF. Inside-out meniscus repair. Arthrosc Tech. 2013;2(4):e453–60.
- Chahla J, Serra Cruz R, Cram TR, Dean CS, LaPrade RF. Inside-out meniscal repair: medial and lateral approach. Arthrosc Tech. 2016;5(1):e163–8.
- Johnson D, Weiss WM. Meniscal repair using the inside-out suture technique. Clin Sports Med. 2012;31(1):15–31.
- 42. Morgan CD. The "all-inside" meniscus repair. Arthroscopy. 1991;7(1):120–5.
- Rimmer MG, Nawana NS, Keene GC, Pearcy MJ. Failure strengths of different meniscal suturing techniques. Arthroscopy. 1995;11(2):146–50.

- 44. Choi NH, Kim TH, Victoroff BN. Comparison of arthroscopic medial meniscal suture repair techniques: inside-out versus all-inside repair. Am J Sports Med. 2009;37(11):2144–50.
- 45. Ahn JH, Kim SH, Yoo JC, Wang JH. All-inside suture technique using two posteromedial portals in a medial meniscus posterior horn tear. Arthroscopy. 2004;20(1):101–8.
- 46. Hutchinson ID, Moran CJ, Potter HG, Warren RF, Rodeo SA. Restoration of the meniscus: form and function. Am J Sports Med. 2014;42(4):987–98.
- 47. Duchman KR, Westermann RW, Spindler KP, Reinke EK, Huston LJ, Amendola A, et al. The fate of meniscus tears left in situ at the time of anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction: a 6-year follow-up study from the MOON cohort. Am J Sports Med. 2015;43(11):2688–95.

Peripheral Meniscal Tears: How to Diagnose and Repair

Jorge Chahla, Bradley M. Kruckeberg, Gilbert Moatshe, and Robert F. LaPrade

Contents

7.1	Introduction	77		
7.2 7.2.1	Diagnosis Physical Examination	79 79		
7.3 7.3.1 7.3.2 7.3.3 7.3.4	Imaging Standard Radiographs Ultrasound Magnetic Resonance Imaging CT Arthrography	81 81 82 82 82		
7.4 7.4.1 7.4.2 7.4.3	Surgical Techniques Inside-Out Repair Outside-In Repair All-Inside Technique	83 83 85 85		
7.5	Outcomes	86		
7.6	Rehabilitation	87		
Conclusion				
Refere	ences	88		

J. Chahla, MD (⊠) Steadman Philippon Research Institute, The Steadman Clinic, Vail, CO, USA e-mail: jachahla@msn.com

B.M. Kruckeberg • G. Moatshe Steadman Philippon Research Institute, Vail, CO, USA

R.F. LaPrade The Steadman Clinic, 181 West Meadow Drive, Suite 400, Vail, CO 81657, USA e-mail: drlaprade@sprivail.org

7.1 Introduction

Peripheral meniscal tears are located in the most vascular portion of the menisci and comprise 39–72 % [2, 3, 56, 69, 82] of all meniscal tears. The younger population, particularly males with knee instability, is most commonly affected by this type of tear [56]. The vascularity of the peripheral menisci is primarily derived from the superior and inferior medial and lateral geniculate arteries [7]. A synovial fringe that extends approximately 3 mm over the surface of each meniscus adds further to the peripheral vascularity. This intricate blood supply results in the outer rim of the meniscus being vascularized up to 30 % of its width on the medial side and 25 % on the lateral side [7]. There is discrepancy in the vascularity of the menisci, with the peripheral parts being more vascular than the central zones. The vascularity of the menisci has also been shown to decrease and become more peripheral with age [59]. Thus, the healing potential of the meniscus depends on the location of the lesion and the age of the patient [7, 41, 44]. Because of the high vascularity, peripheral meniscal tears (red-red and part of the red-white zone) have the greatest potential for healing [44] (Fig. 7.1).

Due to their anatomic position and attachments, the menisci are vulnerable to injury when particular forces are placed on the knee joint, with specific maneuvers placing certain meniscal areas at highest risk for injury. In this regard,



Fig. 7.1 Schematic diagram of a left knee (disarticulated from the femur) demonstrating the location of the peripheral zones of both menisci (demarcated in *red*)

when the knee is in flexion and the tibia in internal rotation, the posterior horn of the medial meniscus is stretched and pulled anteriorly [70]. This action may lead to a peripheral tear near its posterior attachment via the coronary ligaments [21], which is one of the most common locations for meniscal tears [47, 69, 79]. These tears, known as ramp lesions (Fig. 7.2), often occur in conjunction with ACL tears [13, 44, 79] and are commonly under-recognized when using standard anterolateral and anteromedial arthroscopic portals due to their location within the posteromedial "blind spot" [75]. Ramp lesions have been reported to be present in 9-17 % of all ACL tears [10, 53]. Conversely, the anterior horn of the medial meniscus is less commonly injured and, therefore, not well described in the literature. Chen et al. [15] demonstrated in porcine knees that the anterior horn of the medial meniscus restrains external rotational torque of the tibia. Thus, providing a possible mechanism of injury for humans in which the knee is in full extension and external rotational torque is placed on the tibia [15].

Peripheral tears, in general, are believed to partially preserve the load distribution function of the meniscus, whereas other tears, such as radial tears or more central, complex tears, do not preserve the load distribution function due to

Fig. 7.2 Schematic diagram of a left knee (disarticulated from the femur) demonstrating the location of a ramp lesion in the posteromedial meniscocapsular junction of the medial meniscus. As per definition, ramp lesions are located in the meniscocapsular region and are less than 2.5 cm in length

the disruption of the large circumferential fiber bundles [31, 55]. However, it has been reported that peripheral tears with meniscal rim involvement have a significant association with the development of radiographic osteoarthritis (OA) [63], likely resulting from altered biomechanics. The role of the meniscus as a secondary stabilizer of the knee joint should not be overlooked. The posterior horn has demonstrated importance in anterior tibial translation [9, 67]. In the setting of ACL deficiency, peripheral meniscal tears have been reported to drastically alter knee biomechanics, similar to that of a total meniscectomy [1]. Allen et al. [5] reported that a resultant force in the medial meniscus of an ACL-deficient knee increased by over 50 % in full extension and nearly 200 % at 60° of flexion. In contrast, in a knee with otherwise intact ligamentous structures, Goyal et al. [37] reported that there was no alteration in tibiofemoral kinematics or joint contact pressures when simulating a peripheral lateral meniscal tear. Additionally, a recent cadaveric study demonstrated that anterior tibial translation and external rotation laxities were significantly increased after inducing a ramp lesion in an ACL-deficient knee [74]. Therefore,



the menisci play an important role of the biomechanics of the knee joint, particularly in the setting of ACL-deficient knees when additional force and stress is placed on the menisci. This increase in mechanical force likely leads to meniscal tears following ACL injury with delayed or inadequate repair. When taking into account the various biomechanical properties and roles of the menisci, it is clear that injury to the menisci can have detrimental effects on the knee joint. By reaching an appropriate, timely diagnosis with subsequent repair, surgeons can minimize future complications such as increased graft forces or OA [20, 56].

The diagnosis of peripheral meniscal tears often includes a detailed history, physical examination, and diagnostic imaging. Despite these diagnostic techniques, a peripheral meniscal injury can be misdiagnosed. Once identified, a surgeon must consider the characteristics of the tear, such as the location, size, appearance, chronicity, and presence of secondary tears, prior to intervention [44]. Furthermore, patient factors such as age, activity level, compliance, and concomitant ACL injury must be taken into account as well [44] due to their influence on patient outcomes.

Better comprehension of the function (shock absorption, stability, force transmission) and vascularity of the menisci, as well as the knowledge of degenerative articular changes after meniscectomy, has led to the development of numerous surgical meniscal repair procedures used to preserve the meniscus. Described surgical techniques include open, outside-in, insideout, and all-inside, in addition to nonoperative treatment in certain circumstances [4, 11, 14, 28]. Outcomes with these techniques have been favorable overall [3, 4, 20, 24, 28, 38, 40, 43, 46, 58, 69], with arthroscopic techniques becoming the mainstay for surgical intervention. Improved outcomes are often associated with the type of tear, location, knee stability, surgery less than 8 weeks from injury, and age [2, 4, 24].

The following chapter includes diagnostic techniques and imaging studies used in the diagnosis of peripheral meniscal tears, followed by in-depth descriptions of surgical techniques, patient outcomes, and postoperative rehabilitation.

7.2 Diagnosis

Meniscal tears can be challenging to diagnose at times, even for an experienced surgeon, but an effective history and physical examination can direct the working diagnosis toward a meniscus problem. In this chapter, we will not cover history taking in the setting of suspected meniscal pathology but focus on physical examination maneuvers and diagnostic imaging involved in the diagnosis of peripheral meniscal tears. After a pertinent patient history is obtained, physical examination follows and is one of the major contributors to reach a diagnosis of a meniscal tear. When interpreting the findings from the various tests and examinations, it is important to understand the sensitivity, specificity, and limitations of each examination. As previously stated, a timely diagnosis of peripheral meniscal tears is important in limiting degenerative changes in the cartilage and the menisci that results from the changed joint loading and biomechanics.

7.2.1 Physical Examination

Many clinical tests have been described to assist in diagnosing meniscal tears, including joint line palpation, McMurray and Apley tests, as well as the figure-4 test [6, 25, 26, 33, 44, 48–50, 56, 60, 70, 85]. Tibiofemoral joint line palpation is among the most basic diagnostic physical exam test for meniscal pathology. During this exam, manipulation of the knee joint allows for the palpation of specific meniscal regions. For example, flexion of the knee allows for the palpation of the anterior half of each meniscus, valgus force on knee joint exposes the medial edge of the medial meniscus, and varus force on the knee enhances palpation of the lateral meniscus (Fig. 7.3) [54]. The literature reports the sensitivity and specificity of joint line tenderness to be 55-85 % and 29.4–67 %, respectively [6, 33, 49, 85].



Fig. 7.3 Image demonstrating joint line tenderness test on a (a) lateral meniscus of a left knee while extruding the meniscus with a varus force and (b) medial meniscus of a right knee while extruding the meniscus with a valgus force

Additionally, joint line tenderness has potential discrepancies with laterality, showing increased sensitivity, specificity, and accuracy in lateral pathology compared to the medial side [25, 48, 60]. Positive predictive value (PPV) and negative predictive value (NPV) for the medial meniscus are reported to be 59 % and 90 %, respectively. Alternatively, the lateral side displayed a PPV of 92 % and NPV of 97 % [25]. Thus, the absence of joint line tenderness is suggestive of an intact, healthy meniscus, while joint line tenderness is by no means pathognomonic of meniscal injury.

Tests that assess meniscal integrity, such as the McMurray and Apley grind tests, may not be conclusive but can aid in diagnosis [44, 56, 70]. The McMurray test, first described in 1940 [26], is widely known as a primary clinical exam to evaluate for meniscal tears. A positive sign is indicated by a "popping" and sensation of pain symptoms along the joint line [70]. This test is examiner dependent, with the success and failure often being driven by the clinician. The sensitivity of the McMurray test ranges from 16 to 75.8 % [6, 26, 33, 49, 85] and a specificity of 77–98 % [26, 33, 49, 85]. In the clinical setting, a negative McMurray testing should be interpreted with caution given the wide range of reported sensitivity. In contrast, its utility in diagnosis of a meniscal tear is maximized with a positive test. The Apley grind test has reported sensitivity and specificity of 13-16 % and 80-90 % [33, 49], respectively, with an accuracy of 28 % [49]. The Apley test requires the patient to be in the prone position, which may be difficult in patients with limited mobility. A positive test produces increased pain on compression. With reported PPV of 95 % and NPV of 35 % [85], a positive result indicates a likely meniscal tear whereas the absence of pain during the maneuver does not necessarily eliminate meniscal pathology.

The figure-4 test, first described in 2005, places the affected knee in flexion, varus, and external rotation [50]. This maneuver produces tension on the posterolateral structures of the knee, as the popliteus complex and popliteomeniscal fascicles prevent medial displacement of the lateral meniscus [45, 68, 72, 77]. When this test is performed on a patient with an injury to the popliteomeniscal fascicles, the lateral meniscus can displace medially into the joint causing increased pain along the joint line [72, 77]. The figure-4 test was first used by LaPrade and Kowalchuk in a case series with six patients who had isolated unstable tears of the popliteomeniscal fascicles of the lateral meniscus. All patients were noted to have lateral joint line pain that was exacerbated by the figure-4 test, despite the absence of locking, catching, or difficulty squatting [50]. Therefore, this test of the knee is likely to be clinically useful in the setting of unstable popliteomeniscal fascicle tears, with the need for additional evidence in a larger cohort.

In addition to physical exam maneuvers aimed at diagnosing meniscal tears, the collateral and cruciate ligaments should also be assessed to determine the presence of an additional injury. This is particularly important in the setting of ACL injury or deficiency, because a peripheral meniscal tear increases knee joint instability in a similar fashion to a total meniscectomy [1], and failure rates of meniscal repair dramatically increase with residual knee laxity [4, 23, 65]. Thus, knee laxity and meniscal tears should be addressed concurrently. These maneuvers will not be covered in this chapter but should be included for a thorough exam of the knee.

As noted before, when all physical exam maneuvers and observations are used in combination, the resulting diagnosis is more accurate than any test alone. Tenderness to palpation along the joint line is among the most common signs of meniscal tear, but joint effusion, crepitus, quadriceps atrophy, or lack of full knee range of motion (i.e., loss of extension more than 5°) may also be noted on examination [44, 56]. In studies using multiple clinical exam tests (joint line tenderness, McMurray, Steinmann, and modified Apley) for the diagnosis of meniscal tears, clinical diagnosis from an experienced surgeon was similar to that of a diagnosis obtained via MRI [48, 60]. Within these studies, lateral meniscal tear diagnostic specificity and sensitivity of clinical examination ranged from 90 to 95% and 67 to 75%, respectively. Alternatively, medial meniscal tear specificity was 60-68 % and sensitivity was 87-92 % [48, 60]. Moreover, when using five separate criteria on physical examination-crepitus, effuline tenderness, sion, joint **McMurray** examination, and loss of motion-91 % of medial or lateral and 96 % of combined medial and lateral tears were associated with one or more of the five criteria [56]. When comparing these results from previously stated individual sensitivities and specificities for each examination, it is clear that multiple physical examination tests have increased diagnostic value than any individual test. Thus, physical examination maneuvers cannot and should not be used individually to accurately diagnose meniscal pathology, but in combination with one another [48, 60, 70]. This notion must be understood and applied within clinical practice in order to appropriately diagnose and subsequently manage peripheral meniscal tears.

7.3 Imaging

Imaging is an important part of the diagnostic work-up. Preoperative imaging is necessary to help the treating surgeon verify/confirm the diagnosis, evaluate the type of meniscal injury, and diagnose concomitant injuries in order to inform the patient and develop a treatment plan. Several imaging modalities exist, but MRI is the most sensitive and regarded as the gold standard for imaging the knee soft tissues including the meniscus. Even though diagnostic arthroscopy can provide both the diagnosis and opportunity to treat meniscal lesions, it is not considered the first option because of its invasiveness, costs, and risk associated with surgery. The different imaging modalities will be discussed below.

7.3.1 Standard Radiographs

Menisci and noncalcified soft tissue are not normally visualized on standard radiographs, limiting the value of this imaging modality in the setting of meniscal damage. Plain standard radiographs are most valuable when assessing for differential diagnoses such as in cases of recent trauma and for the evaluation of elderly patients (>50 years) where the risk of concomitant osteoarthritis is high. This is particularly important when evaluating menisci pathology, because degenerative menisci are associated with osteoarthritis and, therefore, the indication for repairs of meniscal tears in older patients depends on the amount of underlying arthritis and their physiologic age. When osteoarthritis is suspected, standing AP, lateral, and flexion view radiographs should be taken to evaluate the joint space. Loose bodies and signs of osteochondral lesions can be visualized on standard radiographs, which can be signs of chronic meniscal lesions which led to the development of osteoarthritis. Furthermore, a relative widening of the lateral joint space can be a sign of discoid meniscus. Finally, chondrocalcinosis can be usually detected in patients with calcium pyrophosphate dihydrate (CPPD) crystal deposition disease [73]. Fisseler-Eckhoff and Muller [30] reported on 3228 patients undergoing knee arthroscopy, where a radiographic diagnosis of chondrocalcinosis was confirmed in 39.2 % of patients with pathologically proved CPPD crystal deposition. The authors concluded that chondrocalcinosis is an important factor in posttraumatic or degenerative meniscal pathology.

7.3.2 Ultrasound

Ultrasound is not routinely used for the diagnosis of meniscal lesions because it lacks adequate visualization of deeper structures and requires an experienced, well-trained operator. Although the reliability of ultrasound in the diagnosis of meniscal pathology varies in the literature [12, 18, 35], ultrasound can be a valuable tool for visualizing meniscal cysts and joint effusion, as well as tendon and collateral ligament injuries. Dynamic ultrasound has a reported sensitivity of 82 % for the detection of meniscal degeneration based on certain criteria such as cystic lesions, calcifications, and meniscal irregularities [17]. Using ultrasound for detecting meniscal cysts has a reported sensitivity of 97 %, a specificity of 86 %, and an accuracy of 94 % [62].

7.3.3 Magnetic Resonance Imaging

Magnetic resonance imaging is the "gold standard" for evaluating meniscal lesions. It is less invasive when compared to arthroscopy and, thus, can be used on the majority of patients. The quality of the MRI has improved significantly and has eliminated the use of diagnostic arthroscopies in meniscal lesion diagnoses. The advantages of utilizing MRI are the ability to see in different planes, high resolution, and ability to evaluate using different sequences (T1, T2, diffusion, STIR) depending on the structure of interest. Both the location and extent of the meniscal injury, as well as associated chondral and ligament lesions, can be evaluated on MRI. Meniscal root lesions, which can otherwise be difficult to diagnose, can be effectively diagnosed on MRI [52]. MRI has a sensitivity of 86–96 % and a specificity of 84–94 % for medial meniscal lesions. The sensitivity for lateral meniscal lesions is lower compared to that for medial meniscal lesions. The sensitivity is 68–86 % and the specificity is 92–98 % [19, 57, 64]. The variability of reported specificity and sensitivity can largely be explained by interobserver variations, low study populations, and the quality of the images.

There remain few limitations to the use of MRI, such as obese patients and patients with orthopedic metal implants. The use of non-ferromagnetic metals, such as titanium, minimizes artifacts on MRI [76] (Fig. 7.4).

7.3.4 CT Arthrography

CT arthrography can be valuable in patients who are unable to obtain an MRI because of weight, battery-powered cardiac or other implants, or claustrophobia. High-quality multi-planar reconstructions can be acquired for better visualization. Contrast enhancement can aid in detecting some of the lesions that may not be visible on MRI, such as lesions between the meniscus and the capsule. A sensitivity of 84–100 % is reported for CT arthrography in detecting meniscal and



Fig. 7.4 Magnetic resonance image (T2 sequence) demonstrating a complex peripheral tear of a medial meniscus in a right knee

cartilage lesion [16]. It is a relatively safe procedure. However, ionizing radiation exposure and the risk of adverse reaction from the contrast are a concern.

Based on what is known about these imaging modalities, it can be concluded that MRI is the imaging modality of choice for evaluating meniscal lesions. Tear morphology, extent of tear, and concomitant pathologies can be evaluated on MRI. For patients who cannot take MRI because of claustrophobia or weight problems, CT arthrography is a good alternative with good sensitivities reported for meniscal and cartilage lesions while taking into account radiation and contrast exposure.

7.4 Surgical Techniques

Meniscal repair techniques can be divided into inside-out, outside-in, and all-inside technique [36]. Among these, the inside-out technique allows for versatility of placing sutures, lower implant cost, and the use of low-profile needles that allow for multiple sutures without compromising the structural integrity of the meniscus [38]. Disadvantages of this technique include additional incisions (posteromedial and posterolateral), the risk for neurovascular injury, the need for an assistant, and theoretical increased procedure time [14]. The outside-in repair technique was described in an attempt to eliminate the need for a posterior incision and dissection. An outside-in repair technique allows for adequate access to the anterior horn of the meniscus, provides a stable fixation construct, and avoids leaving prominent intra-articular material. However, it has a limited access to tears in the posterior third of both menisci and has lower precision when compared to the inside-out technique. Lastly, the all-inside technique can be performed without additional approaches, allows access to the middle and posterior thirds, and does not require an assistant. Nonetheless, the larger sizes of the allinside implants when compared to inside-out sutures can compromise the meniscal tissue when trying to place multiple sutures due to the larger holes these devices make in the meniscal tissue. All-inside devices are not exempt from intra-articular deployment of the device and neurovascular damage. A recent systematic review [38] analyzing 19 studies comparing inside-out and all-inside meniscal repair techniques showed no differences in clinical failure rate (17 % vs. 19 %) or subjective outcome. Complications are associated with both techniques. Nerve symptoms are more commonly associated with the inside-out repair, while implant-related complications (soft tissue irritation, swelling, implant migration, or breakage) are more common with the all-inside technique. Stärke et al. [71] reported that regardless of the repair technique employed, there is a general trend of increasing failure rates with time (75-94 % of success in the first year of surgery to 59-76 % beyond the fourth year). Of note, criteria for success and failure were heterogeneous among studies.

7.4.1 Inside-Out Repair

The posteromedial and posterolateral approaches will be described in detail in Chap. 10 (step-bystep surgical approaches for meniscal repairs). Before performing a peripheral meniscal repair, a complete evaluation of the lesion should be performed including size, stability, state of the meniscus, type, and zone of the lesion. Typically, lesions between 1 and 4 cm, located peripherally, have been reported to yield good results; however, every meniscal repair should be attempted. The tear should be anatomically reduced by placing sutures perpendicularly to the lesion to restore its position (Fig. 7.5).

For an inside-out repair, a self-delivery gun fitted with a cannula (SharpShooter) is used to pass double-loaded nonabsorbable sutures (No. 2 FiberWire) into the meniscus. Prior to placing the sutures, the knee is positioned in 20° - 30° of flexion, and the meniscal needle is advanced through the superior or inferior aspect of the meniscus. Then the corresponding portion of the capsule (superior or inferior) is penetrated with the second needle of the suture (Fig. 7.6).

In order to help the assistant, retrieve the needle through the previously made posterolateral or posteromedial approach the knee can be flexed to 70° –90,° while the needle is advanced through the meniscus or capsule. The needles are cut from the sutures, and the suture ends are clamped while maintaining slight tension. The same process is repeated adjacent to the previous suture, with sutures in the superior and inferior borders of the meniscus placed between 3

and 5 mm apart. An average of eight sutures are used in order to create a strong construct. When possible, a vertical suture pattern is preferred because it allows for greater capture of the strong circumferential fibers of the meniscus; however, oblique and horizontal patterns can also be used if necessary to reduce the meniscal tear. Lastly, with the knee at 90° of flexion, all sutures are tied, being careful not to overtighten the tissue (Fig. 7.7).



Fig. 7.5 Arthroscopic image of a peripheral tear in a right knee of a medial meniscus assessed with the probe viewed through the anteromedial portal



Fig. 7.7 Arthroscopic image showing medial meniscal repair after passing the sutures with an inside-out repair technique. A peripheral tear and the superior sutures (*black arrows*) are shown through the anteromedial portal. The sutures are then tied to stabilize the repair construct



Fig. 7.6 Arthroscopic image (*left*) of a medial meniscal tear being repaired with an inside-out technique (viewed through the anteromedial portal). Of note, one suture is penetrating the superior border of the capsule and the

other the corresponding side of the meniscus. On the *right*, an intraoperative image demonstrating the setup for this technique

7.4.2 Outside-In Repair

Following a standard diagnostic arthroscopy, the scope is placed through the contralateral portal in the compartment of the involved meniscus to visualize the extent of the tear. Initially, no skin approach is needed for this procedure. The surgeon uses a spinal needle from an outside-in repair kit to pierce the overlying capsule. Transillumination of the skin can sometimes be useful to locate the tear and joint line when introducing the needle. The spinal needle is then advanced through the superior or inferior side of the meniscus traversing the area of the tear. The inner cannula of the needle is removed, and a #1 PDS suture is placed through the needle into the joint. An arthroscopic grasper is used to secure the free end of the suture, while the needle is subsequently removed, leaving the suture in the joint. A second pass is made with the spinal needle through the corresponding side of the capsule in a similar manner as before. The inner cannula

is again removed, and a looped suture retriever is passed through the second needle into the joint. The free end of the previously passed PDS suture is then placed through the looped retriever using a grasper, and the suture is pulled back out of the knee creating a mattress suture construct to secure the meniscal tear. Depending on the nature of the tear and surgeon preference, either a horizontal or vertical mattress suture configuration can be utilized. Once the outside-in repair is complete, a minimal incision can be made with the knee flexed to 90° where the exit of the suture is to be able to tie them in the surface of the capsule (Fig. 7.8).

7.4.3 All-Inside Technique

Once the meniscal tear has been carefully assessed, the penetrating points of the meniscus are decided strategically. The meniscal depth probe is utilized at this point to determine the



Fig. 7.8 Arthroscopic view of an anterior horn of a medial meniscus demonstrating PDS sutures penetrating the capsule and the meniscus in a horizontal mattress configuration to repair the tear

desired depth limit of the meniscus. The tip of the probe should be placed at the meniscosynovial junction and used to measure the width of the meniscus at the desired entry point for the delivery needle. Usually a depth of 14 mm is adequate. Next, the depth penetration limiter is adjusted to the desired length. After preparation and debridement of the stumps, the all-inside device is inserted into the joint through the corresponding portal. It is important to dilate the portal to allow for easier passage of the delivery needle into the joint. Lateral meniscal tears can be approached using the anterolateral portal as a viewing portal and the anteromedial portal for the delivery needle and vice versa for medial meniscal tears. An arthroscopic rasp should be used in the meniscal tear area to stimulate healing before the sutures are placed. When attempting a vertical mattress suture repair, place the first implant on the superior side of the meniscal tear. Once the needle has been inserted, the tip should be rotated away from the neurovascular structures. The device can now be deployed using the deployment slider on the handle. Complete release of the deployment slider and slowly withdrawing the needle out of the meniscus can prevent intra-articular migration of the device. Next, the entry point for the second implant is defined at least 5 mm away from the tear site. The delivery needle is again advanced until the depth penetration limiter contacts the surface of the meniscus and the second device is deployed in a similar manner. Finally, the delivery needle is removed from the knee, pulling the free end of the suture out of the joint. The free end of the suture is pulled to advance the sliding knot and reduce the meniscal tear. Slight tension should be applied to the suture until the knot is secured.

7.5 Outcomes

Meniscectomy and partial meniscectomy are associated with increased risk of osteoarthritis, likely due to joint loading changes associated with these procedures [27, 51, 80, 84]. It is inherent that preserving the meniscus restores the joint congruity and loading, thus, preventing the development of osteoarthritis. Different techniques for repair have been described (allinside, inside-out, outside-in, and trephination) for peripheral tears that allow for preservation of the meniscus. Repair of the meniscus improves clinical outcomes of pain, catching, and knee function using Tegner and Lysholm scores. Mean Lysholm scores and Tegner scores for all-inside techniques are reported to be 90 and 6 respectively, while for the inside-out technique, they are 88 and 5 respectively. When comparing the all-inside technique with the inside-out technique, no significant differences in clinical or anatomic failure rates (clinical failure, 11 % vs. 10 %, respectively; anatomic failure, 13 % vs. 16 %, respectively) were found [29]. Complication rates are 4.6 % for all-inside vs. 5.1 % for inside-out [29]. The clinical healing rates for red-white zone repairs are reported to be 83 %. Patient age, gender, chronicity, compartment involved (medial vs. lateral), and concurrent ACL reconstruction do not influence healing rates [8].

Peripheral meniscal lesions in the red-red zone have inherently good healing rates because of the blood supply. Lateral meniscus lesions of <10 mm in length and not extending > 1 cm anterior to the popliteus can be left in situ during ACL reconstructions [22, 32, 66].

Unfortunately, most studies on healing rates, and those comparing the different techniques, are of low level of evidence. The chondroprotective effect of meniscal repairs and the role of biologics as adjuncts to meniscal repairs need to be evaluated further.

It is well established that meniscal repair in the setting of anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction results in better healing than meniscal repair alone [61, 81, 83]. Several studies have looked at the effects of augmenting meniscal healing after meniscal repair. Although some laboratory studies have been promising, clinical outcomes are still lacking. Biologic factors such as fibrin clot, platelet-rich plasma (PRP), and growth factors have been studied, and their application to meniscal repair has been evaluated. PRP has been reported to enhance meniscal tissue regeneration in vitro and in vivo, as noted in mRNA expression of extracellular matrix proteins compared with meniscal cells without PRP [42]. However, Griffin et al. [39] reported no difference in reoperation rates between patients with meniscal repair with or without PRP augmentation.

Trephination is reported to improve healing in goat models and in clinical practice [34]. There are no controlled clinical studies evaluating the use of biologics in augmenting peripheral meniscal healing. Some promising results are reported for the use of fibrin clot on radial tear.

7.6 Rehabilitation

Patients with an isolated meniscal tear remain non-weightbearing for 6 weeks. A recent systematic review of different rehabilitation protocols concluded that outcomes after restricted weightbearing protocols and accelerated rehabilitation (immediate weightbearing) yielded similar good to excellent results; however, there was lack of similar objective criteria, and consistency among surgical techniques and existing studies makes direct comparison difficult [78]. Meniscal repairs benefit from early range of motion (ROM) that is limited to the initial 2 weeks postoperatively. This early mobility facilitates postsurgical joint effusion resolution, normal range of motion restoration, and reduction of the scar formation. Passive ROM is completed with the patient in the supine or seated position. Passive ROM is limited to 0–90° during the first 2 weeks and then progresses to full range of motion as tolerated by the patient. Isolated hamstring contraction is performed in the first 6 weeks post-surgery to reduce meniscal stress through posterior tibial translation. Hyperextension of the tibiofemoral joint should be avoided at least for the first 4 weeks in order to prevent stress on the meniscal repair. After this initial period of restriction, restoration of symmetrical extension is encouraged for optimal tibiofemoral biomechanics. After 6 weeks, if joint conditions and clinical examination deem appropriate, a progressive, weightbearing program is initiated. Also at this time, patients may begin the use of a stationary bike with low-resistance settings, and ¹/₄ body weight leg presses to a maximum of 70° of knee flexion. Starting 12 weeks postoperatively, additional increases in low-impact knee exercises may be permitted as tolerated. Patients are recommended to avoid deep squatting, sitting cross-legged, or performing any heavy lifting or squatting activities for a minimum of 4 months following surgery (Fig. 7.9).

Conclusion

Meniscal tears constitute one of the most frequent pathologies in sports medicine. Due to the increasing understanding of its function and knee physiology, preservation of this tissue should be attempted in every case. A high index of suspicion is necessary at times to accurately diagnose some of these lesions, while meniscal tears are often evident in the physical exam and on imaging. Several techniques have been described with good to excellent reported outcomes. Determination of which technique to use depends on the anatomic meniscal region, the surgeon's preference, and experience on each device. A robust rehabilitation protocol is mandatory to achieve the best results.

	Initial Evereirer	1	2	2	4	E	1	7	0	0	10	12	14	20
STICTIONS	Initial Exercises		2	3	4	2	•	/	0	7	10	12	10	20
	Flexion/Extension - Wall sildes		-		-	-				<u> </u>	-	<u> </u>		-
DM 0-90 x 2	Flexion/Extension - seated		-		-	-				<u> </u>	-	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	_
wks.	Patella/Tendon mobilization				•		•	•		<u> </u>	-	<u> </u>		-
	Extension mobilization			•	•	•	•	•	•	-	-	-		-
RRACE	Quad series	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	-	-	<u> </u>		_
SETTINGS	Hamstring sets	-	-	-	-	-	-	•	•	•	•			_
	Sit and reach for hamstrings (towel)	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	<u> </u>		
0 x 6 weeks	Ankle pumps	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	<u> </u>		_
	Toe and heel raises	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	<u> </u>				•	•	•	•			
	Balance series								•	٠	٠	٠	٠	•
	Cardiovascular Exercises	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	12	16	20
Woight	Bike/Rowing with well leg	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	٠					
arina status	Bike with both legs – no resistance							٠	٠	٠				
	Bike with both legs - resistance									٠	•	•	•	•
	Aquaiogaina.									٠	٠	•	٠	•
WB x 6 wks.	Treadmill – walking 7% incline									٠	٠	•	٠	•
	Swimming with fins										•	•	•	•
	Elliptical trainer											•	•	•
ME LINES	Rowing											•	٠	•
	Stair stepper												٠	•
ek 1(1-7POD)	Weight Bearing Strength	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	12	16	20
ek 3(15-21POD)	Double knee bends							٠	٠	٠	•	•	٠	
ek 4(22-28POD)	Double leg bridges									•	•	•		
	Reverse lunge – static hold							•	•	•	•	•		-
	Beginning cord exercises									•	•	•		
	Balance sauats	\square	\square	<u> </u>					\square		•	•	•	
	Single leg degdlift	-	<u> </u>	-						-	•	•	•	
	Leg press								\vdash		•	•	•	
	Sports Test exercises			<u> </u>					\vdash			•	•	
	Agility Exercises	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	12	16	20
	Running progression												٠	
	Initial – single plane													
	Advance - multi directional	-					-	-	-		-		-	
	Functional sports test										-			
	High Level Activities	1	2	3	4	5	4	7	8	0	10	12	14	20
	Colf		2	0	4	0	0		0	,	10	12	10	-
	Outdoor biking biking mourhooing	-	-	-			-	-	-	-	-			
	Sking basketball tennis football	-						-	-		-		-	-
	sinning, bookonoon, forma, roonooll,	1	1	1					1		1			

Fig. 7.9 Standard rehabilitation protocol sheet demonstrating suggested activities and progression during the rehabilitation phase

References

1. Ahn JH, Bae TS, Kang KS, Kang SY, Lee SH. Longitudinal tear of the medial meniscus posterior horn in the anterior cruciate ligament-deficient knee significantly influences anterior stability. Am J Sports Med. 2011;39:2187–93.

 Ahn JH, Lee YS, Yoo JC, Chang MJ, Koh KH, Kim MH. Clinical and second-look arthroscopic evaluation of repaired medial meniscus in anterior cruciate ligamentreconstructed knees. Am J Sports Med. 2010;38:472–7.

- Ahn JH, Wang JH, Yoo JC. Arthroscopic all-inside suture repair of medial meniscus lesion in anterior cruciate ligament--deficient knees: results of secondlook arthroscopies in 39 cases. Arthroscopy. 2004;20:936–45.
- Alessio-Mazzola M, Formica, M, Coviello M, Basso M,Felli L. Conservative treatment of meniscal tears in anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction. Knee. 2016;23(4):642–6.
- Allen CR, Wong EK, Livesay GA, Sakane M, Fu FH, Woo SL. Importance of the medial meniscus in the anterior cruciate ligament-deficient knee. J Orthop Res. 2000;18:109–15.
- Anderson AF, Lipscomb AB. Clinical diagnosis of meniscal tears. Description of a new manipulative test. Am J Sports Med. 1986;14:291–3.
- Arnoczky SP, Warren RF. Microvasculature of the human meniscus. Am J Sports Med. 1982;10:90–5.
- Barber-Westin SD, Noyes FR. Clinical healing rates of meniscus repairs of tears in the central-third (redwhite) zone. Arthroscopy. 2014;30:134–46.
- Bargar WL, Moreland JR, Markolf KL, Shoemaker SC, Amstutz HC, Grant TT. In vivo stability testing of post-meniscectomy knees. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 1980;150:247–52.
- Bollen SR. Posteromedial meniscocapsular injury associated with rupture of the anterior cruciate ligament: a previously unrecognised association. J Bone Joint Surg Br. 2010;92:222–3.
- Boyd KT, Myers PT. Meniscus preservation; rationale, repair techniques and results. Knee. 2003;10:1–11.
- Casser HR, Sohn C, Kiekenbeck A. Current evaluation of sonography of the meniscus. Results of a comparative study of sonographic and arthroscopic findings. Arch Orthop Trauma Surg. 1990;109:150–4.
- Chahla J, Dean CS, Moatshe G, Mitchell JJ, Cram TR, Yacuzzi C, LaPrade RF. Meniscal ramp lesions: anatomy, incidence, diagnosis, and treatment. Orthopaedic J Sports Med. 2016;4
- Chahla J, Serra Cruz R, Cram TR, Dean CS, LaPrade RF. Inside-out meniscal repair: medial and lateral approach. Arthrosc Tech. 2016;5:e163–8.
- Chen L, Linde-Rosen M, Hwang SC, Zhou J, Xie Q, Smolinski P, Fu FH. The effect of medial meniscal horn injury on knee stability. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 2015;23:126–31.
- De Filippo M, Bertellini A, Pogliacomi F, Sverzellati N, Corradi D, Garlaschi G, Zompatori M. Multidetector computed tomography arthrography of the knee: diagnostic accuracy and indications. Eur J Radiol. 2009;70:342–51.
- De Flaviis L, Scaglione P, Nessi R, Albisetti W. Ultrasound in degenerative cystic meniscal disease of the knee. Skeletal Radiol. 1990;19:441–5.
- De Maeseneer M, Lenchik L, Starok M, Pedowitz R, Trudell D, Resnick D. Normal and abnormal medial meniscocapsular structures: MR imaging and sonog-

raphy in cadavers. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 1998;171:969–76.

- De Smet AA, Tuite MJ, Norris MA, Swan JS. MR diagnosis of meniscal tears: analysis of causes of errors. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 1994;163:1419–23.
- DeHaven KE, Lohrer WA, Lovelock JE. Long-term results of open meniscal repair. Am J Sports Med. 1995;23:524–30.
- Deutsch AL, Mink JH, Fox JM, Arnoczky SP, Rothman BJ, Stoller DW, Cannon Jr WD. Peripheral meniscal tears: MR findings after conservative treatment or arthroscopic repair. Radiology. 1990;176:485–8.
- 22. Duchman KR, Westermann RW, Spindler KP, Reinke EK, Huston LJ, Amendola A, Wolf BR. The fate of meniscus tears left in situ at the time of anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction: a 6-year follow-up study from the MOON cohort. Am J Sports Med. 2015;43:2688–95.
- Durselen L, Vogele S, Seitz AM, Ignatius A, Friederich NF, Bauer G, Majewski M. Anterior knee laxity increases gapping of posterior horn medial meniscal tears. Am J Sports Med. 2011;39:1749–55.
- Eggli S, Wegmuller H, Kosina J, Huckell C, Jakob RP. Long-term results of arthroscopic meniscal repair. An analysis of isolated tears. Am J Sports Med. 1995;23:715–20.
- Eren OT. The accuracy of joint line tenderness by physical examination in the diagnosis of meniscal tears. Arthroscopy. 2003;19:850–4.
- Evans PJ, Bell GD, Frank C. Prospective evaluation of the McMurray test. Am J Sports Med. 1993;21:604–8.
- Fairbank TJ. Knee joint changes after meniscectomy. J Bone Joint Surg Br. 1948;30b:664–70.
- Feng H, Hong L, Geng XS, Zhang H, Wang XS, Jiang XY. Second-look arthroscopic evaluation of buckethandle meniscus tear repairs with anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction: 67 consecutive cases. Arthroscopy. 2008;24:1358–66.
- Fillingham YA, Riboh JC, Erickson BJ, Bach BR, Jr, Yanke AB. Inside-out versus all-inside repair of isolated meniscal tears: an updated systematic review. Am J Sports Med. 2016 [Epub ahead of print].
- Fisseler-Eckhoff A, Muller KM. Arthroscopy and chondrocalcinosis. Arthroscopy. 1992;8:98–104.
- Fithian DC, Kelly MA, Mow VC. Material properties and structure-function relationships in the menisci. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 1990;252:19–31.
- Fitzgibbons RE, Shelbourne KD. "Aggressive" nontreatment of lateral meniscal tears seen during anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction. Am J Sports Med. 1995;23:156–9.
- Fowler PJ, Lubliner JA. The predictive value of five clinical signs in the evaluation of meniscal pathology. Arthroscopy. 1989;5:184–6.
- Fox JM, Rintz KG, Ferkel RD. Trephination of incomplete meniscal tears. Arthroscopy. 1993;9:451–5.

- Gerngross H, Sohn C. Ultrasound scanning for the diagnosis of meniscal lesions of the knee joint. Arthroscopy. 1992;8:105–10.
- Goodwillie AD, Myers K, Sgaglione NA. Current strategies and approaches to meniscal repair. J Knee Surg. 2014;27:423–34.
- 37. Goyal KS, Pan TJ, Tran D, Dumpe SC, Zhang X, Harner CD. Vertical tears of the lateral meniscus: effects on in vitro tibiofemoral joint mechanics. Orthop J Sports Med. 2014;2:2325967114541237.
- Grant JA, Wilde J, Miller BS, Bedi A. Comparison of inside-out and all-inside techniques for the repair of isolated meniscal tears: a systematic review. Am J Sports Med. 2012;40:459–68.
- 39. Griffin JW, Hadeed MM, Werner BC, Diduch DR, Carson EW, Miller MD. Platelet-rich plasma in meniscal repair: does augmentation improve surgical outcomes? Clin Orthop Relat Res. 2015;473:1665–72.
- Hanks GA, Gause TM, Sebastianelli WJ, O'Donnell CS, Kalenak A. Repair of peripheral meniscal tears: open versus arthroscopic technique. Arthroscopy. 1991;7:72–7.
- Helms CA. The meniscus: recent advances in MR imaging of the knee. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2002;179:1115–22.
- 42. Ishida K, Kuroda R, Miwa M, Tabata Y, Hokugo A, Kawamoto T, Sasaki K, Doita M, Kurosaka M. The regenerative effects of platelet-rich plasma on meniscal cells in vitro and its in vivo application with biodegradable gelatin hydrogel. Tissue Eng. 2007;13:1103–12.
- Johannsen HV, Fruensgaard S, Holm A, Toennesen PA. Arthroscopic suture of peripheral meniscal tears. Int Orthop. 1988;12:287–90.
- Johnson D, Weiss B. Meniscal repair using the insideout suture technique. Sports Med Arthrosc. 2012;20:68–76.
- 45. Jones CD, Keene GC, Christie AD. The popliteus as a retractor of the lateral meniscus of the knee. Arthroscopy. 1995;11:270–4.
- 46. Kalliakmanis A, Zourntos S, Bousgas D, Nikolaou P. Comparison of arthroscopic meniscal repair results using 3 different meniscal repair devices in anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction patients. Arthroscopy. 2008;24:810–6.
- 47. Kijowski R, Rosas HG, Lee KS, Cheung A, del Rio AM, Graf BK. MRI characteristics of healed and unhealed peripheral vertical meniscal tears. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2014;202:585–92.
- 48. Kocabey Y, Tetik O, Isbell WM, Atay OA, Johnson DL. The value of clinical examination versus magnetic resonance imaging in the diagnosis of meniscal tears and anterior cruciate ligament rupture. Arthroscopy. 2004;20:696–700.
- Kurosaka M, Yagi M, Yoshiya S, Muratsu H, Mizuno K. Efficacy of the axially loaded pivot shift test for the diagnosis of a meniscal tear. Int Orthop. 1999;23:271–4.

- LaPrade RF, Konowalchuk BK. Popliteomeniscal fascicle tears causing symptomatic lateral compartment knee pain: diagnosis by the figure-4 test and treatment by open repair. Am J Sports Med. 2005;33:1231–6.
- Lee SJ, Aadalen KJ, Malaviya P, Lorenz EP, Hayden JK, Farr J, Kang RW, Cole BJ. Tibiofemoral contact mechanics after serial medial meniscectomies in the human cadaveric knee. Am J Sports Med. 2006;34:1334–44.
- Lefevre N, Naouri JF, Herman S, Gerometta A, Klouche S, Bohu Y. A current review of the meniscus imaging: proposition of a useful Tool for its radiologic analysis. Radiol Res Pract. 2016;2016:8329296.
- 53. Liu X, Feng H, Zhang H, Hong L, Wang XS, Zhang J. Arthroscopic prevalence of ramp lesion in 868 patients with anterior cruciate ligament injury. Am J Sports Med. 2011;39:832–7.
- 54. Malanga GA, Andrus S, Nadler SF, McLean J. Physical examination of the knee: a review of the original test description and scientific validity of common orthopedic tests. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2003;84:592–603.
- Messner K, Gao J. The menisci of the knee joint. Anatomical and functional characteristics, and a rationale for clinical treatment. J Anat. 1998;193(Pt 2):161–78.
- Metcalf MH, Barrett GR. Prospective evaluation of 1485 meniscal tear patterns in patients with stable knees. Am J Sports Med. 2004;32:675–80.
- Oei EH, Nikken JJ, Verstijnen AC, Ginai AZ, Myriam Hunink MG. MR imaging of the menisci and cruciate ligaments: a systematic review. Radiology. 2003;226:837–48.
- Park IS, Kim SJ. New meniscus repair technique for peripheral tears near the posterior tibial attachment of the posterior horn of the medial meniscus. Arthroscopy. 2006;22:908.e901–4.
- Petersen W, Tillmann B. Age-related blood and lymph supply of the knee menisci. A cadaver study. Acta Orthop Scand. 1995;66:308–12.
- 60. Rose NE, Gold SM. A comparison of accuracy between clinical examination and magnetic resonance imaging in the diagnosis of meniscal and anterior cruciate ligament tears. Arthroscopy. 1996;12:398–405.
- Rotterud JH, Sivertsen EA, Forssblad M, Engebretsen L, Aroen A. Effect of meniscal and focal cartilage lesions on patient-reported outcome after anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction: a nationwide cohort study from Norway and Sweden of 8476 patients with 2-year follow-up. Am J Sports Med. 2013;41:535–43.
- Rutten MJ, Collins JM, van Kampen A, Jager GJ. Meniscal cysts: detection with high-resolution sonography. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 1998;171:491–6.
- Salata MJ, Gibbs AE, Sekiya JK. A systematic review of clinical outcomes in patients undergoing meniscectomy. Am J Sports Med. 2010;38:1907–16.
- 64. Sanders TG, Miller MD. A systematic approach to magnetic resonance imaging interpretation of sports

medicine injuries of the knee. Am J Sports Med. 2005;33:131–48.

- 65. Scott GA, Jolly BL, Henning CE. Combined posterior incision and arthroscopic intra-articular repair of the meniscus. An examination of factors affecting healing. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1986;68:847–61.
- 66. Shelbourne KD, Heinrich J. The long-term evaluation of lateral meniscus tears left in situ at the time of anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction. Arthroscopy. 2004;20:346–51.
- 67. Shoemaker SC, Markolf KL. The role of the meniscus in the anterior-posterior stability of the loaded anterior cruciate-deficient knee. Effects of partial versus total excision. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1986;68:71–9.
- Simonian PT, Sussmann PS, van Trommel M, Wickiewicz TL, Warren RF. Popliteomeniscal fasciculi and lateral meniscal stability. Am J Sports Med. 1997;25:849–53.
- 69. Smith 3rd JP, Barrett GR. Medial and lateral meniscal tear patterns in anterior cruciate ligament-deficient knees. A prospective analysis of 575 tears. Am J Sports Med. 2001;29:415–9.
- 70. Solomon DH, Simel DL, Bates DW, Katz JN, Schaffer JL. The rational clinical examination. Does this patient have a torn meniscus or ligament of the knee? Value of the physical examination. JAMA. 2001;286:1610–20.
- 71. Starke C, Kopf S, Petersen W, Becker R. Meniscal repair. Arthroscopy. 2009;25:1033–44.
- Staubli HU, Birrer S. The popliteus tendon and its fascicles at the popliteal hiatus: gross anatomy and functional arthroscopic evaluation with and without anterior cruciate ligament deficiency. Arthroscopy. 1990;6:209–20.
- Steinbach LS. Calcium pyrophosphate dihydrate and calcium hydroxyapatite crystal deposition diseases: imaging perspectives. Radiol Clin North Am. 2004;42:185–205. vii
- 74. Stephen JM, Halewood C, Kittl C, Bollen SR, Williams A, Amis AA. Posteromedial meniscocapsular lesions increase tibiofemoral joint laxity with anterior cruciate ligament deficiency, and their repair reduces laxity. Am J Sports Med. 2016;44:400–8.

- Strobel M. Manual of arthroscopic surgery. Berlin/ Heidelberg: Springer; 2013.
- 76. Suh JS, Jeong EK, Shin KH, Cho JH, Na JB, Kim DH, Han CD. Minimizing artifacts caused by metallic implants at MR imaging: experimental and clinical studies. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 1998;171:1207–13.
- Sussmann PS, Simonian PT, Wickiewicz TL, Warren RF. Development of the popliteomeniscal fasciculi in the fetal human knee joint. Arthroscopy. 2001;17:14–8.
- VanderHave KL, Perkins C, Le M. Weightbearing versus nonweightbearing after meniscus repair. Sports Health. 2015;7:399–402.
- Vinson EN, Gage JA, Lacy JN. Association of peripheral vertical meniscal tears with anterior cruciate ligament tears. Skeletal Radiol. 2008;37:645–51.
- Walker EA, Davis D, Mosher TJ. Rapidly progressive osteoarthritis: biomechanical considerations. Magn Reson Imaging Clin N Am. 2011;19:283–94.
- Wasserstein D, Dwyer T, Gandhi R, Austin PC, Mahomed N, Ogilvie-Harris D. A matched-cohort population study of reoperation after meniscal repair with and without concomitant anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction. Am J Sports Med. 2013;41:349–55.
- Weiss CB, Lundberg M, Hamberg P, DeHaven KE, Gillquist J. Non-operative treatment of meniscal tears. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1989;71:811–22.
- Westermann RW, Wright RW, Spindler KP, Huston LJ, Wolf BR. Meniscal repair with concurrent anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction: operative success and patient outcomes at 6-year follow-up. Am J Sports Med. 2014;42:2184–92.
- Wroble RR, Henderson RC, Campion ER, el-Khoury GY, Albright JP. Meniscectomy in children and adolescents. A long-term follow-up study. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 1992;279:180–9.
- Yan R, Wang H, Yang Z, Ji ZH, Guo YM. Predicted probability of meniscus tears: comparing history and physical examination with MRI. Swiss Med Wkly. 2011;141:w13314.

Radial Meniscal Tears: Updates on Repair Techniques and Outcomes

8

Taylor J. Ridley, Elizabeth A. Arendt, and Jeffrey A. Macalena

Contents

8.1	Introduction	93
8.2	Diagnosis	94
8.3	Treatment	95
8.3.1	Nonoperative Treatment of Radial Tears	95
8.3.2	Partial Meniscectomy of Radial Tears	96
8.3.3	Repair of Meniscal Radial Tears	97
8.4	Postoperative Rehabilitation Protocol	100
8.5	Outcomes of Radial Tear Repairs	100
8.6	Conclusions/Future Directions	101
Refer	ences	101

J.A. Macalena, MD (🖂)

8.1 Introduction

Radial tears of the meniscus are oriented perpendicular to the circumferential fibers and appear in a vertical orientation, which extend from the inner edge of the meniscus toward the periphery. This chapter will discuss the diagnosis, biomechanics, treatment, and clinical outcomes of radial meniscal tears.

Radial tears are classified as partial or complete (Fig. 8.1) based on the depth of the tear. Complete tears disrupt the circumferential fibers located at the periphery of the meniscus, impairing the meniscal ability to transmit circumferential hoop stresses during load bearing and shock absorption. Variability exists in the depth of radial tears, where depth refers to the perpendicular meniscal length extending from the central white-white zone through to the periphery. A small radial tear involving less than 60 % of the depth of the meniscus does not significantly influence tibiofemoral biomechanics, whereas a large radial tear that extends greater than 90 % of the depth of the meniscus to the periphery results in a significant alteration in peak compartment pressures [1]. Additionally, larger partial radial tears increase the risk of progression to complete tears [2]. Radial tears that have greater involvement of the periphery can result in increased joint contact stress, meniscal extrusion, meniscal root pathology, osteoarthritis, and long-term cartilage damage [3-5]. Consequently, radial tears left

T.J. Ridley, MD • E.A. Arendt, MD

Department of Orthopedic Surgery, University of Minnesota, 2450 Riverside Avenue, Suite R200, Minneapolis, MN 55454, USA e-mail: maca0049@umn.edu



Fig. 8.1 Arthroscopic images of the left knee lateral meniscus demonstrating (a) partial and (b) complete radial tears at the junction of the anterior horn and body

untreated can have a profound biomechanical detrimental effect on knee health, greater than longitudinal (vertical) tears.

The incidence of radial tears has been reported to be 14–15 % of all meniscus tears, with the majority involving the junction of the middle and posterior third of the medial and lateral menisci [6, 7]. Radial meniscus tears are also commonly identified in the lateral meniscus after an acute rupture of the anterior cruciate ligament (ACL).

8.2 Diagnosis

Radial tears of the meniscus do not have specific history or physical examination findings; therefore, MRI has become useful for qualifying the type of meniscus tear. Radial tears present unique challenges and entail special consideration; correct preoperative characterization of radial tears can allow better operative planning and preoperative patient counseling. MRI has demonstrated high sensitivity in the detection of meniscus tears; however, identification of the tear as "radial" in orientation has been less reliable [6]. Classically, four signs have been described to detect and characterize radial tears [6].

- 1. *Truncated triangle sign* describes the amputated edge on sagittal and coronal images if the tear parallels the image orientation (Fig. 8.2).
- Cleft sign simply describes a gap of the meniscus on sagittal and coronal images (Fig. 8.3).
- 3. *Marching cleft sign* is observed with obliquely oriented tears, typically occurring at the junction of the anterior horn and body. It is demonstrated with a migrating cleft on consecutive images.
- 4. *Ghost meniscus sign* refers to the complete absence of meniscal tissue that results with diastasis of the radial tear (Fig. 8.4).

Typically, a truncated triangle sign represents a shearing of the free edge, with preservation of its peripheral portion, often as a result of a partial radial tear. In contrast, a ghost meniscus has no in-plane residual normal meniscus signal, often as a result of a full-thickness tear. The two most reliable signs have been the cleft and truncated



Fig. 8.2 Truncated triangle sign revealing a radial tear of the left knee lateral meniscus



Fig. 8.3 Cleft sign of the left knee lateral meniscus indicating a radial tear

triangle signs, with the use of these two signs increasing MR detection identification rates of radial tears to 76 % [6]. The use of all four signs



Fig. 8.4 Sagittal MRI with the absence of the posterior horn of the medial meniscus, demonstrating a ghost sign indicative of a radial tear

increases the rate of detection for radial tears to 89 % [6].

8.3 Treatment

8.3.1 Nonoperative Treatment of Radial Tears

Nonoperative treatment may be considered for asymptomatic partial radial tears, often found incidentally when other structures of the knee have been injured.

Radial tears, including those extending into the vascular zone (outer one third of the meniscus), have shown low rates of spontaneous healing and often progress to complete tears [8, 9]. This is in contrast to vertical longitudinal tears, which have an increased potential for spontaneous healing, thought to be due to the creation of a vascular channel to the inner avascular portion of the meniscus. Nonoperative management can be considered for symptom management of radial tears, which can include rest, activity modification, and use of antiinflammatory modalities or corticosteroid injections. This may have a positive effect on symptom reduction, with no evidence of healing of the meniscus tear.

8.3.2 Partial Meniscectomy of Radial Tears

Previously, radial tears were regarded as unrepairable and were managed with partial meniscectomy, with the goal of reducing mechanical symptoms in a straightforward manner [10]. In most circumstances, partial radial tears located in the central, avascular zone can be debrided to a stable edge, working to preserve as much native tissue as possible and attempting to decrease the chance of tear extension into a deeper zone (Fig. 8.5). The extent of meniscal debridement, however, should never extend beyond the original depth of the tear.

Meniscectomy to reach a stable edge has been shown to reduce joint surface contact area by 75 % and increase compartment peak load contact stresses by more than 350 %. As little as 20 % of meniscal debridement has been shown to increase tibiofemoral contact forces [11]. Despite the benefits of short-term pain relief, partial meniscectomy has been associated with a



Fig. 8.5 Arthroscopic images of the left knee lateral meniscus demonstrating (a, b) partial radial tear (c) following debridement to a stable edge

substantially increased incidence of progressive degenerative changes [12].

Currently, there is limited evidence to detail the length of a partial tear that may progress to a deeper tear. Moreover, evidence-based criteria in guiding surgical treatment based on the depth of the tear are lacking. With the increasing concern of long-term osteoarthritis after meniscectomy and the risk of progression to complete tears, meniscal preservation with repair of radial tears should be considered.

8.3.3 Repair of Meniscal Radial Tears

The goal of repairing radial tears, regardless of technique, is restoring the circumferential meniscal fibers that work to resist hoop stresses, vital to its role in load transmission and energy absorption. Recently, a variety of radial tear repair techniques have emerged as viable alternatives to meniscectomy [13–17]. These modern repair techniques aim to improve patient outcomes and diminish long-term degenerative damage from loss of this chondroprotective structure.

Generally, two techniques have been described for arthroscopic repair: all-inside horizontal mattress repair or inside-out repair with single, double, or crossed horizontal mattress sutures. Both inside-out horizontal mattress repairs and in situ pull-out suture repairs have been reported to decrease tibiofemoral contact pressures and increase contact area [1, 18].

8.3.3.1 Inside-Out Meniscal Radial Repair Technique

The inside-out technique remains the standard for repair of radial meniscus tears. The current technique involves a double horizontal suture technique with parallel sutures 5 mm and 10 mm from the meniscal rim [15, 19–21]. The sutures are shuttled across the radial tear via a cannula, using a suture-passing device and tying horizontal mattress sutures above and below the radial tear (Fig. 8.6). This technique requires an additional incision for retrieval of the sutures. The inside-out technique allows the surgeon more control in tensioning the sutures; however, it is technically more challenging and may require additional personnel to retrieve sutures while protecting the surrounding neurovascular structures [15, 19, 20].

Furthermore, Bedi et al. [22] reported that inside-out double horizontal suture repair of a radial tear involving 90 % of the depth does not restore the location of the pressure peak to that of the intact knee. It was hypothesized that this was due to the horizontal sutures being orientated parallel with the circumferential meniscal fibers which are important for transmitting hoop stresses. In response, Matsubara et al. developed a cross-suture technique in which two stitches cross over each other at the site of the meniscal tear [21]. Theoretically, this allows for capturing a greater portion of the circumferential fibers because the direction of the sutures is oblique to, rather than parallel to, the fibers. The authors found this provided superior stiffness and a greater ultimate load to failure when biomechanically tested [21]. Although some authors have reported favorable healing rates of the peripheral meniscus with these techniques [15], other authors have reported an unacceptably low rate of meniscal healing, particularly when the tear location is in the central, white-white zone of the meniscus [23].

To decrease the need for further surgery, Haklar et al. [20] recommended performing a partial meniscectomy of the white-white portion of the meniscus while simultaneously performing a double inside-out horizontal mattress repair of radial midbody meniscal tears. Although they reported a high healing rate, which is favorable, the potential for a partial meniscectomy to lead to a detrimental effect over time on the articular cartilage persists.

Recent focus has moved toward improved stability of meniscal repairs and anatomically restoring the meniscus to its proper position. New techniques have been developed to augment horizontal suture repair constructs with transosseous tunnels [13, 24]. Biomechanical analysis by Bhatia et al. [24] demonstrated significantly less meniscal gapping and stronger ultimate failure loads, when compared to the classic double

Fig. 8.6 Arthroscopic images of the left knee demonstrating an inside-out lateral meniscus repair. (**a**) Complete radial tear at the junction of the anterior horn and body.

(b) Sutures are shuttled across the radial tear via a cannula, (c) using a suture-passing device and (d) tying horizontal mattress sutures above and below the radial tear

horizontal mattress technique. After each radial tear edge is released, one or two tunnels are placed at the meniscocapsular region of the tibia. Each torn edge of the meniscus is sutured superoinferiorly at the posterior corner of the tear edge, and sutures are shuttled through transtibial tunnels. The sutures can then be tied together over a button while directly visualizing the radial tear to ensure an accurate reduction. Once the transosseous portion of the repair is complete, two insideout horizontal mattress sutures are additionally placed on both the superior and inferior portion of the meniscus as described above. Importantly, this technique allows for anchoring the meniscal tissue to the proximal tibia (Fig. 8.7). Both oneand two-tunnel techniques have been described, but to date no significant difference has been observed with respect to displacement or ultimate failure load [25]. The results of current clinical outcome studies are outlined in Table 8.1.

8.3.3.2 All-Inside Radial Repairs

In an effort to eliminate the need for a separate incision, as well as decreasing personnel demands, all-inside devices have been developed. The all-inside technique uses standard

Fig. 8.7 (a) Superior and (b) anteromedial view of transtibial two-tunnel repair of a meniscal radial tear illustrating the crisscross transtibial tunnel technique in a left knee. Sutures were passed through an anterior and poste-

rior tibial tunnel to the anteromedial cortex and tied together over a button. ACL, anterior cruciate ligament; PCL, posterior cruciate ligament [24]

 Table 8.1
 Studies with a minimum 2-year follow-up reporting radial tear inside-out meniscal repair techniques and outcomes

Study	Level of evidence	Number of patients	Mean follow-up, mo	Mean age, yr	Operative technique	Concurrent procedures	Outcomes reported
Anderson et al. [19]	IV	8	70.5	29	Inside-out sutures	ACL reconstruction (8/8)	Lysholm, IKDC, Tegner
Haklar et al. [20]	IV	5	31	28.6	Inside-out double horizontal sutures	None	Lysholm, MRI
Ra et al. [15]	IV	12	12	-	Inside-out with fibrin clots	ACL reconstruction (2/12)	Lysholm, Tegner, second-look arthroscopy

mo months, yr year

anteromedial and anterolateral portals for suture placement [15, 16, 23, 26]. This technique has been reported to be less technically challenging; however, proper tensioning and securing the sutures arthroscopically can be more challenging when compared with using an open posterior incision.

There are several all-inside meniscus repair devices. Most commonly, these devices deliver an anchor containing self-adjusting sutures across the tear. Two passes of an insertion needle on either side of the tear place an anchor in the extra-articular recess behind the meniscus on the capsular surface. Sutures spanning the tear are tensioned, and a self-locking knot is tightened to close the gap in the meniscus. Likewise, fixation is possible without the use of anchor devices. Systems have been designed to deliver a needle through the meniscus tear to capture a suture loop from the instrument's tip, which can then be tensioned and tied to compress the meniscus repair site. Although less invasive than inside-out techniques, the all-inside repair techniques are not without potential complications. In addition to neurovascular injury, irritation from the anchors and implant failure have been reported [27]. Furthermore, follow-up studies with MRI and second-look arthroscopy have demonstrated high rates of no healing or partial healing following all-inside radial tear repair [23, 28].

Currently, most all-inside devices work to place the suture horizontally in a fashion similar to that of an inside-out repair. All-inside horizontal sutures, however, fail to fully encircle the tear at the periphery. Additionally, horizontal sutures are oriented parallel to the longitudinal fibers of the meniscus, leading to suture cleavage through the meniscal tissue. As such, new techniques and all-inside devices have been developed to incorporate both vertical and horizontally oriented sutures, effectively encircling the meniscal fibers. A recent biomechanical study demonstrated the combined vertical and horizontal suture configuration resulted in lower displacement, higher load to failure, and greater stiffness compared with the classic horizontal inside-out technique [29]. The vertical loop tended to fail by suture breakage, while the horizontal loop failed when it tore through the tissues [29]. Vertical suture techniques have been described, but further literature support is needed.

A summary of clinical outcomes of all-inside techniques is summarized in Table 8.2.

8.4 Postoperative Rehabilitation Protocol

Previously, strict non-weight-bearing rehabilitation was instituted after repair of complete radial tears to reduce the potential for tear diastasis. Weight bearing increases hoop stresses, thus placing distraction forces on the repair, separating the tear margins, and preventing healing. Recently, some authors have chosen to allow partial weight bearing postoperatively and have reportedly demonstrated equivalent healing rates [30]. Further investigation of postoperative rehabilitation protocols is warranted.

8.5 Outcomes of Radial Tear Repairs

Overall, the current level of evidence on clinical outcomes after meniscal radial tear repairs is scarce [31]. Outcomes are typically reported as failure due to subsequent reoperation and meniscectomy. Patient-reported outcome tools are varied and include Lysholm, IKDC, and Tegner scores. A recent systematic review of six level IV studies demonstrated that surgical repair of meniscal radial tears led to improved patient outcomes in most patients at an average follow-up of 38.4 months [31]. They reported two general categories of radial repair techniques: an insideout suture technique and an all-inside suture technique. Similar to repair of other meniscus tear patterns, outcomes after inside-out suture

 Table 8.2
 Studies with a minimum 2-year follow-up reporting radial tear all-inside meniscal repair techniques and outcomes

Study	Level of evidence	Number of patients	Mean follow up, mo	Mean age, yr	Operative technique	Concurrent procedures	Outcomes reported
Choi et al. [23]	IV	14	36.3	29.9	All-inside with absorbable sutures	None	Lysholm, Tegner, MRI, second-look arthroscopy
Song et al. [16]	IV	15	24	34	All-inside FAST-FIX repair system	ACL reconstruction (15/15)	Lysholm, Tegner, MRI, second look arthroscopy

repair (Lysholm, 86.9–94.2; IKDC, 81.6–92) were comparable to all-inside repair (Lysholm, 94-95.6; IKDC, 90). Literature comparing the effectiveness and complications of the inside-out repair technique and the all-inside technique in isolated meniscal tears has consistently demonstrated no differences in clinical failure rate or subjective outcomes [27]. Clinical failure rate in isolated meniscal tears of all types has been cited between 17 and 19 % [27]. More nerve symptoms have been associated with the inside-out technique while more implant-related complications are associated with the all-inside technique. Unfortunately, much of the literature does not isolate radial tear repairs from other tear patterns. Additionally, most studies are confounded by concomitant ACL injury and/or reconstruction. Hence, the outcomes of radial tear treatment have a paucity of published results.

8.6 Conclusions/Future Directions

Meniscal preservation with repair of radial tears results in improved short-term clinical outcomes; however, long-term outcomes remain unknown. Significant differences between repair and partial meniscectomy may only occur in long-term (10+ years) follow-up, as prior studies have reported worse long-term outcomes for partial meniscectomy compared with short-term results [32, 33]. At this time, no supported conclusions can be made about the long-term effects of meniscal repair and preservation of its chondroprotective function; however, we do know that resected or ignored meniscal tears do poorly [3, 5, 8].

While the biomechanics, natural history, and treatment techniques of radial tears have been increasingly investigated, a paucity of long-term clinical outcomes remains. Future studies will require particular attention to defining and isolating radial tears from other tear patterns, with stratification of concomitant injuries and consistency in outcome reporting.

References

- Bedi A, Kelly NH, Baad M, et al. Dynamic contact mechanics of the medial meniscus as a function of radial tear, repair, and partial meniscectomy. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2010;92(6):1398–408. doi:10.2106/ JBJS.I.00539.
- Mononen ME, Jurvelin JS, Korhonen RK. Effects of radial tears and partial meniscectomy of lateral meniscus on the knee joint mechanics during the stance phase of the gait cycle-A 3D finite element study. J Orthop Res. 2013;31(8):1208–17. doi:10.1002/ jor.22358.
- Badlani JT, Borrero C, Golla S, Harner CD, Irrgang JJ. The effects of meniscus injury on the development of knee osteoarthritis: data from the osteoarthritis initiative. Am J Sports Med. 2013;41(6):1238–44. doi:10.1177/0363546513490276.
- Lerer DB, Umans HR, Hu MX, Jones MH. The role of meniscal root pathology and radial meniscal tear in medial meniscal extrusion. Skeletal Radiol. 2004;33(10):569–74. doi:10.1007/ s00256-004-0761-2.
- Peña E, Calvo B, Martínez MA, Palanca D, Doblaré M. Finite element analysis of the effect of meniscal tears and meniscectomies on human knee biomechanics. Clin Biochem. 2005;20(5):498–507. doi:10.1016/j.clinbiomech.2005.01.009.
- Harper KW, Helms CA, Lambert HS, Higgins LD. Radial meniscal tears: significance, incidence, and MR appearance. Am J Roentgenol. 2005;185(6):1429–34. doi:10.2214/AJR.04.1024.
- Magee T, Shapiro M, Williams D. MR accuracy and arthroscopic incidence of meniscal radial tears. Skeletal Radiol. 2002;31(12):686–9. doi:10.1007/ s00256-002-0579-8.
- CB W, Lundberg M, Hamberg P, DeHaven KE, Gillquist J. Non-operative treatment of meniscal tears. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1989;71(2):811–22.
- Foad A. Self-limited healing of a radial tear of the lateral meniscus. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 2012;20(5):933–6. doi:10.1007/ s00167-011-1660-4.
- McDermott I. Meniscal tears, repairs and replacement: their relevance to osteoarthritis of the knee. Br J Sports Med. 2011;45(4):292–7. doi:10.1136/ bjsm.2010.081257.
- Seitz AM, Lubomierski A, Friemert B, Ignatius A, Dürselen L. Effect of partial meniscectomy at the medial posterior horn on tibiofemoral contact mechanics and meniscal hoop strains in human knees. J Orthop Res. 2012;30(6):934–42. doi:10.1002/ jor.22010.
- 12. Baratz ME, Fu FH, Mengato R. Meniscal tears: The effect of meniscectomy and of repair on intraarticular contact areas and stress in the human knee: a preliminary

report. Am J Sports Med. 1986;14(4):270–5. doi:10.1177/036354658601400405.

- James EW, LaPrade CM, Feagin JA, LaPrade RF. Repair of a complete radial tear in the midbody of the medial meniscus using a novel crisscross suture transtibial tunnel surgical technique: a case report. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 2014;23(9):2750–5. doi:10.1007/s00167-014-3089-z.
- Nakata K, Shino K, Kanamoto T, et al. New technique of arthroscopic meniscus repair in radial tears. In: Sports injuries. Berlin/Heidelberg: Springer; 2012. p. 305–11. doi:10.1007/978-3-642-15630-4_41.
- Ra HJ, Ha JK, Jang SH, Lee DW, Kim JG. Arthroscopic inside-out repair of complete radial tears of the meniscus with a fibrin clot. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 2013;21(9):2126–30. doi:10.1007/ s00167-012-2191-3.
- Song H-S, Bae T-Y, Park B-Y, Shim J, In Y. Repair of a radial tear in the posterior horn of the lateral meniscus. Knee. 2014;21(6):1185–90. doi:10.1016/j. knee.2014.07.018.
- Saliman JD, Bolano LE, Grana WA, et al. The circumferential compression stitch for meniscus repair. Arthrosc Tech. 2013;2(3):e257-64. doi:10.1016/j. eats.2013.02.016.
- LaPrade CM, Jansson KS, Dornan G, et al. Altered tibiofemoral contact mechanics due to lateral meniscus posterior horn root avulsions and radial tears can be restored with in situ pull-out suture repairs. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2014;96(6):471–9. doi:10.2106/ JBJS.L.01252.
- Anderson L, Watts M, Shapter O, et al. Repair of radial tears and posterior horn detachments of the lateral meniscus: minimum 2-year follow-up. Arthrosc J Arthrosc Relat Surg. 2010;26(12):1625–32. doi:10.1016/j.arthro.2010.07.020.
- Haklar U, Kocaoglu B, Nalbantoglu U, Tuzuner T, Guven O. Arthroscopic repair of radial lateral meniscus tear by double horizontal sutures with insideoutside technique. Knee. 2008;15(5):355–9. doi:10.1016/j.knee.2008.05.012.
- Matsubara H, Okazaki K, Izawa T, et al. New suture method for radial tears of the meniscus: biomechanical analysis of cross-suture and double horizontal suture techniques using cyclic load testing. Am J Sports Med. 2012;40(2):414–8. doi:10.1177/0363546511424395.
- Bedi A, Kelly N, Baad M, et al. Dynamic contact mechanics of radial tears of the lateral meniscus: implications for treatment. Arthrosc J Arthrosc Relat Surg. 2012;28(3):372–81. doi:10.1016/j.arthro.2011.08.287.
- 23. Choi N-H, Kim T-H, Son K-M, Victoroff BN. Meniscal repair for radial tears of the midbody of the lateral

meniscus. Am J Sports Med. 2010;38(12):2472-6. doi:10.1177/0363546510376736.

- 24. Bhatia S, Civitarese DM, Turnbull TL, et al. A novel repair method for radial tears of the medial meniscus: biomechanical comparison of transtibial 2-tunnel and double horizontal mattress suture techniques under cyclic loading. Am J Sports Med. 2015. doi:10.1177/0363546515615565.
- 25. LaPrade CM, LaPrade MD, Turnbull TL, Wijdicks CA, LaPrade RF. Biomechanical evaluation of the transtibial pull-out technique for posterior medial meniscal root repairs using 1 and 2 transtibial bone tunnels. Am J Sports Med. 2015;43(4):899–904. doi:10.1177/0363546514563278.
- Yoo JC, Ahn JH, Lee SH, Lee SH, Kim JH. Suturing complete radial tears of the lateral meniscus. 2007;23. doi:10.1016/j.arthro.2006.07.056.
- Grant JA, Wilde J, Miller BS, Bedi A. Comparison of inside-out and all-inside techniques for the repair of isolated meniscal tears: a systematic review. Am J Sports Med. 2012;40(2):459–68. doi:10.1177/0363546511411701.
- Rosso C, Kovtun K, Dow W, et al. Comparison of allinside meniscal repair devices with matched inside-out suture repair. Am J Sports Med. 2011;39(12):2634–9. doi:10.1177/0363546511424723.
- Beamer BS, Masoudi A, Walley KC, et al. Analysis of a new all-inside versus inside-out technique for repairing radial meniscal tears. Arthrosc J Arthrosc Relat Surg. 2015;31(2):293–8. doi:10.1016/j. arthro.2014.08.011.
- 30. Noyes FR, Barber-Westin SD. Arthroscopic repair of meniscus tears extending into the avascular zone with or without anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction in patients 40 years of age and older. Arthroscopy. 2000;16(8):822–9. doi:10.1053/jars.2000.19434.
- Moulton SG, Bhatia S, Civitarese DM, Frank RM, Dean CS, LaPrade RF. Surgical techniques and outcomes of repairing meniscal radial tears: a systematic review. Arthrosc J Arthrosc Relat Surg. 2016;32:1–7. doi:10.1016/j.arthro.2016.03.029.
- 32. Stein T, Mehling AP, Welsch F, von Eisenhart-Rothe R, Jager A. Long-term outcome after arthroscopic meniscal repair versus arthroscopic partial meniscectomy for traumatic meniscal tears. Am J Sports Med. 2010;38(8):1542–8. doi:10.1177/0363546510364052.
- Hoser C, Fink C, Brown C, Reichkendler M, Hackl W, Bartlett J. Long-term results of arthroscopic partial lateral meniscectomy in knees without associated damage. J Bone Joint Surg Br. 2001;83(4):513–6. doi:10.1302/0301-620x.83b4.11364.

All-Inside Meniscal Repair: Updates on Technique

9

Sergio Rocha Piedade, Rodrigo Pereira da Silva Nunes, Camila Cohen Kaleka, and Tulio Pereira Cardoso

Contents

9.1	Introduction	103
9.2	Indications for Meniscal Repair	104
9.3	Placement of Meniscal Sutures	104
9.4	Meniscal Repair Technique	104
9.5 9.5.1	All-Inside Meniscal Repair Technique Anatomical Considerations on All-Inside	104
9.5.2	Meniscal Repair Biomechanical Considerations for All-Inside Meniscal Repairs	106
9.5.3	Outcomes of All-Inside Meniscal Repairs	106
Refere	nces	107

The original version of this chapter was revised. An erratum to this chapter can be found at DOI 10.1007/978-3-662-53792-3_18

S.R. Piedade (🖂)

Department of Orthopedics and Traumatology, Exercise and Sports Medicine, School of Medical Sciences State University of Campinas, UNICAMP, Campinas, São Paulo, Brazil e-mail: piedade@unicamp.br, piedade@fcm.unicamp.br

R.P. da Silva Nunes Faculdade de Medicina, Pontifícia Universidade Católica de Campinas, Campinas, São Paulo, Brazil e-mail: rodnuns27@hotmail.com

C.C. Kaleka

Instituto Cohen de Ortopedia, Reabilitação e Medicina do Esporte, São Paulo, Brazil e-mail: contato@institutocohen.com.br

T. Pereira Cardoso

Faculdade de Medicina de Sorocaba, Pontifícia Universidade Católica de Sorocaba, São Paulo, Brazil e-mail: tuliopcardoso@gmail.com

9.1 Introduction

In the past, meniscectomy was described as a straightforward and efficient procedure to treat meniscal tears, presenting satisfactory results in the short term [10]. For decades, McMurray [15] and Smillie [20] agreed with the opinion that "incomplete resection of the meniscus was a very common mistake" on treating meniscal injuries. However, this concept has changed over time.

Analyzing the effects of a meniscectomy, Fairbank [8] observed that a partial meniscectomy had less progression of degenerative changes of the knee joint compared with a complete meniscal resection. Likewise, Englund and Lohmander [7] stated that the damage to the knee joint was directly related to the amount of meniscus removed.

In this background, partial meniscectomy was one of the first treatments proposed, in the literature, to minimize the effect of meniscal tissue loss and its effect on degenerative changes in the knee joint (Fig. 9.1).

The first meniscal suture was performed in 1883 by Tomas Annandale [2], while Hiroshi Ikeuchi [11] performed the first arthroscopic meniscal suture in 1969. However, the benefits of an open meniscal repair were demonstrated only at the end of the 1970s and the early 1980s [6].

However, meniscal resection is more commonly performed than meniscal repair; the literature has identified that the vast majority of knee

Fig. 9.1 Examples of partial meniscectomy proposed for specific meniscal tears

surgeons are adopting the concept of preserving the meniscus. Some authors have reported that the numbers of meniscal suture repairs are increasing, while the number of meniscectomies is stable. [24].

9.2 Indications for Meniscal Repair

The blood supply of the meniscus tissues is not uniform, and therefore, this influences the process of meniscal healing. Therefore, tears closer to the meniscosynovial junction of the meniscus have a higher potential to heal, while central tears in the white-white zone have a lower capacity to heal.

Several factors have a direct influence on the decision to repair a meniscal tear, such as tear location, tear type, the size of a meniscal tear, the quality of meniscal tissue, and its configuration and stability. Moreover, in clinical practice, the patient's expectations, their physical demands, or even their professional issues should be taken into account to decide the therapeutic approach.

9.3 Placement of Meniscal Sutures

The orientation of meniscal sutures has important implications for the quality of the meniscal repair [23]. Biomechanical analysis of various meniscal repair techniques has consistently demonstrated that vertical mattress sutures resist the highest tensile loads to failure, suggesting that the circumferential orientation of the collagen fibers is better captured by the repair and is the gold standard technique for meniscal repairs [4, 13].

9.4 Meniscal Repair Technique

Different meniscal suture repair techniques have been described, such as outside-in, inside-out, and all-inside. In clinical practice, the outside-in technique is not the first choice, but it is still remembered as part of the technical possibilities, particularly for cases of anterior horn and body meniscal tears.

Although the inside-out technique remains the gold standard, it is not free of complications, with potential complications, such as stiffness, pain, and neurovascular complications. Moreover, a possibly increased operative time and an additional incision present a minor limiting factor, particularly when an associated ligament tear is concomitantly reconstructed.

In this context, the all-inside technique can be more attractive to some knee surgeons, especially those with a less knowledgeable surgical team [12, 17].

9.5 All-Inside Meniscal Repair Technique

In 1991, Morgan [16] published on the all-inside meniscus repair. The all-inside technique allowed for an easy insertion and decreased the surgical time. Aros et al. [3] reported that the newest generation of meniscal repairs associated the best features of this technique with improved biomechanical properties. The all-inside arthroscopic technique involves a gamut of devices such as arrows, darts, and other devices designed to hold the meniscal fragments together while potential healing occurs (Figs. 9.2 and 9.3). They provide the possibility of applying sutures in different meniscal tears according to the pattern of meniscal tear such as horizontal, vertical, oblique, or longitudinal tears.

Most of this increasing popularity is related to the possibility to perform a meniscal repair with no additional skin incision [19]. The fourth generation of meniscal tears suture devices is self-adjusting suture devices. In this context, the RapidLoc (DePuy Mitek, Raynham, MA) and the FasT-Fix (Smith & Nephew, Andover, MA) represent this category of meniscal repair devices. With technological advances in repair devices, some studies in recent years have reported equivalent biomechanical properties and success rates to those of the traditional gold standard inside-out suture technique [17]. However, as well as any other surgical procedures, there exist some points that the knee surgeon should keep in mind when repairing meniscal tears with all-inside repair devices.

Fig. 9.2 Diagram of a longitudinal meniscal tear (\mathbf{a}) repaired by using the self-adjusting suture device: meniscus penetration (\mathbf{b}), suture placement (\mathbf{c}), and the final suture: 3 points (\mathbf{d})

Fig. 9.3 Diagram of a longitudinal meniscal tear (a) repaired by using three-point arrow device (b)

9.5.1 Anatomical Considerations on All-Inside Meniscal Repair

The lateral meniscus has some particularities that should be carefully evaluated when approaching this anatomical site, even with recent technological advances that have made all-inside repair devices safer with the stopping mechanism to prevent neurovascular injury.

Regarding the anatomical proximity of the lateral meniscus to the neurovascular structures, Abouheif et al. [1] analyzed, in a cadaveric model, the depth of the FasT-Fix meniscal suture regarding the posterior aspect of the lateral meniscus. The authors supported that it should avoid the use of straight needles, particularly when the lateral meniscus tears are treated more centrally by a direct lateral approach.

Another anatomical consideration is about the absence of lateral meniscus insertion on the popliteus hiatus, mainly, when a full radial meniscal tear is from the front of popliteus recess to the posterior tibial insertion site. Soejima et al. [21] support the importance on reestablishing the meniscus hoop function and advocated that the repair of this meniscal injury performed by an all-inside technique was a safe and feasible procedure.

9.5.2 Biomechanical Considerations for All-Inside Meniscal Repairs

In the literature, biomechanical studies have an important role in the development of new generations of meniscal suture devices and on analyzing different techniques of meniscal tear repairs.

Massoudi et al. [14] compared an all-inside suture-based device (NovoStich; Ceterix, Menlo Park, CA) with an all-inside anchor-based repair (FastT-Fix 360°; Smith & Nephew, Andover MA) and with the inside-out meniscal repair. The authors repaired longitudinal meniscal tears in 36 fresh-frozen porcine menisci. A biomechanical analysis reported that the all-inside suture-based repair and the inside-out repair showed a higher load to failure, while the two all-inside techniques employed showed no difference between displacement values.

9.5.3 Outcomes of All-Inside Meniscal Repairs

Moulton et al. [17] performed a systematic review evaluating the results of radial meniscal repair procedures and complications. Although the study displayed an improvement of postoperative evaluation, the authors reinforced that the
long-term outcomes remain unknown. At 2-year follow-up is the period commonly adopted to evaluate the failure rate of these meniscal repairs, and it is not long enough to determine the longterm consequences of repairs versus meniscectomies. Concerning with this possibility, Nepple et al. [18] performed a systematic review approaching the results of meniscal repair at greater than five years postoperatively. The authors analyzed the data of repair type, tear location, and the status of the anterior cruciate ligament and concluded that the failure rate was comparable for all of the techniques analyzed and ligament status had no influence in the review.

Solheim et al. [22] evaluated the outcomes of meniscus repair using a suture anchor system, named RapidLoc (DePuy-Mitek, Rayham, MA, USA). A vertical longitudinal meniscal tear of 10 mm of length or greater, located in the red-red zone, was eligible to repair. At a 7-year minimum follow-up, the authors detected a rate of failure of about 50 % and stated that all-inside meniscal repair techniques similar to this one could not solve the problem in the long term.

In a prospective randomized multicenter clinical trial study, Kise et al. [12] compared the outcomes of vertical longitudinal meniscal repair using a Biofix® (arrow device) and a FasT-Fix® suture device, considering that the main endpoint of the survey was reoperation within two years. The data obtained in this study reported a 3.6 times higher risk of reoperation within 2-year follow-up for the Biofix, strongly reinforcing the use of a self-adjusting suture device (FastT-Fix®) over an arrow.

Meniscal Repairs with Concomitant Ligament Reconstruction Choi et al. [5] studied and compared the functional outcomes of the meniscal suture repair against all-inside meniscal repair devices (FasT-Fix® (Smith & Nephew Endoscopy, Andover, MA, USA)) with a concomitant hamstring anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction. The results showed satisfactory results and no difference on the meniscal signal on MRI for both techniques of meniscal repair. Pujol et al. [19], in a retrospective study, reevaluated 41 patients who had an all-inside meniscal repair and a concomitant anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction with bone-patellarbone graft. The authors concluded that there was a long-term protective effect of the meniscal repair against degenerative joint disease, and they emphasized that a meniscus repair should be performed whenever possible, even if there was a potential risk of partial healing failure.

Finally, in a systematic review, Fillingham et al. [9] analyzed the inside-out versus all-inside meniscal repair techniques on an isolated meniscal tear. The authors strongly emphasized that the quality of evidence was low because the vast majority of the studies were level 4 evidence. However, there was no difference in the functional outcomes, failure rates, and complications in this review.

References

- Abouheif MM, Shibuya H, Niimoto T, Kongcharoensombat W, Deie M, Adachi N, Ochi M. Determination of the safe penetration depth during all-inside meniscal repair of the posterior repair of the lateral meniscus using the FastT-Fix suture repair system. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 2011;19(11):1868–75.
- Annandale T. An operation for displaced semilunar cartilage. Br J Med. 1885;18:779.
- Aros BC, Pedroza A, Vasileff WK, Litsky AS, Flanigan DC. Mechanical properties of meniscal repair devices with matress suture devices in vitro. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 2010;18(11):1594–8.
- Beamer BS, Masoudi A, Walley KC, Harlow ER, Manoukian OS, Hertz B, Haeussler C, Olson JJ, Deangelis JP, Nazarian A, Ramappa AJ. Analysis of a new all-inside versus inside-out technique for repairing radial meniscal tears. Arthroscopy. 2015;31(2):293–8.
- Choi NH, Kim BY, Heang Bo BH, Victoroff BN. Suture versus FasT-Fix all-inside meniscus repair at the time of anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction. Arthroscopy. 2014;30(10):1280–6.
- DeHaven KE. Peripheral meniscus repair: an alternative to meniscectomy. Orthop Trans. 1981;5:399–400.
- Englund M, Lohmander LS. Risk factors for symptomatic knee osteoarthritis fifteen to twentytwo years after meniscectomy. Arthritis Rheum. 2004;50:2811–9.

- Fairbank TJ. Knee joint changes after meniscectomy. J Bone Joint Surg Br. 1948;30B(4):664–70.
- Fillingham YA, Riboh JC, Erickson BJ, Bach BR Jr, Yanke AB. Inside-Out Versus All-Inside Repair of Isolated Meniscal Tears: An Updated Systematic Review. Am J Sports Med. 2016 Mar 17. pii: 0363546516632504. [Epub ahead of print].
- Hengtao T, Xuntog S. Arthroscopic repair of the meniscal injury using meniscal repair device. Indian J Orthop. 2015;49(5):510–5.
- Ikeuchi H. Surgery under arthroscopic control 1975. In: Proceedings of the Société Internationale d'Arthroscopie. Rheumatology. 57–62
- 12. Kise NJ, Drogest JO, Ekeland A, Siverstesen EA, Heir S. All-inside suture device is superior to meniscal arrows in meniscal repair: a prospective randomized multicenter clinical trial with 2-year follow-up. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 2015;23(1):211–8.
- Masouros SD, McDermont ID, Amis AA, Bull AM. Biomechanics of the meniscus-meniscal ligament construct of the knee. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 2008;16(12):1121–32.
- 14. Masoudi A, Beamer BS, Harlow ER, Manoukian OS, Walley KC, Hertz B, Haeussler C, Olson JJ, Zurakowski D, Nazarian A, Ramappa AJ, DeAnagelis JP. Biomechanical evaluation of an all-inside suture-based device for repairing the longitudinal meniscal tear. Arthroscopy. 2015;31(3):428–34.
- McMurray TP. Certain injuries of the knee-joint. Br Med J. 1934;1(3824):709–13.

- Morgan CD. The "all-inside" meniscus repair. Arthroscopy. 1991;7(1):120–5.
- Moulton SG, Bhatia S, Civitarese DM, Frank RM, Dean CS, RF LP. Surgical techniques and outcomes of repairing radial meniscal tears: a systematic review. Arthroscopy. 2016;32(9):1919–25.
- Nepple JJ, Dunn WR, Wright RW. Meniscal repair outcomes at greater than five years: a systematic literature review and meta-analysis. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2012;94(24):2222–7.
- Pujol N, Tardy N, Boisrenoult P, Beaufils P. Long-term outcomes of all-inside meniscal repair. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 2015;23(1):219–24.
- 20. Smillie IS. Internal derangements of the knee-joint. Br Med J. 1951;2(4735):841–5.
- Soejima T, Tabuchi K, Noguchi K, Inoue T, Katouda M, Murakami H, Horibe S. An all-inside repair for full radial posterior lateral meniscus tears. Arthrosc Tech. 2016;5(1):e133-8.
- Solheim E, Hegna J, Inderhaug E. Long-term outcome after all-inside meniscal repair using the RapidLoc system. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 2016;24:1495–500.
- Tiftikci U, Serbest S. The optimal placement of sutures in the all-inside repair of meniscocapsular separation. Open Orthop J. 2016;10:89–93.
- Tuckman DV, Bravman JT, Lee SS, Rosen JE, Sherman OH. Outcomes of meniscal repair: minimum of 2-year follow-up. Bull Hosp Joint Dis. 2006;63(3–4):100–4.

Step-By-Step Surgical Approaches for Inside-Out Meniscus Repair

10

Ryan D. Scully and Scott C. Faucett

Contents

10.1	Indications	109
10.2	Benefits	110
10.3 10.3.1	Preoperative Planning Special Equipment	110 110
10.4	Positioning and Setup	111
10.5 10.5.1 10.5.2 10.5.3 10.5.4	Repair Technique Exposure Posteromedial Approach Posterolateral Approach Preparing the Tear	111 111 111 111 111 111
10.6	Repair Principles	112
10.7	Passing the Suture	113
10.8	Suture Tying	114
10.9	Repair Assessment	114
10.10	Closure	114

R.D. Scully

Department of Orthopaedic Surgery, George Washington University, 2300 M Street NW – 5th Floor, Washington, DC 20037, USA e-mail: Rdscully6@gmail.com

S.C. Faucett (🖂)

10.11	Adjuncts	114
10.12	Outcomes	114
10.13	Complications	115
10.14	Pearls	115
10.15	Pitfalls	115
Conclusion		115
References		116

10.1 Indications

The inside-out technique is the gold standard for meniscal repair. This repair technique is highly versatile and can be applied to most meniscus tear types along the middle-third and posterior horn, including those tears at the peripheral rim and capsular attachment. Inside-out repair is also favorable for large, complex, multi-planar tears because it allows for the precise placement of multiple sutures. Other applications for insideout repair include bucket handle tears, ramp lesions, and meniscus transplants. While peripheral zone tears have an increased probability of healing potential, successful repair of tears extending into the central avascular zone using an inside-out technique has been reported. In a series of nearly 200 such central zone repairs, some of which underwent subsequent secondlook arthroscopy, and 80 % were asymptomatic at a mean of 42 months postoperatively. Despite this success, second-look arthroscopy revealed

Centers for Advanced Orthopaedics LLC, The Orthopaedic Center PA, 2112 F Street NW Suite 305, Washington, DC 20037, USA e-mail: Scott.c.faucett@gmail.com

complete healing in only 25 % of tears [1]. This paradox suggests that stabilizing the tear, regardless of ultimate healing, may be beneficial. Particularly in young, competitive athletes, we recommend repair of tears extending into the central avascular region.

10.2 Benefits

The inside-out technique offers several advantages. Sutures can be placed with great precision and versatility in either a horizontal or vertical mattress configuration. Additionally, sutures can be deployed to both the femoral and tibial surfaces of the meniscus with minimal trauma to the adjacent stable meniscus, which ultimately produces a stronger repair construct. Some surgeons routinely place up to 10–12 sutures [2]. Since the suture is secured with knots tied on the capsule, there are no prominent intra-articular knots or fixation devices; this minimizes the potential for intra-articular irritation, chondral injury, or impingement with motion and weight-bearing. Lastly, aside from suture, no implants are required which lowers the cost of this repair method.

10.3 Preoperative Planning

As with any meniscus repair, a careful review of the MRI is necessary to ensure an understanding of the tear morphology and to identify any concomitant pathology. We routinely obtain radiographs of the knee, including full-length weight-bearing views, to rule out conditions which may preclude meniscus healing and overall repair success, such as osteoarthritis or limb malalignment respectively.

10.3.1 Special Equipment

- Suture
 - Double-loaded, braided, nonabsorbable 2–0 suture.
 - Needles should be swaged (eyeless), flexible, and approximately 30 cm in length:

- The swage lowers the profile of the suture as it passes through the tissue and limits drag, which can damage adjacent tissue.
- Cannulas
- The cannula is used as a targeting device for suture deployment. Therefore, it is helpful to have an assortment of cannulas with varying degrees of curvature available to address tears aptly based on the tear morphology and anatomic location.
- The cannulas can be single or double barreled to help with spacing.
- Sharply curved cannulas can facilitate safe suture passing for posteriorly based tears as the needle is directed immediately lateral or medial after piercing the capsule, avoiding the neurovascular bundle.
- Malleable single-use cannulas and cannula bending tools are commercially available for custom cannula creation.
- Retractors
 - Several different retractors can be used and are listed below. The retractors have a dual functionality of retracting the gastrocnemius head and receiving the needle as it passed through the capsule. A common feature of the different retractors is a concavity to catch and deflect the needle toward the assistant as it is passed through the capsule.
 - Bottom half of a vaginal speculum
 - Wedding spoon [3]
 - Henning and other commercially available popliteal retractors
- Suture passing
 - The needle can be passed through the cannula by the surgeon manually using a standard needle driver.
 - Alternatively, automated gun-type devices are available and can be used based on surgeon preference.
 - Regardless of how the suture is passed, a needle driver is required for needle retrieval posteriorly by the assistant.
 - Suture management
 - If numerous sutures are planned, numbered hemostats can help maintain organization.

10.4 Positioning and Setup

For inside-out meniscus repair, it is very helpful to use a leg holder to drape the operative leg free. This allows the assistant to easily gain access to the posterior medial aspect of the leg. A thighhigh tourniquet is placed on the operative extremity to assist with visualization, and the nonoperative leg is placed in a lithotomy stirrup leg holder abducted away from the surgical field.

10.5 Repair Technique

10.5.1 Exposure

The standard anterolateral and anteromedial arthroscopy portals are created, and a full diagnostic arthroscopy is performed. Next, depending on the laterality of the meniscus being repaired, the posterolateral or posteromedial capsule must be exposed.

10.5.2 Posteromedial Approach

The following palpable landmarks should be identified: medial tibiofemoral joint line, posteromedial edge of the tibial plateau, and the adductor tubercle. The arthroscopic probe can be sounded off of the posteromedial capsule to help identify the joint line. A longitudinal incision is centered over the level of the joint line, with the adductor tubercle as the proximal extent and a point approximately 2 cm distal to the joint line over the posteromedial tibial plateau edge as the distal extent. Sharp dissection is carried through the subcutaneous fascia and sartorius fascia. A triangular space can be identified deep to the sartorial fascia. This space is bound anteriorly by the joint capsule, posteriorly by the medial head of the gastrocnemius, and inferiorly by the semimembranosus (Fig. 10.1) [2].

Using a 10 blade scalpel or Mayo-type scissors, this fascia is divided longitudinally and spread apart. A Cobb elevator and finger can be used to gently release adhesions between the gastrocnemius and posteromedial capsule. The arthroscopic probe is placed into the joint and palpated along the posteromedial joint line to confirm adequate pericapsular exposure and posterior retraction of the neurovascular bundle. With the Cobb elevator still in place posteriorly, insert the preferred retractor to retract the posterior tissues. Figure 10.2 demonstrates the plane of the retractor to protect the posterior structures.

10.5.3 Posterolateral Approach

The lateral tibiofemoral joint line, Gerdy's tubercle, and posterior border of the iliotibial (IT) band are identified. An arthroscopic probe can be used to assist with localizing the joint line. A longitudinal incision is made coursing along the posterior edge of the iliotibial band (ITB) and centered over the joint line. Sharp dissection is carried down to the level of the superficial fascia of the ITB. The posterior margin is incised in line with the wound, leaving a small cuff of tissue posteriorly for repair. The fibular head and lateral head of the gastrocnemius can be palpated. The dissection interval is between the ITB and the biceps femoris tendon. The peroneal nerve lies posterior to the biceps femoris tendon. The posterior neurovascular structures (popliteal vein, artery, and tibial nerve) lie adjacent to the lateral head of the gastrocnemius posteromedially. Blunt dissection is used to release adhesions between the lateral gastrocnemius and posterior capsule. The arthroscopic probe is used to confirm adequate pericapsular exposure (Fig. 10.3).

10.5.4 Preparing the Tear

Once the capsule has been exposed posteriorly, the tear is prepared for repair. An arthroscopic shaver is used to debride the edges and remove fraying. An arthroscopic rasp or burr can then be passed along the tear edges to freshen the tissue and parameniscal synovium to stimulate bleeding. Similarly, the surgeon can use a spinal needle to stimulate bleeding.



Fig. 10.1 A triangular interval can be identified in the posteromedial approach. The posterior retractor is placed in this interval (Published with permission from Ref. [2])



Fig. 10.2 The placement of the concave retractors is illustrated in *green* in this axial MRI image. The important neurovascular and other pertinent anatomic structures are labeled. The tibial or popliteal artery is *red*, the vein is

10.6 Repair Principles

- 1. Place as many sutures as necessary to create a stable, anatomic repair. Sutures should be placed 4–5 mm apart.
- Vertical suture orientation is more biomechanically favorable, with cadaveric and animal studies demonstrating increased stiffness and failure strength [4–6]. These findings

blue, and the tibial nerve is marked in *yellow*. It is helpful in either the medial or lateral approach to use an arthroscopic probe to confirm that the important neurovascular structures are posterior to the retractor

seem to coincide with the circumferentially oriented type I collagen fibers that compose the majority of the menisci [7]. However, some tears (radial, flap) may be better suited with horizontal or oblique suture patterns.

 The best stability and reduction is often achieved with combined, stacked superior and inferiorly placed sutures. Placing superior sutures only may event the meniscus **Fig. 10.3** The Iliotibial band is split along its posterior border. A space for the retractor is created by bluntly releasing adhesions between the gastrocnemius head and posterolateral corner (*PLC*) (Published with permission from Ref. [2])





Fig. 10.4 Stacked superior and inferior sutures provide optimal strength and prevent abnormal gapping of the meniscus from unbalanced suture placement (Published with permission from Ref. [2])

and cause gapping on the tibial surface. In order to achieve a balanced repair, both superior and inferior sutures should be placed when possible. Because of the puckering effect, placing the superior suture first improves exposure of the inferior surface and is often a logical sequence for repair (Fig. 10.4).

10.7 Passing the Suture

A large spoon or the bottom half of a vaginal speculum is placed posteriorly, anterior to the (lateral or medial) gastrocnemius head to protect the neurovascular bundle. The knee is placed in 30 degrees of flexion, and the needle cannula is positioned onto the meniscus central to the tear. Typically, the cannula is placed through the portal opposite to the side being repaired to avoid having to make a sharp turn of the needle. An assistant loads the needle into the cannula, and the suture is passed through the capsule either manually with a needle driver or using a gun-type suture shuttling device. The needle tip can be advanced through the cannula end to prevent the cannula or meniscus from slipping away as suture passing begins. This can also function as a spear and help to stabilize and reduce an unstable meniscus prior to suture passing.

Both the surgeon and assistant must coordinate their actions to ensure that the flexible needle is aimed toward the retractor as it exits the capsule posteriorly. The assistant retrieves the needle and suture from the posterior wound using a needle driver, and the needle is removed from the suture end. The second needle is loaded through the cannula and passed in similar fashion. The needles are carefully removed, the suture ends are tagged with a small clamp, and the process is repeated.

Sutures should be placed in a vertical mattress fashion on both the tibial and femoral surfaces to secure the meniscus to the peripheral capsulomeniscus tissue. Only placing sutures on the femoral side will leave a significant area of the tear unsecured.

10.8 Suture Tying

Throughout the suture passing process, the assistant is charged with suture management and preventing tangles. Once all sutures have been passed, the knee is flexed to 90° . Each suture is tied in a manner to not break the suture or pull through the soft tissue (Fig. 10.5).

10.9 Repair Assessment

After all sutures have been tied and cut, the repair is assessed by probing arthroscopically. Anatomic reduction and stability of the repair should be confirmed through visualization and careful probing.



Fig. 10.5 The assistant retracts and receives the needle posterior as it is deflected out of the wound off of the retractor. When multiple sutures are placed, numbered hemostats can facilitate suture management (Published with permission from Ref. [2])

10.10 Closure

The wounds are irrigated thoroughly. On the medial side, the gastrocnemius fascia and sartorius fascia are closed independently. Laterally, the iliotibial band is closed in a running fashion.

10.11 Adjuncts

Several biologic adjuncts to meniscal repair have been investigated with limited and inconsistent efficacy. Enhanced healing has been demonstrated with the use of exogenous fibrin clots [8, 9]. We do not routinely use biologic adjuncts, including fibrin clots. However, if the meniscal repair is performed in isolation (without concurrent cruciate ligament reconstruction), we use a microfracture pick to create 3–4 awl holes in the non-articulating intercondylar notch surface of the lateral femoral condyle.

10.12 Outcomes

Although partial meniscectomy has a lower rate of reoperation, the long-term subjective and radiographic outcomes are inferior to that of meniscal repair [10]. Meniscal repair also has improved results with regard to return to sports activity [11]. Long-term retrospective studies have characterized the success of the inside-out repair. In a series of approximately 50 isolated arthroscopic meniscal repairs, Johnson et al. found the intervention to be nearly 80 % successful after an average 10 years of follow-up. A successful result was determined based on the absence of mechanical symptoms, instability, pain, degenerative joint disease, and reoperation [12]. Horibe et al. evaluated 132 inside-out meniscal repairs with second-look arthroscopy. At an average of 8 months after the initial surgery, 93 % of patients had excellent clinical outcomes (lack of pain, swelling, mechanical symptoms). On second-look arthroscopy, 74 % of the repairs had healed completely with little or no visible unhealed area. Only 9 % of repairs were found to be unhealed and with some persistent instability. Interestingly, 25 % of the patients with excellent clinical outcomes had signs of incomplete healing [13]. Other studies have acknowledged the success of inside-out meniscal repair [14–16].

10.13 Complications

The inside-out technique is safe and reliable. The most feared complication is an injury to the popliteal artery or common peroneal nerve, either of which can be devastating. While both complications have been reported, the incidence is low [17, 18]. Other complications include saphenous vein and nerve injury, inferior lateral genicular artery injury, and repair failure (persistent symptoms or re-tear). The risks of any knee arthroscopy include superficial (portal site) infection, deep infection (septic arthritis), deep vein thrombosis, painful hemarthrosis, and chondral injury.

10.14 Pearls

- Place the sutures in a stacked, femoral, and tibial suture configuration when possible.
- Only pass the needle 1–2 cm beyond the cannula. If the needle is passed more than 2 cm, it

has likely deflected beyond the retractor and will put neurovascular structures at risk of injury.

- After the needle has been advanced through the meniscus and capsule, flexing the knee will make needle retrieval easier for the assistant.
- For posterior horn tears of the medial meniscus, the cannula should be passed through the anterolateral portal to allow the needle to be angled away from the neurovascular bundle.
- When passing multiple sutures, use numbered hemostats to aid in determining the location of each suture.
- When passing sutures at the midbody of the meniscus, the suture will exit very anterior in the wound and may pierce the skin. Instead of repositioning the suture, deliver it completely and remove the needle. Use a pointed hemostat to find the suture in the subcutaneous tissue and pull it retrograde into the surgical field.

10.15 Pitfalls

- Avoid making an incision too anterior because this will be difficult to retract the soft tissues.
- In the setting of cruciate ligament surgery, perform the meniscus repair prior to doing drilling cruciate tunnels as this will maintain better arthroscopic visualization and avoid suture entanglement.

Conclusion

The inside-out technique for meniscus repair is comparably inexpensive, biomechanically superior, and versatile in its ability to be applied to a variety of tear types and anatomic locations. Angled cannulas, concave popliteal retractors, an experienced assistant, and an understanding of the anatomy facilitate a successful and safe repair. Mid- and long-term results support the use of the inside-out technique for meniscal repair.

References

- Rubman MH, Noyes FR, Barber-Westin SD. Arthroscopic repair of meniscal tears that extend into the avascular zone a review of 198 single and complex tears. Am J Sports Med. 1998;26(1):87–95.
- Chahla J, Cruz RS, Cram TR, Dean CS, LaPrade RF. Inside-out meniscal repair: medial and lateral approach. Arthroscopy Tech. 2016;5(1):e163–8.
- LaPrade RF, Moulton SG, Cram TR, Geeslin AG, LaPrade CM, Engebretsen L. Medial and lateral meniscal inside-out repairs. JBJS Essent Surg Tech. 2015;5(4):e24.
- Boenisch UW, Faber KJ, Ciarelli M, Steadman JR, Arnoczky SP. Pull-out strength and stiffness of meniscal repair using absorbable arrows or Ti-Cron vertical and horizontal loop sutures. Am J Sports Med. 1999;27(5):626–31.
- Raunest J, Derra E. Experimentelle Ergebnise zur biomechanischen Belastbarkeit der Meniskusnaht im Bereich der Zone II. Unfallchirurg. 1990;93(5):197–201.
- Rimmer MG, Nawana NS, Keene GC, Pearcy MJ. Failure strengths of different meniscal suturing techniques. Arthroscopy. 1995;11(2):146–50.
- Messner K, Gao J. The menisci of the knee joint. Anatomical and functional characteristics, and a rationale for clinical treatment. J Anat. 1998;193(02):161–78.
- Arnoczky SP, Warren RF, Spivak JM. Meniscal repair using an exogenous fibrin clot. An experimental study in dogs. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1988;70(8):1209–17.
- Henning CE, Lynch MA, Yearout KM, Vequist SW, Stallbaumer RJ, Decker KA. Arthroscopic meniscal repair using an exogenous fibrin clot. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 1990;252:64–72.

- Paxton ES, Stock MV, Brophy RH. Meniscal repair versus partial meniscectomy: a systematic review comparing reoperation rates and clinical outcomes. Arthroscopy. 2011;27(9):1275–88.
- Stein T, Mehling AP, Welsch F, von Eisenhart-Rothe R, Jäger A. Long-term outcome after arthroscopic meniscal repair versus arthroscopic partial meniscectomy for traumatic meniscal tears. Am J Sports Med. 2010;38(8):1542–8.
- Johnson MJ, Lucas GL, Dusek JK, Henning CE. Isolated arthroscopic meniscal repair: a long-term outcome study (more than 10 years). Am J Sports Med. 1999;27(1):44–9.
- Horibe S, Shino K, Nakata K, Maeda A, Nakamura N, Matsumoto N. Second-look arthroscopy after meniscal repair. Review of 132 menisci repaired by an arthroscopic inside-out technique. Bone Joint J. 1995;77(2):245–9.
- Anderson L, Watts M, Shapter O, Logan M, Risebury M, Duffy D, Myers P. Repair of radial tears and posterior horn detachments of the lateral meniscus: minimum 2-year follow-up. Arthroscopy. 2010;26(12):1625–32.
- Haklar U, Kocaoglu B, Nalbantoglu U, Tuzuner T, Guven O. Arthroscopic repair of radial lateral meniscus tear by double horizontal sutures with inside–outside technique. Knee. 2008;15(5):355–9.
- Ra HJ, Ha JK, Jang SH, Lee DW, Kim JG. Arthroscopic inside-out repair of complete radial tears of the meniscus with a fibrin clot. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 2013;21(9):2126–30.
- Jurist KA, Greene PW, Shirkhoda A. Peroneal nerve dysfunction as a complication of lateral meniscus repair: a case report and anatomic dissection. Arthroscopy. 1989;5(2):141–7.
- Small NC. Complications in arthroscopic surgery performed by experienced arthroscopists. Arthroscopy. 1988;4(3):215–21.

The Role of Alignment in Meniscal Tears and the Role of Osteotomy

11

Aad Dhollander and Alan Getgood

Contents

11.1	Introduction	117
11.2	How Does Alignment Relate to Meniscus Tears and Degeneration?	118
11.3	Principles of Realignment Osteotomy	119
11.4	Evidence for Realignment Osteotomy with Meniscal Deficiency	120
11.5	Surgical Technique of Osteotomy	121
11.5.1	Patient Assessment	121
11.5.2	Osteotomy Planning	121
11.5.3	Degree of Correction	122
11.5.4	MOWHTO Technique	122
11.5.5	LOWHTO Technique	123
11.5.6	MCWDFVO Technique	125
Conclusion		126
References		126

A. Dhollander, MD, PT, PhD

The Fowler Kennedy Sport Medicine Clinic, University of Western Ontario, London, ON, Canada

A. Getgood, MPhil, MD, FRCS(Tr and Orth) (⊠) Consultant Orthopaedic Surgeon, Orthopaedic Sport Medicine Fellowship Director, Fowler Kennedy Sport Medicine Clinic, 3M Centre, University of Western Ontario, London, ON N6A 3K7, Canada e-mail: alan.getgood@uwo.ca

11.1 Introduction

The meniscus has an important role of reinforcing and stabilizing the incongruity of the femur and tibia and is responsible for transmitting 40–60 % of stress to the knee when standing and 85 % when at 90 degrees flexion [1, 2]. Medial meniscus tears are more frequently reported since the medial structures are more firmly attached to the tibia, compared to the lateral meniscus which has a relatively free range of motion [3]. In a large-scale study targeting the middle aged or the elderly, a maximum of 35 % showed meniscus injury and the prevalence increased with age [2].

Meniscal tears are not always the result of trauma. Ferrer-Roca and Vilalta stated that it was of interest that only 35 % of their patients whose menisci had been removed had a history of trauma [4]. Therefore, it has been stated that other factors play an important role in the pathophysiology of meniscal tears [2, 5]. In this chapter, we focus on the role of axial alignment of the lower limb and its relationship with meniscal tears and degeneration. Furthermore, we will outline the biomechanical principles of realignment osteotomy, provide evidence for the role of osteotomy with meniscal pathology, and outline the surgical technique utilized at our institution.

11.2 How Does Alignment Relate to Meniscus Tears and Degeneration?

The knee joint is the largest and most complex joint in the human body and has the longest lever arms. The joint transmits muscle forces into motion, with large lever arms producing substantial load moments across the joint due to the ground reaction force acting about the center of rotation of the knee, creating adduction and abduction moments in the varus and valgus knee, respectively (Fig. 11.1). Axial load causes high mechanical stress in the respective joint compartments, with mechanical load during walking on even ground amounting to 3.4 times body weight and as much as 4.3 times when climbing stairs [6, 7].

The most frequent leg deformities occur in the plane (varus-valgus deviations). coronal Malalignment can be defined as a deviation of the mechanical axis. A significant deviation in the coronal plane is diagnosed when the weightbearing axis of the lower extremity lies more than 15 mm medial to the center of the knee joint (varus deviation) or more than 10 mm lateral of the center (valgus deviation) [8]. To differentiate between a femoral and a tibial cause of malalignment, the mechanical lateral distal femoral angle (mLDFA, standard value $87^{\circ} \pm 3^{\circ}$) must be considered. If the mLDFA value is smaller than the standard value, the cause of the valgus deformity is femoral based. If the mechanical medial proximal tibial angle (mMPTA) is increased, the valgus malalignment is due to a tibial deviation. Conversely, an increased femoral angle (mLDFA) indicates a femoral cause of varus malalignment, whereas an mMPTA $< 87^{\circ} \pm 3^{\circ}$ indicates a tibial cause [8] (Fig. 11.2a).

In the presence of tibial or femoral deviations in the frontal plane, forces can no longer be transferred uniformly at the knee joint. Instead, nonphysiological load distribution with mechanical stress occurs in the medial or lateral compartment. Teichtahl et al. reported that for every 1° of varus alignment, articular cartilage loss increased by 0.44 % per year, as measured on MRI [9]. It is therefore clear that mechanical overload of a



Fig. 11.1 Adduction moment (*red arrow*) as a result of ground reaction force placed medial to center of rotation in varus lower limb

joint compartment correlates with cartilage damage and either promotes the development of degenerative joint disease or accelerates its progress [10-12].



Fig. 11.2 (a, b) normal alignment indices of the distal femur and proximal tibia (c, d) preoperative correction planning for MOWHTO as per Dugdale et al. [36]

In many studies, the increased degree of lower limb varus is reported to be related to the progression of osteoarthritis due to medial meniscus injury and articular cartilage injury [1, 13–15]. It has been reported that the axial alignment of the lower limb in patients with isolated tears of the medial meniscus without obvious trauma is varus. The alignment is almost normal in those with obvious trauma. Therefore, it seems that a varus deformity of the knee is closely related to the occurrence of a medial meniscal tear [5]. This is not the case for the lateral meniscus, since the axial alignment of the lower limb does not appear to have a relationship with the occurrence of lateral meniscal tears, because the alignment of the lower limb was normal in these patients [5].

In summary, even without obvious trauma, the load stress to the knee produces degeneration of the medial meniscus in the varus knee, potentially leading to a later meniscal tear.

The medial meniscus is closely attached to the deep layer of the medial collateral ligament at its

middle segment, resulting in relatively low mobility. In comparison with the lateral meniscus, the medial meniscus is broad and thick, particularly in the posterior segment. These conditions may explain why the medial meniscus is more prone to be influenced by load stress than the lateral meniscus [5].

11.3 Principles of Realignment Osteotomy

Osteotomies around the knee that alter the weightbearing axis of the lower extremity have a substantial effect on the load balance and distribution of pressure at the knee joint [16]. Birmingham et al. demonstrated that valgus medial opening wedge high tibial osteotomy (MOWHTO) resulted in substantial and clinically important reductions in the load on the medial tibiofemoral compartment as measured by reductions in knee adduction moment on 3D gait analysis, with associated improvement in patient reported outcomes [17]. A similar result was found in a study by Collins et al. concerning the varus lateral opening wedge HTO [18]. Femoral and tibial osteotomies facilitate the restoration of the physiological axes of the lower limb.

To achieve the desired off-loading of the compartment, the mechanical axis is moved to a predetermined position in the knee. The most common deformity is varus malalignment in the face of medial compartment osteoarthritis. Many surgeons aim to move the axis beyond the center of the knee, to the Fujisawa point. This is 62.5 % of the medial-lateral width of the knee joint from the medial edge [19]. Fujisawa fails to provide a mechanical rationale for using this point. Rather, it appears to have been a subjective judgment based on the results of chondral biopsies in a small series of HTOs [19]. It is therefore unclear from the current literature whether Fujisawa's desired correction is optimal for biological augmentation. Agneskirchner et al. investigated the effect on the tibiofemoral articular contact pressures by moving the resultant force vector from medial to lateral during sequential medial opening wedge osteotomy in cadavers [20]. They found that the contact pressure in the lateral compartment was already 70 % higher than that in the medial compartment when the load vector passed through the center of the knee and that it continued to increase as the valgus angulation increased [21]. Therefore, it is therefore suggested that a desired correction would be between 50 % and 62.5 % medial to lateral in order to achieve the appropriate degree of compartment unloading. The same principles may be applied to the valgus knee, where correction in alignment should aim to be either neutral or slight varus; however, no studies have determined the optimal alignment for longevity of successful treatment outcomes.

11.4 Evidence for Realignment Osteotomy with Meniscal Deficiency

The goals of treatment of patients with symptomatic meniscal deficiency are primarily to provide symptomatic relief during daily activities with subsequent improvements in patient function and quality of life; relief with higher-level activities tends to be less predictable. Ideally, treatment would prevent further progression of osteoarthritis, although the current literature has not reliably demonstrated this [22]. Surgical treatments, including meniscal allograft transplantation (MAT), synthetic segmental meniscus replacement, and realignment osteotomy, are options that attempt to decrease the loads on the articular cartilage of the meniscus-deficient compartment by replacing meniscal tissue or altering joint alignment. In this section we focus on the existing evidence concerning different types of osteotomy as a treatment option for meniscal deficiency.

High tibial osteotomy (HTO) presents as an option for patients suffering from unicompartmental post-meniscectomy degeneration with tibial-based malalignment. This is the most common varus deformity because of a reduced medial proximal tibial angle. A medial opening wedge high tibial osteotomy (MOWHTO) (Fig. 11.3) has become the most common procedure to deal with this deformity due to the ease of angular correction and the maintenance of proximal metaphyseal bone stock. The lateral tibial closing wedge osteotomy was also common in the treatment of varus malalignment, but has fallen out of favor due to the higher risk for complications and imprecision in achieving the desired angle of correction. The dome osteotomy is not commonly performed, because it is more technically demanding to create a curved osteotomy; it is more indicated for a larger correction [22, 23].

Isolated lateral compartment osteoarthritis can occur also after meniscectomy. Due to the joint geometry and lack of congruity in the lateral compartment, resection of the lateral meniscus causes a much greater increase in contact stresses in the lateral compartment, and therefore the articular cartilage is at much greater risk of degeneration in these knees. As such, it is critical to assess the alignment of patients who have undergone lateral meniscectomy as they will be at significant risk of developing early chondrosis and subsequent OA. In this scenario, if the mechanical malalignment is femoral based, then a distal femoral varus osteotomy (DFVO) is an option to treat these patients [24] (Fig. 11.5). If, however, the valgus alignment is secondary to cartilage and meniscus loss, a tibial-based correction in the form of a lateral opening wedge HTO is a great option, because it affects the mechanical axis of the joint throughout a complete range of motion (Fig. 11.4). DFVO is only efficient in extension, whereas a tibial-based correction will also off-load the desired compartment in flexion too.

The success of HTO slowly diminishes with time. The mean range of effectiveness is more than 7 to 10 years. In this way, an HTO can win valuable time before placing a unicompartmental or total knee arthroplasty [23, 25]. Inaccurate correction of preoperative deformity is the biggest contributor to HTO failure. If inaccuracy occurs, overcorrection is more desirable than under correction [22, 26, 27]. The survival of isolated HTO gradually declines over time up to a 20-year follow-up. This was found in a review of 57 studies (4344 knees) of isolated HTO [25]. The respective survival rates were 92.4 %, 84.5 %, 77.3 %, and 72.3 % at 5, 10, 15, and 20 years of follow-up. This review also included four studies that directly compared medial opening wedge osteotomy with lateral closing wedge osteotomy, with no difference in survivorship or clinical outcomes in follow-up of more than 2 years [22, 25]. Luites et al. compared 42 patients treated with either a medial opening wedge or lateral closing wedge osteotomy in a randomized clinical trial [28]. They reported no difference in recovery period and bone healing. Song et al. similarly retrospectively compared outcomes of both medial opening and lateral closing osteotomy techniques at 3-year follow-up and found no significant difference in anterior knee pain, patellar alignment, or patellofemoral arthritis [29]. Another study observed that 90 % of patients after an HTO were engaged in sports at the same intensity as preoperatively [30].

DFO has been established for treatment of isolated lateral compartment arthritis in select patients, with a mean survivorship of 80 % at a 10-year follow-up [24].

In general, osteotomies are an effective procedure for the young patients allowing them to return to impact activities with less discomfort, with no significant differences observed between medial opening wedge and lateral closing wedge osteotomies.

11.5 Surgical Technique of Osteotomy

11.5.1 Patient Assessment

Important factors regarding osteotomy include patient comorbidities and smoking status. A study looking at the complications of HTO in our institution found that diabetics and smokers were associated with an increased risk of postoperative complications [31]. Gait assessment is important to check for a dynamic varus or valgus thrust (coronal plane movement during stance phase). An added hyperextension moment on heel strike is indicative of a further posterior soft tissue attenuation issues, usually in the opposite corner to the involved compartment.

Assessment of prior skin incisions, if present, is important, because this may dictate the surgical approach both at the current and for potential future operations. Assessment for all other pathologies that may be also addressed – either concomitantly or as a staged procedure – must be undertaken. These include stiffness, instability, malalignment, meniscal pathology, and chondral/ osteochondral involvement.

Radiological assessment specific to osteotomy considerations includes anteroposterior, Rosenberg, lateral, and hip-to-ankle double-leg standing alignment radiographs. Varus/valgus or kneeling posterior stress views may be considered if dealing with complex instability patterns.

11.5.2 Osteotomy Planning

The following flow decision-making algorithm can be used to determine the type of osteotomy required to address the presenting pathology:

1. Site of correction – tibia or femur?

- Degree of correction required to neutral or overcorrection?
- 3. Single or biplanar correction is there associated anteroposterior instability?
- 4. Opening or closing wedge dependent upon the approach used and surgical preferences.
- 5. Hardware choices ensuring that the hardware is not prohibitive of further procedures.
- Concurrent vs. staged procedures dependent upon the surgeon's skill, the duration of the procedure, and hardware interference.

In the varus knee, a medial opening wedge HTO (MOWHTO) is the author's first choice due to the ability to correct both coronal and sagittal planes, the ability to easily titrate the degree of correction, and the lack of disruption to the proximal tibial anatomy as seen in lateral closing wedge procedures [32]. The choice of the site of correction in the valgus knee is dependent upon the site of the deformity. If the valgus is secondary to cartilage and meniscus loss, with only a small degree of valgus, a lateral opening wedge HTO (LOWHTO) is the procedure of choice, because it addresses the problem throughout the range of flexion and extension [18]. Great care must be taken not to increase the proximal tibial joint line obliquity by more than 10°, as this has been presumed to be associated with poor outcomes [31, 33, 34].

If the deformity is primarily in the femur, i.e., if the anatomic lateral distal femoral articular angle (aLDFA) is abnormal (<80°), then a femoral-based correction is preferred. In this instance, the medial closing wedge distal femoral varus osteotomy (MCWDFVO) is our procedure of choice, due to the ease of approach, the stability of the construct, and good healing potential. A lateral opening wedge DFVO is an alternative option.

11.5.3 Degree of Correction

Fujisawa indicates that moving the mechanical axis into the opposite compartment is beneficial

in isolated HTO [35]. The optimal degree of correction – whether neutral or overcorrection – is unknown. It is the authors' preference to correct the mechanical axis of the varus knee to the downslope of the lateral tibial eminence while in the valgus knee to correct to neutral. The method of Dugdale et al. [36] is used to calculate the correction for the MOWHTO (Fig. 11.2c, d), which may be modified for the LOWHTO and the MCWDFVO.

11.5.4 MOWHTO Technique (Fig. 11.3)

- Approach an oblique skin incision is prepared to ensure that as much soft tissue as possible overlies the hardware in order to try and reduce the incidence of infection. A distal MCL release is performed to prevent a tension band on the medial side when opening the wedge. A blunt retractor is then placed posteriorly after elevating the posterior periosteum to protect the neurovascular structures.
- Osteotomy and wedge opening the desired level of the osteotomy is marked so as to ensure that there is enough room for hardware proximally in the metaphysis. A guide pin is placed from medial to lateral, making sure that the lateral hinge point is 1.5 times the distance from the lateral joint line to the lateral tibial cortex. The osteotomy is initiated with an oscillating saw and is continued with an osteotome under fluoroscopic control, with the posterior retractor in place at all times, leaving a lateral hinge. The wedge is then opened slowly, taking care not to fracture the lateral hinge. Due to the geometry of the anteromedial wall of the proximal tibia, the wedge should open approximately double the distance posteromedially as anteromedially so as to ensure that the tibial slope is not inadvertently altered.
- Fixation once the desired correction is achieved, based on preoperative calculations, the hardware is applied as per the manufacturer's



Fig. 11.3 Surgical technique for medial opening wedge high tibial osteotomy (MOWHTO). This is a right knee undergoing MOWHTO. A tourniquet is applied with lateral post and foot roll to support the knee held at 90° of flexion. (a) Oblique skin incision over pes anserinus allows a greater soft tissue envelope over the plate, helping to reduce wound infection and reduce risk to sartorial branch of saphenous nerve. (b) The sartorius fascia is split, and a blunt retractor is placed posteriorly protecting the neurovascular structures. The MCL is then cut at the level of the osteotomy. (c) A guide pin is

guidelines. The proximal screws are inserted first, followed by one distal screw. At this stage, the knee can be brought out to extension in order to attempt to close the wedge down anteriorly, thereby reducing the chance of increasing tibial slope.

Rehabilitation – this generally entails touch weight-bearing for 4 weeks, with range of movement limited to 0–90°. At 4 weeks, patients may weight-bear as tolerated. placed in the line of the osteotomy, stopping at the level of the proximal tib/fib joint. The lateral hinge should be at least 1.5 times greater the distance from the lateral joint line than to the lateral cortex to help avoid intraarticular propagation of the osteotomy. (**d**) Following creation of the osteotomy with oscillating saw and osteotome, the wedge is opened with a spreader. (**e**) The osteotomy is held open with a wedge or laminar spreader and the plate is applied. (**f**) The screws are inserted percutaneously and the locking plate internal fixator is fixed in place as shown

11.5.5 LOWHTO Technique (Fig. **11.4**)

A similar process regarding the order of HTO is followed:

Approach – a lateral–longitudinal skin incision is made centered between the tibial tubercle and the anterior border of the fibula head. The tibialis anterior is elevated off the bone and



Fig. 11.4 Surgical technique for lateral opening wedge high tibial osteotomy (LOWHTO). This is a right knee undergoing LOWHTO. A tourniquet is applied with lateral post and foot roll to support knee held at 90° of flexion. (a) Curvilinear skin incision on lateral side of the knee midway between lateral border of patella and anterior border of fibula head. This may be extended if a lateral MAT is being performed and an arthrotomy is required. (b) Tibialis anterior is elevated off the proximal tibia and a blunt retractor is placed posteriorly to protect

retracted posterolaterally, taking the nerve with it. The dissection is carried on to the anterior capsule of the proximal tibiofibular joint, which is opened and mobilized, negating the need for a fibular osteotomy. A blunt retractor is then placed posteriorly after elevating the posterior periosteum to protect the neurovascular structures.

the neurovascular structures. Another blunt retractor is placed under the patella tendon to allow visualization of the anterior interval. (\mathbf{c} , \mathbf{d}) The osteotomy is performed with oscillating saw and osteotome under fluoroscopic guidance. (\mathbf{e} , \mathbf{f}) The spreader is inserted and the osteotomy is opened to the desired correction. (\mathbf{g}) The osteotomy is held open with a wedge and the correction/alignment is checked. (\mathbf{h} , \mathbf{i}) The lateral plate is bent to fit the lateral cortex and applied in a standard method using locking screws

Osteotomy and wedge opening – a similar process is followed as per the MOWHTO, except that the pin is placed from lateral to medial, and the wedge should have equal posterior and anterior gaps. This is again due to the proximal tibial geometry, which is more uniform on the lateral side than on the medial side.



Fig. 11.5 Surgical technique for medial closing wedge distal femoral varus osteotomy (MCWDFVO). This is a right knee undergoing MCWDFVO. A tourniquet is applied with lateral post and foot roll to support knee held at 90° of flexion. (**a**, **b**) Medial incision to the knee followed by a subvastus approach to distal femur. (**c**) A guide pin is inserted in an oblique fashion, proximally on the medial cortex so that when the wedge closes, there is no

Fixation – a lateral locking plate is utilized to maintain the correction.

Rehabilitation – similar as above.

11.5.6 MCWDFVO Technique (Fig. 11.5)

Approach – a longitudinal paramedian skin incision is made over the distal femur and a subvastus approach is made. The distal femur is exposed, the neurovascular structures are step in the cortex. The pin is aimed for the medial cortex, just at the level of the radiographic "scar" of the posterior condyle. (d) A further two pins are inserted to allow for planning of a closing wedge, as well as a biplane anterior cut in the coronal plane. This adds a greater degree of stability to the construct when closing and fixing. (e, f) The corticocancellous wedge is removed. (g, h) The plate is applied and fixed with locking screws

elevated away from the posterior femur, and a blunt retractor is placed for protection throughout the procedure. A further blunt retractor is placed anteriorly under the vastus medialis.

Osteotomy and wedge opening – a biplanar closing wedge osteotomy is planned and measured out as per the preoperative planned correction. The biplane cut helps control coronal and sagittal displacement during wedge production and closure. A guide pin is inserted from the medial cortex to a position on the lateral side, just superior to the subchondral density of the posterior condyle. A further three pins may be inserted to mark out the size of the wedge, all culminating at a similar point on the anteroposterior fluoroscopic view, 5 mm from the cortex. The osteotomy wedge cut is then completed with an oscillating saw and an osteotome, and the wedge is removed. The wedge is then closed with a varus force applied to the leg and a medial locking plate applied.

- Fixation the distal metaphyseal screws are inserted first, followed by a proximal nonlocking screw to achieve compression at the osteotomy site. The other holes are then filled with locking screws.
- Rehabilitation similar as above.

Conclusion

While different techniques for meniscal substitution exist, it is generally accepted that they should not be performed in a knee where the mechanical axis runs through the affected compartment. The biomechanical rationale for an unloading realignment osteotomy is clear. It results in a reduction of articular contact stress and in a resultant reduction of chondral wear.

There are a number of surgical options available when realignment osteotomy is indicated. It is important that a thorough examination and radiological assessment of the patient are performed, paying close attention to the site of deformity so as to best select the most appropriate method of correction for that individual patient to result in optimal clinical outcomes.

References

- 1. Smillie IS. Injuries of the knee joint. 5th ed. Edinburgh: Churchill Livingston; 1978. p. 114–8.
- Leach RE, Baumgard S, Broom J. Obesity: its relationship to osteoarthritis of the knee. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 1973;93:271–3.
- Lim HC, Lee SH, Shon WY, Lee DW. A clinical study of meniscus injury. J Korean Orthop Assoc. 1989;24:27–33.

- Ferrer-Roca O, Vilalta C. Lesions of the meniscus. Part I. Macroscopic and histologic findings. Clin Orthop. 1980;146:289–300.
- Habata T, Ishimura M, Ohgushi H, Tamai S, Fujisawa Y. Axial alignment of the lower limb in patients with isolated meniscal tear. J Orthop Sci. 1998;3:85–9.
- Morrison J. Bioengineering analysis of force actions transmitted by the knee joint. Bio Med Eng. 1968;3:164–70.
- 7. Morrison J. Function of the knee in various activities. Bio Med Eng. 1969;4:573–80.
- Paley D, Pfeil J. Principles of deformity corrections around the knee. Orthopade. 2000;29:18–38.
- Teichtahl AJ, Davies-Tuck ML, Wluka AE, Jones G, Cicuttini FM. Change in knee angle influences the rate of medial tibial cartilage volume loss in knee osteoarthritis. Osteoarthritis Cartilage. 2009;17:8–11.
- 10. Cicuttini F, Wluka A, Hankin J, et al. Longitudinal study of the relationship between knee angle and tibiofemoral cartilage volume in subjects with knee osteoarthritis. Rheumatology. 2004;43:321–4.
- Cerejo R, Dunlop DD, Cahue S, et al. The influence of alignment on risk of knee osteoarthritis progression according to baseline stage of disease. Arthritis Rheum. 2002;46:2632–6.
- McKellop HA, Sigholm G, Redfern FC. The effect of simulated fracture-angulations of the tibia on cartilage pressures in the knee joint. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1991;73:1382–91.
- Englund M. Meniscal tear a feature of osteoarthritis. Acta Orthop Scand. 2004;75:1–45.
- Wendelboe AM, Hegmann KT, Biggs JJ, Cox CM, Portmann AJ, Gildea JH, Gren LH, Lyon JL. Relationships between body mass indices and surgical replacements of knee and hip joints. Am J Prev Med. 2003;25:290–5.
- Jeong HJ, Park SJ, Shin HK, Kim EG, Choi JY, Lee JM. Analysis of the mechanical axis of the lower limb in patients with isolated meniscal tear. J Korea Knee Soc. 2009;21:286–91.
- Maquet PG. Biomechanics of the knee: with application of the pathogenesis and the surgical treatment of osteoarthritis. 2nd ed. Heidelberg: Springer; 1984.
- Birmingham TB, Giffin JR, Chesworth BM, Bryant DM, Litchfield RB, Willits K, et al. Medial opening wedge high tibial osteotomy: a prospective cohort study of gait, radiographic, and patient-reported outcomes. Arthritis Rheum. 2009;61:648–57.
- Collins B, Getgood A, Alomar AZ, Giffin JR, Willits K, Fowler PJ, et al. A case series of lateral opening wedge high tibial osteotomy for valgus malalignment. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 2013;21: 152–60.
- Fujisawa Y, Masuhara K, Shiomi S. The effect of high tibial osteotomy on osteoarthritis of the knee. An arthroscopic study of 54 knee joints. Orthop Clin North Am. 1979;10:585–608.
- 20. Agneskirchner JD, Hurschler C, Wrann CD, Lobenhoffer P. The effects of valgus medial opening

wedge high tibial osteotomy on articular cartilage pressure of the knee: a biomechanical study. Arthroscopy. 2007;23:852–61.

- 21. Agneskirchner JD, Hurschler C, Stukenborg-Colsman C, Imhoff AB, Lobenhoffer P. Effect of high tibial flexion osteotomy on cartilage pressure and joint kinematics: a biomechanical study in human cadaveric knees. Winner of the AGA-DonJoy Award 2004. Arch Orthop Trauma Surg. 2004;124:575–84.
- 22. Rao AJ, Erickson BJ, Cvetanovich GL, Yanke AB, Bach Jr BR, Cole BJ. The Meniscus-deficient knee: biomechanics, evaluation and treatment options. Orthop J Sports Med. 2015;233(10): 2325967115611386.
- Amendola A, Bonasia DE. Results of high tibial osteotomy: review of the literature. Int Orthop. 2010;34:155–60.
- Terry GC, Cimino PM. Distal femoral osteotomy for valgus deformity of the knee. Orthopedics. 1992;15: 1283–9.
- Harris JD, McNeilan R, Siston RA, Flanigan DC. Survival and clinical outcome of isolated high tibial osteotomy and combined biological knee reconstruction. Knee. 2013;20:154–61.
- 26. Brouwer RW, Bierma-Zeinstra SM, van Raaij TM, Verhaar JA. Osteotomy for medial compartment arthritis of the knee using a closing wedge or an opening wedge controlled by a Puddu plate. A one year randomized, controlled study. J Bone Joint Surg Br. 2006;88:1454–9.
- TO S, Sexton D, Mitchell P, Hing CB. Opening- or closing wedged high tibial osteotomy: a meta-analysis of clinical and radiological outcomes. Knee. 2011;18: 361–8.
- Luites JW, Brinkman JM, Wymenga AB, van Heerwaarden RJ. Fixation stability of opening- versus closing-wedge high tibial osteotomy: a randomized

clinical trial using radiostereometry. J Bone Joint Surg Br. 2009;91:1459–65.

- Song IH, Song EK, Seo HY, Lee KB, Yim JH, Seon JK. Patellofemoral alignment and anterior knee pain after closing- and opening-wedge valgus high tibial osteotomy. Arthroscopy. 2012;28:1087–93.
- Salzmann GM, Ahrens P, Naal FD, et al. Sporting activity after high tibial osteotomy for the treatment of medial compartment knee osteoarthritis. Am J Sports Med. 2009;37:312–8.
- Martin R, Birmingham TB, Willits K, Litchfield R, LeBel ME, Giffin JR. Adverse event rates and classifications in medial opening wedge high tibial osteotomy. Am J Sports Med. 2014;42:1118–26.
- 32. Filho RB, Magnussen RA, Duthon V, Demey G, Servien E, Granjeiro JM, et al. Total knee arthroplasty after high tibial osteotomy: a comparison of opening and closing wedge osteotomy. Int Orthop. 2013;37(3): 427–31.
- Giffin JR, Vogrin TM, Zantop T, Woo S, Harner CD. Effects of increasing tibial slope on the biomechanics of the knee. Am J Sports Med. 2004;32: 376–82.
- 34. El-Azab H, Glabgly P, Paul J, Imhoff AB, Hinterwimmer S. Patellar height and posterior tibial slope after open- and closed-wedge high tibial osteotomy: a radiological study on 100 patients. Am J Sports Med. 2010;38:323–9.
- 35. Habata T, Uematsu K, Hattori K, Kasanami R, Takakura Y, Fujisawa Y. High tibial osteotomy that does not cause recurrence of varus deformity for medial gonarthrosis. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 2006;14(10):962–7.
- Dugdale TW, Noyes FR, Styer D. Preoperative planning for high tibial osteotomy. The effect of lateral tibiofemoral separation and tibiofemoral length. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 1992;274:248–64.

Outside-in Meniscal Repair: Technique and Outcomes

12

Jorge Chahla, James Gannon, Gilbert Moatshe, and Robert F. LaPrade

Contents

12.1	Introduction	129
12.2	Surgical Technique	130
12.3	Outcomes	134
12.4	Discussion	134
Conclusion		135
References		135

12.1 Introduction

The menisci play a critical role in the health and longevity of the knee joint. Injuries to the menisci are extremely common, with some attributing it to 75 % of internal knee complications [6]. Historically, meniscus tears were treated by excising part or all of the meniscus. While meniscectomy still remains a viable treatment option in selected cases where a repair is not possible, vast evidence supporting a link between meniscectomy and increased osteoarthritis has prompted further development of repair techniques [13]. Contact pressure in the condyles has been shown to increase by 165 % and 235 % following a partial and total meniscectomy, respectively [9, 13]. This is especially problematic for high-level athletes. Using data from 5047 NFL players from the years 1987 to 2000, Brophy et al. reported that meniscal tears were the fifth most common injury affecting quarterbacks, receivers, offensive line, defensive line, and kickers [2]. While meniscectomies have been found to significantly reduce the career lengths of professional athletes [4], repairs carry high success rates at long-term follow-up. Stein et al. reported on a cohort of 81 athletes that 96.5 % returned to their pre-injury sports activity and expressed significantly less signs of osteoarthritis compared to patients having undergone meniscectomies. They also found a startling contrast between repair and meniscectomy patients, and 96.5 % of repair and 50 % of meniscectomy patients were able to

J. Chahla (⊠) • J. Gannon • G. Moatshe Steadman Philippon Research Institute, 181 W Meadow Drive, Suite 1000, Vail, CO 81657, USA e-mail: jachahla@msn.com; jchahla@sprivail.org

R.F. LaPrade The Steadman Clinic, 181 W Meadow Drive, Suite 1000, Vail, CO 81657, USA e-mail: drlaprade@sprivail.org

regain their pre-injury level of activity at a long-term follow-up of 5–8 years [9].

The anterior horn of the medial meniscus has been reported to be particularly important for stabilizing external rotation when the knee is fully extended [3] and also in preventing anterior femoral displacement [12]. In addition, the anterior horn tears of the lateral meniscus were reported to significantly increase tibiofemoral contact pressures in both compartments of the knee [7]. Studies have reported that repair of these tears restores condyle contact pressures to normal values **[7**]. Consequently, surgical repair is indicated whenever possible for all anterior horn tears. It is also important to recognize and treat anterior horn meniscal cysts, primarily of the lateral meniscus, as complete meniscal tears because solely debridement of anterior horn tears can destabilize the meniscus and lead to pain and decreased function. Current literature regarding the treatment of tears of the anterior horn of the menisci is very limited.

Commonly used techniques for meniscal repair include the inside-out, outside-in, and all-inside techniques. Warren et al. first described the outside-in meniscus repair in 1985, having been prompted to develop a technique that avoids the knee's critical neuro-vascular structures, specifically the peroneal nerve and saphenous nerve for the lateral and medial meniscus, respectively [1, 4, 8, 10]. Thirty-one years later, the technique has greatly evolved, with improved surgical technique and instrumentation being widely used presently (Fig. 12.1).

This procedure has the benefits of small incisions, low neurovascular risk, and high success rate [1, 4]. The outside-in repair technique is ideal for anterior horn tears because it allows for adequate access to the anterior horn of the meniscus, provides a stable fixation construct, and avoids leaving prominent intra-articular material with a minimal approach. The purpose of this chapter is to describe the surgical technique of outside-in repair of anterior horn meniscal tears, rehabilitation, and outcomes of this procedure.

12.2 Surgical Technique

A diagnostic arthroscopy is first performed through standard anterolateral and anteromedial portals to confirm and evaluate the meniscal pathology, as well as any concurrent pathology. After confirmation of the anterior horn tear, the arthroscope should be placed through the contralateral portal of the compartment of the involved meniscus to visualize the extent and characteristics of the tear. A 3 cm vertical incision is made in line with the portal on the same side of the knee as the anterior meniscal tear. Careful dissection is performed through the subcutaneous tissues to expose the underlying anterior joint capsule (Fig. 12.2).

To begin the outside-in repair, a spinal needle is introduced by piercing the overlying capsule, advancing it under the anterior edge of the medial or lateral meniscus (depending on the case), and through the body of the anterior horn, thus traversing the area of the tear (Fig. 12.3).

The inner cannula of the needle is removed, and a #1 PDS suture (Ethicon, Inc., Johnson & Johnson, Somerville, NJ, USA) is placed through the needle and into the joint (Fig. 12.4).

Similarly, a second needle is passed through the capsule, underneath the anterior edge of the meniscus, and through the body of the anterior horn. The inner cannula is again removed, and a looped suture retriever is passed through the second needle and into the joint. The free end of the previously passed PDS suture is then pulled through the looped retriever using a grasper and the suture pulled back out of the knee creating a mattress suture construct to secure the anterior horn (Fig. 12.5).

Multiple sutures are added to strengthen the construct (Fig. 12.6). Either a horizontal or vertical mattress suture configuration can be utilized, depending on the nature of the tear and the surgeon's preference.

Once the repair is complete, the sutures are tied to the anteromedial/lateral capsule with the knee flexed to 90° (Fig. 12.7). The arthroscope is inserted again, and the final construct is probed and assessed to confirm stability of the repair construct.





Fig. 12.2 A vertical incision (*arrow*) is made through the skin and subcutaneous tissues on a right knee to expose the joint capsule by extending the lateral portal incision 2–3 cm, which is on the ipsilateral side of the affected (lateral) meniscal tear



Postoperative Recovery and Rehabilitation For repairs performed in isolation, the patient is placed in a knee immobilizer in full extension and allowed partial weight bearing with crutches for the first 6 weeks. Physical therapy is initiated on postoperative day #1 to begin working on passive range of motion exercises. Knee flexion is limited to $0-90^{\circ}$ for the first 4 weeks and then progressed

Fig. 12.3 (a)

Intraoperative and (**b**) arthroscopic view. A spinal needle (*arrow*) is advanced through the lateral capsule, under the anterior edge of the torn lateral meniscus, and through the meniscal body on a right knee. A 30° arthroscope (*arrow*) is placed through the contralateral medial portal for adequate visualization



Fig. 12.4 The inner cannula of the needle (*arrow*) is removed, and a PDS suture (*arrow*) is passed through the needle, thus traversing the anterior lateral meniscal tear as visualized using a 30° arthroscope through the contralateral medial portal of a right knee





Fig. 12.5 The spinal needle (*arrow*) is passed a second time in a similar manner as before through the lateral incision of a right knee, and the free end of the previously passed PDS suture (*arrow*) is retrieved through the spinal needle using a grasper (*arrow*) and looped suture retriever.

The grasper is placed through a second lateral working portal. This creates a horizontal or vertical mattress suture across the anterior horn of the lateral meniscus, depending on the type of tear and surgeon preference. A 30° arthroscope (*arrow*) is present in the medial portal

Fig. 12.6 Two PDS sutures (*arrows*) have been passed in a horizontal mattress configuration to repair the lateral meniscal tear of a right knee as viewed with a 30° arthroscope through the medial portal





Fig. 12.7 The suture tails (*arrows*) are appropriately tensioned and tied over the lateral joint capsule of a right knee, thus securing the anterior horn of the lateral meniscus to the capsule to allow healing of the tear

as tolerated. Any significant squatting, lifting, or sitting cross-legged is prohibited for a minimum of 4 months to avoid excess stress on the meniscal repair.

12.3 Outcomes

Due to the prevalence of meniscal injuries, many studies have investigated the outside-in technique and how it compares to other repair procedures.

Van Trommel et al. reported a success rate of 76 % with their cohort of 51 patients treated with outside-in meniscus repair, using a combination of radiographs, second-look arthroscopy, and MRI. Patients without these records were excluded. Despite a 76 % reported success rate, only 45 % of these patients had complete meniscal healing, while 31 % had partial healing at the time of follow-up [10]. Morgan et al. found similar results, citing an 84 % success rate out of 74 repairs evaluated by second-look arthroscopy. All 84 % were asymptomatic at final follow-up. The average time from surgery to repair was 8.5 months. Similar to Van Trommel, only 65 % of the repairs completely healed, while 19 % partially healed. It is worth noting that the average time from repair to follow-up for the partially healed group was approximately half of the length of time for the entire cohort. The authors strongly believe that this influenced their results [6]. Abdelkafy et al. reported on a cohort of 41 meniscal repairs at a mean follow-up of 11.71 years (range 2–19 years), using standard clinical evaluation techniques, such as radiographs, to assess knee health. Five of the 41 procedures failed, meaning they received revision repair or meniscectomy [1]. Hantes et al. evaluated 17 outside-in repairs at a mean follow-up of 23 months. Patients were evaluated for joint effusion, sensitivity, and a negative McMurray test, and if these test were negative, the meniscus was considered healed. Based on this scoring system, 100 % of the repairs were successful [5].

Venkatachalam et al. used a cohort of 62 repairs in 59 patients from the years 1994 to 1999. Successful repair in their study had to meet the following criteria: the patient had little to no pain, no locking, and no revision surgeries. The average time until follow-up was 21 months. No clinical evaluation was used. Instead, patients were mailed a self-examination, which they filled out and sent back. The overall reported success rate is 66.1 %, a value we believe to be more realistic than other studies [11]. Lastly, Dave et al. conducted a literature review of outcome studies of the outside-in technique and found that reported success rates ranged from 50 to 91 % [4]. One potential explanation is the varying definition of success.

Meniscal repair outcomes are assessed in a heterogeneous manner. A "failure" does not necessarily imply that the patient is symptom free or that the meniscus completely healed. A failed procedure commonly refers to a patient that received no alleviation of symptoms postsurgery and likely required either a revision repair or a meniscectomy. Upon second-look arthroscopic examination, partial healing usually presents with a mostly healthy appearance but with repeated high-signal intensity in MRI. It is still to be determined what is clinically relevant since many partially healed menisci are asymptomatic [8].

12.4 Discussion

Since its inception in 1985, the outside-in repair technique has become a landmark procedure in the treatment of meniscal tears. The small incisions, low risk of neurovascular injuries, and high success rate make it a reliable method of repair, particularly for tears in the anterior two-thirds of the meniscus. Anterolateral and anteromedial meniscus tears have been shown to drastically increase contact pressure throughout both compartments of the knee, making this technique particularly valuable.

Conversely, success rates for tears to the posterior meniscus are not as high. Several studies have commented on the increased failure and complication rate with tears to the posterior horn [1, 4, 6, 10], which some believe to be due to the difficulty in accessing the region [8]. The outside-in repair has also been recognized as an effective alternative to the meniscectomy, which significantly increases condyle contact pressure and leads to osteoarthritis in the long term [13]. Furthermore, repair has proven to be more effective at returning patients to sport and pre-injury activity level [4, 9]. However, particularly debilitating tears, including radial tears, displaced tears, and tears in avascular zones, may be technically challenging to repair. Due to the deleterious effects of meniscectomy, a meniscal repair should always be attempted first.

Reported outcomes of the outside-in repair are consistently high; however, various authors disagree on how clinical relevance should be defined. But while an exact estimate of success with the outside-in repair is difficult to find, the technique is still highly effective at alleviating symptoms and returning patients to their preinjury level of activity [1, 4-6, 8, 10, 11].

Conclusion

Meniscal tears are one of the most common knee injuries. If left untreated, this condition can have long-lasting impacts on a patient's knee health and overall activity level. Since 1985, the outside-in repair has been a reliable tool for the treatment of anterior horn meniscal tears. It is our belief that any practicing sports medicine surgeon should be comfortable with this procedure, as it will ensure the best possible short- and long-term outcomes for patient health and quality of life.

References

- Abdelkafy A, Aigner N, Zada M, Elghoul Y, Abdelsadek H, Landsiedl F. Two to nineteen years follow-up of arthroscopic meniscal repair using the outside-in technique: a retrospective study. Arch Orthop Trauma Surg. 2007;127(4):245–52.
- Brophy RH, Barnes R, Rodeo SA, Warren RF. Prevalence of musculoskeletal disorders at the NFL combine-trends from 1987 to 2000. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2007;39(1):22–7.
- Chen LX, Linde-Rosen M, Hwang SC, Zhou JB, Xie Q, Smolinski P, Fu FH. The effect of medial meniscal horn injury on knee stability. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 2015;23(1):126–31.
- Dave LYH, Caborn DNM. Outside-in meniscus repair: the last 25 years. Sports Med Arthrosc. 2012;20(2):77–85.
- Hantes ME, Zachos VC, Varitimidis SE, Dailiana ZH, Karachalios T, Malizos KN. Arthroscopic meniscal repair: a comparative study between three different surgical techniques. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 2006;14(12):1232–7.
- Morgan CD, Wojtys EM, Casscells CD, Casscells SW. Arthroscopic meniscal repair evaluated by second-look arthroscopy. Am J Sports Med. 1991;19(6):632–7. discussion 637-8. PubMed PMID: 1781503
- Prince MR, Esquivel AO, Andre AM, Goitz HT. Anterior horn lateral meniscus tear, repair, and meniscectomy. J Knee Surg. 2014;27(3):229–34.
- Rodeo SA. Arthroscopic meniscal repair with use of the outside-in technique. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2000;82A(1):127–41.
- Stein T, Mehling AP, Welsch F, von Eisenhart-Rothe R, Jager A. Long-term outcome after arthroscopic meniscal repair versus arthroscopic partial meniscectomy for traumatic meniscal tears. Am J Sports Med. 2010;38(8):1542–8.
- Van Trommel MF, Simonian PT, Potter HG, Wickiewicz TL. Different regional healing rates with the outside-in technique for meniscal repair. Am J Sports Med. 1998;26(3):446–52.
- Venkatachalam S, Godsiff SP, Harding ML. Review of the clinical results of arthroscopic meniscal repair. Knee. 2001;8(2):129–33.
- Walker PS, Arno S, Bell C, Salvadore G, Borukhov I, Oh C. Function of the medial meniscus in force transmission and stability. J Biomech. 2015;48(8):1383–8.
- Yoon KH, Park KH. Meniscal repair. Knee Surg Relat Res. 2014;26:68–76.

Biological Augmentation of Meniscal Repairs

Adam William Anz

Contents

13.1	Introduction	137
13.2	Healing and Vascular Anatomy	137
13.3	Vascular Access Channels and Synovial Abrasion	138
13.4	Point-of-Care Blood Products	139
13.5	Scaffolds	140
13.6	Stem Cell Therapy	141
Conclusion		143
References		144

13.1 Introduction

Basic scientists, orthopedic clinicians, and the lay public have all recently become fascinated with biologic therapies. The interest has been stoked by the pursuit of science in animal studies and early clinical studies and by clinicians utilizing a broad spectrum of predominantly underdeveloped biologic treatments. The term biologics refers to natural products which are harvested and used to augment a medical process and/or the biology of healing. Biologics can be divided into three categories: growth factor therapies, which leverage chemokine and cytokine function such as point-ofcare blood-based products; cell-based therapies which leverage cell function such as bone marrow aspirate; and tissue-based therapies, which utilize the structure of tissue to produce function such as allograft meniscal transplant. Investigators have been studying the biology of meniscal healing for many years, examining mechanical methods, methods involving growth factors, point-of-care blood-based augments, scaffolds, and stem cell therapies. This chapter will review the orthopedic pursuit of improving the healing of the meniscus.

13.2 Healing and Vascular Anatomy

Healing is divided into three phases: inflammation, repair, and remodeling. These phases are dependent on the delivery of cells and mediators

A.W. Anz, MD Andrews Institute, Gulf Breeze, FL, USA e-mail: anz.adam.w@gmail.com

of healing, the removal of injured tissue, and a structural framework for the wound healing process. The movement and components of blood provide the building blocks necessary to start and complete the healing process, a premise which has been observed in meniscal healing studies in animals [1, 2]. Platelets and fibrin are both vital, because fibrin provides a scaffold for the healing process. Platelets are important signaling molecules, providing chemotactic and mitogenic stimuli for the repair process [3–5]. When exposed to these normal mediators of healing, meniscus fibrochondrocytes are capable of proliferation and extracellular matrix synthesis [5].

While first described by Policard in 1936, Arnoczky and Warren produced the most widely recognized study on the blood supply of the meniscus [6, 7]. Blood arrives via two mechanisms: a perimeniscal capillary plexus which penetrates the meniscus with radial branches and areas of synovial covering which are highly vascular. These sources provide blood supply to roughly the outer 25 % of the meniscus [7]. This peripheral supply tapers to an avascular internal section. Meniscal healing studies in canines have illustrated good healing potential in vascular areas and little healing potential in avascular sections [2]. The structure of the vascular anatomy and clear lack of healing in the avascular zones have led surgeons to divide the meniscus into three anatomic sections when evaluating tears: an outer peripheral one-third with excellent to good healing potential, a middle one-third with moderate healing potential, and an inner central onethird with poor healing potential.

13.3 Vascular Access Channels and Synovial Abrasion

Studies quantifying the vascular supply and illustrating healing in vascular regions were followed by studies into techniques aimed at increasing the blood supply available to the entire meniscus. Initial canine studies focused on creating vascular access channels from the central avascular portion to the peripheral vascular portion and illustrated improved healing potential [2, 8]. A needle, blade, or trephine was a simple method

to make a vascular access channel from the central region to the peripheral region. In 1993, a prospective study evaluating trephination of incomplete tears with an 18-gauge needle found 90 % of 30 patients were determined to have a good to excellent outcome based upon a subjective patient assessment score [9]. A next theoretic step to improve vascular presence was to create a larger vascular access channel with an implanted, absorbable porous structure. Preclinical animal study around a cylindrical device composed of poly-L-lactic acid illustrated promise with a 71 % healing rate of avascular tears in canines [10, 11]. However, after acquisition of the technology by an orthopedic implant company, developmental steps in humans were stopped after beginning a clinical study for undisclosed reasons.

In addition to creating conduits for blood flow, increasing the synovial attachment to the meniscus also increases the blood supply. Synovial abrasion involves roughening the synovium with an instrument such as a rasp adjacent to a meniscal tear (Fig. 13.1). In animal studies, this improves the healing potential of the middle third of the meniscus which normally has a marginal blood supply but does not improve the healing potential of the central avascular third [12, 13]. A clinical comparative study with this method includes one case-control study, illustrating a decrease in failure rate from 22 to 9 % after the authors began adding synovial abrasion to their



Fig. 13.1 Synovial abrasion performed arthroscopically

meniscus repairs [14]. It has been theorized that synovial abrasion is effective by itself to heal meniscus tears rather than as a method to augment meniscal suture repair [15]. A retrospective cohort study evaluating 47 patients who underwent synovial abrasion without suture repair found 71 % of the patients had complete meniscal healing, 21 % incomplete healing, and 8 % no evidence of healing when the sites were evaluated with second-look arthroscopy. The authors reported that stable tears illustrated the highest healing rate with this method [16].

13.4 Point-of-Care Blood Products

In addition to improving the blood supply of meniscal tissue, delivering various components of blood to meniscal tissue has also been studied including fibrin and platelets. Fibrin carries two properties which can be leveraged to improve meniscal healing: structural support of a clot and the chemokine properties of fibrin degradation products. Animal studies have varied; initial study of a fibrin clot in canines involved 2 mm meniscal defects, which when filled with fibrin clot healed with the formation of fibrocartilage [17]. Further study with a goat model of longitudinal tears found no benefit of a fibrin clot upon healing [13]. Tears repaired with sutures found a healing rate of 17 % with a fibrin clot augment and a healing rate of 87.5 % with synovial abrasion augment [13]. Low-level clinical studies have supported the use of fibrin clots to improve meniscal healing rates [18–20]. However, a randomized prospective study of horizontal tears reported that fibrin clot as an adjunct to repair produced inferior results when compared to repair with vascular access channels and when compared to a partial meniscectomy [21]. Synthesizing these studies suggests that fibrin clot can be useful when used as a scaffold or to protect healing tissue from the caustic healing environment of the joint but should not be interposed when adequate tissue is available for repair (Fig. 13.2).

While isolated and combined growth factors have proven effective for the enhancement of meniscus tissue regeneration in benchtop and animal studies [22-24], growth factors are not commercially available for clinical use with the exception of bone morphogenetic proteins, which have not been studied clinically in meniscus repair. However, point-of-care blood products such as platelet-rich plasma (PRP) are available to clinicians. Platelets contain a number of chemokines and cytokines which are released upon activation, including both anti-inflammatory and pro-inflammatory molecules [25-27]. While the exposure of tissues to pro-inflammatory molecules, such as TNF-alpha and IL-1, has inhibitory effects upon healing [28, 29], studies exposing cells from the



Fig. 13.2 A radial tear is repaired (a), protected by a fibrin clot loaded with bone marrow aspirate (b)

avascular meniscus zone to IGF, FGF, and PDGF have illustrated new matrix formation and fibrochondrocyte proliferation [30–32]. In a benchtop study, cell proliferation and extracellular matrix synthesis were stimulated by exposing cultured fibrochondrocytes to PRP [33]. These same authors investigated a PRP gelatin hydrogel (GH) which eluted PRP in a slow fashion, 4 weeks on average, in a rabbit model. Comparison included GH alone, GH with PRP, or GH with plateletpoor plasma to treat a punch defect. The group treated with the GH with PRP illustrated the best tissue upon histologic review [33].

Clinical data evaluating the efficacy of PRP to augment meniscal repair is limited to two studies. In a retrospective comparative study, the clinical outcomes of 15 isolated meniscus repairs augmented with a leukocyte-rich PRP matrix were compared to 20 repairs performed without PRP augmentation. Outcomes were similar regarding reoperation rate and clinical outcome scores. This study was underpowered with a post hoc power calculation suggesting that a similar study with approximately 200 patients in each arm would be necessary to answer the clinical question [34]. Another study evaluated 17 patients treated with open meniscal repair of a horizontal meniscus tear alone to 17 patients treated with open meniscal repair and an in injection of leukocyte-rich PRP into body of the meniscus repair. Outcomes assessed with MRI and clinical outcome scores were similar with the exception of a significant difference between two subsets of KOOS scoring, pain, and sports activities. These two subsets of the KOOS score favored the PRP group [35]. These studies suggest that the clinical benefit of current PRP technologies to meniscal repair at this time is marginal.

13.5 Scaffolds

For tissue regeneration to occur, it is theorized that three principle components are necessary: a scaffold, cells, and the appropriate cell signaling molecules. Meniscal injury can permanently damage tissue such that repair is not always possible, and tissue may not be available to provide cell incorporation and extracellular matrix formation. In some instances replacement tissue is necessary. For meniscal applications, replacement scaffolds come in three types: allograft meniscal tissue, xenograft collagen-based scaffolds, and synthetic scaffolds. Allografts are covered in a subsequent chapter and are indicated in scenarios of near-complete meniscal injury. Collagen-based scaffolds and synthetic scaffolds are typically used to fill segmental meniscal deficits.

The Collagen Meniscus Implant (CMI) (Ivy Sports Medicine LLC, Montvale, NJ) is a xenograft collagen-based scaffold manufactured from highly purified type 1 bovine collagen. In a developmental histologic study, the CMI was implanted in nine canines [36]. The implant underwent an active integration in the majority of cases over the course of 18 months, with four cases illustrating a mild chronic inflammatory response and one giant-cell engulfment of the scaffold in 3 weeks [36]. In clinical application, outcomes at 5 years and 10 years have illustrated superiority when compared to partial meniscectomy for medial meniscus injury [37–42]. Monllau et al. reported on a case series of 25 patients with 10-year follow-up. At final follow-up, clinical scores sustained improvement including Lysholm scores and mean pain scores on a visual analog scale (VAS). MRI analysis with Genovese scores found 64 % of cases as nearly normal and 21 % of cases as normal. There was an 8 % implant failure rate [37]. In a case-control study of 33 patients, Zaffagnini et al. compared CMI implantation with partial meniscectomy alone for medial meniscal injury [42]. Lower VAS scores and higher objective IKDC, Tegner index, and SF-36 scores were observed in the CMI group. Radiographs revealed less medial joint space narrowing in the CMI group [42]. A lateral meniscus study has recent 2-year outcomes which mirror the results of the medial meniscus experience [43]. Despite improvement in clinical outcome scores, implant absorption has been observed in 6-12 % of cases [42-44].

Synthetic meniscal scaffolds are under development with early encouraging results. Implant design involved optimizing pore number, pore size. inter-pore connectivity, compressibility, ingrowth, and degradation time [45-47]. Development has continued with biomechanical analysis of a degradable synthetic porous scaffold, illustrating improvement in contact mechanics after implantation [48]. Implantation studies in canines and humans have illustrated replacement of the scaffold with vital material with limited to no signs of inflammatory reaction [49, 50]. Twenty-four-month data was encouraging, with significant improvements in all clinical outcome scores and an incidence of treatment failure of 17.3 % [51]. At 5 years, the clinical improvement maintained, but only 62.2 % of the implants survived upon MRI evaluation, questioning the complete efficacy of the implant [52].

13.6 Stem Cell Therapy

Cells are integral to tissue healing and regeneration, because they are necessary for the production and maintenance of extracellular matrix. Stem cells have garnered an exploding interest primarily due to their ability to self-renew and to differentiate into distinctive end-stage cell types. Potential mechanisms of action applying stem cells have focused on the ability of these cells to differentiate into a number of different cell types of orthopedic interest, i.e., cultured cells from bone marrow can be differentiated into chondrocytes, adipocytes, or osteocytes. Recent interest has grown concerning the additional abilities of these cells to mobilize. monitor, and interact with their surrounding environment [53-55] (Fig. 13.3). Stem cells are able to release a broad spectrum of macromolecules with trophic, immunomodulatory, and anti-inflammatory potential, which allows them to participate in injury response, tissue healing, and tissue regeneration. These cells are innate to the body's maintenance, repair, and stress response systems. Basic science and animal study have illustrated the potential of cells with stem potential regardless of their environment/ source of harvest, and the interplay of cells



Fig. 13.3 The four cardinal properties of stem cells: proliferation, multipotentiality, monitoring/mobilization, and paracrine function

based upon which environment they reside is not fully understood.

Cells with stem properties are present in many environmental niches, including the bone marrow, adipose tissue, synovial tissue, muscle tissue, and tendon tissue. Two stem cell types, the hematopoietic stem cell (HSC) and perivascular stromal cell (PSC), can be aspirated from bone marrow. The interplay, interaction, and superiority between these two cell types are complex and incompletely understood, and it is unclear which of these cells is the parent cell upon culture [56-59]. Both of these cells have stem properties and have been shown to differentiate to tissues of orthopedic interest [60]. To utilize these cell types, the orthopedic community primarily utilizes point-of-care bone marrow aspiration and concentration, while the hematology-oncology community mobilizes these cells from the bone marrow to the blood stream with pharmaceutical agents and harvests via apheresis. Bone marrow aspiration produces variable numbers of stem cells, with studies ranging from 1 stem cell per mL of tissue collected to 300 thousand stem cells per mL of tissue collected [61]. Mobilization and apheresis can produce large volumes of peripheral blood-derived cells with 600 thousand HSC per mL and 2.32 million PSC per mL of tissue collected [62]. These cells can be stored for serial injections.

In adipose tissue, cells adherent to the abluminal side of blood vessels, known as pericytes, also carry stem qualities. Aspiration and processing of adipose tissue can access these stem cells, producing a product often referred to as stromal vascular fraction (SVF). Processing of lipoaspirate to create stromal vascular fraction requires mechanical or enzymatic processing. This produces variable numbers of stem cells, with quantitative studies ranging from 5 thousand to 1.5 million stem cells per mL of tissue collected [61]. Similar to adipose-derived stem cells, synovial-derived and muscle-derived stem cells also require mechanical or enzymatic processing. For applications involving large numbers of cells, investigators often utilize culturing techniques for all sources with the exception of mobilization and apheresis harvest. As clinicians, three challenges have proven more important than which cell type to utilize: (1) patient-care logistics regarding collection and application, (2) the undefined dose-response curve regarding stem cells, and (3) government/ community regulation.

Stem cell studies and the meniscus are currently limited to preclinical animal study and should be divided into studies investigating tissue regeneration and studies investigating methods to improve meniscal repair. Meniscus regeneration studies have evaluated autologous bone marrowderived cultured mesenchymal stem cells (bMSCs) and synovial-derived cultured mesenchymal stem cells (sMSCs), determining that stem cells carry substantial regeneration potential [63, 64]. The application of meniscus regeneration study to clinical practice requires further development, and review of these studies helps us preview where cell therapy is heading.

One of the earliest studies evaluated the implantation of bMSCs in a hyaluronan/gelatin scaffold into a segmental meniscal defect in rabbits, with integration and meniscus-like fibrocartilage in 8 of 11 rabbits treated with bMSCs and 2 of 11 rabbits treated with a scaffolds alone [63]. This group investigated further whether culture was necessary and whether differentiation of cells was necessary in a similar follow-up study using hyaluronan-collagen matrices and bone marrow aspirate in one group, undifferentiated bMSCs in another group, and bMSCs that had been cultured in a chondrogenic medium to differentiated them toward the fibrochondrocyte lineage [64]. Marrow aspirate did not improve healing. The non-differentiated cultured bMSCs produced the best results with meniscus-like tissue that was fully integrated into the surrounding tissue, while the differentiated bMSCs produced a moderate improvement in healing [64]. This



Fig. 13.4 Marrow stimulation is performed at the intercondylar notch (a) and outer side of the femoral condyle (b) to augment meniscal repair

study leads the authors to theorize that preimplantation differentiation of stem cells may not be necessary. Studies involving sMSCs have involved cultured synovial stem cells injected intra-articularly as opposed to implanted in a scaffold [65-68]. An initial study in rabbits found that labeled sMSCs injected intra-articularly after creation of a cylindrical meniscal defect adhered to the site of the defect, differentiated into cells resembling fibrochondrocytes, and enhanced the quality of meniscal regeneration [65]. This was followed by a massive meniscal defect study illustrating improved regeneration of tissue after one injection of sMSCs compared to a control [66] and a similar massive defect study with three serial injections in a porcine model [67]. An additional group has applied these concepts to a primate model providing histologic evidence of improvement with stem cells in a model more closely resembling humans [68].

There have been two studies regarding cell therapies and the augmentation of meniscal repair. One study evaluated the use of marrow stimulation to improve meniscal healing after the creation of a cylindrical defect (Fig. 13.4). Marrow stimulation of the intercondylar notch improved the quality and quantity of the healing tissue in a rabbit model [69]. Another study which evaluated the use of adipose-derived cultured mesenchymal stem cells (aMSCs) to improve healing rates of longitudinal meniscus tears treated with suture repair in a rabbit model illustrated increased healing rates in the groups treated with aMSCs [70].

Conclusion

The primary challenges of meniscal repair are the limited blood supply, the harsh nature of the biochemical and mechanical nature of the joint, and instances where injury destroys meniscal tissue. As knowledge of the anatomy and biochemistry of the meniscus have improved, biologic options to augment repair have progressed. Synovial abrasion and marrow stimulation are mechanical methods with clear support (Fig. 13.5). Scaffolds have a clearly defined role, while blood- and cellbased products require further refinement before wholehearted, evidence-based use is advocated.



Fig. 13.5 Apheresis allows for the mobilization, harvest (**a**), and storage of a large quantity of stem cells (**b**) which allows serial injection throughout the healing phase of the

meniscus. This process is currently under development with an FDA observed trial

References

- 1. King D. The healing of semilunar cartilages. J Bone Joint Surg. 1936;18:333–42.
- Arnoczky SP, Warren RF. The microvasculature of the meniscus and its response to injury. An experimental study in the dog. Am J Sports Med. 1983;11:131–41.
- Knighton DR, Hunt TK, Thakral KK, et al. Role of platelets and fibrin in the healing sequence: an in vivo study of angiogenesis and collagen synthesis. Ann Surg. 1982;196:379–88.
- Peacock E. Wound repair. 3rd ed. Philadelphia: W.B. Saunders; 1984.
- Webber RJ, Harris MG, Hough Jr AJ. Cell culture of rabbit meniscal fibrochondrocytes: proliferative and synthetic response to growth factors and ascorbate. J Orthop Res. 1985;3:36–42.
- Policard A. Physiologie generale des articulations a l'etat normale et pathologique. Paris: Masson; 1936.
- Arnoczky SP, Warren RF. Microvasculature of the human meniscus. Am J Sports Med. 1982;10:90–5.
- Gershuni DH, Skyhar MJ, Danzig LA, et al. Experimental models to promote healing of tears in the avascular segment of canine knee menisci. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1989;71:1363–70.

- Fox JM, Rintz KG, Ferkel RD. Trephination of incomplete meniscal tears. Arthroscopy. 1993;9:451–5.
- Klompmaker J, Veth RP, Jansen HW, et al. Meniscal repair by fibrocartilage in the dog: characterization of the repair tissue and the role of vascularity. Biomaterials. 1996;17:1685–91.
- Cook JL, Fox DB. A novel bioabsorbable conduit augments healing of avascular meniscal tears in a dog model. Am J Sports Med. 2007;35:1877–87.
- Nakhostine M, Gershuni DH, Anderson R, et al. Effects of abrasion therapy on tears in the avascular region of sheep menisci. Arthroscopy. 1990;6:280–7.
- 13. Ritchie JR, Miller MD, Bents RT, et al. Meniscal repair in the goat model. The use of healing adjuncts on central tears and the role of magnetic resonance arthrography in repair evaluation. Am J Sports Med. 1998;26:278–84.
- Henning CE, Lynch MA, Clark JR. Vascularity for healing of meniscus repairs. Arthroscopy. 1987;3:13–8.
- Shelbourne KD, Gray T. Meniscus tears that can be left in situ, with or without trephination or synovial abrasion to stimulate healing. Sports Med Arthrosc. 2012;20:62–7.
- Uchio Y, Ochi M, Adachi N, Kawasaki K, Iwasa J. Results of rasping of meniscal tears with and with-
out anterior cruciate ligament injury as evaluated by second-look arthroscopy. Arthroscopy. 2003;19:463–9.

- Arnoczky SP, Warren RF, Spivak JM. Meniscal repair using an exogenous fibrin clot. An experimental study in dogs. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1988;70:1209–17.
- Henning CE, Lynch MA, Yearout KM, et al. Arthroscopic meniscal repair using an exogenous fibrin clot. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 1990;252:64–72.
- van Trommel MF, Simonian PT, Potter HG, et al. Arthroscopic meniscal repair with fibrin clot of complete radial tears of the lateral meniscus in the avascular zone. Arthroscopy. 1998;14:360–5.
- Kamimura T, Kimura M. Meniscal repair of degenerative horizontal cleavage tears using fibrin clots: clinical and arthroscopic outcomes in 10 cases. Orthop J Sports Med. 2014;2(11):2325967114555678.
- Biedert RM. Treatment of intrasubstance meniscal lesions: a randomized prospective study of four different methods. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 2000;8:104–8.
- Buma P, Ramrattan NN, van Tienen TG, et al. Tissue engineering of the meniscus. Biomaterials. 2004;25:1523–32.
- Imler SM, Doshi AN, Levenston ME. Combined effects of growth factors and static mechanical compression on meniscus explant biosynthesis. Osteoarthritis Cartilage. 2004;12:736–44.
- Lietman SA, Hobbs W, Inoue N, et al. Effects of selected growth factors on porcine meniscus in chemically defined medium. Orthopedics. 2003;26:799–803.
- Floryan KM, Berghoff WJ. Intraoperative use of autologous platelet-rich and platelet-poor plasma for orthopedic surgery patients. AORN J. 2004;80:668–74.
- Foster TE, Puskas BL, Mandelbaum BR, et al. Platelet-rich plasma: from basic science to clinical applications. Am J Sports Med. 2009;37:2259–72.
- Frechette JP, Martineau I, Gagnon G. Platelet-rich plasmas: growth factor content and roles in wound healing. J Dent Res. 2005;84:434–9.
- Hennerbichler A, Moutos FT, Hennerbichler D, Weinberg JB, Guilak F. Interleukin-1 and tumor necrosis factor alpha inhibit repair of the porcine meniscus in vitro. Osteoarthritis Cartilage. 2007;15:1053–60.
- McNulty AL, Estes BT, Wilusz RE, Weinberg JB, Guilak F. Dynamic loading enhances integrative meniscal repair in the presence of interleukin-1. Osteoarthritis Cartilage. 2010;18:830–8.
- Tumia NS, Johnstone AJ. Regional regenerative potential of meniscal cartilage exposed to recombinant insulin-like growth factor-I in vitro. J Bone Joint Surg Br. 2004;86:1077–81.
- Tumia NS, Johnstone AJ. Promoting the proliferative and synthetic activity of knee meniscal fibrochondrocytes using basic fibroblast growth factor in vitro. Am J Sports Med. 2004;32:915–20.

- Tumia NS, Johnstone AJ. Platelet derived growth factor-AB enhances knee meniscal cell activity in vitro. Knee. 2009;16:73–6.
- 33. Ishida K, Kuroda R, Miwa M, et al. The regenerative effects of platelet-rich plasma on meniscal cells in vitro and its in vivo application with biodegradable gelatin hydrogel. Tissue Eng. 2007;13:1103–12.
- 34. Griffin JW, Hadeed MM, Werner BC, Diduch DR, Carson EW, Miller MD. Platelet-rich plasma in meniscal repair: does augmentation improve surgical outcomes? Clin Orthop Relat Res. 2015;473:1665–72.
- 35. Pujol N, Salle De Chou E, Boisrenoult P, Beaufils P. Platelet-rich plasma for open meniscal repair in young patients: any benefit? Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 2015;23:51–8.
- Hansen R, Bryk E, Vigorita V. Collagen scaffold meniscus implant integration in a canine model: a histological analysis. J Orthop Res. 2013;31:1914–9.
- Monllau JC, Gelber PE, Abat F, et al. Outcome after partial medial meniscus substitution with the collagen meniscal implant at a minimum of 10 years' followup. Arthroscopy. 2011;27:933–43.
- Rodkey WG, DeHaven KE, Montgomery 3rd WH, et al. Comparison of the collagen meniscus implant with partial meniscectomy. A prospective randomized trial. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2008;90:1413–26.
- Steadman JR, Rodkey WG. Tissue-engineered collagen meniscus implants: 5- to 6-year feasibility study results. Arthroscopy. 2005;21:515–25.
- 40. Stone KR, Rodkey WG, Webber R, et al. Meniscal regeneration with copolymeric collagen scaffolds. In vitro and in vivo studies evaluated clinically, histologically, and biochemically. Am J Sports Med. 1992;20:104–11.
- Stone KR, Steadman JR, Rodkey WG, et al. Regeneration of meniscal cartilage with use of a collagen scaffold. Analysis of preliminary data. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1997;79:1770–7.
- 42. Zaffagnini S, Marcheggiani Muccioli GM, Lopomo N, et al. Prospective long-term outcomes of the medial collagen meniscus implant versus partial medial meniscectomy: a minimum 10-year follow-up study. Am J Sports Med. 2011;39:977–85.
- 43. Zaffagnini S, Grassi A, Marcheggiani Muccioli GM, Holsten D, Bulgheroni P, Monllau JC, Berbig R, Lagae K, Crespo R, Marcacci M. Two-year clinical results of lateral collagen meniscus implant: a multicenter study. Arthroscopy. 2015;31:1269–78.
- 44. Zaffagnini S, Marcheggiani Muccioli GM, Bulgheroni P, Bulgheroni E, Grassi A, Bonanzinga T, Kon E, Filardo G, Busacca M, Marcacci M. Arthroscopic collagen meniscus implantation for partial lateral meniscal defects: a 2-year minimum follow-up study. Am J Sports Med. 2012;40:2281–8.
- de Groot JH, Zijlstra FM, Kuipers HW, et al. Meniscal tissue regeneration in porous 50/50 copoly(l-lactide/ epsilon-caprolactone) implants. Biomaterials. 1997;18:613–22.

- 46. Klompmaker J, Jansen HW, Veth RP, et al. Porous implants for knee joint meniscus reconstruction: a preliminary study on the role of pore sizes in ingrowth and differentiation of fibrocartilage. Clin Mater. 1993;14:1–11.
- 47. van Tienen TG, Heijkants RG, Buma P, et al. Tissue ingrowth and degradation of two biodegradable porous polymers with different porosities and pore sizes. Biomaterials. 2002;23:1731–8.
- Brophy RH, Cottrell J, Rodeo SA, et al. Implantation of a synthetic meniscal scaffold improves joint contact mechanics in a partial meniscectomy cadaver model. J Biomed Mater Res A. 2010;92:1154–61.
- 49. Tienen TG, Heijkants RG, de Groot JH, et al. Meniscal replacement in dogs. Tissue regeneration in two different materials with similar properties. J Biomed Mater Res B Appl Biomater. 2006;76:389–96.
- Verdonk R, Verdonk P, Huysse W, et al. Tissue ingrowth after implantation of a novel, biodegradable polyurethane scaffold for treatment of partial meniscal lesions. Am J Sports Med. 2011;39:774–82.
- 51. Verdonk P, Beaufils P, Bellemans J, Djian P, EL H, Huysse W, Laprell H, Siebold R, Verdonk R. Successful treatment of painful irreparable partial meniscal defects with a polyurethane scaffold: twoyear safety and clinical outcomes. Am J Sports Med. 2012;40:844–53.
- 52. Dhollander A, Verdonk P, Verdonk R. Treatment of painful, irreparable partial meniscal defects with a polyurethane scaffold: midterm clinical outcomes and survival analysis. Am J Sports Med. 2016;44(10):2615– 21. pii: 0363546516652601. [Epub ahead of print].
- Wright DE, Wagers AJ, Gulati AP, Johnson FL, Weissman IL. Physiological migration of hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells. Science. 2001;294:1933–6.
- Caplan AI. Adult mesenchymal stem cells for tissue engineering versus regenerative medicine. J Cell Physiol. 2007;213:341–7.
- Murphy MB, Moncivais K, Caplan AI. Mesenchymal stem cells: environmentally responsive therapeutics for regenerative medicine. Exp Mol Med. 2013;15;45:e54.
- Ugarte F, Forsberg EC. Haematopoietic stem cell niches: new insights inspire new questions. EMBO J. 2013;32(19):2535–47.
- Frenette PS, Pinho S, Lucas D, Scheiermann C. Mesenchymal stem cell: keystone of the hematopoietic stem cell niche and a stepping-stone for regenerative medicine. Annu Rev Immunol. 2013;31:285–316.
- Smith JN, Calvi LM. Concise review: current concepts in bone marrow microenvironmental regulation of hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells. Stem Cells. 2013;31(6):1044–50.

- Morrison SJ, Scadden DT. The bone marrow niche for haematopoietic stem cells. Nature. 2014;505:327–34.
- 60. Cesselli D, Beltrami AP, Rigo S, et al. Multipotent progenitor cells are present in human peripheral blood. Circ Res. 2009;104(10):1225–34.
- 61. Vangsness Jr CT, Sternberg H, Harris L. Umbilical cord tissue offers the greatest number of harvestable mesenchymal stem cells for research and clinical application: a literature review of different harvest sites. Arthroscopy. 2015;31(9):1836–43.
- 62. Saw KY, Anz A, Merican S, Tay YG, Ragavanaidu K, Jee CS, McGuire DA. Articular cartilage regeneration with autologous peripheral blood progenitor cells and hyaluronic acid after arthroscopic subchondral drilling: a report of 5 cases with histology. Arthroscopy. 2011;27(4):493–506.
- Angele P, Johnstone B, Kujat R, et al. Stem cell based tissue engineering for meniscus repair. J Biomed Mater Res A. 2008;85:445–55.
- 64. Zellner J, Mueller M, Berner A, et al. Role of mesenchymal stem cells in tissue engineering of meniscus. J Biomed Mater Res A. 2010;94:1150–61.
- 65. Horie M, Driscoll MD, Sampson HW, Sekiya I, Caroom CT, Prockop DJ, Thomas DB. Implantation of allogenic synovial stem cells promotes meniscal regeneration in a rabbit meniscal defect model. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2012;94:701–12.
- 66. Hatsushika D, Muneta T, Horie M, Koga H, Tsuji K, Sekiya I. Intraarticular injection of synovial stem cells promotes meniscal regeneration in a rabbit massive meniscal defect model. J Orthop Res. 2013;31:1354–9.
- Hatsushika D, Muneta T, Nakamura T, Horie M, Koga H, Nakagawa Y, Tsuji K, Hishikawa S, Kobayashi E, Sekiya I. Repetitive allogeneic intraarticular injections of synovial mesenchymal stem cells promote meniscus regeneration in a porcine massive meniscus defect model. Osteoarthritis Cartilage. 2014;22:941–50.
- 68. Kondo S, Muneta T, Nakagawa Y, Koga H, Watanabe T, Tsuji K, Sotome S, Okawa A, Kiuchi S, Ono H, Mizuno M, Sekiya I. Transplantation of autologous synovial mesenchymal stem cells promotes meniscus regeneration in aged primates. J Orthop Res. 2016; doi:10.1002/jor.23211. [Epub ahead of print].
- 69. Driscoll MD, Robin BN, Horie M, Hubert ZT, Sampson HW, Jupiter DC, Tharakan B, Reeve RE. Marrow stimulation improves meniscal healing at early endpoints in a rabbit meniscal injury model. Arthroscopy. 2013;29:113–21.
- Ruiz-Ibán MÁ, Díaz-Heredia J, García-Gómez I, Gonzalez-Lizán F, Elías-Martín E, Abraira V. The effect of the addition of adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells to a meniscal repair in the avascular zone: an experimental study in rabbits. Arthroscopy. 2011;27:1688–96.

Meniscal Repair Outcomes: Isolated Versus Combined with Other Procedures

14

Mark R. Hutchinson, Mitchell Meghpara, Danil Rybalko, and Garrett Schwarzman

Contents

14.1	Introduction	147
14.2	Overall Results	148
14.3	Factors Affecting Outcomes after Meniscus Renair	149
14.3.1	Outcomes After Isolated Repair	150
14.3.2	Combined with Other Procedures	151
Refere	nces	152

14.1 Introduction

The meniscus plays an important function in knee load bearing, shock absorption, joint lubrication, and joint stability [1]. In light of the important functions of the meniscus, a number of studies have shown that a lack of a functional meniscus may accelerate progression to osteoarthritis. As such, every reasonable effort is made to preserve the meniscus by repairing it, when indications are appropriate.

A number of meniscus repair techniques have been described, including inside-out, outside-in, all-inside, and combined.

The inside-out technique (Fig. 14.1) remains to be the standard for meniscal repair, offering stable fixation of tears and reproducible results. It is primarily used for tears in the posterior and middle thirds of the meniscus [2].

The outside-in technique allows for repair of tears in the anterior and middle thirds of the meniscus. Both inside-out and outside-in techniques can be done relatively rapidly [2].

All-inside technique was first introduced in 1991 to decrease surgical time, technical difficulty, and risk to neurovascular structures. This technique and associated devices have evolved over time. While early all-inside repairs have had inferior results compared to other techniques, more recent reports are showing comparable early results [3]. Boenisch et al. and Bryant et al. reported on clinical outcomes of all-inside repair and have shown no significant differences in short-term failure rates [4, 5].

M.R. Hutchinson, MD (⊠) • M. Meghpara, MD D. Rybalko, MD • G. Schwarzman, MD Department of Orthopedic Surgery, University of Illinois, Chicago, IL, USA e-mail: mhutch@uic.edu; sdubose@uic.edu



Fig. 14.1 Inside-out repair technique. (a) Degenerative horizontal cleavage tear is identified. (b) Sutures pulled through the knee. (c) Completed repair with vertical mattress sutures (Images courtesy of Dr. Robert LaPrade)

14.2 Overall Results

Several studies have reported the success rate of meniscus repair to be anywhere from 70 to 90 % [6–20]. Failure is typically defined by continued pain at the tibiofemoral joint, likely from an unhealed repair, requiring subsequent meniscectomy. In a systematic review at a 5-year minimum follow-up, failures ranged from 20.2 to 24 % (mean 23.1 %) that required meniscectomy [21]. Other studies have shown failure rates ranging from 5 to 43.5 % (mean 15 %) [22].

However, even if failures do occur, there has been evidence to show meniscal preservation following a repair that required subsequent meniscectomy. Pujol et al. [22] indicated the amount of meniscus needed for resection following repair was either lower (35 % of cases) or equal (52 % of cases) to the amount of resection that would have been needed at the time of primary surgery, if no repair was done.

The benefits of cartilage preservation and long-term protective effects following meniscal repair have been well documented. Postoperative analysis of osteoarthritis after meniscal repair compared with meniscectomy shows a positive cartilage protection in patients undergoing repair. Rockborn et al. demonstrated increased Fairbanks changes in patients undergoing meniscectomy (60 % stage 0–1, 27 % stage 2) versus repair (20 % stage 0–1, 4 % stage 2) [23]. A systematic review evaluating radiographic changes demonstrated 78 % of meniscal repairs had no degenerative changes versus 64 % of partial meniscectomies [24]. Additionally, when degenerative changes were seen, 97 % of meniscal repairs had one grade change or less compared with 88 % of partial meniscectomies [24].

14.3 Factors Affecting Outcomes after Meniscus Repair

Many factors have been associated with the success of meniscus repair. These include tear location, whether the tear is acute or chronic, vascular zone of injury, rim width, tear length, and patient age. Additionally, stability and anterior cruciate ligament (ACL) laxity significantly influence the outcome of meniscal repairs [2]. Differences in outcomes have been noted when isolated meniscus tears were repaired in stable knees compared to knees that also required a concomitant liga-

ment reconstruction, most commonly the ACL [25, 26]. Table 14.1 summarizes recent studies reporting on outcomes after isolated meniscal repair. Table 14.2 summarizes recent studies reporting on meniscal repair with ACL reconstruction and tibial plateau open reduction internal fixation (ORIF).

Multiple reports in the literature have demonstrated better clinical success and healing of the lateral meniscus when compared to the medial [27–32]. Logan et al. showed that medial meniscal repairs were significantly more likely to fail than lateral meniscal repairs, with a failure rate of 36.4 % and 5.6 %, respectively [27]. One possible reason for this is the nature of the injury may be different. Injuries to the lateral meniscus tend to be more acute, whereas injuries to the medial meniscus commonly occur from recurrent instability and are chronic in nature [33]. Additionally, with the posterior horn of the medial meniscus relatively immobile, as the knee flexes, more pressure is exerted on the medial repair [25].

	Та	b	le 14.1	Outcomes	after	isolated	meniscal	repair:	literature	review
--	----	---	---------	----------	-------	----------	----------	---------	------------	--------

Author	Year	Level of evidence	Technique	No. patients	Follow-up (mo.)	Success rate (%)
Fillingham et al. [44]	2016	IV	Inside-out; all-inside	555	57	89
Steadman et al. [43]	2014	III	Inside-out	40	120	95
Nepple et al. [21]	2012	IV	Open; inside-out, outside-in, all-inside	278	60	77.3
Stein et al. [45]	2010	III	Inside-out	42	105	85.70

Table 14.2 Outcomes after meniscal repair with combined procedures: literature review

Author	Year	Level of evidence	Surgical technique	No. patients	Follow-up (mo.)	Success rate (%)	Combination
Ra et al. [46]	2013	IV	Inside-out	12	30	92	ACL
Song et al. [47]	2014	IV	All-inside	15	24	87	ACL
Pujol et al. [48]	2015	IV	All-inside	41	114	87	ACL
Thaunat et al. [49]	2016	IV	All-inside	132	27	93	ACL
Westermann et al. [50]	2014	Meta- analysis	All-inside, inside out	286	72	84, 90	ACL
Bogunovic et al. [51]	2014	IV	All-inside	49	84	84	ACL
Walter et al. [52]	2014	IV	All-inside	104	13.5	85	ACL
Ruiz-Iban et al. [53]	2012	IV	All-inside	15	58	92	Tibial fracture

Lastly, asymptomatic failed lateral meniscus repairs can occur [34], and without anatomic assessment, this can underestimate the amount of failed lateral repairs.

Arnoczky and Warren [35] reported only the outer 10-30 % of the medial meniscus, and 10-25 % of the lateral meniscus is vascular in an adult. Consequentially, peripheral tears have superior healing rates. In a second look study by Asahina et al. [36], tears of the peripheral one third of the meniscus had a significantly higher rate of healing (87 %) compared to only a 59 % healing rate in central third tears.

Tenura and Arciero [37] reported rim width to have a significant role in healing. Patients who satisfactorily healed their repair had an average rim width of 2.2 mm versus a 3.3 mm average rim width in the unhealed group [37]. Moreover, none of the repairs healed with rim widths >4 mm [37]. Similar results were found by Bach et al. whereby meniscal tears with larger rim widths had a shorter time to failure [38].

Tenura and Arciero [37] also reported on tear length. Despite not being significant, they showed an 80 % healing rate for tears measuring up to 3 cm versus a 64 % healing rate for tears 3–4 cm in length. Other studies have also demonstrated a relationship between tear size and healing [11, 39]. Cannon and Vittori showed 94 % of repairs healed with tear lengths <2 cm, 86 % healed with lengths 2–4 cm, and only 50 % healed with tear lengths >4 cm [39].

Unlike the factors described above, patient age has been shown to have varying results in the literature on healing. Bach et al. [38] showed a significantly longer time to failure in older patients, suggesting a longer survivorship of repair in this patient population. Barrett el al [40]. studied repairs in an older patient population with mean age of 44 years and reported 87 % of patients had good clinical results at a minimum of two-year follow-up. Similarly, Noyes and Barber-Westin [41] had a series of 29 patients with mean age of 45 years and reported 87 % of patients were asymptomatic at a mean of 33 months follow-up. However, other studies have shown decreased healing rates in patients aged >30 years or that patient age was not predictive of outcome [11, 37, 42]. Steadman et al. compared two cohorts, first with patients younger than 40 years of age and a second with patients 40 years and older. He found no difference in outcomes by age group with an overall failure rate of 30 % and mean time to failure of 4.9 years [43].

14.3.1 Outcomes After Isolated Repair

The generally reported healing rate of isolated meniscal repair has been reported at 60 % for complete healing. However, partially or incompletely healed menisci have been reported to be asymptomatic in the short-term studies [22]. The rate of partial healing has been reported at 25 %, and a failure to heal occurred 15 % of the time [22]. While the various studies have used a number of different methods to evaluate healing such as CT arthrogram, MRI, and second-look arthroscopies, they have consistently shown similar outcomes [43].

In a systematic literature review by Nepple et al. of 13 studies reporting on outcomes in isolated meniscal repair at 5 years follow-up and beyond, the pooled rate of meniscal repair failure was 22.7 % (63 of 278) [21]. While location of the meniscus tears did not show significant difference in failure between the lateral and medial meniscus, there was a trend toward slightly lower failure rate in the lateral meniscal repairs [21]. The technique of repair did not appear to make a difference. When broken down by repair type, the study showed a meniscus repair failure rate for open repair of 26.8 %, outside-in technique of 23.9 %, inside-out technique of 25.3 %, and allinside technique of 23.3 % [21]. In a similar study of isolated meniscus repairs, Fillingham et al. reported a clinical failure rate of 11 % [44].

Clinical outcome scores were consistently high following isolated meniscal repair and were independent of the repair technique. In a systematic review of 481 studies, Fillingham et al. reported mean Lysholm and Tegner scores of 88 and 5.4 for the inside-out repair and 90.4 and 6.3 for the all-inside repair technique, respectively [44]. Another study reported that 96 % of patients were able to reach preinjury sports activity level in the repair group, compared to 50 % in the meniscal resection group [45].

14.3.2 Outcomes After Meniscus Repair Combined with Other Procedures

Meniscus repairs are often performed concomitant with other injuries. Most commonly associated with ACL injury, meniscal injuries can also be present with tibial plateau fractures, PCL tears, MCL tears, and other injuries to the knee. Given the associations of meniscus tears with other knee injuries, a number of studies have analyzed results of meniscus repair when done in combination with other procedures.

Combined repair of the meniscus, when associated with another injury around the knee, appears to have a more favorable outcome when compared to just an isolated meniscus repair. Studies have shown success rates with a combined procedure ranging from 84 to 100 % [46, 47, 49–56] compared to 70–90 % in isolated repairs [6–20].

Greater success in the reconstructed ACL knee can be attributed to positive effect of initial hemarthrosis and subsequent fibrin clot. Also, with a more stable knee and minimal laxity, the integrity of the meniscal repair is preserved. When an ACL graft is ruptured, Westermann et al. reported a doubling of failures of (27.3 %) [50]. Feng et al. [57] found a strong correlation between failures of ligament reconstruction and meniscal repair. They noted a 100 % failure rate of repairs when the KT-1000 laxity was greater than 5 mm [57].

The literature has a wide breath of studies evaluation concomitant ACL and meniscal

repair; however, relatively few studies have focused on associated injuries other than an ACL rupture. A major reason for the high prevalence of meniscal and ACL combination studies can be attributed to the fact that just over one third of the meniscus tears were associated with an ACL injury [21].

Outcomes of combined reconstruction of the ACL and repair of the meniscus are well reported in the literature. Studies have analyzed both the inside-out and all-inside technique for combination repairs. The highest-level study analyzed was a cohort series by Westermann et al. that showed a failure rate of 14 % in meniscus repair with ACL reconstruction [50]. This is consistent with the other allinside studies for combination repair that showed failure rates ranging from 6.8 to 16 % [44, 45, 47, 50, 52, 54]. Of note, the inside-out combination repair appeared to show better outcomes than the all-inside technique. The success rates of the inside-out studies analyzed were 92 % and 100 %, respectively [46, 49].

Stahl et al. [56] examined a combination of tibial plateau ORIF and concomitant meniscal tears. Given the high association between tibial plateau fractures and meniscal tears, possibly as high as 30 % [56], it is important to consider the outcomes of this combination repair. Ruiz-Iban



Fig. 14.2 Photograph of an inside-out medial meniscus repair in a left knee



Fig. 14.3 Photograph of suture placement for an inside-out medial meniscus repair in a left knee

et al. [53] analyzed 15 cases of concomitant tibial plateau ORIF and meniscal repair. They found that there was a 92 % success rate with the allinside technique [53]. Although there are limited studies regarding this procedure, it is important to note that the outcome appears to be consistent with combination repairs seen with ACL reconstruction.

There is more information needed regarding meniscal repair combined with other procedures, however, given that all but one of these studies analyzes a meniscal repair combined with ACL reconstruction. Therefore, further research is required to examine the relationship between meniscus repair and other injuries around the knee (Figs. 14.2 and 14.3).

References

- Greis PE, Bardana DD, Holmstrom MC, Burks RT. Meniscal injury: I. Basic science and evaluation. J Am Acad Orthop Surg. 2002;10:168–76. doi:10.5435/00124635-200205000-00003.
- Magnussen RA, Mather RC, Taylor DC, Moorman CT. Arthroscopy-assisted inside-out and outside-in meniscus repair. In: Insall & Scott surgery of the knee; 2012. p. 275–82. doi:10.1016/ B978-1-4377-1503-3.00033-0.
- Turman KA, Gwathmey FW, Diduch DR. All-inside arthroscopic meniscal repair. In: Insall & Scott surgery of the knee; 2012. p. 283–92. doi:10.1016/ B978-1-4377-1503-3.00034-2.
- Boenisch UW, Faber KJ, Ciarelli M, Steadman JR, Arnoczky SP. Pull-out strength and stiffness of menis-

cal repair using absorbable arrows or Ti-Cron vertical and horizontal loop sutures. Am J Sports Med. 1999;27(5):626–31.

- Bryant D, Dill J, Litchfield R, et al. Effectiveness of bioabsorbable arrows compared with inside-out suturing for vertical, reparable meniscal lesions: a randomized clinical trial. Am J Sports Med. 2007;35(6):889–96. doi:10.1177/0363546506298582.
- Albrecht-Olsen PM, Bak K. Arthroscopic repair of the bucket handle meniscus. 10 failures in 27 stable knees followed for 3 years. Acta Orthop Scand. 1993;64:446–8.
- Albrecht-Olsen P, Kristensen G, Burgaard P, Joergensen U, Toerholm C. The arrow versus horizontal sutures in arthroscopic meniscus repair. A prospective randomized study with arthroscopic evaluation. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 1999;7:268–73.
- Cassidy RE, Shaffer AJ. Repair of peripheral meniscus tears. A preliminary report. Am J Sports Med. 1981;9:209–14.
- DeHaven KE, Black KP, Griffiths HJ. Open meniscus repair. Technique and two to nine year results. Am J Sports Med. 1989;17:788–95.
- DeHaven KE, Lohrer WA, Lovelock JE. Long-term results of open meniscal repair. Am J Sports Med. 1995;23:524–30.
- Eggli S, Wegmüller H, Kosina J, Huckell C, Jakob RP. Long-term results of arthroscopic meniscal repair. An analysis of isolated tears. Am J Sports Med. 1995;23(6):715–20.
- Hamberg P, Gillquist J, Lysholm J. Suture of new and old peripheral meniscus tears. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1983;65:193–7.
- Hanks GA, Gause TM, Handal JA, Kalenak A. Meniscus repair in the anterior cruciate deficient knee. Am J Sports Med. 1990;18:606–13.
- Hanks GA, Gause TM, Sebastianelli WJ, O'Donnell CS, Kalenak A. Repair of peripheral meniscal tears: open versus arthroscopic technique. Arthroscopy. 1991;7:72–7.

- Henning CE, Clark JR, Lynch MA, Stallbaumer R, Yearout KM, Vequist SW. Arthroscopic meniscus repair with a posterior incision. Instr Course Lect. 1988;37:209–21.
- Miller Jr DB. Arthroscopic meniscus repair. Am J Sports Med. 1988;16:315–20.
- Morgan CD, Wojtys EM, Casscells CD, Casscells SW. Arthroscopic meniscal repair evaluated by second-look arthroscopy. Am J Sports Med. 1991;19:632–8.
- Rubman MH, Noyes FR, Barber-Westin SD. Arthroscopic repair of meniscal tears that extend into the avascular zone. A review of 198 single and complex tears. Am J Sports Med. 1998;26:87–95.
- Scott GA, Jolly BL, Henning CE. Combined posterior incision and arthroscopic intra-articular repair of the meniscus. An examination of factors affecting healing. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1986;68:847–61.
- van Trommel MF, Simonian PT, Potter HG, Wickiewicz TL. Differential regional healing rates with the outside-in technique for meniscal repair. Am J Sports Med. 1998;26:446–52.
- Nepple J, DunnWR, Wright RW. Meniscal repair outcomes at greater than five years: a systematic literature review and meta-analysis. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2012;94(24):2222–7.
- Pujol N, Barbier O, Boisrenoult P, Beaufils P. Amount of meniscal resection after failed meniscal repair. Am J Sports Med. 2011;39(8):1648–52.
- Rockborn P, Messner K. Long-term results of meniscus repair and meniscectomy: a 13-year functional and radiographic follow-up study. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 2000;8(1):2–10.
- Paxton ES, Stock MV, Brophy RH. Meniscal repair versus partial meniscectomy: a systematic review comparing reoperation rates and clinical outcomes. Arthroscopy. 2011;27(9):1275–88.
- Vedi V, Williams A, Tennany SJ, Spouse E, Hunt DM, Gedroyc WM. Meniscal movement: an in-vivo study using dynamic MRI. J Bone Joint Surg Br. 1999;81:37–41.
- Tenuta JJ, RA A. Arthroscopic evaluation repairs factors that effect of meniscal. Am J Sports Med. 1991;22(6):797–802.
- Logan M, Watts M, Owen J, Myers P. Meniscal repair in the elite athlete: results of 45 repairs with a minimum 5-year follow-up. Am J Sports Med. 2009;37(6):1131–4.
- Lyman S, Hidaka C, Valdez AS, Hetsroni I, Pan TJ, Do H, Dunn WR, Marx RG. Risk factors for meniscectomy after meniscal repair. Am J Sports Med. 2013;41(12):2772–8.
- 29. Krych AJ, Pitts RT, Dajani KA, Stuart MJ, Levy BA, Dahm DL. Surgical repair of meniscal tears with concomitant anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction in patients 18 years and younger. Am J Sports Med. 2010;38(5):976–82.
- Noyes FR, Barber-Westin SD. Treatment of meniscus tears during anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction. Arthroscopy. 2012;28(1):123–30.

- Paxton ES, Stock MV, Brophy RH. Meniscal repair versus partial meniscectomy: a systematic review comparing reoperation rates and clinical outcomes. Arthroscopy. 2011;27(9):1275–88.
- Toman CV et al. Success of meniscal repair at anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction. Am J Sports Med. 2009;37(6):1111–5.
- Bellabarba C, Bush-Joseph CA, Bach Jr BR. Patterns of meniscal injury in the anterior cruciate-deficient knee: review of the literature. Am J Orthop. 1997;26:18–23.
- Fitzgibbons RE, Shelbourne KD. "Aggressive" nontreatment of lateral meniscal tears seen during anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction. Am J Sports Med. 1995;23:156–9.
- Arnoczky SP, Warren RF. Microvasculature of the human meniscus. Am J Sports Med. 1982;10:90–5.
- Asahina S, Muneta T, Yamamoto H. Arthroscopic meniscal repair in conjunction with anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction: factors affecting the healing rate. Arthroscopy. 1996;12:541–5.
- Tenuta JJ, Arciero RA. Arthroscopic evaluation of meniscal repairs. Factors that effect healing. Am J Sports Med. 1994;22:797–802.
- Bach Jr BR, Dennis M, Balin J, Hayden J. Arthroscopic meniscal repair: analysis of treatment failures. J Knee Surg. 2005;18(4):278–84.
- Cannon WD, Vittori JM. The incidence of healing in arthroscopic meniscal repairs in anterior cruciate ligament reconstructed knees versus stable knees. Am J Sports Med. 1992;20:176–81.
- Barrett GR, Field MH, Treacy SH, Ruff CG. Clinical results of meniscus repair in patients 40 years and older. Arthroscopy. 1998;14:824–9.
- 41. Noyes FR, Barber-Westin SD. Arthroscopic repair of meniscus tears extending into the avascular zone with or without anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction in patients 40 years of age and older. Arthroscopy. 2000;16:822–9.
- Johnson MJ, Lucas GL, Dusek JK, Henning CE. Isolated arthroscopic meniscal repair: a long-term outcome study (more than 10 years). Am J Sports Med. 1999;27:44–9.
- 43. Steadman JR, Matheny LM, Singleton SB, Johnson NS, Rodkey WG, Crespo B, Briggs KK. Meniscus suture repair: minimum 10-year outcomes in patients younger than 40 years compared with patients 40 and older. Am J Sports Med. 2015;43(9):2222–7. doi:10.1177/0363546515591260.
- 44. Fillingham YA, Riboh JC, Erickson BJ, Bach BR, Yanke AB. Inside-out versus all-inside repair of isolated meniscal tears: an updated systematic review. Am J Sports Med. 2016; doi:10.1177/0363546516632504.
- 45. Stein T, Mehling AP, Welsch F, von Eisenhart-Rothe R, Jager A. Long-term outcome after arthroscopic meniscal repair versus arthroscopic partial meniscectomy for traumatic meniscal tears. Am J Sports Med. 2010;38(8):1542–8. doi:10.1177/0363546510364052.

- 46. Ra HJ, Ha JK, Jang SH, Lee DW, Kim JG. Arthroscopic inside-out repair of complete radial tears of the meniscus with a fibrin clot. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 2013;21:2126–30.
- 47. Song HS, Bae TY, Park BY, Shim J, In Y. Repair of a radial tear in the posterior horn of the lateral meniscus. Knee. 2014;21:1185–90.
- Pujol N, Tardy N, Boisrenoult P, Beaufils P. Longterm outcomes of all-inside meniscal repair. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 2015;23(1):219–24.
- 49. Thaunat M et al. Repair of meniscal ramp lesions through a posteromedial portal during anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction: outcome study with a minimum 2-year follow-up. Arthroscopy(The Journal of Arthroscopic & Related Surgery). 2016;pii:S0749-8063(16)00249-8.
- Westermann RW et al. Meniscal repair with concurrent anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction operative success and patient outcomes at 6-year follow-up. Am J Sports Med. 2014;42(9):2184–92.
- Bogunovic L et al. Outcome of All-Inside Second-Generation Meniscal Repair. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2014;96(15):1303–7.

- 52. Walter RP et al. The outcome of all-inside meniscal repair with relation to previous anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction. Knee. 2014;21(6):1156–9.
- Ruiz-Ibán MÁ et al. Repair of meniscal tears associated with tibial plateau fractures: a review of 15 cases. Am J Sports Med. 2012;40(10):2289–95. 0363546512457552.
- Ljiljana et al. Outcome of all-inside second-generation meniscal repair. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2014;96(15):1303–7.
- 55. Anderson L, Watts M, Shapter O, et al. Repair of radial tears and posterior horn detachments of the lateral meniscus: minimum 2-year follow-up. Arthroscopy. 2010;26:1625–32.
- 56. Stahl DL, Serrano-Riera R, Deafenbaugh B, et al. The incidence of meniscal tears requiring repair in tibial plateau fractures: a review of 670 patients. Paper #78. Presented at the Orthopaedic Trauma Association Annual Meeting 2012. Oct. 3–6. Minneapolis.
- 57. Feng H, Hong L, Geng XS, Zhang H, Wang XS, Jiang XY. Second-look arthroscopic evaluation of buckethandle meniscus tear repairs with anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction: 67 consecutive cases. Arthroscopy. 2008;24(12):1358–66.

Treatment of Meniscus Degeneration and Meniscus Cysts

15

Hakan Boya, Hasan Tatari, and Halit Pinar

Contents

15.1	Introduction and Outline	155
15.2	Meniscal Mucoid Degeneration	156
15.2.1	Definition and Etiology of Meniscal	100
	Mucoid Degeneration	156
15.2.2	Clinical Features of Meniscal Tears	
	due to Mucoid Degeneration and Cysts	156
15.2.3	MRI Findings	157
15.2.4	Arthroscopic Findings and Tear Types	158
15.3	Treatment	158
15.3.1	Treatment of Degenerative	
	Meniscal Tears	158
15.3.2	Treatment of Meniscal Cysts	160
15.3.3	Authors' Method	161
Referen	ices	162

H. Boya

Başkent University, School of Medicine, Zübeyde Hanim Practice and Research Center, Bostanlı-Karşıyaka, İzmir, Turkey e-mail: hakanboya@yahoo.com

H. Tatari • H. Pinar (⊠) Dokuz Eylül University, School of Medicine, Department of Orthopedics and Traumatology, Balçova, İzmir, Turkey e-mail: hasan.tatari@deu.edu.tr; halit.pinar@deu.edu.tr

15.1 Introduction and Outline

Meniscal tears are usually classified into two main categories: traumatic and degenerative (non-traumatic). However, degenerative meniscal lesions can be subdivided into primary degenerative meniscal lesions and meniscal lesions in osteoarthritic knees [1].

Meniscal mucoid degeneration (MD) – a condition that has generally been ignored – is likely to be responsible for the primary meniscal degeneration. Myxoid or cystic degeneration is also used for the same pathologic entity. Mucoid degeneration deserves special attention because it may be seen at a younger age, and it may be responsible for a non-traumatic tear of the meniscus which is not repairable; the process may end up with the loss of the meniscus at a young age. In our series of consecutive patients, the average age of the patients with meniscal mucoid degeneration was 28 years (range 16–68); 17 of 23 patients were under 40 years [2].

Meniscus degeneration in osteoarthritic knees usually occurs in middle and advanced ages; it is assumed that the prevalence increases with age. The prevalence in women aged 50–59 years and in men aged 70–90 could reach 16 and 50 %, respectively [3]. Once the meniscus loses some of its critical function due to degeneration, the increased biomechanical loading patterns on joint cartilage may result in accelerated cartilage loss [4, 5]. Meniscal cysts are associated with meniscal mucoid degeneration [2, 6, 7]. These cysts are commonly found in young and middle-aged patients [8]. Therefore, it is an important clinical entity.

One of the aims of this chapter is to draw attention to mucoid degeneration of the meniscus due to its serious implications in younger patients.

15.2 Meniscal Mucoid Degeneration and Cysts

15.2.1 Definition and Etiology of Meniscal Mucoid Degeneration

The most decisive feature of meniscal MD is the increase of mucoid ground substance created by mucoprotein and glycoprotein in connective tissue; proteoglycans accumulate in the interstitial area [6]. Mucoid degeneration may occur in two different forms in meniscal tissue; the degenerative process starts primarily around the cells and extends to the interstitial space in the stromal type. In the second type, cystic parameniscal degeneration, the degenerative process settles in the parameniscal field, and united cracks and pseudocysts are typical [6, 7]. Although the exact etiology is unknown, trauma (endogenous and exogenous), endothelial inclusion in cartilage tissue, chronic infection, and bleeding into the parenchyma have been implicated as etiologic factors [9–13]. The potential effect of chronic bacterial infection was not accepted in one study [2]. Similarly, degeneration caused by apoptotic cell death leading to suppression of collagen and proteoglycan synthesis does not seem to play a role in the etiology of meniscal mucoid degeneration [14, 15]. Mechanical stresses can induce an increase in proteoglycan synthesis by chondrocytes and may be responsible in the etiology of physiological stromal meniscal mucoid degeneration [6, 15, 16].

As in other tissues, aging is a physiological condition that can be seen in the meniscus;

however, it has different pathological characteristics [17]. Knee joint overloading caused by obesity and malalignment may also create degenerative changes in the meniscus matrix via disrupting the structure and function [3, 18–20].

15.2.2 Clinical Features of Meniscal Tears due to Mucoid Degeneration and Cysts

Meniscal degeneration is a slowly developing process likely to involve progressive mucoid degeneration and weakening of the meniscus ultrastructure. Therefore, the resultant tears are typically non-traumatic [1, 2]. The duration of symptoms before presentation is long, meaning that such tears are usually not seriously symptomatic [2]. Although patients with meniscal tear due to MD have pain, it is usually not serious, at least for some time despite having known that they had complex tears on magnetic resonance imaging [2]. In our study, the mean duration of symptoms was 11.6 months (range 1–36 months). A history of trauma was present in only three of 24 knees (13 %), and the mean Tegner activity level was 4 (range 1–7). Pain was common in all knees. Giving way, swelling, catching, and difficulty in squatting were detected in a small number of patients [2].

Meniscal cysts are usually seen in the lateral meniscus; they present as palpable tender cystic masses on the middle third of the lateral joint line. The cyst often becomes prominent at 45° of knee flexion and disappears at further flexion and extension (Pisani's sign) [21]. At 45° of flexion, the cyst typically becomes more prominent with external rotation and disappears with internal rotation (Fig. 15.1a, b) [22]. Medial cysts rarely present as cystic masses, because mucoid degeneration is usually confined to the body of the meniscus. If a cyst develops, it usually involves the posterior horn and is palpated posteromedially. Catching or locking caused by a medial meniscal lesion associated with a cyst seems to be less common [23].



Fig. 15.1 Lateral meniscal cyst, left knee. Internal rotation (a), external rotation (b)

15.2.3 MRI Findings

Meniscal structure is well evaluated on proton density and T1 sequencing, while pathology is best identified on T2 sequencing [24]. In adult patients, increased abnormal signal in the meniscal structure indicates mucoid degeneration. There are three stages; stages 1 and 2 are differentiated by morphological features (oval, linear), and abnormal signal is confined to the meniscus structure. However, abnormal signal extending to the joint surface in stage 3 is diagnostic for meniscal tears [25]. Sometimes increased signal intensity can occupy the whole meniscal body. The meniscal outline may seem intact in some images, and the signal may reach the surface in others. The meniscus looks as if it is "empty," or it resembles a triangular "frame" (Fig. 15.2) [2].

On magnetic resonance imaging, meniscal cysts can be seen as hyperintense on T_2 -weighted images. A hypointense appearance is possibly due to cystic fluid loss or bleeding into the cyst. On T1-weighted images, the intensity of the cyst is determined by its fluid protein content; if protein

content increases, the cyst becomes isointense with skeletal muscle (Fig. 15.3a, b) [26].



Fig. 15.2 "Empty" meniscus



Fig. 15.3 Medial meniscal cyst (a), lateral meniscal cyst (b)

15.2.4 Arthroscopic Findings and Tear Types

If the meniscus is not torn, it is almost impossible to think that it is affected by mucoid degeneration unless a preoperative MRI is obtained; the meniscus may seem intact during arthroscopy. Horizontal, flap, radial, and complex tears are typical. As the surgeon proceeds with meniscectomy, the characteristic yellow color of the meniscal substance becomes apparent (Fig. 15.4a, b). Meniscal cysts are usually accompanied by horizontal cleavage tears [27]. Besides these, the abovementioned tear types are usually encountered [2].

15.3 Treatment

15.3.1 Treatment of Degenerative Meniscal Tears

The most critical issue in the treatment of degenerative meniscal tears is to evaluate the tear in accordance to the age of the patient and radiologic findings. For the patients who have meniscal tears accompanying radiological osteoarthritis grade \leq II, there is a tendency toward planning the treatment according to the osteoarthritis level. If all therapeutic modalities fail and the patient presents with considerable mechanical symptoms, arthroscopic partial meniscectomy can be considered, although mechanical symptoms cannot be clearly defined by the patient. Other than these patients, even for the younger patients who have no or low-grade radiological osteoarthritis, there is a conflict about the treatment regimen in the literature. In this chapter, we have focused on both degenerative meniscal tears in the degenerative knee in older patients and meniscal tears accompanying meniscal mucoid degeneration including meniscal cysts in younger patients.

In 2002, when Moseley et al. [28] have published their controlled clinical trial, arthroscopic treatment of degenerative menisci and knees has been paused by many arthroscopists, and some reviews have supported this finding in recent years although arthroscopic debridement has



Fig. 15.4 Mucoid degeneration: the characteristic *yellow* color of the meniscal substance (**a**). Another case: *dark yellow-brown* color as meniscal resection proceeds toward the periphery (**b**)

been acquitted in a most recent meta-analysis [29–32]. In spite of these findings, arthroscopy of the knee in elderly patients is still an applied but declining procedure today [33].

In a prospective study, where middle-aged patients with radiological osteoarthritis grade ≤ 1 were randomly assigned either to arthroscopic meniscectomy and exercise regimen or to only exercise regimen, the findings showed that none of the treatment modalities showed a difference among the patients' results after a 5-year follow-up [34]. Contrary to this study, another one, with the same demographic features, demonstrated that middle-aged patients with meniscal symptoms might benefit from arthroscopic surgery [35].

In another study, Sihvonen at al. have randomly assigned middle-aged patients with no osteoarthritis to arthroscopic meniscectomy and sham surgery including only lavage and reported that the outcome after arthroscopy was no better than the sham procedure after 12 months [36]. A randomized controlled trial has shown no significant differences between the patient groups (standardized physical therapy regimen vs. surgery and postoperative physical therapy) after a 6-month follow-up, although 30 % of the patients who have received physical therapy alone have undergone arthroscopic meniscectomy within 6 months [37].

According to a systematic review including all these studies, there is a moderate evidence to suggest that there is no benefit to arthroscopic meniscal debridement for degenerative meniscal tears in comparison with nonoperative or sham treatments in middle-aged patients with mild or no concomitant osteoarthritis [38]. It is rational that arthroscopy will have relatively better results for traumatic meniscal tears than for non-traumatic degenerative tears [39].

Since these types of tears mostly exist in the avascular part of the menisci, they are considered to be an indication for partial or subtotal meniscectomy. However, in recent years, there is an increasing interest to repair such lesions due to deleterious effects resulting from meniscal loss.

Degenerative horizontal cleavage tears are another issue that differs from other degenerative tears as regards treatment alternatives. Accepted treatment modalities include arthroscopic partial meniscectomy [40], arthroscopic partial meniscectomy of the inferior fragment [41], open repair [42, 43], arthroscopic repair (Fig. 15.5),

Fig. 15.5 Long horizontal cleavage tear repaired by inside-out sutures

and arthroscopic repair augmented by a fibrin clot [44].

In the study of Kim et al. [40], patients under 40 with an isolated horizontal tear were operated by arthroscopic partial meniscectomy, and the functional scores postoperatively were improved after a follow-up of more than 2 years.

In horizontal cleavage tears, during partial meniscectomy, the inferior or the superior fragment can be spared, while the other is excised. However, in a biomechanical study on sheep knees, it was demonstrated that sparing one fragment offered no benefit over resecting both in extensive horizontal tears [45].

An inframeniscal portal was used for horizontal tears of both menisci for partial meniscectomy in 40 patients, and after a follow-up of 2 years, the authors concluded that this portal was effective for accessing this type of tears, but they had a grade 1 medial collateral ligament injury in two cases [41].

In a study [42] that stressed the difference between degenerative meniscal tears of over 50 patients and complex horizontal tears in young and active patients, the authors preserved the meniscus by open repair of horizontal tears in 80 % of patients. The authors [43] have recently published the results of a longer follow-up and reviewed nine patients with the same issue for 10 years. They concluded that they could recommend open repair for such tears in young patients. The incidence of radiological osteoarthritis was low after 10 years. The success rate for 98 repaired horizontal cleavage tears was found to be 77. 8 % in a systematic review [46].

Kamimura and Kimura [44] have used a vertical inside-out suturing technique with fibrin clot in 18 degenerative horizontal cleavage tears with a mean age of 35.8 followed for 40 months, and follow-up arthroscopies showed 70 % complete and 30 % incomplete healing. Marrowstimulating techniques have been used for the repair of horizontal meniscal tears of the avascular zone in addition to arthroscopic repair [42, 46, 47]. In the series of Ahn et al. [47], 11 of 32 repairs for whom second-look arthroscopy was performed, 73 % showed complete healing after a follow-up of 45 months.

15.3.2 Treatment of Meniscal Cysts

Starting from the 1950s, the accepted treatment modality for meniscal cysts was open excision of the cyst and open total meniscectomy [48–51]. Percutaneous needle aspiration of the cyst under ultrasound guidance and isolated excision of the cyst mostly result in the recurrence of the cyst and the physical findings [52, 53]. But, due to the importance of the menisci for the knee, a total meniscectomy is no longer an accepted procedure today. So, the currently recommended treatment modality for the meniscal cyst accompanying a tear is arthroscopic partial meniscectomy followed by cyst decompression.

Percutaneous needle aspiration under ultrasound guidance has been accepted as a simple and valid method in the middle term with a high recurrence rate because of leaving the tear [52, 53]; so it can be used for the patients who reject the operation or who cannot be operated because of various reasons [54].

The most widely accepted treatment alternatives are partial meniscectomy [55], open cystectomy with arthroscopic management of the tear [56–58], and arthroscopic partial meniscectomy with intra-articular decompression of the cyst [8, 59–61]. In some cases, an extensive meniscectomy is performed to decompress the cyst intra-articularly [62–64]. A limited meniscectomy (if not reparable), by creating a 5-mm channel from the joint into cyst, is the ideal procedure [54].

After debriding the meniscal lesion arthroscopically, the cyst can be decompressed both from inside and percutaneously from outside with the help of a motorized instrument introduced through a transmeniscal approach [65].

Ahn et al. [47] have described an outside-in suturing technique for a vertical repair of the anterior horn of the meniscus after arthroscopic decompression of a large cyst. The authors have mentioned that the large gap between the meniscus and the joint capsule was closed after tying the sutures post-decompression. After following four patients for about 12 months, they have concluded that this kind of suturing can also be applied to the longitudinal tear of the anterior horn. If the size of the meniscal detachment is more than 2 cm, the meniscus should be repaired to prevent instability [47].

There was no difference between the entirely arthroscopic treatment and arthroscopic examination combined with open excision of the cyst in two series [61, 66]. In Sarimo's series [61] where 86 % had excellent or good results, decompression was performed with a small curette by inserting its tip through the rupture into the meniscus and probing the way toward the cyst with the help of simultaneous palpation of the cyst from the outside.

Recently, in a study [67] comparing the recurrence risk of parameniscal cysts between arthroscopic meniscectomy with open cystectomy and an entirely arthroscopic technique with intra-articular cyst decompression, after a followup period of 26 months of 241 young patients, arthroscopic decompression group had a sixfold higher recurrence risk than open cystectomy group. They have mentioned that the recurrence was strongly related to large cystic lesions and large meniscal tears.

In the technique of Howe et al. [68] which they called internal marsupialization, a 5-mm channel was created in the capsule adjacent to the cyst arthroscopically for decompression of the cyst content into the joint equalizing the pressure between the intra-articular compartment and cyst cavity while preserving the meniscal tissue. In eight patients with a mean follow-up of 39 months, no recurrence was shown.

For a meniscal cyst at the posterior horn of the medial meniscus, Ohishi et al. [69] have used a posterior transeptal approach. An alternative approach was described by Haklar et al. [70] for the lateral parameniscal cyst, where the authors have decompressed the cyst via the anterolateral portal and through the intra-articular portal with the arthroscope in the superomedial portal. They advocate that visualization of the entire cyst is better from the superior portals and handling the instruments is easier from the anterior portals (Fig. 15.6).

15.3.3 Authors' Method

- Arthroscopic surgery is of little or no benefit for older patients with advanced osteoarthritis and is not recommended.
- Surgery can be proposed for patients with degenerative meniscal tears with persistent pain and mechanical symptoms after 3 months.
- For a horizontal cleavage tear without a meniscal cyst in the younger patient without radiological osteoarthritis, we usually excise the free superior and inferior edges with the help of mechanical instruments until a stable edge is achieved – with maximum care not to reach the periphery of the meniscus. If the quality of the meniscal tissue is sufficient, following minimum edge resection, we perform repair with inside-out vertical sutures (Fig. 15.5).
- For a lateral meniscal cyst with a concomitant meniscal tear, we perform arthroscopic partial meniscectomy by using mechanical instruments and a motorized shaver. Then, through an accessory portal over the cyst, we debride the periphery of the meniscus and the cyst content with a motorized shaver (Fig. 15.7).



Fig. 15.6 Lateral parameniscal cyst decompression via intra-articular portal (shaver in anterolateral portal and through the intra-articular portal with the arthroscope in the superomedial portal) (Courtesy of Uğur Haklar)



Fig. 15.7 Intracystic portal

References

- Pujol N, Menetrey J. Synthesis: differences between traumatic and degenerative meniscal lesions. In: Hulet C, Periera H, Peretti G, Denti M, editors. Surgery of the meniscus. ESSKA: Springer; 2016. p. 169–72.
- Boya H, Pinar H, Gülay Z, Oktay G, Özer E. Clinical and arthroscopic features of meniscal tears and search for the role of infection in histologically confirmed meniscal mucoid degeneration. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 2004;12:294–9.
- Englund M, Guermazi A, Gale D, et al. Incidental meniscal findings on knee MRI in middle-aged and elderly persons. N Engl J Med. 2008;359:1108–15.
- Beaufils P, Becker R, Ollivier M, Kopf S, Pujol N, Englund M. Degenerative meniscal lesions: indications. In: Hulet C, Periera H, Peretti G, Denti M, editors. Surgery of the meniscus. ESSKA: Springer; 2016. p. 393–401.
- Berthiaume MJ, Raynauld JP, Martel-Pelletier J, et al. Meniscal tear and excursion are strongly associated with progression of symptomatic knee osteoarthritis as assessed by quantitative magnetic resonance imaging. Ann Rheum Dis. 2005;64:556–63.
- Ferrer-Roca O, Vilalta C. Lesions of the meniscus. I. Macroscopic and histologic findings. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 1980;146:289–300.
- Ferrer-Roca O, Vilalta C. Lesions of the meniscus. II. Horizontal cleavages and lateral cysts. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 1980;146:301–7.

- Hulet C, Souquet D, Alexandre P. Arthroscopic treatment of 105 lateral meniscal cysts with 5-year average follow-up. Arthroscopy. 2004;20:831–6.
- Walter JB, Talbot IC. Connective tissue: its normal structure and the effects of disease. In: Walter JB, Talbot IC, editors. General pathology. Edinburgh: Churchill Livingstone; 1996. p. 103–16.
- Smillie IS. Surgical pathology of the menisci. In: Smillie IS, editor. Injuries of the knee joint. Edinburgh: Churchill Livingstone; 1978. p. 83–111.
- Romanini L, Calvisi V, Collodel M, Masciocchi C. Cystic degeneration of the lateral meniscus. Pathogenesis and diagnostic approach. Ital J Orthop Traumatol. 1998;14:493–500.
- Ollerenshaw R. The development of cysts in connection with the external semilunar cartilage of the kneejoint. Br J Surg. 1921;8:409–12.
- Hernandez FJ. Cysts of the semilunar cartilage of knee: a light and electron microscopic study. Acta Orthop Scand. 1976;47:436–40.
- Fink C, Fermor B, Weinberg JB, Pisetsky DS, Misukonis MA, Fl G. The effect of dynamic mechanical compression on nitric oxide production in the meniscus. Osteoarthritis Cartilage. 2001;9:481–7.
- Hashimoto S, Takahashi K, Ochs RL. Nitric oxide production and apoptosis in cells of the meniscus during experimental osteoarthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 1999;42:2123–31.
- McDevitt CA, Muir H. Biochemical changes in the cartilage of the knee in experimental and natural osteoarthritis in the dog. J Bone Joint Surg Br. 1976;58:94–101.
- McDevitt CA, Webber RJ. The ultrastructure and biochemistry of meniscal cartilage. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 1990;252:8–18.
- Lindström A. Trauma and ganglia of the semilunar cartilages of the knee. Acta Orthop Scand. 1954;23:237–46.
- Pauli C, Grogan SP, Patil S, et al. Macroscopic and histopathologic analysis of human knee menisci aging and osteoarthritis. Cartilage. 2011;19:1132–41.
- Englund M. Degenerative meniscus lesions, cartilage degeneration, and osteoarthritis of the knee. In: Hulet C, Periera H, Peretti G, Denti M, editors. Surgery of the meniscus. ESSKA: Springer; 2016. p. 79–91.
- Pisani AJ. Pathognomonic sign for cyst of knee cartilage. Arch Surg. 1947;54:188–90.
- Pinar H, Boya H, Satoglu IS, Oztekin HH. A contribution to Pisani's sign for diagnosing lateral meniscal cysts: a technical report. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 2009;17:402–4.
- Hulet C, Kopf S, Rochcongar G, Roland B. Meniscal cysts. In: Hulet C et al., editors. Surgery of the meniscus. ESSKA: Springer; 2016. p. 237–50.
- Howell R, Kumar NS, Patel N, Tom J. Degenerative meniscus: Pathogenesis, diagnosis, and treatment options. World J Orthod. 2014;18:597–602.

- Crues JV, Mink J, Levy TL, Lotysch M, Stoller DW. Meniscal tears of the knee: accuracy of MR imaging. Radiology. 1987;164:445–8.
- Burk Jr DL, Dalinka MK, Kanal E, et al. Meniscal and ganglion cysts of the knee: MR evaluation. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 1998;150:331–6.
- McCarthy CL, McNally EG. The MRI appearance of cystic lesions around the knee. Skeletal Radiol. 2004;33:187–209.
- Moseley JB, O'Malley K, Petersen NJ, et al. A controlled trial of arthroscopic surgery for osteoarthritis of the knee. N Engl J Med. 2002;347:81–8.
- Laupattarakasem W, Laopaiboon M, Laupattarakasem P, Sumananont C. Arthroscopic debridement for knee osteoarthritis. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2008;23(1)
- Siparsky P, Ryzewicz M, Peterson B, Bartz R. Arthroscopic treatment of osteoarthritis of the knee: are there any evidence-based indications? Clin Orthop Relat Res. 2007;455:107–12.
- Howell SM. The role of arthroscopy in treating osteoarthritis of the knee in the older patient. Orthopedics. 2010;33(9):652.
- 32. Spahn G, Hofmann GO, Klinger HM. The effects of arthroscopic joint debridement in the knee osteoarthritis: result of a meta-analysis. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 2013;21:1553–61.
- Lazic S, Boughton O, Hing C, Bernard J. Arthroscopic washout of the knee: a procedure in decline. Knee. 2014;21:631–4.
- 34. Herlin SV, Wange PO, Lapidus G, Hallander M, Werner S, Ll W. Is arthroscopic surgery beneficial in treating non-traumatic, degenerative medial meniscal tears? A five year follow-up. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 2013;21:358–64.
- 35. Gauffin H, Tagesson S, Meunier A, Magnusson H, Kvist J. Knee arthroscopic surgery is beneficial to middle-aged patients with meniscal symptoms: a prospective, randomized, single-blinded study. Osteoarthritis Cartilage. 2014;22:1808–16.
- 36. Sihvonen R, Paavola M, Malmivaara A, et al. Arthroscopic partial meniscectomy versus sham surgery for a degenerative meniscal tear. N Engl J Med. 2013;369:2515–24.
- Katz JN, Brophy RH, Chaisson CE, et al. Surgery versus physical therapy for a meniscal tear and osteoarthritis. N Engl J Med. 2013;368:1675–84.
- Khan M, Evaniew N, Bedi A, Ayeni OR, Bhandari M. Arthroscopic surgery for degenerative tears of the meniscus: a systematic review and meta-analysis. CMAJ. 2016;186:1057–64.
- Ghislain NA, Wei J, Li YG. Study of the clinical outcome between traumatic and degenerative (nontraumatic) meniscal tears after arthroscopic surgery: a 4-years follow-up study. J Clin Diagn Res. 2016;10(4):1–4.
- 40. Kim JR, Kim BG, Kim JW, Lee JH, Kim JH. Traumatic and non-traumatic isolated horizontal meniscal tears

of the knee in patients less than 40 years of age. Eur J Orthop Surg Traumatol. 2013;23:589–93.

- Kim JM, Bin SI, Kim E. Inframeniscal portal for horizontal tears of the meniscus. Arthroscopy. 2009;25:269–73.
- Pujol N, Bohu Y, Boisrenoult P, Macdes A, Beaufils P. Clinical outcomes of open meniscal repair of horizontal meniscal tear in young patients. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 2013;21:1530–3.
- Chou ES, Pujol N, Rochcongar G, et al. Analysis of short and long-term results of horizontal meniscal tears in young adults. Orthop Traumatol Surg Res. 2015;101:317–22.
- 44. Kamimura T, Kimura M. Meniscal repair of degenerative horizontal cleavage tears using fibrin clots. Orthop J Sports Med. 2014;2:1–7.
- Haemer JM, Wang MJ, Carter DR, Giori NJ. Benefit of single leaf resection for horizontal meniscal tear. Clin Orthop. 2007;457:194–202.
- Kurzweil PR, Lynch NM, Coleman S, Kearney B. Repair of horizontal meniscus tears: a systematic review. Arthroscopy. 2014;30:1513–9.
- Ahn JH, Kwon OJ, Nam TS. Arthroscopic repair of horizontal meniscal cleavage tears with marrowstimulating technique. Arthroscopy. 2015;31:92–8.
- Breck LW. Cysts of the semilunar cartilages of the knee. Clin Orthop. 1954;3:29–38.
- Flynn M, Kelly JP. Local excision of cysts of the lateral meniscus of the knee without recurrence. J Bone Joint Surg Br. 1976;58:88–9.
- 50. Wroblewski BM. Trauma and the cystic meniscus: review of 500 cases. Injury. 1973;4:319–21.
- Bonnin JG. Cysts of semilunar cartilage of the kneejoint. Br J Surg. 1953;40:558–65.
- Macmahon PJ, Brennan DD, Duke D, Forde S, Eustace SJ. Ultrasound-guided percutaneous drainage of meniscal cysts: preliminary clinical experience. Clin Radiol. 2007;62:683–7.
- Chang A. Imaging-guided treatment of meniscal cysts. HSS J. 2009;5:58–60.
- Cowden 3rd CH, Barber FA. Meniscal cysts: treatment options and algorithm. J Knee Surg. 2014;27:105–11.
- Kumar NS, Jakoi AM, Swanson CE, Tom JA. Is formal decompression necessary for parameniscal cysts associated with meniscal tears? Knee. 2014;21:501–3.
- Regan WD, McConkey JP, Loomer RL, Davidson RG. Cysts of lateral meniscus: arthroscopy versus

arthroscopy plus open cystectomy. Arthroscopy. 1989;5:274–81.

- Pedowitz RA, Feagin JA, Rajagopalan S. A surgical algorithm for treatment of cystic degeneration of the meniscus. Arthroscopy. 1996;12:209–12.
- Millis CA, Henderson IJ. Cysts of the medial meniscus. Arthroscopic diagnosis and management. J Bone Joint Surg Br. 1993;75:293–8.
- Erginer R, Yücel I, Öğüt T, Kesmezacar H, Babacan M. Medial meniscus anterior horn cyst: arthroscopic decompression. Arthroscopy. 2004;20(suppl 2):9–12.
- Parisien JS. Arthroscopic treatment of cysts of the menisci. A preliminary report. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 1990;257:154–8.
- Sarimo J, Rainio P, Rantanen J, Orava S. Comparison of two procedures for meniscal cysts. A report of 35 patients with a mean follow-up of 33 months. Am J Sports Med. 2002;30:704–7.
- Glosgow MMS, Allen PW, Blakeway C. Arthroscopic treatment of cysts of the lateral meniscus. J Bone Joint Surg Br. 1993;75:299–302.
- Miotti M, Arena NE, De Angelis-Ricciotti F. Lateral meniscal cysts therapeutic problems. Ital J Orthop Traumatol. 1993;19:353–8.
- Ryu RK, Ting AJ. Arthroscopic treatment of meniscal cysts. Arthroscopy. 1993;9:591–5.
- Tudisco C, Meo A, Blasucci C, Ippolito E. Arthroscopic treatment of lateral meniscal cysts using an outside-in technique. Am J Sports Med. 2000;28:683–6.
- 66. El-Assal M, Mostafa M, Abdel-Aal A, El-Shafee M. Arthroscopy alone or in association with open cystectomy: in treatment of lateral meniscal cysts. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 2003;11:30–2.
- 67. Chang JJ, Li YH, Lin GM, et al. Comparison of the recurrence risk of parameniscal cysts between patients treated with arthroscopic excision and arthroscopic decompression techniques. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 2016;24:1547–54.
- Howe TS, Koh JS. Arthroscopic internal marsupialization of meniscal cysts. Knee. 2007;14:408–10.
- 69. Ohishi T, Torikai E, Suzuki D, Banno T, Honda Y. Arthroscopic treatment of a medial meniscal cyst using a posterior trans-septal approach: a case report. Sports Med Arthrosc Rehabil Ther Technol. 2010;2:25.
- Haklar U, Ayhan E, Ustundag S, Canbora K. A new arthroscopic technique for lateral parameniscal cyst decompression. Knee. 2014;21:126–8.

Discoid Menisci and Their Treatment

Chih-Hwa Chen and Chian-Her Lee

Contents

16.1	Introduction	165
16.2	Anatomy	165
16.3	Incidence	166
16.4	Classifications	166
16.5	Diagnosis	166
16.6 16.6.1 16.6.2 16.6.3	Imaging Radiography Ultrasonography Magnetic Resonance Imaging	167 167 167 167
16.7	Associated Pathology with a Discoid Meniscus	168
16.7 16.8	Associated Pathology with a Discoid Meniscus Treatment	168 168
16.7 16.8 16.8.1 16.8.2	Associated Pathology with a Discoid Meniscus Treatment Conservative Treatment Partial Meniscectomy and	168 168 168
16.7 16.8 16.8.1 16.8.2	Associated Pathology with a Discoid Meniscus Treatment Conservative Treatment Partial Meniscectomy and Meniscoplasty (Saucerization) Partial Meniscus	168 168 168 168
16.7 16.8 16.8.1 16.8.2 16.8.3	Associated Pathology with a Discoid Meniscus Treatment Conservative Treatment Partial Meniscectomy and Meniscoplasty (Saucerization) Partial Meniscectomy and Meniscus Repair	168 168 168 168 168
16.7 16.8 16.8.1 16.8.2 16.8.3 16.9	Associated Pathology with a Discoid Meniscus Treatment Conservative Treatment Partial Meniscectomy and Meniscoplasty (Saucerization) Partial Meniscectomy and Meniscus Repair Treatment Outcome	168 168 168 168 168 171

C.-H. Chen (⊠) • C.-H. Lee Department of Orthopedics, Taipei Medical University Hospital, Taipei Medical University, 252. Wu-Hsin Street, Taipei, Taiwan

e-mail: afachen@doctor.com

16.1 Introduction

Discoid lateral and medial menisci were first described in cadaver specimens [1, 2]. Discoid meniscus is an abnormal congenital variant of the fibrocartilaginous meniscus of the knee [3-7]. The discoid shape results in a membrane barrier that prevents normal contact between the articular surfaces of the femoral condyles and tibial plateau resulting in a high incidence of mechanical deformation [8–11]. The meniscal anomaly differs in size, shape, coverage of tibial plateau, extent of peripheral rim instability, and meniscal attachment. A discoid meniscus is thicker and covers nearly the entire tibial plateau, which alters the stability and mobility of the meniscus [12, 13]. A discoid meniscus with thicker meniscus substance, unstable attachment to the tibial plateau, and poor vascularization of central region increases the susceptibility to mechanical and shear stress of the discoid-shaped meniscus to injury and a subsequent tear [14, 15, 16].

16.2 Anatomy

A discoid meniscus is a rare anomaly attributed to a persistence of fetal anatomy. The congenital theory proposes the discoid meniscus is an anatomical variant and suggests that increased shear stress causes meniscocapsular separation and secondary hypermobility [17]. In adults, the medial meniscus covers 50 % of the medial tibial plateau and is attached firmly to the joint capsule tissues with coronary, meniscotibial, and deep medial collateral ligament. The lateral meniscus covers 70 % of the lateral tibial plateau and has firm anterior and posterior attachments with augmentation posteriorly by the anterior and posterior meniscofemoral ligaments. A discoid meniscus is a thicker meniscus that covers nearly the entire tibial plateau. The lateral meniscus is most commonly involved.

16.3 Incidence

The reported incidence of a discoid meniscus ranges from 0.4 to 17 % for the lateral side [4]. A discoid medial meniscus is a rare abnormality, with incidence estimated at 0.06–0.3 % [5, 6, 18]. The incidence of bilateral lateral discoid meniscus is up to 20 % of the cases, whereas bilateral medial discoid menisci are quite rare [18]. Coexistence of both medial and lateral discoid menisci in the same knee has been reported only twice [19]. The reported incidence of a discoid meniscus shows a wide geographical variation. In Europe, it is rather rare, with an incidence between 1.2 and 5.2 % [20-22]. In East-Asian countries, such as Japan, Korea, and China, it is seen more frequently, with an incidence between 13 and 46 % [23–26].

16.4 Classifications

Watanabe et al. classified various types of lateral discoid menisci based on the arthroscopic appearance [27]. Discoid menisci with intact peripheral attachments were labeled as type 1 or 2 according to the degree of coverage of the lateral tibial plateau:

- Type I (complete): Complete discoid meniscus covering the entire plateau with intact peripheral attachments (most common occurrence)
- Type II (incomplete): Incomplete discoid meniscus with intact peripheral attachments Type III (Wrisberg ligament type): Absent posterior meniscotibial attachments with only the

ligament of Wrisberg remaining for stability (least common occurrence) [28] The Wrisberg type may be of normal shape rather than discoid. The general configuration produces an unstable or hypermobile lateral meniscus. Although this is the most frequently used classification system, its value for the purposes of treatment decision-making is questionable. The traditional classification was expanded with adding a fourth type to describe a ring-shaped meniscus characterized by a ring-shaped morphology with a normal posterior tibial attachment [9].

Classification of a discoid meniscus tear includes simple horizontal, complicated horizontal, longitudinal, radial, degenerative, and complex by arthroscopic findings. This classification method is useful for treatment planning [29].

Jordan et al. based their classification on both clinical and intraoperative findings [3, 7]. They defined the meniscal type (complete or incomplete), its peripheral rim stability, and the presence or lack of symptoms and tear. The most common tear pattern is that of a horizontal cleavage tear, which comprises 58–98 % of all cases of symptomatic discoid meniscus tears [30–32].

16.5 Diagnosis

Clinical symptoms are nonspecific and include snapping, intermittent locking, or chronic pain [3, 10, 11]. Children and adolescents may present with a palpable or perceptible snapping on the lateral joint line. The symptoms are variable, depending on the type of the discoid meniscus, the medial or lateral side, the presence of tear, and the status of rim stability [33–36]. A stable discoid meniscus is often an incidental finding in asymptomatic patients. It can become symptomatic in the presence of a tear. An unstable discoid meniscus may produce the classical "snapping knee." It is usually related to the Wrisberg ligament type. A discoid meniscus tear may occur after an injury or may be insidious without an acute trauma.

A torn stable discoid meniscus may become unstable due to spread of a tear to the posterior tibial attachment. An audible, palpable, or visible snap on terminal extension with pain swelling and locking, in the absence of a traumatic cause, is the chief presentation of young children with this syndrome. The patient may present with an effusion, limited full extension, an anterolateral bulge at full flexion, pain, and tenderness at joint line.

A positive McMurray test is not a typical presentation. A true locking of the knee is also an uncommon presentation. Pseudo-locking of the knee may occur without a specific maneuver and recover into the normal range of motion. The variation in symptoms, descriptions on intermittent occurrence and vague, insidious onset, and physical examination all contribute to inconsistencies in the clinical presentation and diagnostic examination. A patient may become symptomatic due to instability of the meniscus and a new tear of the discoid meniscus or as the result of accompanying lesions, such as osteochondritis dissecans on the lateral joint compartment.

16.6 Imaging

Radiographic evaluation is often helpful to aid in the diagnosis. Plain radiographs, ultrasonography, and magnetic resonance imaging present characteristic findings for suspect and final diagnosis.

16.6.1 Radiography

Standard plain radiography of both knees should be obtained, including anterior-posterior, lateral, tunnel, and Merchant views which can contribute significantly to the establishment of diagnosis. Lateral joint space widening, squaring of the lateral femoral condyle, cupping of the lateral tibial plateau, tibial eminence hypoplasia, and fibular head elevation may be demonstrated [13]. Cupping is a transformation of the normally flat to convex bony shape into a more concave shape on the lateral tibial plateau.

16.6.2 Ultrasonography

Ultrasonographic imaging of the menisci may demonstrate a wide and irregularly shaped lateral discoid meniscus in type 1 and 2 discoid menisci. The sonographic criteria for a diagnosis of a discoid meniscus include the absence of a normal triangular shape, the presence of an abnormally elongated and thick meniscal tissue, and the appearance of a heterogeneous central pattern. Discoid meniscus tears are well demonstrated on ultrasonography. Ultrasonography is a reliable technique for the screening diagnosis tool for a discoid meniscus in an experienced specialist.

16.6.3 Magnetic Resonance Imaging

On magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), a discoid meniscus is seen as three or more successive sagittal slices with continuity between the anterior and posterior meniscal horns or a transverse meniscal diameter of greater than 15 mm or greater than 20 % of the tibial width on transverse slice images. The diagnostic criteria of a discoid meniscus are a ratio of the minimal meniscal width to the maximal tibial width on the coronal slice of more than 20 % and a ratio of the sum of the width of both lateral horns to the meniscal diameter on the sagittal slice of more than 75 %. Both ratios had a sensitivity and specificity of 95 and 97 %, respectively, even when torn menisci were present [37]. Other less precise criteria were a minimal meniscal width on the coronal slice of more than 15 mm and three or more consecutive sagittal slices showing continuity between the anterior and posterior horns of the meniscus. MRI can also provide information on intra-substance tissue quality, meniscal tear, and the presence of associated osteochondritis dissecans lesion. Incomplete, Wrisberg ligament type or unstable normal menisci are much more difficult to diagnose [38]. A ring-shaped meniscus is not easily distinguished from a bucket handle tear of the normal lateral meniscus using MRI [24]. The reparability of the lateral discoid meniscus cannot be reliably predicted from MRI imaging and

can usually best be decided under arthroscopic checkup during operation.

16.7 Associated Pathology with a Discoid Meniscus

A discoid lateral meniscus was reported to be associated with high fibular head, fibular muscular defects, hypoplasia of the lateral femoral condyle, hypoplasia of the lateral tibial eminence, abnormally shaped lateral malleolus of the ankle, and an enlarged inferior lateral geniculate artery [7, 10, 15]. One of the most important clinical associations is the connection between a discoid lateral meniscus and an osteochondral lesion of the lateral femoral condyle.

Osteochondritis dissecans of the lateral femoral condyle is relatively rare. The presence of a discoid lateral meniscus was reported to commonly occur in a most of the osteochondritis dissecans lesions that occurred on the lateral femoral condyle [39]. It was suggested that existence of a discoid meniscus itself might produce an abnormal contact force onto the lateral femoral condyle even if the meniscus is not torn. This abnormal contact force may lead to an osteochondritis dissecans lesion in the lateral femoral condyle. A discoid lateral meniscus tear, young age and high activity, and valgus alignment were reported to be predisposing factors for osteochondritis dissecans of the lateral femoral condyle [40]. Discoid meniscus surgery was shown to allow the healing of an osteochondral fragment. Discoid meniscus surgery should be the recommended approach for osteochondritis dissecans of the lateral femoral condyle when combined with a lateral discoid meniscus tear [41].

16.8 Treatment

The treatment methods depend on various factors: clinical symptoms, patient age, tear pattern, and chronicity [42].

16.8.1 Conservative Treatment

If the discoid meniscus is detected incidentally during arthroscopy, no treatment is needed. This type of meniscus is considered to provide excellent cartilage protection. An incidentally found discoid lateral meniscus with no symptoms or physical signs should not be treated surgically. Snapping knee with no other symptoms and no radiographic signs of accompanying articular lesions can be followed-up and then subsequently treated should it become symptomatic. An otherwise asymptomatic knee with the incidental finding of discoid meniscus is a contraindication for surgical treatment.

16.8.2 Partial Meniscectomy and Meniscoplasty (Saucerization)

Central tears with unstable meniscal fragments are treated by partial meniscectomy with saucerization (Figs. 16.1, 16.2, and 16.3). Any effort should be made to leave a stable meniscal rim while preserving as normal of a meniscal configuration as possible. Arthroscopic partial meniscectomy with saucerization is the treatment of choice for symptomatic stable, complete, or incomplete discoid lateral meniscus tears [4, 32, 42]. The width of the remaining peripheral rim should be between 5 and 8 mm to prevent impingement and instability of the remaining part of a discoid lateral meniscus that may lead to future secondary meniscal tear [43].

16.8.3 Partial Meniscectomy and Meniscus Repair

Treatment of a peripheral tear of a discoid meniscus is usually a partial meniscectomy with meniscoplasty (saucerization) and repair of peripheral tear (Figs. 16.4, 16.5, and 16.6). Combined peripheral and central tears are treated by combining resection of the central tear and meniscoplasty with repair of the



Fig. 16.1 Magnetic resonance image of a central tear of a discoid lateral meniscus



Fig. 16.2 Central tear of a discoid lateral meniscus

meniscal peripheral rim (Figs. 16.7, 16.8, 16.9, and 16.10). Meniscus-conserving therapy is strongly indicated for peripheral tears and especially for longitudinal tears of the posterior horn, middle third, or anterior horn. The younger the patient is, the greater the importance of attempting a repair, even if repair may not seem to be possible initially during surgery. Any repair techniques should be tried to preserve as much of the lateral meniscal tissue as



Fig. 16.3 Partial meniscectomy with saucerization



Fig. 16.4 MR image of peripheral tear of discoid lateral meniscus

possible. A chronic tear is likely to be associated with the extensive destruction of the meniscal tissue. In patients with a symptomatic tear, for months or even years, there is likely to be retraction and heaping of the meniscal tissue, which can make it difficult or impossible to perform a repair [44, 45].



Fig. 16.5 Peripheral tear of discoid lateral meniscus



Fig. 16.6 Partial meniscectomy with saucerization and repair of the peripheral tear



Fig. 16.7 Magnetic resonance image of a combined central and peripheral tear of a discoid lateral meniscus



Fig. 16.8 Combined central and peripheral tear of a discoid lateral meniscus



Fig. 16.9 Partial meniscectomy with saucerization to treat the central tear



Fig. 16.10 Suture repair for the peripheral tear of the discoid meniscus

Postoperatively, protected motion and weight bearing followed by progressive mobilization and rehabilitation is necessary to restore the best knee function.

16.9 Treatment Outcome

Saucerization of discoid lateral meniscus tears can lead to excellent long-term functional results despite signs of osteoarthritic changes in the lateral compartment of the knee [46]. Arthroscopic partial meniscectomy with stabilization of the unstable remnant rim was effective in preserving knee function with few early degenerative changes during a midterm followup period. Subtotal meniscectomy is probably the only option for unsalvageable cases. There was no difference in outcomes among the partial meniscectomy, partial meniscectomy with suture repair, and subtotal meniscectomy groups. Less satisfactory functional outcomes may follow in children aged 10 years or older or when a reoperation has been performed [47].

Ten-year follow-up results of arthroscopic meniscectomies for symptomatic discoid lateral menisci presented no correlation between the type of meniscectomy (partial or total) and the clinical and radiographic results. Development of radiographic changes, such as minor osteophytes in the lateral compartment and less than 50 % narrowing of the lateral joint space, was found in 47–64 % of the patients. The reported clinical results were excellent or good in most of the patients [20]. However, most of these patients are very young and are faced with decreased function in early adulthood.

A long-term clinical and radiographic follow-up outcome of arthroscopic reshaping with or without peripheral meniscus repair for the treatment of symptomatic discoid lateral meniscus in children has been reported. Arthroscopic reshaping for symptomatic discoid lateral meniscus in children led to satisfactory clinical outcomes after a mean of 10.1 years. They found that progressive degenerative changes appeared in 40 % of the patients. The subtotal meniscectomy group had significantly increased degenerative changes compared with partial meniscectomy with or without repair [48].

High awareness of the clinician to the possibility of a discoid meniscus tear, its variable clinical presentations, and treatment considerations may improve its therapeutic outcome.

References

- RB Y. The external semilunar cartilage as a complete disc. In: Cleland J, Mackey JY, Young RB, editors. Memoirs and memoranda in anatomy. London: Williams & Norgate; 1889. p. 179.
- Jones RW. Specimen of internal semilunar cartilage as a complete disc. Proc R Soc Med. 1930;23(11):1588–9.
- Jordan MR. Lateral meniscal variants: evaluation and treatment. J Am Acad Orthop Surg. 1996;4(4):191–200.
- Ikeuchi H. Arthroscopic treatment of the discoid lateral meniscus. Technique and long-term results. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 1982;167:19–28.
- Ahn JH, Yoo JC, Wang JH, Lee YS, Yim HS, Chang MJ. Anomalies of the discoid medial meniscus. Orthopedics. 2011;34(2):139.
- Jeannopoulos CL. Observations on discoid menisci. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1950;32(3):649–52.
- Jordan M, Duncan J, Bertrand S. Discoid lateral meniscus: a review. South Orthop J. 1993;2:239–53.
- Smillie I. The congenital discoid meniscus. J Bone Joint Surg Br. 1948;30:671–82.
- Monllau JC, Leon A, Cugat R, Ballester J. Ring-shaped lateral meniscus. Arthroscopy. 1998;14:502–4.
- Woods GW, Whelan JM. Discoid meniscus. Clin Sports Med. 1990;9:695–706.
- Neuschwander DC, Drez D, Finney TP. Lateral meniscal variant with absence of posterior coronary ligament. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1992;74:1186–90.
- Picard JJ, Constantin L. Radiological aspects of the discoid meniscus. J Radiol Electrol Med Nucl. 1964;45:839–41.
- Kerr R. Radiologic case study: discoid lateral meniscus. Orthopedics. 1986;8:1142–7.
- Danzig L, Resnick D, Gonsalves M, Akeson WH. Blood supply to the normal and abnormal menisci of the human knee. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 1983;172:271–6.
- Davidson D, Letts M, Glasgow R. Discoid menisci in children: treatment and outcome. Can J Surg. 2003; 46:350–8.
- Inoue H, Furumatsu T, Maehara A, Tanaka T, Ozaki T. Histological and biological comparisons between complete and incomplete discoid lateral meniscus. Connect Tissue Res. 2016;57(5):408–16.
- Gebhardt MR, Rosenthal RK. Bilateral lateral discoid meniscus in identical twins. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1979;61:1110–1.
- Dickason JM, Del Pizzo W, Blazina ME, Fox JM, Friedman MJ, Snyder SJ. A series of ten discoid medial menisci. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 1982;168:75–9.
- Vidyadhara S, Rao SK, Rao PS. Discoid medial meniscus. Varied presentation of 3 knees. Saudi Med J. 2006;27:888–91.
- Aglietti P, Bertini FA, Buzzi R, Beraldi R. Arthroscopic meniscectomy for discoid lateral meniscus in children and adolescents: 10-year follow-up. Am J Knee Surg. 1999;12(2):83–7.
- Fritschy D, Gonseth D. Discoid lateral meniscus. Int Orthop. 1991;15:145–7.

- Raber DA, Friedcrich NF, Hefti F. Discoid lateral meniscus in children. Long-term follow-up after total meniscectomy. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1998;80:1579–86.
- Fukuta S, Masaki K, Korai F. Prevalence of abnormal findings in magnetic resonance images of asymptomatic knees. J Orthop Sci. 2002;7:287–91.
- Kim YG, Ihn JC, Park SK, Kyung HS. An arthroscopic analysis of lateral meniscal variants and a comparison with MRI findings. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 2006;14:20–6.
- Chen G, Zhang Z, Li J. Symptomatic discoid lateral meniscus: a clinical and arthroscopic study in a Chinese population. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2016;17:329.
- 26. Lu Y, Li Q, Hao J. Torn discoid lateral meniscus treated with arthroscopic meniscectomy: observations in 62 knees. Chin Med J (Engl). 2007;120(3): 211–5.
- Watanabe M, Takada S, Ikeuchi H. Atlas of arthroscopy. Tokyo: Igaku-Shoin; 1969.
- Kim EY, Choi SH, Ahn JH, Kwon JW. Atypically thick and high location of the Wrisberg ligament in patients with a complete lateral discoid meniscus. Skeletal Radiol. 2008;37(9):827–33.
- Bin SI, Kim JC, Kim JM, Park SS, Han YK. Correlation between type of discoid lateral menisci and tear pattern. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 2002;10:218–22.
- Aichroth PM, Patel DV, Marx CI. Congenital discoid lateral meniscus in children: a follow up study and evaluation of management. J Bone Joint Surg Br. 1991;73:932–9.
- Bellier G, Dupont JY, Larrain M, Caudron C, Carlioz H. Lateral discoid meniscus in children. Arthroscopy. 1989;5:52–6.
- Pellacci F, Montanari G, Prosperi P, Galli G, Celli V. Lateral discoid meniscus: treatment and results. Arthroscopy. 1992;8:526–30.
- Dickhaut SC, DeLee JC. The discoid lateral meniscus syndrome. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1982;64: 1068–73.
- Rosenberg TD, Paulos LE, Parker RD, Harner CD, Gurley WD. Discoid lateral meniscus: case report of arthroscopic attachment of a symptomatic Wrisbergligament type. Arthroscopy. 1987;3:277–82.
- Albertsson M, Gillquist S. Discoid lateral meniscus: a report of 29 cases. Arthroscopy. 1998;4:211–4.
- Fleissner PR, Eilert RF. Discoid lateral meniscus. Am J Knee Surg. 1999;12:125–31.
- Samoto N, Kozuma M, Tokuhisa T, Kobayashi K. Diagnosis of discoid lateral meniscus of the knee on MR imaging. Magn Reson Imaging. 2002;20:59–64.
- Singh K, Helms CA, Jacobs MT, Higgins LD. MRI appearance of Wrisberg variant of discoid lateral meniscus. Am J Roentgenol. 2006;187:384–7.
- Yoshida S, Ikata T, Takai H, Kashiwaguchi S, Katoh S, Takeda Y. Osteochondritis dissecans of the femoral condyle in the growth stage. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 1998;346:162–70.

- Mitsuoka T, Shino K, Hamada M, Horibe S. Osteochondritis dissecans of the lateral femoral condyle of the knee joint. Arthroscopy. 1999; 15:20–6.
- 41. Ishikawa M, Adachi N, Nakamae A, Deie M, Ochi M. Progression of stable juvenile osteochondritis dissecans after 10 years of meniscectomy of the discoid lateral meniscus. J Pediatr Orthop B. 2016, e-pub.
- Kushare I, Klingele K, Samora W. Discoid meniscus: diagnosis and management. Orthop Clin North Am. 2015;46(4):533–40.
- Kim SJ, Kim DW, Min BH. Discoid lateral meniscus associated with anomalous insertion of the medial meniscus. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 1995;315:234–7.
- 44. Adachi N, Ochi M, Uchio Y, Kuriwaka M, Shinomiya R. Torn discoid lateral meniscus treated using partial central meniscectomy and suture of the peripheral tear. Arthroscopy. 2004;20:536–42.

- 45. Shiozaki Y, Horibe S, Mitsuoka T, Nakamura N, Toritsuka Y, Shino K. Prediction of reparability of isolated semilunar lateral meniscus tears by magnetic resonance imaging. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 2002;10:213–7.
- 46. Chedal-Bornu B, Morin V, Saragaglia D. Meniscoplasty for lateral discoid meniscus tears: long-term results of 14 cases. Orthop Traumatol Surg Res. 2015;101(6):699–702.
- 47. Yoo WJ, Jang WY, Park MS, Chung CY, Cheon JE, Cho TJ, Choi IH. Arthroscopic treatment for symptomatic discoid meniscus in children: midterm outcomes and prognostic factors. Arthroscopy. 2015;31(12):2327–34.
- Ahn JH, Kim KI, Wang JH, Jeon JW, Cho YC, Lee SH. Long-term results of arthroscopic reshaping for symptomatic discoid lateral meniscus in children. Arthroscopy. 2015;31(5):867–73.

Meniscal Allograft Transplantation: Updates and Outcomes



Sverre Løken, Gilbert Moatshe, Håvard Moksnes, and Lars Engebretsen

Contents

17.1	Introduction	176
17.2	Graft Procurement	176
17.2.1	Laws and Regulations	176
17.2.2	Donor Selection and Suitability	177
17.2.3	Graft Harvesting	177
17.2.4	Graft Treatment	177

S. Løken, MD, PhD (🖂)

Department of Orthopaedic Surgery, Oslo University Hospital, Oslo, Norway

Oslo Sports Trauma Research Center, Norwegian School of Sport Sciences, Oslo, Norway e-mail: s-loek@online.no

G. Moatshe, MD

Department of Orthopaedic Surgery, Oslo University Hospital, Oslo, Norway

Oslo Sports Trauma Research Center, Norwegian School of Sport Sciences, Oslo, Norway

Steadman Philippon Research Institute, Vail, CO, USA

University of Oslo, Oslo, Norway

H. Moksnes, PT, PhD Oslo Sports Trauma Research Center, Norwegian School of Sport Sciences, Oslo, Norway

L. Engebretsen, MD, PhD Department of Orthopaedic Surgery, Oslo University Hospital, Oslo, Norway

Oslo Sports Trauma Research Center, Norwegian School of Sport Sciences, Oslo, Norway

University of Oslo, Oslo, Norway

17.2.5	Graft Storage	178
17.2.0	Sizing of the Meniscus	1/8
17.3	Indications for Meniscal Allograft	1 - 0
	Transplantation	179
17.3.1	Indications	179
17.3.2	Contraindications	179
17.4	Preoperative Issues	180
17.4.1	Examinations and Investigations	180
17.4.2	Obtaining a Meniscus Allograft	180
17.5	Surgerv	180
17.5.1	Surgical Technique	180
17.5.2	Medial Meniscus Allograft	
	Transplantation: Bone-Plug	
	Technique	181
17.5.3	Medial Meniscus Allograft	
	Transplantation: Soft Tissue	
	Technique with Bone Tunnels	183
17.5.4	Lateral Meniscus Allograft	
	Transplantation: Bone Bridge	
	Techniques	183
17.5.5	Lateral Meniscus Allograft	
	Transplantation: Soft Tissue	
	Technique	185
17.5.6	Lateral Meniscus Allograft	
	Transplantation: Bone-Plug	
	Technique	185
17.5.7	Open Technique for Meniscal	
	Allograft Transplantation	185
17.5.8	Combination with Other Procedures	185
17.5.9	Discussion of Differences	
	Between the Techniques	185
17.5.10	Conclusion	186
17.6	Rehabilitation Following Meniscal	
	Allograft Transplantation	186
17.6.1	Factors Influencing the Rehabilitation	
	Programme	186

17.6.2	Rehabilitation Programme	186
17.7	Outcomes of Meniscal Allograft	
	Transplantation	188
17.7.1	Patient-Reported Outcomes	188
17.7.2	Survival Rates	189
17.7.3	Radiologic Outcomes	189
17.7.4	Return to Sports	190
17.7.5	Complications	190
17.7.6	Conclusion	190
References		

17.1 Introduction

Osteoarthritis after removal of the medial meniscus was demonstrated in dogs in the 1930s [44] and in humans in the 1940s [24]. During the following decades, the important role of the menisci was confirmed in several clinical and experimental studies. The first animal studies on meniscal transplantation were carried out in the 1980s [8, 15]. Milachowski performed the first human MAT in 1994 together with anterior cruciate ligament (ACL) reconstruction in 22 patients from 1984 to 1986. This was an open surgery, and either gamma-sterilized lyophilized or deepfrozen grafts were used, and long-term results were published in 2002 [89]. In Belgium, Rene Verdonk started performing meniscal allograft transplantation in 1989, and his group has published important studies in this field [82, 84–86]. In the Netherlands, Herman de Boer and Ewoud van Arkel have published several studies on the outcome of MAT [77-79]. In the USA, John Garret started with MAT in 1986 [26]. Other important contributors in this field in USA have been Frank Noyes, Robert F. LaPrade, Bill Garret, Steve Arnoczky, Marlow Goble and Brian Cole. In Canada, Allan Gross and John Cameron started early with osteochondral and meniscal allografts [95]. From South Korea a large number of studies have been published [38, 40, 41, 46– 48]. The list of contributors listed here is not complete, and many others have contributed in the evolving research on MAT.

After being originally regarded as experimental surgery, MAT has today become an established treatment method [58]. However, there are no randomized clinical trials (RCTs) or other comparative studies with a control group of conservatively treated post-meniscectomy patients. Several case series have shown good results following the procedure in the short and midterm, while long-term results are not well documented. Particularly, a preventive effect on the development of osteoarthritis (OA) has not been shown. The outcomes are less favourable with increasing cartilage degeneration at implantation, and the availability of meniscal grafts is limited. Proper patient selection is important to obtain optimal improvement in the patient's function and to ensure that the available meniscal allografts are reserved for patients with the highest potential benefit from the procedure. Studies are still lacking to determine the best way to perform graft processing, handling, surgery, and rehabilitation.

17.2 Graft Procurement

17.2.1 Laws and Regulations

The use of musculoskeletal tissue from donors for transplantations is regulated in detail in the USA and in Europe. In the USA, the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) sets the requirement for the tissue banks: All tissue banks have to be registered with the FDA, donor testing must be performed by screening and testing for communicable diseases and current good practice must be followed during the tissue processing (Food and Drug Administration 21 CFR Parts 207, 807, and 1271). In addition to the FDA regulations, the American Association of Tissue Banks (AATB) has accredited most of the musculoskeletal tissue banks in the USA. AATB has established further recommendations for the handling of allograft tissue (AATB Standards for Tissue Banking 14th Edition).

In the European Union (EU), the use of musculoskeletal tissue for transplantation is regulated by the European parliament through EU directives. However, national regulations may differ from these. The European Council representing 47 countries and the WHO have also provided guidelines for tissue transplantations, and national and international association of tissue banks all over the world has their own guidelines and ethical rules.

17.2.2 Donor Selection and Suitability

17.2.2.1 Eligibility

The first step in the process is to obtain consent from the potential donor's family. Most European countries have developed a so-called presumed consent from the donor, but require an additional consent from the family. In the USA persons who want to become donors provide their written consent before death. The next step is to assess the suitability of the donor. This includes a medical history where systemic autoimmune diseases, neurological disorders, genetic diseases, chronic infection, alcoholism and malignancy are general contraindications. There is no upper age limit regulated by law. The European guidelines have an upper age limit for meniscal allografts of 45 years. One US tissue bank (Joint Restoration Foundation) uses only donors under 35 years for meniscal allografts.

17.2.2.2 Physical Examination

A physical examination of the donor is an important step to identify donors with an increased risk for transmitting disease. Five percent of donors are excluded at this step.

17.2.2.3 Testing

The minimum requirements for biological tests of the donor include anti-HIV-1, anti-HIV-2, NAT HIV, HBs Ag, total anti-HBc, antibodies to HCV, NAT for HCV, antibodies to HTLV types I and II and syphilis which all must be negative for the donor tissue to be released.

17.2.3 Graft Harvesting

17.2.3.1 Time Limits

In the USA harvesting must be performed within 24 hours if the body has been cooled and within 15 hours if not and in Europe within 12 hours without cooling and 48 hours with cooling.

17.2.3.2 Facilities and Personnel

Graft harvesting should be performed in an aseptic environment. The handling personnel must have the appropriate training. Sterile draping and instrumentation must be used. After opening the knee, the menisci are inspected for damage. If suitable for transplantation, the meniscus is taken out with 2–3 cm section of the corresponding tibia plateau. The graft must be wrapped in an aseptic way and transported to the tissue bank. In the USA, further processing before freezing must be completed within 72 h.

17.2.4 Graft Treatment

17.2.4.1 Primary Processing of the Meniscal Allograft

The tissue must be tested for bacterial contamination by culture. Further processing includes physical debridement, mechanical agitation, ultrasound processes, alcohol solutions, rinses and antibiotic treatment [53] with the aim to remove blood and lipids and minimizing the risk for disease transmission and immunological reactions.

17.2.4.2 Graft Sterilization

All allografts have a potential for disease transmission, but the risk for transmission has been estimated to be very low, with between 1 in 173,000 and 1 in 1 million for HIV and 1 in 421,000 for hepatitis C for unprocessed grafts [53]. Different methods have been investigated to minimize this risk without hampering the properties of the graft. Cells will be destroyed by such methods, so fresh viable grafts and cryopreserved grafts are not sterilized.

Gamma radiation at 2.5 mrad or higher has been shown to negatively affect the biomechanical properties of menisci [90, 91]. It has been debated whether a lower dose could give sufficient sterilization with no or acceptable harm to the tissue. A recent experimental rabbit study showed a negative effect also with 1.5 mrad on scanning electron microscopy, but no difference in histology compared to non-radiated grafts [94]. Ethylene oxide has been shown to induce a persistent synovitis [32] and is not currently used. Peracetic acid sterilization has also been used but has been shown to harm the biomechanical properties and inhibit remodelling of ACL grafts in an animal model [66]. The same has been demonstrated for electron beam radiation which has been proposed as an alternative to gamma-radiation [67].

In summary, all secondary sterilization methods with sufficient virucidal and bactericidal effects are harmful to a meniscal allograft. Secondary sterilization is therefore no longer used by most tissue banks.

17.2.5 Graft Storage

There are four methods for graft storage: fresh viable grafts, cryopreserved grafts, lyophilized grafts and fresh-frozen grafts. The latter is the graft most commonly used today.

17.2.5.1 Fresh Viable Grafts

These grafts contain viable cells which in theory would be an advantage [83]. However, clinical studies have not reported better results with these grafts. Harvesting must be performed as soon as possible (varying from 4 to 12 h according to different authors). The graft must be kept at 4 °C for 10–14 days in the patient's serum while necessary donor testing and planning are performed. This short time frame poses a challenge in finding a suitable recipient and transporting of the graft to a distant hospital if needed. The risk of disease transmission is also regarded as higher compared to other methods.

17.2.5.2 Cryopreserved Grafts

With this technique the graft is immersed in a cryoprotective agent (usually glycol), a culture medium and an antiseptic agent. The graft is then slowly cooled to -196 °C. The cryoprotective agent stops the formation of ice crystals, and the grafts have been reported to have viable cells after thawing. The collagen network seems to be better preserved with this technique. However, the method is quite complicated and costly. Experimental [23] and clinical outcomes [30] have not been reported to be better with this method compared to others, and the method is little used today.

17.2.5.3 Lyophilization

This is a so-called freeze-dried meniscus. The tissue is frozen in a vacuum and dehydrated. The graft is thawed and rehydrated before implantation. It can also be stored at room temperature and the process allows long storage. There may be a negative effect on biomechanical properties [27], and clinically there seems to be a higher risk for effusion and synovitis [57]. Of note, this method is no longer used.

17.2.5.4 Fresh-Frozen Grafts

This is by far the most common method to store meniscal allografts today. The method is simple and possibly less immunogenic. After the initial processing, the graft is quickly frozen to -80 °C. Donor cells are destroyed by the freezing process. Grafts can be stored for up to 5 years. The lack of viable cells has not been reported to have a negative effect on the clinical outcome. The graft must be transported from the tissue bank to the implanting hospital as fast as possible in insulating package while keeping the graft frozen. At arrival the graft must immediately be placed and kept in a freezer at -40 °C or below until implantation.

17.2.6 Sizing of the Meniscus

17.2.6.1 Sizing of the Donor Meniscus

During the initial processing of the meniscus, the anteroposterior and mediolateral distances are measured. These are the most important measurements. In addition, the width of the meniscus itself at the anterior, middle and posterior parts can be measured (not all tissue banks do this).

17.2.6.2 Sizing of the Recipient

Several methods have been proposed for best possible sizing of the recipient. The sizing can be based on plain radiographs, CT, MRI of the same or contralateral knee or anthropometric measurements. Radiographs must have a calibrating sphere or a similar marker to obtain correct measurements. According to Pollard's method, the distance between a vertical line lateral/medial to the tibial eminence and a vertical line at the lateral/medial margins of the tibial plateau is measured in the coronal plane and the anteroposterior distance between a vertical line at the tibial tuberosity and the posterior tibia plateau in the sagittal plane. The width of the meniscus in the coronal plane corresponds to the measured distance, while the length of the meniscus in the sagittal plane is 80 % of the measured distance for the medial meniscus and 70 % for the lateral meniscus [62]. Yoon et al. found that this method overestimated the anteroposterior length of the lateral meniscus and suggested another formula: $0.52 \times$ Tibia AP length (in mm) + 5.2 mm [92]. The measurements for the Pollard method can also be obtained with more exact results by CT scan but includes a higher radiation risk. MRI is regarded the gold standard and is widely used. Using MRI of the contralateral knee has also been advocated [93]. Van Thiel has recommended the use of the patient's gender, weight and height in a formula to estimate the size of the meniscus [81]. In a recent article by Yoon's group, they concluded that MRI is the best option to size a meniscus transplant graft. For the lateral side of the knee, anthropometric measurements according to van Thiel is an alternative, while the Pollard method is an alternative on the medial side [34].

17.3 Indications for Meniscal Allograft Transplantation

17.3.1 Indications

The ideal candidate for meniscal allograft transplantation is a patient with a painful knee following a total or subtotal meniscectomy with no symptoms of instability and with normal cartilage and normal alignment. The symptoms should be severe enough to justify a large operation with potential complications, including the risk of an inferior result. This usually means that the patient should have pain during daily activities and pain making sport activities impossible or difficult. In addition, the symptoms must correspond to the clinical findings, i.e. in the case where the medial meniscus has been resected, the symptoms should be located to the medial joint line. Other symptoms may be swelling or locking. The duration of symptoms should be of at least 6 months. The patient must be willing and

capable to follow the rehabilitation programme following surgery. The patient should also do "prehab" which means training of knee function before surgery, preferably guided by a physiotherapist with the necessary knowledge and interest. This will make him/her better prepared for surgery, and in some cases the patient will improve so well that MAT may no longer be indicated at that point in time.

When there are cartilage injuries/defects present, MAT may still be indicated, but the prognosis is somewhat less favourable with a higher failure rate, and the patient needs to be informed about this [36]. In the authors' opinion, one can accept quite severe cartilage changes in a young patient, but should be more "strict" in patients over 40 years of age.

In the case of varus alignment in a medial meniscus-deficient knee, a valgus high tibial osteotomy is preferred as the first-line treatment. In most cases, this will relieve symptoms enough so a later MAT is usually not needed. Similarly, in the case of valgus alignment in a lateral meniscus-deficient knee, a distal varus osteotomy of the femur is usually the first treatment of choice, or it can be performed concurrently [45]. Some authors perform HTO together with MAT [35, 36, 85].

In cases of instability, this is usually corrected before or concurrent with a MAT. In failed ACLreconstructed knees with deficient medial meniscus and no other obvious causes of graft failure, a concomitant ACL revision and medial MAT may be indicated.

17.3.2 Contraindications

MAT is usually not indicated in patients over age 50, although case series of MAT including patients in this age group have been reported [74]. In many patients over 40, there will be degenerative changes that contraindicate a MAT. Kellgren-Lawrence grade 2 and more (osteophytes and joint space narrowing) are also contraindications. Other contraindications are signs of infection, inflammatory joint disease and BMI above 35 [14].

17.4 Preoperative Issues

17.4.1 Examinations and Investigations

The first step is to obtain a thorough history from the patient. When did the injury occur? What are the symptoms today? What can the patient do and what can he/she not do? It is very important to ask the patient what he/she wants to do and what his/her expectations following surgery are. If there is a discrepancy between the patient's expectations and what can be obtained with surgery, it is very important to help the patient to have realistic expectations, by providing thorough information. Previous surgical reports from other hospitals should be collected. The patient should fill in an appropriate patient-reported outcome measures (PROMs) like Lysholm score, Cincinnati score, KOOS score, or others. An activity score like the Tegner score or similar should also be used. This will help in the preoperative evaluation of the severity of the symptoms, will help in the decision for surgery, and can be compared with post-operative scores at a later stage as part of the quality control of the results of MAT in the institution.

The clinical exam must include a thorough inspection of the limb axis, gait and other factors. The knee is inspected for swelling and muscle atrophy and examined for laxity, direction of possible laxity and tenderness, particularly along the joint lines. All patients where MAT is considered should have standing x-rays with 30° of knee flexion to evaluate the joint space and osteophytes. Long-standing radiographs from the hip to ankle with extended knees should be obtained to evaluate alignment. Recent MRIs should be evaluated or new MRIs obtained to evaluate the status of the menisci, cartilage, ligaments and other structures. The authors prefer in most cases to perform a diagnostic arthroscopy to obtain a complete status of the knee to confirm that the meniscus status is not better than anticipated and that the condition of the cartilage and ligaments does not contraindicate a MAT before a meniscus allograft is ordered from the tissue bank.

17.4.2 Obtaining a Meniscus Allograft

For most surgeons a fresh-frozen meniscus allograft is ordered from a certified tissue bank. The surgeon should have good knowledge about their tissue bank, the procedures around the harvest of the graft and how the graft is processed, stored and transported. He/she should also have good knowledge of the rules and regulations related to tissue transplantation. The sizing of the graft is based on MRI or radiographs with a size marker [69, 93]. This is usually done by the tissue bank. Once the tissue bank has a meniscus of suitable size for the patient, an offer is sent to the surgeon. The surgeon should check and compare the given measurements of the donor graft and the recipient, verify it is the correct side and then accept or not accept the graft. Usually a size mismatch up to 5 % is regarded as acceptable [93]. Once the graft is received, the identification should be checked and the graft stored at -40 °C or below until implantation.

17.5 Surgery

The surgery is usually performed under general anaesthesia. Epidural or peripheral (femoralischial) nerve blocks are often used in addition for post-operative pain control. The leg is draped in a standard fashion for knee surgery. Some surgeons prefer a Gilchrist holder around the thigh with a hanging lower leg; others place the leg on a flat table with a foot support and side support to the lateral side of the thigh. A tourniquet may be used to control bleeding. Systemic prophylactic antibiotics are administered to the patient intravenously according to the local recommendations for the hospital.

17.5.1 Surgical Technique

Many different techniques have been described for MAT. Open, arthroscopic and partly open/ partly arthroscopic methods are used. Bony or soft tissue fixation is used with or without bone tunnels. There are no RCTs or other studies that have shown that one technique is superior to others. Therefore, the technique will be the preferred choice of the surgeon, often with personal modifications. Most surgeons would start the procedure with an arthroscopic examination of the knee. Then the remnants of the meniscus are removed by a basket punch and/or shaver. It is important to preserve the outer fibrous rim to maintain the "barrel band" function of the meniscus.

17.5.2 Medial Meniscus Allograft Transplantation: Bone-Plug Technique

17.5.2.1 Graft Preparation

The graft comes with the meniscus attached with its posterior and anterior roots to the tibial plateau bone block. This technique, with small variations, has been described by several authors [1, 21, 39, 42, 45]. The bone blocks are prepared by drilling a pin through the bone block exiting through the meniscal root attachments. Then a collared guide pin (Fig. 17.1) is inserted into the hole created by the pin which is then over-drilled with a 9 mm coring reamer to prepare the two bone plugs. The plugs should not be too long, with the posterior bone plug around 8–10 mm in length to facilitate the later intro-

duction into the joint. Non-absorbable sutures are placed in the posterior and anterior root and through the central pin hole in the bone blocks. Sutures are also placed in the posterior and anterior part of the meniscus (Fig. 17.2). The authors prefer 4 non-absorbable vertical sutures in the posterior part and anterior part, each 5 mm apart. This leaves a part in the middle without sutures. Usually the meniscal allograft is immersed in an antibiotic bath or swab. The type of antibiotics should be selected in cooperation with local microbiologists/infection specialists.

17.5.2.2 Placement of the Meniscus Allograft

Using arthroscopic technique, the posterior root attachment site is visualized. Careful use of shaver, radiofrequency and a mini "notch plasty" under the PCL can create the necessary space and visibility. Perforating the MCL with a needle while holding a valgus pressure can open up the medial compartment slightly and thereby increase visualization and enhance access. The posterior tunnel is drilled by placing an ACL-tibial guide (or similar specially designed "meniscal root" guides that are available) at the posterior root attachment, drilling a guide pin, and a 9 mm tunnel is drilled over the guide pin. A small longitudinal arthrotomy is made medial to the patellar tendon continuous with the medial arthroscopy portal. The ante-



Fig. 17.1 Figure showing the creation of bone plug using a coring reamer over a collared pin


rior root attachment is exposed, and an 8 mm blind tunnel is drilled over a guide pin placed central in the root attachment. Usually, this tunnel is reamed after the MAT is placed into the knee in case the native root attachment location does not precisely match the MAT. By the use of a drill or awl, a small canal from distal and into the bottom of this tunnel is created for the passage of sutures. A posteromedial longitudinal incision is made and the posteromedial capsule is exposed by creating a space between the medial gastrocnemius muscle and the capsule. A spoon or similar instrument is used to protect the posterior structures. Four passing sutures are passed from inside in the posterior part of the joint space corresponding to the sutures placed in posterior part of the allograft, through the capsule and out in the posteromedial incision using a clamp or a suture passer. Then the meniscus graft is introduced into the joint by first pulling the posterior sutures through the bone tunnel and the posterior capsule with the first placed passing sutures. Numbered hemostats can facilitate future tying of the sutures. Then the meniscus is gently pulled in place. The insertion of the posterior bone plug into the tunnel may be facilitated by the use of a hook or a grasper. The anterior bone block is inserted into the anterior tunnel. The sutures are tied against the

Fig. 17.2 Medial meniscus allograft with bone plugs and sutures placed in posterior and anterior horns capsule posteriorly. The anterior part of the meniscus is sutured to the anterior capsule by open surgery with free needles. The sutures from the bone blocks are sutured over a button or the bone bridge between the tunnels. Finally, the middle part of the meniscus without preplaced sutures is sutured by vertical mattress sutures with inside-out sutures with long needles.

17.5.2.3 Variations of This Technique

Some surgeons use one bone plug in the posterior end and only soft tissue in the anterior end. This will allow for adjustment of the meniscus tension in cases of size mismatch [51, 76]. The suture placement can also vary. Some use fewer preplaced sutures in the graft and more inside-out sutures after placement of the graft. Some surgeons use all-inside suture systems [4]. The external tunnel opening in the tibia can be anteromedial or anterolateral depending on the surgeon's preference. The bone plugs may also be created with the use of other techniques.

17.5.3 Medial Meniscus Allograft Transplantation: Soft Tissue Technique with Bone Tunnels

In many of the steps, this method is similar to the bone-plug technique [1, 6, 65, 72]. When using only the meniscus root attachments without bone, it is important that these attachments in the allograft are well preserved and of good quality. The sutures need to be placed in a fashion to ensure a secure hold in the anterior and posterior roots of the meniscus. According to surgeons using this technique, this allows for adjusting the tension/outer diameter of the meniscus to fit with the condyles. With this technique the meniscus can be introduced into the joint through a smaller opening without an arthrotomy.

17.5.4 Lateral Meniscus Allograft Transplantation: Bone Bridge Techniques

The root attachments of the lateral meniscus are very close to each other. By keeping the roots of the allograft attached to a bone bridge, the correct distance between these attachments can be maintained with the root attachments connected by the bone block. As with a medial MAT, the first part of the operation is a diagnostic arthroscopy, followed by removal of meniscus remnants with care to preserve enough of the outer fibrous rim. The bone bridge technique with variations has been described by several authors [17, 43].

17.5.4.1 Graft Preparation

With the dove tail technique [17], the bone block is prepared by the use of a specially designed cutting system (Fig. 17.3) creating a trapezoidshaped (viewed in the anterior-posterior direction) bone block. The block is trimmed so that it fits into the corresponding "sizer" (Fig. 17.4). Sutures are placed in the meniscus substance in the similar way as in the bone-plug technique above.

17.5.4.2 Placement of the Meniscus Allograft

A posterolateral longitudinal skin incision is made just posterior to the fibular collateral ligament (FCL), the iliotibial tract is opened in the direction of the fibres and the capsule is exposed by creating a space between the capsule and the lateral gastrocnemius muscle. A spoon or similar instrument is placed between the capsule and the posterior structures to protect the neurovascular structures. Four passing sutures are placed in the same way as described for the medial side boneplug technique.

An anterolateral arthrotomy is performed through an incision lateral to the patellar tendon as an extension of the lateral arthroscopy portal.



Fig. 17.4 Measurement of bone block of lateral meniscal allograft. Three sutures (*green*) have been placed through the anterior horn and four sutures through the posterior horn



A similarly trapezoid-shaped trough is created in the tibia in the anterior-posterior direction through the root attachments. This is done by first removing the protruding tibial spine between the roots and then tapping in a chisel with a guide pin on top to achieve the correct depth. The rest of the remnant bone in the trough is removed first by drilling and then shaped by the use of trapezoidshaped rasps of similar size as the bone block. The posterior cortex of the tibia is preserved. The meniscus is introduced by first pulling the preplaced sutures in the posterior part of the meniscus through the capsule, then passing the bone block into the trough and simultaneously pulling gently in the sutures till the meniscus is in place. With a bone block that fits well into the trough, the bloc will now be stable. The sutures are tied and placed in the same fashion as for the medial meniscus bone-plug technique.

17.5.4.3 Variations of This Technique

Some authors prefer a rectangular-shaped bone block and securing the block with sutures in the anterior and posterior end through bone tunnels [68]. A technique using an interference screw for fixation of the bone block has also been described [25]. With these techniques the stability of the bone block is less dependent on an exact fit into the trough.

cutting

Fig. 17.3 Lateral meniscus allograft bone block in work station for

17.5.5 Lateral Meniscus Allograft Transplantation: Soft Tissue Technique

Several authors have published the use of soft tissue fixation of the anterior and posterior horns through bone tunnels and suturing the meniscus to the capsule as described for the medial meniscus soft tissue technique [2].

17.5.6 Lateral Meniscus Allograft Transplantation: Bone-Plug Technique

Lateral MAT is most commonly performed with a bone bridge or soft tissue fixation of both horns in tibial tunnels. The proximity of the root attachments makes it difficult to use two bone plugs, but this technique has been presented by some authors [2].

17.5.7 Open Technique for Meniscal Allograft Transplantation

Meniscal allograft transplantation started with an open technique in the 1980s, but is now less common. For the both lateral and medial side, an arthrotomy is performed with bony detachment of the ligamentous complex from the femur for access. The detached ligament with bone is refixated to the femur at the end of the procedure. Soft tissue fixation of the anterior and posterior horns can be performed with sutures through tibial tunnels [22, 87] or with fixation of the roots to the remnants of the original meniscal root attachments without tunnels [85].

17.5.8 Combination with Other Procedures

MAT can be performed in combination with other procedures in the same knee either concomitantly or as a separate procedure. The most common procedures are ACL reconstruction, ACL revision and tibial or femoral osteotomy. In selected cases cartilage procedures as autologous chondrocyte implantation or osteochondral transplants can be performed. Describing these techniques is beyond the scope of this chapter.

17.5.9 Discussion of Differences Between the Techniques

As mentioned, there are no RCTs comparing different techniques, and the preferred technique will be the personal preference of the surgeon with soft tissue techniques usually regarded as quicker and easier to perform. However, there are some issues to be discussed regarding choice of technique.

17.5.9.1 Clinical Outcome

Most published studies in clinical outcome are case series with no control group. In general, the clinical outcome using PROMs is good both in the short and midterm for all techniques. In a study of patients with lateral MAT, patients with a graft fixed with the bone bridge technique had significantly better range of motion compared with patients having the graft fixed with soft tissue sutures in bone tunnels [68].

17.5.9.2 Graft Extrusion

Graft extrusion means that the implanted meniscus is displaced externally leaving more of the joint surface exposed. This will in theory increase the risk for later OA, but a negative effect of extrusion on clinical scores has not been demonstrated to date. One study compared bony versus soft tissue fixation in bone tunnels and found no difference in clinical outcome, but more graft extrusion in the soft tissue group [1]. Another study showed a higher extrusion rate in patients treated with an open technique with soft tissue fixation without bone tunnels compared to arthroscopic soft tissue fixation in bone tunnels [20]. In a multivariate study of graft extrusion in a series of lateral MAT with bone bridge technique, significant risk factors for the major graft extrusion (more than 3 mm) included delayed time from previous meniscectomy to MAT and increased axial plane trough angle measured on MRI [3].

17.5.9.3 Radiological Outcome

In the prospective study by Abat et al. [2], there was no significant difference in radiological outcome regarding joint space narrowing between the bone-plug group and the soft tissue fixation in bone tunnel group at mean 5 years.

17.5.9.4 Complications, Failures and Reoperations

The same study by Abat et al. reported 33 % complications and 9 % failure rate in the soft tissue fixation group and 16 % complications and 3.6 % failures in bone-plug group [2].

17.5.9.5 Experimental/Biomechanical Studies

Some studies have reported that bone-plug fixation in tunnels restores tibial contact pressure better than soft tissue fixation in bone tunnels or with a bone bridge [7, 19]. In a later similar study, only a slight advantage for the bone plugs on contact pressure was found [54]. In a study of pullout strength, no difference was found [31].

17.5.10 Conclusion

Medial meniscal allograft transplantation is today most commonly performed with two bone tunnels with either soft tissue fixation or bone plugs. On the lateral side, the most common technique is either a bone block connecting the anterior or posterior horns or soft tissue fixation in two bone tunnels. No technique has been shown to be superior regarding clinical outcome. Soft tissue fixation seems to give more extrusion of the meniscus than bony fixation in post-operative MRIs.

17.6 Rehabilitation Following Meniscal Allograft Transplantation

The aim of the rehabilitation is to get the patient as soon as possible back to his/her preinjury functional level without compromising the healing of the implanted graft.

17.6.1 Factors Influencing the Rehabilitation Programme

Animal studies have demonstrated that vascular ingrowth in an injured native meniscus is impaired by immobilization and that early mobilization leads to a stronger repair tissue [13]. Clinical studies support these findings [55, 70]. In a sheep study, Milachowski showed complete healing of lyophilized and fresh-frozen meniscal allografts at 48 weeks with remodelling occurring only in the lyophilized menisci and less vascular ingrowth occurring in the fresh-frozen menisci [57]. Fresh and cryopreserved meniscal allografts in a goat model showed peripheral healing, revascularization, cellularity and incorporation at 6 months [33]. From these studies we can assume that complete healing of a human meniscus allograft may take between 6 months and 1 year.

Both the peripheral capsular fixation and the meniscal root fixations are at risk for reinjury postoperatively. Weight bearing with an extended knee imposes load on the meniscal roots which increases through flexion up to four times at 90° of knee flexion [9]. In open kinetic chain exercises, high tibial contact forces have been estimated [56]. Repetitive low loading of meniscal transtibial root repairs has been reported to increase displacement of the repaired roots [63]. Applying moderate tensile forces at repaired medial meniscal roots has been reported to easily reach a magnitude that exceeds the strength of fixation [73].

These and other biomechanical studies support that rehabilitation following MAT should include restricted weight bearing, restricted ROM and restricted use of open chain exercises. Even though a high risk of allograft loosening may be feared from these experimental studies, the clinical experience is that a total loosening of an implanted meniscal allograft is rare. However, extrusion, which is common, may be a result of displacement of the meniscal root fixation.

17.6.2 Rehabilitation Programme

Rehabilitation programmes have traditionally been divided into phases.

Rehabilitation protocols following orthopaeinterventions are progressed dic through sequenced phases and include active interventions aimed at addressing body impairments and functional limitations [11]. The primary aim is to timely progress the patient towards participation in their desired physical activity and sport, while simultaneously protecting the healing tissue from premature overloading. Current orthopaedic post-operative rehabilitation is progressed through the different phases based on sound clinical reasoning, sequenced functional achievements and the completion of functional milestones. At the same time, knowledge on tissue-specific biologic healing processes must be respected and will guide the early timeline of advancement [28]. Four rehabilitation phases are traditionally outlined:

- The acute post-operative phase aiming at minimizing impairments
- 2. The rehabilitation phase aiming at restoring normal activities of daily living
- 3. The return to sport phase aiming at resuming desired sports activities
- 4. Prevention of reinjuries:
 - Most surgeons performing MAT recommend a rehabilitation protocol in line with the following restrictions [45] with some local modifications. Toe touch weight bearing in a brace locked in extension for the first 6 weeks with gradual transmission to full weight bearing from week 6 to 8.
 - Straight leg exercises in the brace are allowed from day 1.
 - The knee brace is locked the first week. From week 1 to 3, passive and active flexion and extension exercises without external load are allowed as tolerated between 0 and 90 degrees. From week 4, gradual increase to full range of motion is encouraged without application of external force.
 - Cycling is initiated after 8 weeks provided unrestricted knee flexion of 100°.
 - No open chain muscle strengthening exercises before 3 months after surgery.
 - No running or other activities with impact before 6 months after surgery.

 Activities involving pivoting motions and pivoting sports are generally advised against and should under no circumstances be initiated before 9 months after surgery.

Rehabilitation following a MAT first and foremost consists of a targeted exercise programme. Phase 1 is prolonged compared to most other surgical procedures due to restricted weight bearing and ROM. The principles within the acronym POLICE (protection, optimal loading, ice, compression and elevation) are primary tools following any orthopaedic surgical procedure [12]. However, exercise therapy has effects both at a local tissue level and in the central nervous system and should be used as a direct tissue healing stimulation (mechanotherapy) [37]. Concurrently, general conditioning and optimization of function within the allowed load and movement limitations is performed. Patients are guided by physiotherapists to perform daily home-based exercises involving isometric muscle activation and active low-load ROM mobilization exercises. Restoring passive and active knee extension is imperative during this phase. Electrical neuromuscular stimulation is frequently administered to enhance active muscle contractions. Active rehabilitation exercises are often supplemented with medical and manual therapies that may enhance the effects of exercise through pain management and improved tissue adaptations. The success of rehabilitation is dependent on introducing the most effective intervention at the correct time in adequate dosage [11].

In Phase 2 of the rehabilitation, the focus will shift from joint and muscle impairments to gradually increase the complexity of movements from single joint controlled actions to more complex tasks, including movements through several biomechanical planes. During the initial full weightbearing period, the programme will mainly incorporate elements to improve motor control and muscle strength [61]. Specifically, exercises to regain motor control of weight-bearing singleleg stance and terminal knee extension $(0-20^\circ)$ are emphasized to facilitate normalization of walking. Furthermore, quadriceps and hamstring muscle strengthening is focused in combination with gluteal and adductor closed chain exercises. Additional sessions of no-impact cardiovascular training should be incorporated to continue healing of the implanted tissue, with the additional benefit of an increased fitness level.

For a large proportion of patients undergoing a MAT procedure, returning to high-impact or pivoting sports is not realistic [60]. Most patients will experience the short- and long-term benefits of symptom relief and improved function in activities of daily living. However, some may improve substantially and want to pursue highimpact and/or pivoting sport activities. Then, more traditional strength and conditioning training will be incorporated in the weekly rehabilitation programme. The focus on more complexity, velocity and jumping and landing tasks will increase. A higher rate of force development and introduction of sport-specific exercises is emphasized with a gradual progression into on-field training. However, close monitoring of residual symptoms such as joint effusion and/or pain must be continued. Reappearance of symptoms should lead to a discussion on abandoning the aim of resuming strenuous sport activities, which in itself may be the most important action for prevention of a failed meniscus allograft (Phase 4).

17.7 Outcomes of Meniscal Allograft Transplantation

The role of the meniscus in joint preservation, load distribution, lubrication and kinematics has been thoroughly studied [49, 50. 591. Meniscectomy is reported to increase contact pressures in the condyles by 235 % and partial meniscectomy increases condyle pressures by 165 %. Increased contact pressures and joint instability have a negative effect on the longevity of the knee joint. In recent years there has been an increasing interest in meniscus preservation procedures. Despite improved techniques, the meniscus is not always amendable to repair, and hence a meniscectomy is inevitable.

Meniscus allograft transplantation has been introduced to address the problems associated with meniscectomy. Several studies are published on the outcomes of meniscal allograft transplantation (MAT), but most studies are of low quality (retrospective studies with few patients). In a systematic review by Rosso et al. [64] considering 55 articles, none of the studies were level 1, 2 studies were level 2, 7 as level 3 and 46 as level 4. The mean Coleman methodology score of the 55 included articles was 49.7 (24–81). The reported clinical outcomes using patient-reported outcomes (Lysholm, Tegner, IKDC), return to sports and activity after MAT, radiographic outcomes and complication will be discussed.

17.7.1 Patient-Reported Outcomes

Several knee scoring systems are reported in the literature including the Lysholm score, Tegner, visual analog scale for pain and/or overall knee function, International Knee Documentation Committee (IKDC) subjective and objective forms, Knee Injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score (KOOS), Short Form-12 (SF-12) or SF-36, Noyes sports and symptoms score, the modified Cincinnati score, the Fulkerson knee score, the Hospital for Special Surgery score, the Western Ontario and McMaster Universities Osteoarthritis Index 7 (WOMAC), the Knee Assessment Scoring System and the Knee Outcome Survey.

Rosso et al. [64] reported in a recent systematic review that the knee function evaluated by the weighted average Lysholm score improved from 55.5 \pm 2.1 to 82.7 \pm 2.7 and the weighted average pain VAS decreased by 4 points from 6.4 ± 0.4 to 2.4 ± 0.4 . All studies reported an improvement at follow-up, suggesting good clinical outcomes at short-term to midterm follow-up. In their systematic review of the 18 studies that compared outcomes for medial and lateral MATs, there were no significant differences except in two studies that reported shorter survival for medial MAT. There was no significant difference between isolated MATs and MATs combined with other procedures and between fixation methods (soft tissue vs. bone block). Some authors have reported an increased risk of meniscal extrusion with soft tissue fixation [1].

In a recent systematic review, Smith et al. evaluated outcomes after MAT in 35 studies including 1332 patients (1374 knees) with a mean follow-up of 5.1 years [71]. The mean Lysholm score improved from 55.7 to 81.3, IKDC scores from 47 to 70 and Tegner activity score from 3.1 to 4.7. A Lysholm score of 65–83 is defined as fair [75]. In the same systematic review, Smith et al. [71] reported failure rates of 10.6 % at 4.8 years and complication rates of 13.9 % at 4.7 years.

17.7.2 Survival Rates

Verdonk et al. reported a survival time of 11.6 years using the cumulative Kaplan-Meier survival rate in 100 patients treated with MAT [85]. There was no difference in failure rates between the medial and lateral meniscus. Failure rates have been reported to increase with time, with van der Wal et al. [80] reporting a 52 % survival rate at 16 years. There are conflicting results on the success rate and survivorship depending on the side. Verdonk et al. reported a cumulative 10-year survival rate of 74 % for the medial side and 70 % for the lateral side [85]. However, van Arkel et al. [78] reported higher success rates for the lateral side (88 %) compared to the medial side (63 %) in a follow-up of 63 patients with a mean follow-up of 60 months.

17.7.3 Radiologic Outcomes

Smith et al. reported a weighted mean joint space narrowing of 0.032 mm across all studies at a mean follow-up of 4.5 years in their recent systematic review. These changes were not significant. Most studies report meniscal extrusion on MRI, but the correlation of meniscal extrusion to clinical outcomes is not clear. Most studies report no correlation, but Yoon et al. found an association between meniscal extrusion and Lysholm score. The grading of meniscal extrusion differs between studies. While some studies report the relative percentage of extrusion of the meniscus allograft extending beyond the edge of the tibial plateau, some studies report absolute measurement of extrusion in millimetres. Some studies use the 3 mm cutoff to describe extrusion, with <3 mm defined as minor extrusion and >3 mm as major extrusion. Regardless of the grading system, most studies report meniscal extrusion on MRI follow-up. There are conflicting reports in the literature on which meniscus allograft has a high risk of extrusion (medial vs lateral), but there seems to be no significant difference. Only a few studies have evaluated the progression of meniscal extrusion on MRI over time. Verdonk et al. [86] reported progressive meniscal extrusion from 1 year to 12 years in 59 % of the patients. Another study reported increase in meniscal extrusion from 2.7 mm at 6 months to 3.6 mm at 4.4 years follow-up [65].

Whether MAT is chondroprotective is still a subject of debate. Most studies on this topic have small cohorts and short follow-up and might not be able to detect the chondral changes of osteoar-thritis that happen over time. Chalmers et al. [18] reported no change in Kellgren-Lawrence (K-L) grading in 5 of 10 patients (50 %) at 3.3 years, while Ha et al. [29] reported no change in K-L grade in 78 % at 2.6 years and worsening in 22 %. Vunderlinckx et al. [88] reported no change in K-L grade in 58 % after a mean follow-up of 8.8 years.

The radiographic changes depend on the imaging modality, grading system and the follow-up time. Carter et al. [16] reported no change in 94 % of the patients at 2 years, while there were degenerative changes at 10 years. In a longterm follow-up study of 23 patients, six patients had grade 2 degenerative changes, and five patients had grade 3 degenerative changes at 14 years. All patients with degenerative changes had received lyophilized grafts, and the mean Lysholm score was 75 at 14 years [89].

Good healing rates are reported based on MRI and second-look arthroscopy. Van Arkel et al. reported higher healing rates evaluated by arthroscopy than MRI, suggesting that MRI may underestimate healing of the meniscal allograft [79]. Some studies reported up to 100 % healing evaluated on MRI [10, 47, 52]. Ha et al. reported a 72 % healing and 28 % partial healing, while van Arkel reported complete healing in 63 %, partial healing in 26 % and no healing in 11 %. On second-look arthroscopy, the patients evaluated as partially healed on MRI were healed, and those evaluated as no healing were partially healed.

17.7.4 Return to Sports

Few studies address the issue of return to sports after MAT. There is still no consensus as to when players can return to preinjury activities. There is also a debate whether a patient should return to sport at all after MAT. Alentorn-Geli et al. reported an 85.7 % return to sports after 15 MATs on soccer players [5]. Chalmers et al. [18] have also reported high rates of return to sports, with a 77 % rate of return to preinjury level of performance in 13 high-level athletes. As with several other MAT studies, the limitation is the sample size and the retrospective nature of the studies.

17.7.5 Complications

The complication rates vary a lot in the literature depending on the authors' definition of failure. Rosso et al. reported a weighted average complication rate of 10.6 % in their systematic review, with tear of the graft being the most common (60 %) of all complications. Higher failure rates are reported in the cryopreserved meniscus allografts than the fresh-frozen grafts. Some authors have argued that the fixation type on the medial side, soft tissue versus bone block, could affect the observed results. Bone block fixation theoretically provides better fixation, improved healing potential and a reduced risk for extrusion. This is important in restoring the joint biomechanics and loading. However, Rodeo reported higher histological scores in suture only MATs compared to bone plugs. Clinical studies have not reported any difference in patient-reported outcomes between the two fixation methods. However, suture technique was associated with higher failure rates including meniscus extrusion and high complication rates [1].

Conclusion

In summary, the studies reporting results after MAT are mostly level 3 and 4 studies (case series). Clinical results are good in the short and midterm. Radiological studies show a high percentage of meniscal extrusion on MRI, but this does not correlate with clinical outcome. Bony fixation is associated with less extrusion than soft tissue fixation. There is little joint space narrowing in the short and midterm, but significant after 10 years. Complication rates are around 10 %, with graft tear being the most common [45].

References

- Abat F, Gelber PE, Erquicia JI, Pelfort X, Gonzalez-Lucena G, Monllau JC. Suture-only fixation technique leads to a higher degree of extrusion than bony fixation in meniscal allograft transplantation. Am J Sports Med. 2012;40(7):1591–6. doi:10.1177/0363546512446674.
- Abat F, Gelber PE, Erquicia JI, Tey M, Gonzalez-Lucena G, Monllau JC. Prospective comparative study between two different fixation techniques in meniscal allograft transplantation. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthroscopy. 2013;21(7):1516–22. doi:10.1007/s00167-012-2032-4.
- Ahn JH, Kang HW, Yang TY, Lee JY. Multivariate analysis of risk factors of graft extrusion after lateral meniscus allograft transplantation. Arthroscopy. 2016;32(7):1337–45. doi:10.1016/j. arthro.2015.12.050.
- Ahn JH, Kim CH, Lee SH. Repair of the posterior third of the meniscus during meniscus allograft transplantation: conventional inside-out repair versus fasTfix all-inside repair. Arthroscopy. 2016;32(2):295–305. doi:10.1016/j.arthro.2015.07.017.
- Alentorn-Geli E, Vazquez RS, Diaz PA, Cusco X, Cugat R. Arthroscopic meniscal transplants in soccer players: outcomes at 2- to 5-year follow-up. Clin J Sport Med. 2010;20(5):340–3. doi:10.1097/ JSM.0b013e3181f207dc.
- Alentorn-Geli E, Seijas Vazquez R, Garcia Balletbo M, Alvarez Diaz P, Steinbacher G, Cusco Segarra X, Rius Vilarrubia M, Cugat Bertomeu R. Arthroscopic meniscal allograft transplantation without bone plugs. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 2011;19(2):174–82. doi:10.1007/ s00167-010-1123-3.
- Alhalki MM, Howell SM, Hull ML. How three methods for fixing a medial meniscal autograft affect tibial

contact mechanics. Am J Sports Med. 1999;27(3):320–8.

- Arnoczky SP, Warren RF, McDevitt CA (1990) Meniscal replacement using a cryopreserved allograft. An experimental study in the dog. Clin Orthop Relat Res (252):121–128.
- Becker R, Wirz D, Wolf C, Gopfert B, Nebelung W, Friederich N. Measurement of meniscofemoral contact pressure after repair of bucket-handle tears with biodegradable implants. Arch Orthop Trauma Surg. 2005;125(4):254–60. doi:10.1007/s00402-004-0739-5.
- Bhosale AM, Myint P, Roberts S, Menage J, Harrison P, Ashton B, Smith T, McCall I, Richardson JB. Combined autologous chondrocyte implantation and allogenic meniscus transplantation: a biological knee replacement. Knee. 2007;14(5):361–8. doi:10.1016/j.knee.2007.07.002.
- Blanchard S, Glasgow P. A theoretical model to describe progressions and regressions for exercise rehabilitation. Phys Ther Sport. 2014;15(3):131–5. doi:10.1016/j.ptsp.2014.05.001.
- Bleakley CM, Glasgow P, MacAuley DC. PRICE needs updating, should we call the POLICE? Br J Sports Med. 2012;46(4):220–1. doi:10.1136/ bjsports-2011-090297.
- Bray RC, Smith JA, Eng MK, Leonard CA, Sutherland CA, Salo PT. Vascular response of the meniscus to injury: effects of immobilization. J Orthop Res : official publication of the Orthopaedic Research Society. 2001;19(3):384–90. doi:10.1016/ s0736-0266(00)00037-1.
- Brophy RH, Matava MJ. Surgical options for meniscal replacement. J Am Acad Orthop Surg. 2012;20(5):265–72. doi:10.5435/jaaos-20-05-265.
- Canham W, Stanish W. A study of the biological behavior of the meniscus as a transplant in the medial compartment of a dog's knee. Am J Sports Med. 1986;14(5):376–9.
- Carter TR, Rabago M. Meniscal allograft transplantation: 10 year follow-up. Arthroscopy. 2012;1:e17–8.
- Chahla J, Olivetto J, Dean CS, Serra Cruz R, LaPrade RF. Lateral meniscal allograft transplantation: the bone trough technique. Arthrosc Tech. 2016;5(2):e371–7. doi:10.1016/j.eats.2016.01.014.
- Chalmers PN, Karas V, Sherman SL, Cole BJ. Return to high-level sport after meniscal allograft transplantation. Arthroscopy. 2013;29(3):539–44. doi:10.1016/j.arthro.2012.10.027.
- Chen MI, Branch TP, Hutton WC. Is it important to secure the horns during lateral meniscal transplantation? A cadaveric study. Arthroscopy. 1996;12(2):174–81.
- De Coninck T, Huysse W, Verdonk R, Verstraete K, Verdonk P. Open versus arthroscopic meniscus allograft transplantation: magnetic resonance imaging study of meniscal radial displacement. Arthroscopy. 2013;29(3):514–21. doi:10.1016/j. arthro.2012.10.029.
- Dean CS, Olivetto J, Chahla J, Serra Cruz R, LaPrade RF. Medial meniscal allograft transplantation: the

bone plug technique. Arthrosc Tech. 2016;5(2):e329–35. doi:10.1016/j.eats.2016.01.004.

- Dienst M, Kohn D. Allogenic meniscus transplantation. Oper Orthop Traumatol. 2006;18(5–6):463–80. doi:10.1007/s00064-006-1189-8.
- Fabbriciani C, Lucania L, Milano G, Schiavone Panni A, Evangelisti M. Meniscal allografts: cryopreservation vs deep-frozen technique. An experimental study in goats. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 1997;5(2):124–34. doi:10.1007/s001670050038.
- Fairbank TJ. Knee joint changes after meniscectomy. J Bone Joint Surg. 1948;30b(4):664–70.
- Farr J, Meneghini RM, Cole BJ. Allograft interference screw fixation in meniscus transplantation. Arthroscopy. 2004;20(3):322–7. doi:10.1016/j. arthro.2004.01.009.
- Garrett JC, Steensen RN. Meniscal transplantation in the human knee: a preliminary report. Arthroscopy. 1991;7(1):57–62.
- Gelber PE, Gonzalez G, Lloreta JL, Reina F, Caceres E, Monllau JC. Freezing causes changes in the meniscus collagen net: a new ultrastructural meniscus disarray scale. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 2008;16(4):353–9. doi:10.1007/s00167-007-0457-y.
- Glasgow P. Exercise prescription: bridging the gap to clinical practice. Br J Sports Med. 2015; 49(5):277.
- 29. Ha JK, Shim JC, Kim DW, Lee YS, Ra HJ, Kim JG. Relationship between meniscal extrusion and various clinical findings after meniscus allograft transplantation. Am J Sports Med. 2010;38(12):2448–55. doi:10.1177/0363546510375550.
- Hommen JP, Applegate GR, Del Pizzo W. Meniscus allograft transplantation: ten-year results of cryopreserved allografts. Arthroscopy. 2007;23(4):388–93. doi:10.1016/j.arthro.2006.11.032.
- Hunt S, Kaplan K, Ishak C, Kummer FJ, Meislin R. Bone plug versus suture fixation of the posterior horn in medial meniscalallograft transplantation: a biomechanical study. Bull NYU Hosp Jt Dis. 2008;66(1):22–6.
- 32. Jackson DW, Windler GE, Simon TM. Intraarticular reaction associated with the use of freeze-dried, ethylene oxide-sterilized bone-patella tendon-bone allografts in the reconstruction of the anterior cruciate ligament. Am J Sports Med. 1990;18(1):1–10. discussion 10-11
- 33. Jackson DW, McDevitt CA, Simon TM, Arnoczky SP, Atwell EA, Silvino NJ. Meniscal transplantation using fresh and cryopreserved allografts. An experimental study in goats. Am J Sports Med. 1992;20(6):644–56.
- 34. Kaleka CC, Netto AS, Silva JC, Toma MK, Cury RP, Severino NR, Santili C. Which are the most reliable methods of predicting the meniscal size for transplantation? Am J Sports Med. 2016; doi:10.1177/0363546516653203.
- 35. Kazi HA, Abdel-Rahman W, Brady PA, Cameron JC. Meniscal allograft with or without osteotomy: a 15-year follow-up study. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol

Arthrosc. 2015;23(1):303–9. doi:10.1007/ s00167-014-3291-z.

- 36. Kempshall PJ, Parkinson B, Thomas M, Robb C, Standell H, Getgood A, Spalding T. Outcome of meniscal allograft transplantation related to articular cartilage status: advanced chondral damage should not be a contraindication. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 2015;23(1):280–9. doi:10.1007/ s00167-014-3431-5.
- Khan KM, Scott A. Mechanotherapy: how physical therapists' prescription of exercise promotes tissue repair. Br J Sports Med. 2009;43(4):247–52. doi:10.1136/bjsm.2008.054239.
- Kim JM, Bin SI. Meniscal allograft transplantation after total meniscectomy of torn discoid lateral meniscus. Arthroscopy. 2006;22(12):1344–1350.e1341. doi:10.1016/j.arthro.2006.07.048.
- 39. Kim JG, Lee YS, Lee SW, Kim YJ, Kong DH, Ko MS. Arthroscopically assisted medial meniscal allograft transplantation using a modified bone plug to facilitate passage: surgical technique. J Knee Surg. 2009;22(3):259–63.
- Kim JM, Lee BS, Kim KH, Kim KA, Bin SI. Results of meniscus allograft transplantation using bone fixation: 110 cases with objective evaluation. Am J Sports Med. 2012;40(5):1027–34.doi:10.1177/0363546512437842.
- 41. Kim JM, Kim JM, Jeon BS, Lee CR, Lim SJ, Kim KA, Bin SI. Comparison of postoperative magnetic resonance imaging and second-look arthroscopy for evaluating meniscal allograft transplantation. Arthroscopy. 2015;31(5):859–66. doi:10.1016/j. arthro.2014.11.041.
- 42. Kim NK, Bin SI, Kim JM, Lee CR. Does medial meniscal allograft transplantation with the bone-plug technique restore the anatomic location of the native medial meniscus? Am J Sports Med. 2015;43(12):3045– 54. doi:10.1177/0363546515606090.
- 43. Kim NK, Bin SI, Kim JM, Lee CR. Does lateral meniscal allograft transplantation using the keyhole technique restore the anatomic location of the native lateral meniscus? Am J Sports Med. 2016;44(7):1744– 52. doi:10.1177/0363546516639937.
- 44. King D. The function of the semilunar cartilages. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1936;16(4):1069–76.
- 45. LaPrade RF, Wills NJ, Spiridonov SI, Perkinson S. A prospective outcomes study of meniscal allograft transplantation. Am J Sports Med. 2010;38(9):1804– 12. doi:10.1177/0363546510368133.
- 46. Lee DH, Kim TH, Lee SH, Kim CW, Kim JM, Bin SI. Evaluation of meniscus allograft transplantation with serial magnetic resonance imaging during the first postoperative year: focus on graft extrusion. Arthroscopy. 2008;24(10):1115–21. doi:10.1016/j. arthro.2008.01.016.
- 47. Lee DH, Kim SB, Kim TH, Cha EJ, Bin SI. Midterm outcomes after meniscal allograft transplantation: comparison of cases with extrusion versus without extrusion. Am J Sports Med. 2010;38(2):247–54. doi:10.1177/0363546509346399.

- 48. Lee DH, Lee CR, Jeon JH, Kim KA, Bin SI. Graft extrusion in both the coronal and sagittal planes is greater after medial compared with lateral meniscus allograft transplantation but is unrelated to early clinical outcomes. Am J Sports Med. 2015;43(1):213–9. doi:10.1177/0363546514555699.
- Levy IM, Torzilli PA, Warren RF. The effect of medial meniscectomy on anterior-posterior motion of the knee. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1982;64(6):883–8.
- Levy IM, Torzilli PA, Gould JD, Warren RF. The effect of lateral meniscectomy on motion of the knee. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1989;71(3):401–6.
- Marcacci M. Soft tissue fixation with single posterior horn bone tunnel. In: Getgood AS, Spalding T, Cole B, Gersoff W, Verdonk P, editors. Meniscal allograft transplantation. London: DJO Publications; 2015. p. 203–14.
- 52. Marcacci M, Zaffagnini S, Marcheggiani Muccioli GM, Grassi A, Bonanzinga T, Nitri M, Bondi A, Molinari M, Rimondi E. Meniscal allograft transplantation without bone plugs: a 3-year minimum followup study. Am J Sports Med. 2012;40(2):395–403. doi:10.1177/0363546511424688.
- McAllister DR, Joyce MJ, Mann BJ, Vangsness Jr CT. Allograft update: the current status of tissue regulation, procurement, processing, and sterilization. Am J Sports Med. 2007;35(12):2148–58. doi:10.1177/0363546507308936.
- McDermott ID, Lie DT, Edwards A, Bull AM, Amis AA. The effects of lateral meniscal allograft transplantation techniques on tibio-femoral contact pressures. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 2008;16(6):553–60. doi:10.1007/s00167-008-0503-4.
- McLaughlin J, DeMaio M, Noyes FR, Mangine RE. Rehabilitation after meniscus repair. Orthopedics. 1994;17(5):463–71.
- Mesfar W, Shirazi-Adl A. Computational biomechanics of knee joint in open kinetic chain extension exercises. Comput Methods Biomech Biomed Engin. 2008;11(1):55–61.doi:10.1080/10255840701552028.
- Milachowski KA, Weismeier K, Wirth CJ. Homologous meniscus transplantation. Experimental and clinical results. Int Orthop. 1989;13(1):1–11.
- Moens K, Dhollander A, Moens P, Verdonk K, Verdonk R, Almqvist KF, Victor J. Meniscal transplantation: still experimental surgery? A review. Acta Orthop Belg. 2014;80(3):403–13.
- 59. Musahl V, Citak M, O'Loughlin PF, Choi D, Bedi A, Pearle AD. The effect of medial versus lateral meniscectomy on the stability of the anterior cruciate ligament-deficient knee. Am J Sports Med. 2010;38(8):1591–7. doi:10.1177/0363546510364402.
- Noyes FR, Barber-Westin SD. Long-term survivorship and function of meniscus transplantation. Am J Sports Med. 2016; doi:10.1177/0363546516646375.
- 61. Noyes FR, Heckmann TP, Barber-Westin SD. Meniscus repair and transplantation: a compre-

hensive update. J Orthop Sports Phys Ther. 2012;42(3):274–90. doi:10.2519/jospt.2012.3588.

- Pollard ME, Kang Q, Berg EE. Radiographic sizing for meniscal transplantation. Arthroscopy. 1995;11(6):684–7.
- Ropke EF, Kopf S, Drange S, Becker R, Lohmann CH, Starke C. Biomechanical evaluation of meniscal root repair: a porcine study. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 2015;23(1):45–50. doi:10.1007/ s00167-013-2589-6.
- 64. Rosso F, Bisicchia S, Bonasia DE, Amendola A. Meniscal allograft transplantation: a systematic review. Am J Sports Med. 2015;43(4):998–1007. doi:10.1177/0363546514536021.
- 65. Roumazeille T, Klouche S, Rousselin B, Bongiorno V, Graveleau N, Billot N, Hardy P. Arthroscopic meniscal allograft transplantation with two tibia tunnels without bone plugs: evaluation of healing on MR arthrography and functional outcomes. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 2015;23(1):264–9. doi:10.1007/s00167-013-2476-1.
- 66. Scheffler SU, Gonnermann J, Kamp J, Przybilla D, Pruss A. Remodeling of ACL allografts is inhibited by peracetic acid sterilization. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 2008;466(8):1810–8. doi:10.1007/ s11999-008-0288-2.
- 67. Schmidt T, Hoburg A, Broziat C, Smith MD, Gohs U, Pruss A, Scheffler S. Sterilization with electron beam irradiation influences the biomechanical properties and the early remodeling of tendon allografts for reconstruction of the anterior cruciate ligament (ACL). Cell Tissue Bank. 2012;13(3):387–400. doi:10.1007/s10561-011-9289-6.
- Sekiya JK, West RV, Groff YJ, Irrgang JJ, Fu FH, Harner CD. Clinical outcomes following isolated lateral meniscal allograft transplantation. Arthroscopy. 2006;22(7):771–80. doi:10.1016/j. arthro.2006.02.007.
- Shaffer B, Kennedy S, Klimkiewicz J, Yao L. Preoperative sizing of meniscal allografts in meniscus transplantation. Am J Sports Med. 2000;28(4):524–33.
- Shelbourne KD, Patel DV, Adsit WS, Porter DA. Rehabilitation after meniscal repair. Clin Sports Med. 1996;15(3):595–612.
- Smith NA, MacKay N, Costa M, Spalding T. Meniscal allograft transplantation in a symptomatic meniscal deficient knee: a systematic review. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 2015;23(1):270–9. doi:10.1007/ s00167-014-3310-0.
- 72. Spalding T, Parkinson B, Smith NA, Verdonk P. Arthroscopic meniscal allograft transplantation with soft-tissue fixation through bone tunnels. Arthrosc Techn. 2015;4(5):e559–63. doi:10.1016/j. eats.2015.06.001.
- Starke C, Kopf S, Lippisch R, Lohmann CH, Becker R. Tensile forces on repaired medial meniscal root tears. Arthroscopy. 2013;29(2):205–12. doi:10.1016/j. arthro.2012.09.004.

- 74. Stone KR, Pelsis JR, Surrette ST, Walgenbach AW, Turek TJ. Meniscus transplantation in an active population with moderate to severe cartilage damage. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 2015;23(1):251–7. doi:10.1007/s00167-014-3246-4.
- Tegner Y, Lysholm J. Rating systems in the evaluation of knee ligament injuries. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 1985;198:43–9.
- van Arkel ER. Arthroscopic technique with one bone plug: meniscal transplantation – how I do it. surgery of the meniscus. Luxembourg: SpringerLink (Online service); 2016.
- van Arkel ER, de Boer HH. Human meniscal transplantation. Preliminary results at 2 to 5-year followup. J Bone Joint Surg. 1995;77(4):589–95.
- van Arkel ER, de Boer HH. Survival analysis of human meniscal transplantations. J Bone Joint Surg. 2002;84(2):227–31.
- 79. van Arkel ER, Goei R, de Ploeg I, de Boer HH. Meniscal allografts: evaluation with magnetic resonance imaging and correlation with arthroscopy. Arthroscopy. 2000;16(5):517–21. doi:10.1053/ jars.2000.7668.
- van der Wal RJ, Thomassen BJ, van Arkel ER. Longterm clinical outcome of open meniscal allograft transplantation. Am J Sports Med. 2009;37(11):2134– 9. doi:10.1177/0363546509336725.
- Van Thiel GS, Verma N, Yanke A, Basu S, Farr J, Cole B. Meniscal allograft size can be predicted by height, weight, and gender. Arthroscopy. 2009;25(7):722–7. doi:10.1016/j.arthro.2009.01.004.
- Verbruggen D, Verschueren T, Tampere T, Almqvist K, Victor J, Verdonk R, Verdonk P. Revision of meniscal transplants: long-term clinical follow-up. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 2014;22(2):351–6. doi:10.1007/s00167-013-2439-6.
- Verdonk R. Alternative treatments for meniscal injuries. J Bone Joint Surg. 1997;79(5):866–73.
- Verdonk R, Van Daele P, Claus B, Vandenabeele K, Desmet P, Verbruggen G, Veys EM, Claessens H. Viable meniscus transplantation. Der Orthopade. 1994;23(2):153–9.
- 85. Verdonk PC, Demurie A, Almqvist KF, Veys EM, Verbruggen G, Verdonk R. Transplantation of viable meniscal allograft. Survivorship analysis and clinical outcome of one hundred cases. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2005;87(4):715–24. doi:10.2106/jbjs.c.01344.
- 86. Verdonk PC, Verstraete KL, Almqvist KF, De Cuyper K, Veys EM, Verbruggen G, Verdonk R. Meniscal allograft transplantation: long-term clinical results with radiological and magnetic resonance imaging correlations. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 2006;14(8):694–706. doi:10.1007/s00167-005-0033-2.
- 87. von Lewinski G, Milachowski KA, Weismeier K, Kohn D, Wirth CJ. Twenty-year results of combined meniscal allograft transplantation, anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction and advancement of the medial collateral ligament. Knee Surg Sports

Traumatol Arthrosc. 2007;15(9):1072–82. doi:10.1007/s00167-007-0362-4.

- Vundelinckx B, Bellemans J, Vanlauwe J. Arthroscopically assisted meniscal allograft transplantation in the knee: a medium-term subjective, clinical, and radiographical outcome evaluation. Am J Sports Med. 2010;38(11):2240–7. doi:10.1177/0363546510375399.
- Wirth CJ, Peters G, Milachowski KA, Weismeier KG, Kohn D. Long-term results of meniscal allograft transplantation. Am J Sports Med. 2002;30(2):174–81.
- Yahia L, Zukor D. Irradiated meniscal allotransplants of rabbits: study of the mechanical properties at six months postoperation. Acta Orthop Belg. 1994;60(2):210–5.
- Yahia LH, Drouin G, Zukor D. The irradiation effect on the initial mechanical properties of meniscal grafts. Biomed Mater Eng. 1993;3(4):211–21.

- 92. Yoon JR, Kim TS, Lim HC, Lim HT, Yang JH. Is radiographic measurement of bony landmarks reliable for lateral meniscal sizing? Am J Sports Med. 2011;39(3):582–9. doi:10.1177/0363546510390444.
- Yoon JR, Jeong HI, Seo MJ, Jang KM, Oh SR, Song S, Yang JH. The use of contralateral knee magnetic resonance imaging to predict meniscal size during meniscal allografttransplantation. Arthroscopy. 2014;30(10):1287– 93. doi:10.1016/j.arthro.2014.05.009.
- 94. Zhang J, Song GY, Chen XZ, Li Y, Li X, Zhou JL. Macroscopic and histological evaluations of meniscal allograft transplantation using gamma irradiated meniscus: a comparative in vivo animal study. Chin Med J (Engl). 2015;128(10):1370–5. doi:10.4103/0366-6999.156784.
- Zukor DB, Brooks P, Gross A. Meniscal allograftsexperimental and clinical study. Orthod Rev. 1988;17:522.

Erratum to: All-Inside Meniscal Repair: Updates on Technique

Sergio Rocha Piedade, Rodrigo Pereira da Silva Nunes, Camila Cohen Kaleka, and Tulio Pereira Cardoso

Erratum to: Chapter 9 in: R.F. LaPrade et al. (eds.), *The Menisci*, DOI 10.1007/978-3-662-53792-3_9

In the original version of chapter 9, the chapter author's last name was wrongly given as Cardoso, but it should be given as Pereira Cardoso. The name of the author should be read as Tulio Pereira Cardoso.

The updated original online version of the chapter can be found at DOI 10.1007/978-3-662-53792-3_9

Index

A

ACL-deficient knees, 13, 63-64 Adipose-derived cultured mesenchymal stem cells (aMSCs), 143 All-inside meniscal repair anatomical considerations, 106 biomechanical considerations, 106 FasT-Fix, 105 indications, 104 longitudinal meniscal tear, 105, 106 meniscal suture, 103 outcomes of, 106-107 placement, 104 RapidLoc, 105 surgical procedures, 105 AMSCs. See Adipose-derived cultured mesenchymal stem cells (aMSCs) Anterior cruciate ligament (ACL), 4, 31, 49 Anterior intermeniscal ligament, 15 Apheresis, 144 Apley grind tests, 80 Arthroscopy, 32 Alignment biomechanical rationale, 126 meniscus, 117 meniscus tears and degeneration, 118-119 osteotomy degree of correction, 122 flow decision-making algorithm, 121-122 LOWHTO technique, 122-125 MCWDFVO technique, 125-126 MOWHTO technique, 122-123 patient assessment, 121 surgical options, 126

B

Biofix^r device, 107 Bucket-handle tear, 22

С

Collagen Meniscus Implant (CMI), 140

D

Deep Medial Collateral Ligament (dMCL), 16 Discoid menisci and treatment anatomy, 165–166 classifications, 166 diagnosis, 166–167 femoral condyles and tibial plateau, 165 imaging magnetic resonance imaging, 167–168 radiography, 167 ultrasonography, 167 incidence, 166 outcome, 171 partial meniscectomy and meniscus repair, 168–171 pathology, 168 3D stereoscopic technology, 36

Е

Evidence-based medicine (EBM) and meniscectomy, 44

F

FasT-Fix device, 70 Flap or parrot-beak tears, 24 Freeze-dried meniscus, 178

G

Ghost sign, 53 Golgi tendons, 14

H

Healing, 137–138 Hoop stresses, 11, 48 Humphrey ligament, 6

I

Iliotibial band (ITB), 112, 113 Inside-out meniscus repair adjuncts, 114 applications, 109 Inside-out meniscus repair (cont.) assessment, 114 benefits, 110 central zone repairs, 109-110 closure, 114 complications, 115 exposure, 111 outcomes, 114-115 pearls, 115 pitfalls, 115 positioning and setup, 111 posterolateral approach, 111 posteromedial approach, 111 preparation, 111 principles, 112-113 special equipment, 110 suture, 113-114 Internal marsupialization, 161

K

Kellgren-Lawrence grading scale, 59 Knee Injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score (KOOS), 38–39, 140, 180

L

Lateral meniscus anterior horn, 4 anterior root, 3–4 hiatus popliteus, 4–6 meniscofemoral ligaments, 6 posterior root, 6–7 Lateral tibial eminence (LTE), 50 Lysholm scores, 59

M

McMurray tests, 66, 80, 134, 167 Mechanical medial proximal tibial angle (mMPTA), 118 Medial collateral ligament (MCL), 34 Medial meniscus anterior root, 1-2 anteromedial zone, 2-3 collateral ligament, 3 posterior horn, 3 posterior root, 3 Medial tibial eminence (MTE) apex, 50 Meniscal allograft transplantation (MAT), 120, 176, 179, 180, 185, 188 animal studies, 176 anterior cruciate ligament, 176 bone bridge techniques, 183-184 bone-plug technique, 181-183, 185 clinical outcome, 185 complications, 186, 190 contraindications, 179 examinations and investigations, 180 experimental/biomechanical studies, 186 failures and reoperations, 186

graft extrusion, 185 graft procurement donor selection and suitability, 177 harvesting, 177 laws and regulations, 176 sizing, 178-179 storage, 178 treatment, 177-178 indications, 179 open technique, 185 osteoarthritis, 176 patient-reported outcomes, 188-189 procedures, 185 radiological outcome, 186, 189-190 randomized clinical trials, 176 rehabilitation, 186-188 soft tissue technique, 185 sports, 190 surgical technique, 180-181 survival rates, 189 Meniscal ramp lesions, 63 Meniscal repair outcomes with ACL, 149 after isolated repair, 150-151 after meniscus repair, 151-152 all-inside technique, 147 cartilage preservation, 148 failure, 148 Fairbanks changes, 148 inside-out technique, 147, 148 long-term protective effects, 148 medial meniscus, 149 patients, 150 systematic review, 149 Meniscal tears, 26-27 anatomy, 50 biomechanics, 50-51 classification systems, 54 degenerative meniscal tears classification, 25-26 diagnosis imaging, 53 physical examination, 51-53 different patterns, 22 discoid meniscus classification, 25 history, 51 medial meniscal capsular tears classification, 27-28 meniscal root tears, 26-27 MRI classification, 22 outcomes, 57-58 postoperative rehabilitation, 57 treatment, 54-57 Trillat's classification, 22 Meniscectomy technique, 32-36 Meniscus anterior and posterior meniscofemoral ligaments, 16 anterior intermeniscal ligament, 15 biomechanical properties response to compression, 11 response to shear, 12

response to tension, 12 viscoelasticity, 10-11 coronary ligaments, 15 degeneration and cysts arthroscopic findings and tear types, 158 clinical features, 156 etiology, 156 meniscal mucoid degeneration, 155 MRI findings, 157-158 osteoarthritic knees, 155 treatment, 158–161 functional properties functional movements, 14 joint stability, 13 lubrication and nutrition, 13-14 proprioception, 14 shock absorption, 14 size, shape, and load transmission, 12 - 13lateral meniscus anterior horn. 4 anterior root, 3-4 hiatus popliteus, 4-6 meniscofemoral ligaments, 6 posterior root, 6-7 medial meniscus anterior root, 1-2 anteromedial zone, 2-3 collateral ligament, 3 posterior horn, 3 posterior root, 3 meniscofibular ligaments, 16 meniscotibial ligaments, 15-16 microscopic composition, 9-10 pathology resulting in a dysfunction, 14–15 MMPTA. See Mechanical medial proximal tibial angle (mMPTA) MVP. See Marrow venting procedure (MVP)

Ν

Negative meniscal tests, 64

0

Osteonecrosis, 40 Outside-in meniscal repair anterior horn, 130 internal knee complications, 129 meniscectomy, 129, 135 meniscus tears, 129 outcomes, 134, 135 posterior meniscus, 135 procedure, 130 surgical technique, 130–134

P

Pacinian corpuscles, 14 Patient-reported outcome measures (PROMs), 180, 185 Peripheral meniscal tears ACL tears, 78 all-inside technique, 85-86 anatomic meniscal region, 87 anatomic position and attachments, 77 coronary ligaments, 78 diagnosis, 79 imaging CT arthrography, 82-83 diagnostic arthroscopy, 81 magnetic resonance imaging, 82 standard radiographs, 81-82 ultrasound, 82 inside-out repair technique, 83-84 menisci, 79 outcomes, 86-87 outside-in repair technique, 84, 85 physical examination, 79-81 radiographic osteoarthritis, 78 rehabilitation, 87, 88 surgical techniques, 79 tibiofemoral kinematics/joint contact pressures, 78 vascularity, 77 Perivascular stromal cell (PSC), 142 Platelet-rich plasma (PRP), 87, 140 PLC. See Posterolateral corner (PLC) Point-of-care blood products, 139-140 Pollard's method, 178 Positive predictive value (PPV), 80 Posterior cruciate ligament (PCL) tibial attachment, 50 Posterolateral corner (PLC), 113 PPV. See Positive predictive value (PPV) Presumed consent, 177 PROMs. See Patient-reported outcome measures (PROMs) PRP. See Platelet-rich plasma (PRP) PSC. See Perivascular stromal cell (PSC)

R

Radial meniscal tears biomechanics, 101 classification, 93 diagnosis, 94-95 incidence, 94 nonoperative treatment, 95-96 outcomes, 100-101 partial meniscectomy, 96-97 postoperative rehabilitation protocol, 100 repair of all-inside radial repairs, 98-100 arthroscopic, 97 inside-out meniscal radial repair technique, 97-98 vertical orientation, 93

Ramp lesion, 63-66 arthroscopic evaluation, 67 arthroscopic techniques to visualise, 67-69 clinical evaluation, 66 diagnose, 66-67 FasT-Fix device, 70 history, 66 inside-out repair, 69 outcome of, 71-73 pathogenesis, 64-65 post-operative rehabilitation programmes, 70 potential consequences, 66 prevalence, 65 radiological evaluation, 66-67 repairs, 70-71 risk of developing osteoarthritis, 66 treatment, 69-70 Range of motion (ROM), 87, 186, 187 RapidLoc system, 105 Realignment osteotomy meniscal deficiency, 120-121 principles, 119–120 ROM. See Range of motion (ROM)

\mathbf{S}

Scaffolds, meniscal, 140–141 Shear stiffness, 11 SMSCs. *See* Synovial-derived cultured mesenchymal stem cells (sMSCs) Stem cell therapy, 141–143 Stress relaxation, 11 Stromal vascular fraction (SVF), 142 Synovial abrasion, 138–139 Synovial-derived cultured mesenchymal stem cells (sMSCs), 143

Т

Tie fibres, 10, 12 Total knee arthroplasty (TKA), 51 Transtibial pullout technique, 55 Traumatic meniscal lesions, 22

U

Ultimate tensile load, 12

V

VAS. *See* Visual analog scale (VAS) Vascular access channels, 138 Vascular anatom, 137–138 Viscoelasticity, 10–11 Visual analog scale (VAS), 35, 37, 140, 188

W

Western Ontario and McMaster Universities Osteoarthritis Index 7 (WOMAC), 188 Western Ontario Meniscal Evaluation Tool (WOMET) scores, 37, 38 Wrisberg ligament, 6, 7